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Hanover's product scope goes beyond compression —
H anover we provide equipment for oil and gas production, processing
COMPRESS 0L L and field power generation. First and foremost we are a service
company. It's our people who make the difference. In 2003,

2003 Annual RGpOTt Hanover invested in employee development and training,
the results of which we will see in 2004 and beyond.




ridl NALUNAL 45 Drocessing and transportation apphications. Hanover sells and rents

grela eqgupment. |

tounded in 1990 and a public company since 1997, Hanover'’s customers include
BOLh _major and independent oil and gas producers and distributors as well as

our website at www.hanover-co.com.
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To Our Stockholders

003 was a year of transition for Hanover. We were determined to clean up several non-
operational, human resources and capital issues that have plagued the company over the past two years
to allow Hanover the opportunity to enter 2004 with a fresh new perspective. To that end, we had a
very successful year. Key accomplishments in 2003 include:
Completion of the SEC Investigation: In December 2003, we announced a settlement with the SEC, with no
monetary penalty imposed and no additional financial restatements required. The conclusion of this investi-
gation removed a dark cloud that had been hanging over the company since January 2002 and highlights the
considerable progress we have made in the area of corporate governance and business ethics.
Settlement of our securities-related litigation: In May 2003, we reached an agreement to settle the securities-
related litigation. Final court approval of the settlement was received in February 2004, with an effective date
of March 10, 2004.
Successful execution of a public notes offering and a new senior credit facility: In December 2003 we issued
$200 million of Senior Notes and $143.8 million of Convertible Senior Notes, with the proceeds used to refi-
nance existing debrt. in addition, we executed a new $350 million senior credit facility, extending its maturity
to December 2006.
Completed the rationalization of our fabrication business: By year end, we completed our fabrication consoli-
dation efforts by closing six facilities and reducing headcount by approximately 500 employees.
Renewed focus on our core businesses: We identified several non-core assets for sale that were not strategic to
our operations. We closed the sale of two independent power facilities in California, generating approximately
$27 million in net proceeds and debt reduction. We continue to work to sell the remaining non-core assets with
a goal of raising approximately $50 million in total proceeds and debt reduction from this effort.
Instituted the geographic business unit (“GBU”) management concept: During the year we reorganized our
operations into GBUs, allocating capital to each region, with each GBU manager responsible for operations,
profitability and capiral returns within their unit. We believe this affords our regional managers greater flexibil-
ity in meeting market demands while at the same time creating a sense of ownership by pushing down respon-
sibility for improving returns and profitability to the level where the greatest impact can be achieved.
Additionally, we believe we will be more in line with our customers’ needs as they typically manage their oper-
ations on a geographic basis.
Improved domestic rental operations: One of our main objectives for 2003 was to improve our domestic rental
operations by increasing the utilization of our idle fleet. During the year, we successfully instituted a selective
price increase, renewed several key domestic customer alliances, retired approximately 41,000 horsepower in
obsolete compression, moved approximately 36,000 in idle horsepower to international markets and increased
compression under contract by approximately 50,000 horsepower. These efforts led to a 4% increase in our
domestic utilization for the year, from 72% to 76%.
Expanded international operations and markets: international demand continued to be strong in 2003, as evi-
denced by the approximately 50,000-horsepower increase in our international rental fleet under contract.
Historically, Latin America has been our primary international market, and while we still see substantial growth
opportunities in this region,'a key objective was to begin to diversify into new markets. During the year, we
opened offices in Russia and Nigeria, as we believe these markets offer strong long-term growth opportunities,
Improved employee development: Improvements in Hanover's human resource infrastructure and employee
development were essential for our future. During the year, we instituted several human resource programs
that we felt were necessary to manage and motivate a diverse and global employee base, including periodic
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HANOVER MORE THAN A COMPRESSION COMPANY

With our stated goal to reduce leverage, Hanover will continue
to maintain strong discipline in capital spending. Additionally, we have established

corporate-wide objectives to improve our return on capital employed.

performance reviews and succession planning, and training in areas such as ethics, finance and leadership.
Approximately 500 employees participated in these sessions, representing approximately 17,000 man-hours of
training. While these efforts led to increased administrative costs, in the short term, we feel it was a necessary
step to take to ensure a motivated and effective workforce going forward.

+ Health, Safety and Environmental (“HSE") program improvements: In 2003 we strengtnened our HSE programs,
which led to an 18% improvement in both our total recordable incident rate (“TRIR") and our domestic pre-
ventable vehicle accidents.

- Systems and internal controls enhancements: Changes in our internal information, financial reporting systems
and internal controls were necessary to ensure our ongoing viability. Prior to 2003, Hanover had a number of
disparate financial and information reporting systems and needed to improve its infrastructure to ensure that
proper controls were in place. Therefore, we began the implementation of the Oracle Enterprise Resource
Planning System to consolidate our information and financial reporting systems into one integrated system.
We also engaged an outside accounting firm to perform our internal auditing function and we implemented
several new initiatives, including the creation of a disclosure committee, to help ensure the accuracy and
integrity of our reported financial information.

Although our 2003 financial results were unsatisfactory as we posted a net loss, we believe our employees
accomplished a great deal during the year. The efforts made during 2003 were necessary to clean up issues from

the past and provide a clear path for the company to move forward in 2004.

A Fresh Start

We now have the opportunity for a fresh start. We are more than just a compression company. We believe
Hanover has the complete core competencies to provide integrated solutions for the surface equipment needs
of global oil and gas producers. To Hanover’s customers, integrated solutions means having the capability and
expertise to provide the surface equipment and service to produce, treat, process and transport oil and natural
gas. Hanover has the capability to provide a one-stop solution for producers, including engineering, project man-
agement, fabrication of compression and oil and gas production and processing equipment, and operations and
maintenance expertise. This one stop capability adds economic value for a producer by reducing its overall cost
and shortening the time frame to get its production to market. We believe our GBU management philosophy is
ideally suited to deliver our integrated solutions concept to the market. During 2003, we successfully starced up
two integrated solutions projects in Latin America and we currently operate over 15 integrated solutions plants

Hanover’s Senior Management Team

From left to right (standing): Steve Gill, Brian Matusek,
John Bosholm, Steve Muck, Hilary Ware

From left to right (sitting): Mickey McDonald, John Jackson,
Greg Sargent
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We are focused on reducing our administrative costs, as a percentage of revenues,
and improving our operating margins through increased operational efﬂcnenc;es APR 16

improved project management and increased cost discipline in the ﬁeld

opportunities for the company. We believe our integrated solutions concept provides Hanover with a key com-
petitive advantage to expand our international presence, not only in Latin America, but in emerging interna-
tional markets as well.

The Way Forward

In 2004, we are committed to improving our operating performance and moving toward sustainable and prof-
itable growth. Key objectives for the year are:

Cost reductions and margin improvement: We are focused on reducing our administrative costs, as a percent-
age of revenues, and improving our operating margins through increased operational efficiencies, improved
project management and increased cost discipline in the field.
Reduce leverage: Our debt levels are too high and we are committed to reducing leverage. Over the next three
years, our goal is to pay down debt by a minimum of $780 million from operating cash flow.
Improved fabrication: With the facility consolidation and headcount reduction substantially complete, we are
now focused on increasing our fabrication revenues and operating margins through improvements in our hit ratio
on new bid opportunities and continued improvement in margins through increased operational efficiencies.
Diversifying into emerging international markets: We have targeted Russia, the Middle East and the west coast
of Africa as key new markets for Hanover. In January 2004, we announced the reinforcement of our commit-
ment to our alliance with Schlumberger. Through the alliance, and - independently, we want to establish
Hanover as a recognized provider of surface equipment and position ourselves to reap the benefit of substan-
tial potential growth opportunities in these markets over the next three to five years.
Continued focus on return on capital and capital discipline: With our stated goal to reduce leverage, we plan
to continue to maintain strong discipline in capital spending with the objective of under-spending our inter-
nally generated cash flow. Additionally, we have established corporate-wide objectives to improve our return
on capital employed. With our operations now managed regionally through GBUs, each business unit will be
evaluated on the return on its capital with stated objectives for improvement.
Employee development: Hanover is a service company and our success depends upon the quality of our
employees and their ability to provide excellent service. We are committed to continued training and devel-
opment of our employees and to adding new talent, as necessary, to complement our existing workforce to
ensure that we continue to provide the quality service for which we are known.

Hanover is moving forward tc establish itself as a recognized leader in providing equipment and service for

the surface equipment needs of the global oil and gas industry. We are proud of the effort of our employees in

2003. We know we still have a long way to go but we feel confident that the company is moving in the right direc-

tion. In closing, we want to thank our employees, shareholders and directors for their continued understanding

and support during a pivotal year for the company.

Victor E. Grijalva Chad C. Deaton
Chairman of the Board President and Chief Executive Officer

2004
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HANOVER MORE THAN A COMPRESSION COMPANY

Hanover's Complete Range of Services

Parts and Service

(client-owned equipment)

! Hanover is imbued with a “Customer-

' First” service culture. We have a full

. range of services to support the surface
production needs of our customers —

i from installation and normal mainte-

nance and services, to full operation

and maintenance of a customer’s

surface equipment.

| Compressor and
; , d Accessory Fabrication
: A Hanover designs, engineers and
assembles a full line of natural gas
compression and accessory equipment.
Hanover fabricates a broad range
of compression equipment from
; standard compression packages to
! : . ! ' custom engineered high specifica-
tion compression equipment.

Through 2003, the Company con-
tinued its commitment to employee
competency and well being, providing
over 78,000 man-hours of training on
HSE policies and procedures as well
as in-depth technical training on

new technologies.
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{ Hanover is recognized as a leader in providing equipment and service for the

surface equipment needs of the global oil and gas industry.

Production and Processing

Equipment Fabrication

Hanover designs, engineers and fabri-
cates a full line of oil, natural gas, and
water processing and production equip-
ment. Hanover's product line includes
separators, heaters and dehydrators,
skid-mounted gas treatment plants,
liquids fractionating, sulfur recovery
and tail gas units. In addition, Hanover’s
Belleli operation constructs and manu-
factures heavy wall reactors for refineries
and constructs desalination plants.

Geographic-Business Unit Philosophy
Hanover operates under.a.geographic
business unit (“GBU”) philosophy. As.a
global company, we strive to “live and
work” in-the same regions as: Our cus-
tomers to better. understand their needs
and objectives. The:GBU structure aligns
our operations with the vast majority of
ot customiers operations and atlows us
greater control and flexibility in nmieeting
our customers’ needs.

Employee Training Hours

O Ethics 1,492

B Financial 5,584

® Managenient 5,144

W Frontline Supervisory 4,660

During the year, we instituted several
human resource initiatives to develop
the programs necessary for a global
company to manage and motivate a
diverse employee base.
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HANOVER MORE THAN .A COMPRESSION COMPANY

Jerry Bob McCullom
‘ Western USA

.Dave Cruttenden -
anada

Rob Rice
Gulf Coast USA

<
¥

CASE STUDY

- Rob Price
i Latin America North

i| Hanover Global Business Units
| 3 Canada
% 0 Western
i O Midcontinent
i O Gulf Coast

0O Latin America North

Latin America South
T Europe, Africa, Russia

Luis deOtano
Latin America South

Pemex

in January of 2003 Hanover K
was awarded a multiyear cons
tract for the design, fabrica-
tion, installation, commission-
ing and operation of a 90
MMSCFD hydrocarbon dew-
point plant with mole sieve

b

“dehydration for water dew-

point control. The facility also
includes 6000 hp of residue
gas corﬁpression and 3 MW
of power generation for plant
consumption. In June of 2003,
the facility was commissioned

“and putinto full operation.

The average runtime of the
facility since the first month
of operations exceeds 99%
after commiissioning with an
average throughput of
9OMMSCFD.

International
Growth

Dollars in millions

o e 03
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HANOVER MORE THAN A COMPRESSION COMPANY

Directors & Officers

Standing, left to right: Ted Collins, Jr, Alvin V. Shoemaker, Margaret K. Dorman, Gordon T. Hall, Stephen M. Pazuk, Robert R. Furgason
Sitting, left to right: I. Jon Brumley, Victor E. Grijalva, Chad C. Deaton

l. Jon Brumley, 65

Director of the Company since
February 2002; Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer and Director of
Encore Acquisition Company, an
independent energy cornpany
located in Ft. Worth, Texas

Ted Collins, Jr,, 65

Director of the Company since 1992;
Private investor and independent oil and
gas producer located in Midland, Texas;
Director of Encore Acquisition Company

Chad C. Deaton, 51

President, Chief Executive Officer

and Director of the Company since
August 2002; former Executive Vice
President of Schiumberger Qilfield
Services; Director of Carbo Ceramics Inc.

Chad C. Deaton
President,
Chief Executive Officer
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John E. Jackson
Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer

Directors

Margaret K. Dorman, 40

Director of the Company since

February 2004; Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of
Smith International, Inc, a global provider
of oilfield equipment and services, based
in Houston, Texas

Robert R. Furgason, 68

Director of the Company since 1995;
President of Texas A&M University —
Corpus Christi

Victor E. Grijalva, 65

Chairman of the Board since

March 2002; Director of the Company
since February 2002; Retired Vice
Chairman of Schlumberger Ltd;
Director of Transocean, Inc;

Advisory Director of Tenaris S.A.

Officers

Peter G. Schreck
Vice President,

Treasury and Planning

Gordon T. Hall, 45

Director of the Company since

March 2002; retired Managing Director
of Credit Suisse First Boston; Director of
Hydril Company

Stephen M. Pazuk, 60

Director of the Company since

February 2004; Director and

Chief Financial Officer of Drive-Thru
Technology; Retired Senior Vice President,
Treasurer and Partner of Wellington
Management Company, LLP; Director of
Penn Capital Insurance Company

Alvin V. Shoemaker, 65

Director of the Company since 1991;
Private Investor and retired Chairman
of the Board of the First Boston
Corporation and First Boston, Inc;
Director of Wynn Resorts

Stephen P. York
Vice President,
Controller



UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

{(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For fiscal year ended December 31, 2003
or

00  TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file no. 1-13071

Hanover Compressor Company

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 76-0625124
(State or Other Jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
Incorporation or Organization) Identification No.)

12001 North Houston Rosslyn, Houston, Texas 77086

(Address of principal executive offices, zip code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code:
(281) 447-8787

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b)of the Act:
Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange in Which Registered

Common Stock, $.001 par value New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to 12(g) of the Act:
Title of class: None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that
the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the
past 90 days. Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or
information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this
Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the
Act). Yes No [J

The aggregate market value of the Common Stock of the registrant held by non-affiliates as of June 30,
2003 was $639,857,000. For purposes of this disclosure, common stock held by persons who hold more than 5%
of the outstanding voting shares and common stock held by executive officers and directors of the registrant
have been excluded in that such persons may be deemed to be “affiliates” as that term is defined under the
rules and regulations promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933. This determination of affiliate status is not
necessarily a conclusive determination for other purposes. With respect to persons holding more that 5% of our
outstanding voting shares and common stock, we have relied upon statement filed by such persons on or prior to
June 30, 2003 pursuant to Section 13(d) or 13(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Number of shares of the Common Stock of the registrant outstanding as of March 19, 2004:
85,536,605 shares.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Registrant’s definitive proxy statement for the 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be
held in 2004, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after
December 31, 2003, are incorporated by reference into Part I11.

The Index to Exhibits begins on page 72.




PART I ‘
Item 1. '_ Business ...... P U D B fee e
Ttem 2. Properties .................... e P e PR
Item 3. LegalProceedmgs...i.‘.t...:'....'..':.“..............‘ ................ P [ SUTPUR
Ttem 4. Submlssron of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders. . ..o, s I
PARTII . g
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s 'Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters ............. O
Item 6. Selected Financial Data ..........ooo i
Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations .............
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Rlsk .....................................
Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data................... P P e
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accountlng and Financial Disclosure ............
-Item 9A. Controls and Procedures .. ... ..ot e L DD
PART III
Item 10.© Directors and Executive Officers of Hanover .. ...... e e e e
Item 11.  Executive Compensation.......... e e
Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters . ..
Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related TIANSACHONS « -+« « e v v et eeee e e e e
Item 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Services ............... ... TP
PART IV
Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K .. e R e
S G N AT U R ES . ot e e e e e

HANOVER COMPRESSOR COMPANY
‘"TABLE OF CONTENTS

24
25
27
67
68
68
68




PART 1
SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain matters discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are “forward-looking statements”
intended to qualify for the safe harbors from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These
forward-looking statements can generally be identified as such because the context of the statement will
include words such as we “believe”, “anticipate”, “expect”, “estimate™ or words of similar import.
Similarly, statements that describe the Company’s future plans, objectives or goals or futuré revenues or
other financial metrics are also forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are subject to
certain risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those anticipated
as of the date of this report. These risks and uncertainties include: -

 our inability to renew our short-term leases of equlpment with our customers so as' to fully recoup
our cost of the equipment; : ‘

« a prolonged substantial reduction in oil and natural gas prices, which could cause a dechne in the
demand for our compression and oil and natural gas production equlpment

« reduced profit margins or the loss of market share resulting from competition or the introduction of
competing technologies by other companies;

¢ legislative changes or changes in economic or political conditions in the countries in Wthh we do
business; :

+ the inherent risks associated with our operations, such as equlpment defccts malfunct1ons and
failures and natural disasters;

« our inability to implement certain business objectives, such as:
« integrating acquired businesses,
+ implementing our new enterprise resource planning systems,
+ generating sufficient cash,
* accessing capital markets,
« refinancing existing or incurring additional indebtedness to fund our business, and

« executing our exit and sale strategy with respect to assets classified on our balance sheet as
discontinued operations and held for sale;

+ governmental safety, health, environmental and other regulations, which could require us to make
significant expenditures; and

« our inability to comply with covenants in our debt agreements and the decreased financial flexibility
associated with our substantial debt.

Other factors in addition to those described in this Form 10-K could also affect our actual results.
You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described above and those discussed in Item 1
“Business” and in Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations — Factors That May Affect Our Financial Condition and Future Results,” of this Form 10-K
in evaluating our forward-looking statements.

You should not unduly rely on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of
this Form 10-K. We undertake no obligation to publicly revise any forward-looking statement to reflect
circumstances or events after the date of this Form 10-K or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated
events. You should, however, review the factors and risks we describe in the reports we file from time to
time with the SEC after the date of this Form 10-K. All forward-looking statements attributable to us are
expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement.
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Item 1. Business
General N

Hanover Compressor Company, (“we”, “Hanover”,.or the. “Company”) a Delaware corporation;
“together with' its subsidiaries, is a global market leader, in the full service natural gas compression business
and is also a.leading provider. of service; fabrication-and equipment for oil and. natural gas processing.and
transportation applications.. We sell and rent-this equipment-and provide complete operation and. .
maintenance services, including run- ~time, .guarantees, for both customer-owned equipment and our fleet of
rental equipment. Hanover was founded as a Delaware corporation in-1990, and has been a public
company since 1997. Our customers include both major and independent oil and gas producers and
distributors as well as national oil and gas companies in- the_countries in which we operate. Our
maintenance business, together with our parts and service business, provides solutions to customers that -
own their own compression and surface production: and processing -equipment, but want to outsource thelr
operations..We. also fabricate compressor and. oil-and gas production, and processing-equipment and prov1de
gas processing and treating, gas measurement and oilfield power generation services, primarily to our
domestic and international customers as a complement to our compression services. In addition, through
our subsidiary, Belleli Energy S.r.l. (“Belleli”), we provide engineering, procurement and construction
services primarily related to the manufacturmg of heavy wall reactors for reﬁnenes and construction of
desahnatron plants pnmanly for use 1n Europe and the Mlddle East SR

Substantlally all of our assets and operatlons -are- owned or. conducted by our. wholly owned subsrdrary,
Hanover Compression, Limited Partnership (“HCLP?): In;December-2001 and 2002, HCLP and its.-
subsidiaries completed various internal restructuring transactions; pursuant to. which certain of the domestic
subsidiaries of HCLP were merged, dvirectly or indirectly, with. and into HCLP. ... . el

We beheve that we are currently the largest natural gas compressmn company in the Unlted States on
the basis of aggregate rental horsepower, with approxnnately 6,071 rental units in the United States having
an aggregate capacrty of approx1mately 2,588,000 horsepower at December 31,72003. In addition, we
estimate that we are one of the largest providers of compressron services in the Latin American and
Canadian markets, operatlng approxrmately 835 units 1nternat10na11y with approximately 925,000 i
horsepower at December 31, 2003. As of December’ 31 2003, approxrmately 74% of our ‘natural gas
compression horsepower was located in the United States and approximately 26% was located elsewhere,
primarily in Latin America-and Canada. . S .

¥

Our products and services are essentral to the productlon processlng, transportatlon and storage of
natural gas ‘and are provrded pnmanly to energy producers and distributors of oil and natural gas. Our
decentralized operating structure, technlcally expenenced personnel and hlgh quahty compressor ﬂeet have'
allowed us to successfully provrde reliable and timely customer service.

Industry trends

We compete prlmanly in the market for transportable natural gas compress1on umts of up to ‘4, 500 ’
horsepower The market for rental. compressron has expenenced srgnlﬁcant growth over the past decade
Although recently we have not expenenced any significant growth in. domestrc rentals, or purchases of
equipment and services by our customers, which we believe is primarily a result of the lack of a srgmﬁcant
increase in U.S. natural gas production levels, we believe that the. U.S. gas compression market will
continue to grow due to the increased demand for natural gas,.the:continued.aging of the-natural gas -
reserve base and the attendant decline of wellhead pressures, the-discovery of new reserves and the
continuing interest in outsourcing compression. by independent producers. However, because- the majority ..
of oil and gas reserves are located outside of the United States, we believe that international markets-will -
be a pnmary source of our growth opportunmes 1n the gas compressron market in the years, to come.

- As of December 31, 2003, the: rental portlon of the domestrc gas compresswn market ‘was estimated
by industry sources to- be approximately. 5.0 million horsepower, whichi we estimate accounts -for
approximately 30%. of aggregate. U.S. horsepower,;having doubled -since 1996, Growth of the rental
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compression capacity in the U.S. market has been primarily driven by the trend toward outsourcing by
energy producers and processors. We believe that outsourcing provides the customer greater financial and
operating flexibility by minimizing the customer’s investment in equipment and enabling the customer to
more efficiently resize their compression capabilities to meet changing reservoir conditions. In addition, we
believe that outsourcing typically provides the customer with more timely and technically proficient service |
and maintenance, which often reduces operating costs. We believe growth opportunities for compressor
rental and sales exist due to (1) increased worldwide energy consumption, (2) implementation of
international environmental and conservation laws prohibiting the flaring of natural gas, which increases
the need for gathering systems, (3) increased outsourcing by energy producers and processors, (4) the
environmental soundness, economy and availability of natural gas as-an alternative energy source and

(5) continued aging of the worldwide natural gas reserve base and the attendant decline of wellhead
pressures. The rental compression business is capital intensive, and our ability to take advantage of these
growth opportunities may be limited by our ability to raise capital to fund our expansion. See '
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and-Results of Operations — Liquidity and
Capital Resources” in Item ‘7 of this Form 10-K. ' ’

Recent Events

Securities Class Actions. On October 23, 2003, we entered into a Stipulation of -Settlement, which
settled all of the claims underlying the putative securities class action, the putative ERISA class action
and the shareholder derivative actions which were filed against the'Company and are more fully described
in Item 3 “Legal Proceedings” in this Form 10-K. The terms of the settlement provide for us to:

(1) make a cash payment of approximately $30 million (of which-$26.7 million was funded by payments
from Hanover’s directors and officers insurance carriers), (2) issue 2.5 million shares of our common
stock, and (3) issue a contingent note with a principal amount of $6.7 million. The note is payable,
together with accrued interest, on March 31, 2007 but will be extinguished (with no money owing under
it) if our common ‘stock trades at or above the average price of $12.25 per share for 15 consecutive trading
days at any time between March 31, 2004 and March 31, 2007. In addition, upon the occurrence of a
change of control that involves us, if the change of control or shareholder approval of the change of control
occurs before February 9, 2005, which i is twelve months after final court approval of the settlement, we will
be obligated to contribute an additional $3 million to the settlement fund.

As part of the settlement, we have also agreed to implement corpordte governance enhancements,
including allowing shareholders owning more than 1% but less than 10% of our outstanding common stock
to participate in the process to appoint two independent directors to our board of directors (pursuant to
which on February 4, 2004 we appointed Margaret K. Dorman and Stephen M. Pazuk to our board of
directors) and making certain changes to our code of conduct.

GKH Investments, L.P. and GKH Private Limited (collectively “GKH”), which, as of December 31,
2003, together owned approximately 10% of our outstanding common stock and which sold shares in our
March 2001 secondary offering of common stock, are parties to the settlement and have agreed to settle
claims against them that arise out of that offering as well as other potential securities, ERISA, and
derivative claims. The terms of the settlement provide for GKH to transfer 2.5 million shares of our
common stock from their holdings or ffom other sources to the settlement fund. '

We received a letter on March 11, 2004 from the administrative trustee of the GKH Liquidating
Trust indicating it and one of its affiliates had decided to distribute 5.8 million shares of the 8.3 million
shares of Hanover common stock owned.by the GKH Liquidating Trust' (formerly held by GKH) and its
affiliate to the relevant beneficiaries. The remaining 2.5 milhon shares held by GKH will be paid as part of
the global shareholder htigation settlement. . .

On February 9, 2004, the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas entered
three Orders and Final Judgments, approving the settlement-on the terms agreed upon in the Stipulation
of Settlement with:respect to all of the claims described above. The court also entered an Order and Final
Judgment approving the plans of allocation with respect to each action, as well as an Order and Final
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Judgment approving the schedule of attorneys’ fees for-counsel for the. settling plaintiffs. The time in
which. these Orders and Final Judgments may be appealed expired on March 10, 2004 without any appeal °
being lodged. The settlement has therefore become final and will be implemented according to its terms.
Our independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, is not a party to the settlement and remains a
party to the securities class action. (See Item 3 “Legal Proceedmgs and Item 7 “Managements
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and" Results of Operanons — Year ended December 31
2003 compared to year ended December 31, 2002 — Prov1s10n for securrt1es litigation settlement.”)

SEC Settlement.” In:December 2003, we entered into:a settlement with the Securities and Exchange
Commniission”(“SEC”), concluding the previously disclosed SEC investigation into the transactions
underlying, and other matters relating to, the restatement of our financial statements for fiscal -years 1999,
2000 and 2001. Without admitting or denying any of the SEC’s findings, we consented to the entry of a
cease and desist order requiring future compliance with certain periodic reporting, record keeping and
internal control ‘provisions of the securities laws. The settlement did not impose any ‘monetary penalty on
us and requrred no additional restatements of our historical financial statements

Debt Refinancings. In December 2003, .we issued under our shelf reg1strat10n statement $200.0. mil-
lion aggregate principal amount of our 8.625% Senior Notes due 2010; which are fully and unconditionally
guaranteed on a senior subordinated basis by HCLP. The net proceeds from this offering were used to
repay the outstanding indebtedness and minority interest obligations of $194.0 million and. $6 0.million,
respectively, under our 1999A equipment lease that was to expire in June 2004. ‘

-Also in' December 2003, we issued under our shelf registration statement $143.8 million aggregate
principal amount of our 4.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014. We may redeem these. convertible -
notes beginning in. 2011 under certain circumstances. The convertible notes are convertible into shares of ~
our common stock at an initial conversion rate of 66.6667 shares of our common stock per $1,000 principaj
amount of the convertible notes ‘(subject to adjustment in certain events) at any time prior to the stated
matutity of the convertible notes or the redemption or repurchase of the convertible notes by us. The net .
proceeds: from this oﬁ"ermg were used to repay a portion of the outstanding mdebtedness under our bank
credit fac1l1ty : :

New Bank Credzt Faczlzty Effective December 15, 2003, we entered into a new $350 m1llron bank
cred1t facﬂrty having a matunty date of December 29, 2006 and made conforming amendments related to
the’ compression equipment lease obligations that we entered into in 2000. Our prior $350 million bank
credit facility that was scheduled to mature in November 2004, was termmated upon closrng of the new
facility. The new bank credit facility modified certain covenants that were contained in the prior facility
and e11m1nated certain covenants. entirely. The new agreement prohrbrts us (without the lenders’ prior
approval) from declaring or paying any dividend (other than dividends payable solely in our common stock
or in options, warrants or rights to purchase such common stock) on, or making similar payments with
respect to, our capital stock. The new agreement clarifies and provides certain thresholds with respect to
our ability to make investments in our foreign subsidiaries. In addition, under the new agreement, we
granted the lenders a security .interest in the inventory, equipment and certain. other property of Hanover
and its domestic subsidiaries (with certain exceptions), and pledged 66% of the equity interest in certain of
our-foreign subsidiaries. We believe that this new bank credit facility will provide ﬂe)ubrhty in accessmg

 the capacity under the facility to support our short-term liquidity: needs: *

Panoche/Gates Dzsposztlons In May 2003, we announced that we had agreed to sell our 49% _
membership interest in Wellhead Power Panoche, LLC (“Panoche”) and our 92.5% membership interest
in Wellhead Power Gates, LLC (“Gates”) to Hal Dittmer and Fresno Power Investors Limited-
Partnership, who owned the remaining interests in Panoche and Gates. Panoche and Gates own gas-fired
peaking power plants of 49 megawatts and 46 megawatts, respectively. The Panoche transaction closed in -
June 2003 and the Gates transaction closed-in September 2003. Total consideration for the transactions
was approximately $27.2 million consisting of approximately $6.4 million'in cash, $2.8 million in notes that
mature in May 2004, a $0.5 million note that matures in September 2005 and the release of our
~ obligations under a capital lease from GE Capital to Gates that had an outstanding balance of

5




approxrmately $17.5 miillion at the. time of the Gates closing. In addition, we were released from a
$12 million letter of credit from us to GE Capital that was provrded as additional credit support for the . -
Gates capital lease. . o

PIGAP IT Restructurmg and Our Zero Coupon Subordinated Notes due March 31, 2007 On ]
May 14, 2003, we entered into an agreement ‘with Schlumberger Limited to terminate our nght to put our
interest in the PIGAP 11 joint venture to Schlumberger ‘As a result, we retained our interest in PIGAP 11
We had previously given notice of our intent to exercise the PIGAP put in January 2003. PIGAP ITisa ~
joint venture, currently owned 70% by a subsidiary of Williams. Companies Inc. and 30% by, Hanover,
which operates a natural gas compression facility in Venezuela. The natural gas processed by PIGAP 1T i
re-injected into oil reservoirs for enhanced oil recovery.

Also on May 14, 2003, we agreed with Schlumberger Surenco an affiliate of Schlumberger to the
modification of the’ repayment terms of a $58.0 million obhgatron that was accrued as a contrngent hab111ty
on our balance sheet since the acquisition of Production Operators Corporation (“POC™) and was
associated with the PIGAP TI joint venture. The obligation was converted into a non-recourse promlssory
note (the “PIGAP Note”) payable by Hanover Cayman Limited, our indirect wholly-owned corisolidated
subsidiary, with a 6% interest rate compounding semi-annually until maturity in December 2053, In
October 2003, the PIGAP II joint venture closed on the project’s finan¢ing and distributed approximately-
$78.5 million"to Hanover, of which approximately $59.9 million was used to repay the PIGAP Note:

In connection with the agreement to terminate our right to put our interest in PIGAP II back to
Schlumberger, we also agreed with Schlumberger to restructure the $150 million subordinated note:that
Schlumberger received from Hanover in August 2001 as part of the purchase price for our acquisition -of
POC’s natural gas compression business, ownership interest in certain joint venture projects in South’ :
America (including PIGAP 1I), and related -assets. As of March 31, 2003, the date from which the
interest:rate was adjusted, the $150 million subordinated note had an outstanding principal balance of. . -
approximately $171 million, including accrued interest. We restructured the $150 million subordinated note
as our Zero Coupon Subordinated Notes due March 31, 2007, which notes were issued to Schlumberger . -
and were sold by Schlumberger in a registered public offering in December 2003. Original issue discount
accretes under the zero coupon notes at a rate of 11.0% per annum for their remaining life, up to a total
principal amount of $262.6 million payable at maturity. The notes will accrue ‘additional interest at’a rate
of 2.0% per annum upon the occurrence and during the continuance of- an event of default under the notes.
The notes will also accrue additional interest at a rate of 3.0% per annum if our consolidated leverage :
ratio, as 'defined in the indenture governing the notes, exceeds 5.18 to 1.0 as of the end of any two’
consecutive fiscal quarters Notwrthstandmg the preceding, in no event will the total additional 1nterest
accruing ‘on the notes exceed 3.0% per annum if both of the previously mentioned circumstances" occur "
The notes also contain a covenant that limits our ablhty to incur additional’ 1ndebtedness if our '
.consohdated Ieverage ratro exceeds 5.6 to 1. O subject to’ certain exceptlons

Bellelz Acquzsztzon In 2002, we increased our ownership of Belleli to 51% from 20.3% by convertrng 5
$13.4 million in loans, together with approximately $3.2 million in accrued interest thereon, into additional:,
equity. ownership and in November 2002 began consolidating the results of Belleli’s operations. Belleli- has
three manufacturing facilities, one in Mantova, Italy and two in the United Arab Emirates (Jebel Ali-and
Hamriyah). During 2002, we also purchased certain operating assets used by Belleli for approximately -
$22.4 million from a bankruptcy estate of Bellel’s former parent and leased these assets to Belleh for
approxrmately $1.2 million per year, for a term of seven years.

In connecnon wrth our increase in.ownership in 2002, we entered 1nto an agreement ‘with the minority
owner of Belleli that provided the minority owner the right, until June 30, 2003, to purchase our interest -
for an amount that approximated our investment in Belleli. The agreement also provided us with the. right,
beginning in July 2003, to purchase the minority owner’s interest in Belleli. In addition, the minority. owner
historically had been unwilling to provide its. proportionate share of capital to Belleli. We believed that our.
ability to maximize value would be enhanced if we were able to exert greater control through the exercise -
of our purchase right. Thus, in August 2003,.we exercised our.option to acquire the remaining 49% interest
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in Belleli:for approximately $15.0 millien in order ‘to‘ gain complete-control of Belleli. As a result of these
transactions and intervening foreign exchange rate changes, we recorded $4.8 million in identifiable .
1ntang1ble assets, with a we1ghted average life of approxrmately 17 years, and $35.5 million in goodw1ll

As a result of the war in Trag, the strengthenmg of the Euro and generally unfavorable economic
conditions, we believe that the: estimated fair value of Belleli declined- 51gn1ﬁcantly during 2003. Upon °
gaining complete: control-of Belleli and-assessing our long-term growth strategy, we determined that these
general factors in combination with the specific economic factors 1mpact1ng Belleli had significantly and
adversely impacted the timing and amount of the future cash flows ‘that we' expected Belleli to generate. .
We currently do not expect to real1ze our orrgmal growth expectatlons for Belleh in the trmeframe that we"
ongmally forecasted - C

Durmg the performance of our annual goodwrll 1mpa1rment review- in the fourth quarter of 2003, we
determined the present value of Belleli’s expected future cash flows was less than our carrying value of
Belleli. This resulted in a full impairment charge for the $35.5 million in goodwill associated with Belleli.
Upon further analys1s it was determmed that the factors resultmg in the goodwill 1mpa1rment charge were
also present durmg the third’ quarter of 2003 and that the exercise of our purchase option in the third
quarter of 2003 and the presence of such factors should have resulted in an interim goodwill impairment
test 'under SFAS 142 and an 1mpa1rment charge at that tlme We ‘have ad]usted our third quarter results
accordingly.

Industr§ Overview

Gas Compression

Typlcally, compression is required at several intervals of the natural gas 'p'rodu'ction cycle‘at the
wellhead, at the gathering lines, into and out of gas processmg facilities, into and out of storage and
throughout the transportation systems

Over the life of an oil or gas well, natural reservoir pressure and deliverability typically decline as _
reserves are produced. As the natural reservoir pressure of the well declines below the line pressure of the .
gas gathering or pipeline system used to transport the gas to market, gas no longer flows naturally into the
pipeline. It is at this time that compression equipment. is apphed to economically boost the well’s
producnon levels and allow gas to be brought to. market.

'In addition tosuch wellhead dnd gas field' gathering activities, natural gas compressors are used in a
number of other applications, most of which are "intended to enhance the productrvrty of oil ‘and gas wells,
gas transportatron lines and processing plants Compressors are used to increase the efficiency of a low
capacity gas field by providing a central compression point from which the gas can be removéd and
injected into a pipeline for transmission to facilities for further processing. As gas is transportéd through a
pipeline, compression equipment is applied to allow the gas to continue to flow-in the pipeline to its
destination. Additionally, compressors -are used to re-inject associated gas to lift liquid hydrocarbons and
thereby increase the rate of crude oil productioh from oil and gas wells. Furthermore, compression enables
gas to be stored in underground storage reservoirs for subsequent extraction during periods of peak
demand. Finally, compressors are often used. i in combination with oil and gas production equipment to
process .and refine oil and gas into higher value added and more marketable. energy sources, as well: as used
in connection with compressed natural gas vehicle fueling facilities providing an alternative to gasoline.

: Changing well and pipeline pressures-and conditions over the life of ‘a well often require producers to
reconfigure or change their compressor units to optimize the well production or pipeline efficiency. Due to
the technical nature of the equipment, a dedicated local parts inventory, a diversified fleet of natural gas
compressors and a highly trained staff of field service personnel are necessary-to perform such functions in
the most economic manner.. These requirements, however; have typically proven-to.be an extremely
inefficient use of capital and manpower for independent natural gas producers and have caused producers,
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as well as natural gas transporters and processors, to 1ncreasmgly outsource their non-core compression
activities to specialists such as us. -

The advent of rental and contract compression roughly 40 years ago made it possible for natural gas
producers, transporters and processors to improve the efficiency.and financial performance of their
operations. We believe compressors leased from specialists generally have a higher rate of mechanical
reliability and typically generate greater productivity than those owned by oil and gas operators.
Furthermore, because compression needs of a well change over time, outsourcing of compression
equipment enables an oil and gas producer .to better match variable compression requirements to the
production needs throughout the life of the well. Also, certain major domestic oil companies are seeking to
streamline their operations and reduce their capital expenditures and other costs. To this end, they have
sold certain domestic energy reserves to independent energy producers and are outsourcing facets of their
operations. We believe that such initiatives are likely to contribute to increased rentals of compression
equipment. :

Natural gas compressor fabrication involves the design, fabrication and sale of compressors to meet
the unique specifications dictated by the well pressure, production characteristics and the particular -
applications for which compression is sought. Compressor fabrication is essentially an assembly operation
in which an engine, compressor, control panel, cooler and necessary piping are attached to a frame called a
“skid.” A fabricator typically purchases the various compressor components from third-party manufactur-
ers, but employs its own engineers and design and labor force.

In order to meet customers’ needs, gas compressor fabricators typically offer a variety of services to
their customers, including:

+ engineering, fabrication and assembly of the compressor unit;
. 1nstallat10n and testmg of the unit;
 ongoing pcrforrnance review to assess the need for a change in compresswn and

¢ periodic maintenance and replacement parts supply.

Production and Processing ,Eq_hipment

Crude oil and natural gas are generally not marketable as produced at the wellhead and must be
processed before they can be transported to market. Production and processing equipment is used to
separate and treat oil and gas as it is produced to achieve a marketable quality of product. Production
processmg typlcally involves the separation of oil and gas and the removal of contaminants. The end result

s “pipeline,” or “sales” quality « oil and gas. Further processing or refining is almost always required before
011 or gas is sultable for use as fuel or feedstock for petrochemical production. Production processing
normally takes place in the “upstream’ market, while refining and petrochemical production is referred to
as the “downstream” market.

Wellhead or upstream’ production and processing equipment includes a wide and diverse range of
products. We sell “standard” production equipment primarily into U.S. markets, which is used for
processing wellhead production from onshore or shallow-water offshore platform production. In addition,
we sell custom-engineered; built-to-specification production and processing equipment, which typically
consists of much larger equipment packages than standard equipment, and is generally used in much larger
scale production operations. These large projects tend to be in remote areas, such as deepwater offshore
sites, and in developing countries with limited oil and gas industry infrastructure.

The standard production equipment market tends to be somewhat commoditized, with sales following
‘general industry trends. Equipment can be built for inventory based on historical product mix and
predicted industry activity. The custom equipment market is driven by global economic and political
trends, and the type of equipment that is purchased can vary significantly. Technology, engineering
capabilities, project management and quality control standards are the key drivers in the custom equipment
market.




In addition, through our ownership of Belleli, we provide engineering, procﬂu'rementr and construction
services primarily related to the manufacturing of heavy wall reactors for refineries and construction of
desalination plants, primarily for use in.Europe and the Middle East.

Market Conditions

We believe that the most fundamental force driving the demand for gas compression and prdduction
equipment is the growing global consumption of natural gas. As more gas is consumed, the demand for
compression and production equipment increases. In addition, we expect the demand for liquefied natural
gas, compressed natural gas and liquefied petroleum gas to continue to increase and result in additional
demand for our compression and production equipment and related services.

Although natural gas has historically been a more significant source of energy in the United States
than in the rest of the world, we believe that aggregate foreign natural gas consumption has recently
grown. Despite this growth in energy demand, most non-U.S. energy markets have historically lacked the
infrastructure necessary to transport natural gas to local markets and natural gas historically has been
flared at the wellhead. Given recent environmental legislation and the construction of numerous natural
gas-fueled power plants built to meet international energy demand, we believe that international
compression markets are experiencing growth. :

We believe that natural gas is considered to be the “fuel of the future” because it provides the best
mix of environmental soundness, economy and availability of any energy source. Rising worldwide energy
demand, envirorimental considerations, the further development of the natural gas pipeline infrastructure
and the increasing use of natural gas as a fuel source in oilfield power gcneratlon -are the pnn01pa1 reasons .
for this growth

While gas compressmn and productlon and processmg equ1pment typically must be engineered to high
specifications to meet demanding and unique customer specifications, the fundamental technology of such
equipment has been stable and has not been subject to significant technological change.

Business Segments
Our revenues and i income are dcnved from five busmess segments:

» Domestic rentals Our domestlc rentals segment primarily provides natural gas compression and
production and processing equipment rental and maintenance services to meet specific customer
requirements on Hanover-owned assets located within the United States.

 International rentals. Our international rentals segment provides substantially the same services as
our domestic rentals segment except it services locations outside the United States.

» Compressor and accessory fabrication. QOur compressor and accessory fabrication segment involves
the design, fabrication and sale of natural gas compresswn umts and accessories to meet unique
customer spemﬁcanons

. Production and processing equipment fabrication. Our production and processing equipment
fabrication segment includes the design, fabrication and sale of equipment used in the production
and treating of crude oil and natural gas; and the engineeting, procurement and manufacturing of
heavy wall reactors for refineries and the construction of desalination plants.

« Parts, service and used equipment. Our parts, service and used equipment segment provides a full
range of services to support the surface production needs of customers, from installation and normal
maintenance and services to full operation of a customer’s owned assets and surface equipment as
well as sales of used equipment.

The domestic and international compression rentals segments have operations primarily in the United
States, Canada and South America. For financial data relating to our business segments and financial data
relating to the amount or percentage of revenue contributed by any class of similar products or services
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which accounted for 10% or more of consolidated revenue in any of the last three fiscal years, see
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7 of
this Form 10-K and Note 23 to the Notes to Consolidated ‘Financial Statements in Item 15 of this
Form 10-K.

Compression Rentals, Maintenance Services and Compressor and Accessory Fabrication

We provide our customers with. a full range of compressor and associated equipment sales, rental,”
maintenance and contract compression services. As of December 31, 2003, our compressor fleet consisted
of approximately 6,906 units, ranging from 8 to 4,450 horsepower per unit. The size, type and geographic
diversity of this rental fleet enable us to provide our customers with a range of compression units that can
serve a wide variety of applications and to select the correct equipment for the job, rather than trying to
“fit” the job to our fleet of equipment.. »

We base -our gas compressor rental rates on several factors, including the cost and size of the
equipment, the type and complexity of service desired by the customer, the length of the contract and the
inclusion of any other desired services, such as installation, transportation and the degree of daily
operation. In early 2003, we began to selectively introduce price increases for our domestic compression-
rental business. Such price increases, along with a slight improvement in market conditions, resulted in a
3% increase in revenue from our domestic rentals business in the six months ended December 31, 2003 as
compared to the six months ended December 31, 2002. Substantlally all of our units are opcrated pursuant
to “contract compression” or “rental with full maintenance” agreements under which we perform all
maintenance and repairs on such units while under contract, In the U.S. onshore market, compression
rental fleet units are generally leased under contract with minimum terms of six months to two years,
which convert to month-to-month at the end of the stipulated minimum period. Historically, the majority
of our customers have extended the length of their contracts, on a month-to-month basis, well beyond the
initial term. Typically, our compression rental units used in offshore’and international apphcatlons carry’
substantially longer lease terms than those for onshore domestic applications.

An essential element of our success is our ability to provide compression services to customers with
contractually committed compressor run-times of between 95% and 98%. Historically, our incidence of
failing to meet run-time commitments (the penalty for which.is paid in credits to the customer’s account)
has been insignificant, due largely to our rigorous preventive maintenance program and extensive field
service network that permits us to promptly address maintenance requirements. Our team of experienced
maintenance personnel performs our Tental compression maintenance services both at our facilities and in
the field. Such maintenance facilities are situafed in close proximity to actual rental fleet deployment to
permit superior service response times.

All rental fleet units are s"crviced at manufacturers’ recommended maintenance intervals, modified as
required by the peculiar characteristics of each job and the actual operating experience of each compressor
unit. Prior to the conclusion of any rental job, our field management evaluates the condition of the
equipment and, where practical, corrects any problems before the equipment is shipped out from the job
site. Although natural gas compressors generally do not suffer significant technological obsolescence, they
do require routine maintenance and periodic refurbishing to prolong their useful life. Routine maintenance
includes alignment, compréssion checks and other parametric checks that indicate a change in the
condition of the equipment. In addition, ‘oil and wear-particle analysis is performed on all units on an
ongoing scheduled basis and prior to their redeployment at specific compression rental jobs. Overhauls are
done on a condition-based interval instead of a time-based schedule. In our experience, these rigorous
procedures maximize component life and unit availability and. minimize avoidable downtime. Typically, we
overhaul each rental compressor. unit for general refurbishment every 36 to 48 months and anticipate
performing a comprehensive overhaul of each rental compressor unit every 60 to 72 months. This
maintenance program has provided us with a highly reliable fleet of compressors in excellent condition.

Our field service mechanics provide all operating - and ‘maintenance services for our compression units
leased on a contract compression or full maintenance basis and are on-call 24 hours a day. Those field
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personnel-receive regular mechanical :and. safety training both frem our staff and our vendors. Each of our .
field mechanics is responsible for specific compressor unit; installations and has at his or her disposal a
dedicated local parts inventory. Additionally, each field mechanic operates from a fully equipped service
vehicle. Each mechanic’s field service vehicle is equipped with a radio- or cellular telephone, which allows
that individual to be our primary contact with the customer’s field operations staff and to be contacted at
either his or her residence or mobile'phone 24 hours d-day. ‘Accordingly, our field service mechanics are
given the responsibility to promptly reéspond to customer service needs as they arise based on the
mechanic’s tramed judgment and’ ﬁeld expertlse o e

We beheve our competltlve posmon has beneﬁted_ fr_dm the managerial parity that our sales and_field-
service -organizations enjoy-within the company, enabling these.two vital organizations to work together in
a highly coordinated fashion in order to deliver maximum customer- service, responsiveness and reliability. |
The foundation for our successful field operations effort is the experience.and responsiveness of our
compressor rental field service and shop staff of compressor mechanics.~Our field service mechanics are
coordinated, and supported by regional operations managers who have superv1sory responsibility for spec1ﬁc:
geographic areas. “ s

Our compressor and accessory fabrication operations design, engineer and assemble compression units
and accessories for sale to third parties as well as for placement in'our compressor rental fleet. As of
December 31, 2003, we.had a compressor unit fabrication backlog for sale to third parties of $28.2 million
compared to $29.8 million at December 31, 2002. Substantially all.of our compressor and accessory
fabrication backlog is expected to be produced within a three-month to six-month period. In general, umts,
to be’ sold to third parties are assembled accordmg to each customer’s spe01ﬁcat10ns and sold on a turnkey
basis. We acqulre major.components for these COmpressor. umts from ‘third- -party suppliers.

Compressor Rental Fleet- ’

The size and horsepower of our compressor rental fleet owned or operated under lease on
December 31, 2003 is summarized in the following table.

po = Aggregate
’ i . ) : Number = Horsepower % of

Range of Horsepower Per Unit " - o e of Units " (In thousands) " Horsepower
0-100........ e P cod SRR Wil 2,006 119 3.4%
101-200.... .. S R N A P - 1,387 - 221 - 6.3%
201-500. .« . ... .. e e S T S T 1,200 . 408 11.6%
501-800. .......... e e e , 765 503 . 14.3%
801-1,100 ......... e e e 312 374 10.6%
1,101-1,500 . ....... e F LS, 903 1,271 - 36.2%
L501-2,500 . oo PR T £ A 364 10.4%
2,501-4,450 ... ... ... e e 76 253 7.2%

“Total ... UL e ey e 6,906 3,513 © 100.0%

Productton and Processmg Equtpment Fabrication

Through our productlon, and processing equlpment fabrlcatlon d1v1s1on we design, engineer, fabrlcate
sell and rent a broad range of oil and gas production equipment designed to heat, separate, dehydrate and
measure crude oil and natural gas. Our product line includes line heaters, oil and gas separators, glycol
dehydration units and skid-mounted production packages designed for both onshore and offshore :
production facilities. We also purchase and recondition used production and processing equipment that is
then sold or rented and generally maintain standard product inventories to meet most customers’ rapid
response requirements and minimize customer downtime. As of December 31,.2003, we had a production
and processing equipment fabrication backlog.of $18.1 million (excluding Belleli’s backlog of $106.7 mil- . .
lion at December 31, 2003) compared to $56.0 million at December 31, 2002. Substantially ali of our -
production equipment backlog is expected to be produced within a three to-thirty-six month period. In
addition, through our subsidiary, Belleli, we provide engineering, procurement and construction services
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primarily related to the manufacturing of heavy wall reactors for refineries and construction of desalination
plants, primarily for use in Europe and the Middle East.

Parts, Service and Used Equipment

We purchase and recondition used gas compression units, oilfield power generation and treating
facilities and production equipment that is then sold or rented to customers. In addition, we often provide
contract operations and related services for customers that prefer to own their production, gas treating and
oilfield power generation or compression equipment. We believe that we are particularly well qualified to
provide these services because our highly experienced operating personnel have access to the full range of
our compréssion rental, production processing equipment and oilfield power generation equipment and
facilities. As customers look to us to provide an ever-widening array of outsourced services, we will
continue to build our core business with emerging business opportunities, such as turnkey gas treatment,
gas measurement and oilfield-related power generation sales and services. We maintain parts inventories
for our own use and to meet our customers’ needs. As of December 31, 2003, we had approximately
$114.1 million in parts and supplies inventories.

Sources and Availability of Raw Materials

Our fabrication operations consist of fabricating compressor and production and processing equipment
from components and subassemblies, most of which we acquire from a wide range of vendors. These
components represent a significant portion of the cost of our compressor and production and processing
equipment products. Although our products are generally shipped within 180 days following their order
date, increases in raw material costs cannot always be offset by increases in our products’ sales prices. We
believe that all materials and components are readily available from multiple suppliers at competitive
prices.

Market and Customers

~ Our global customer base consists of U.S. and international companies engaged in all aspects of the
oil and gas industry, including major integrated oil and gas companies, national oil and gas companies,
large and small independent producers and natural gas processors, gatherers and pipelines. Additionally, we
have negotiated strategic alliances or preferred vendor relationships with key customers pursuant to which
we receive preferential consideration in customer compressor and oil and gas production equipment
procurement decisions in exchange for providing enhanced product availability, product support, automated
procurement practices and limited pricing concessions. No individual customer accounted for more than
10% of our consolidated revenues during 2003, 2002 or 2001.

~ Our compressor leasing activities are located throughout the continental United States, internationally
and in offshore operations. International locations include Argentina, Barbados, Egypt, United Arab
Emirates, Equatorial Guinea, India, Venezuela, Colombia, Trinidad, Bolivia, Brazil, Mexico, Peru,
Pakistan, Indonesia, Nigeria, United Kingdom, Russia and Canada. In addition, we have representative
offices in the Netherlands and the Cayman Islands. As of December 31, 2003, equipment representing
approximately 26% of our compressor rental fleet horsepower was being used in international applications.

Sales and Marketing

Our salespeople pursue the rental and sales market for compressors and production equipment and
other products in their respective territories. Each salesperson is assigned a customer list on the basis of
the experience and personal relationships of the salesperson and the individual service requirements of the
customer. This customer and relationship-focused strategy is communicated through frequent direct
contact, technical presentations, print literature, print advertising and direct mail. OQur advertising and
promotion strategy is a concentrated approach, tailoring specific messages into a very focused presentation
methodology. ' ' : '
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Additionally, our salespeople .coordinate with each other to effectively pursue customers who operate
in multiple regions. The salespeople maintain contact with our operations personnel in order to promptly
respond to and satisfy customer needs. Our sales efforts concentrate on demonstrating our’ commitment to
enhancing the customer’s cash flow through superior product desrgn fabrication, 1nsta11at10n customer
service and after-market support. o : co

Upon receipt of a request for proposal or bid by a customer we assrgn a team of sales, operations and
engineering personnel to analyze the application and prepare a quotation, including selection of the
equipment, pricing and delivery date. The quotation is then delivered to the customer and, if we are
selected as the vendor, final terms are agreed upon and a contract or purchase order is executed. Our
engineering and operations personnel also often provide assrstance on complex compressor apphcatrons,
field operations issues or equipment modrﬁcatrons :

Competition

We believe that we are currently the largest natural gas corhpres's,ion company in the United States on
the basis of aggregate rental horsepower. However, the natural gas compression services and fabrication
business is highly competitive. Overall, we experience considerable competition from companies who may
be able to more quickly adapt to changes within our industry and changes in economic conditions as a

whole, more readily take advantage of available opportunities and adopt more aggressive pricing policies.

Because the business is capital intensive, our ability to take advantage of growth opportunities is
limited by our ability to raise capital. To the extent that any of our competitors have a lower cost of .
capital or have greater access to capital than we do, they may be able to compete more eﬁ'ectrvely, whrch
may allow them to more readily take advantage of available opportunities.-

- Compressor industry participants can achieve significant advantages through’: increaséd size and
geographic breadth, As the number of rental units increases in a rental fleet, the number of sales,
engrneenng, admrmstratlve and mamtenance personnel required does not 1ncrease proportionately.

One of the significant cost items in the compressor rental business is the amount of inventory requlred
to service rental units. Each rental company must maintain a minimum amount of inventory to remain
competitive. As the size of the rental fleet increases, the required amount of inventory does not increase in
the same proportion, thus prov1d1ng economic efficiencies. The larger rental fleet compames can ‘generate
cost savrngs through 1mproved purchasmg power and vendor support.

We beheve that we compete effectrvely on the bas1s of price, customer, service, and ﬂexrbrhty in
meeting customer needs.and quality and reliability of our compressors and related services. A-few major
fabricators, some of whom also compete with us in the compressor rental business, continue to be
aggressive competitors in the compressor fabrication business. In our production and processing equipment
business, we have different competitors in the standard and custom engineered equipmient markets.
Competitors in the standard equipment market include several large companies and a large number of
small, regional fabricators. Competition in the standard equipment market i is generally based upon price,
availability, the ability to provide mtegrated prOJects and level ‘of product support after the'sale. Our
competition in the custom engineered market usually consists of larger - compames Increasingly, the ability
to fabncate these large systems near to the point of end- -use is a major competrtrve issue.

Government Regulation

We are subject-to various federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations. relating to the
environment, health and safety, including regulations and permitting for air emissions, wastewater and
stormwater discharges and waste handling and disposal activities. From time to time as part of the regular
overall evaluation of our operations, including newly acquired operations, we apply for or amend facility
permits with respect to stormwater or wastewater discharges, waste handling,. or-air emissions relating to
manufacturing activities or equipment operations, which subjects us to new or reviséd permitting conditions
that may be onerous or costly to comply with. In addition, certain of our customer service arrangements
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may require us to operate, on behalf of a specific customer, petroleum storage units such as underground
tanks, or pipelines and other regulated units, all of which may impose additional regulatory compliance and
permitting obligations. Failure to comply:with these environmental laws and regulations or associated
permits may result in the assessment of administrative, civil, and criminal penalties, the imposition of
investigatory and remedial obligations, and the issuance of injunctions as to future compliance. Moreover, .
as with any owner or operator of real property, we are subject to clean-up costs and liability for regulated
substances or any other toxi¢ or hazardous Wastes that may exist on or have been released under any of
our properties

1

In connection with our due diligence investigation of potential new properties for acquisition, we
typically perform an. evaluation to identify potentially significant environmental issues and take measures to
have such issues addressed by the seller or ourselves, as appropriate under the-circumstances. We cannot
be certain, however, that all such possible environmental issues will be identified and fully addressed prior
to our acquisition of new properties. Moreover, the handling of petroleum products and other regulated
substances is a normal part of our operations and we have experienced occasional minor spills or incidental
leakages in connection with our operations. As part of the regular overall evaluation of our operations,
including newly acquired facilitiés, we' assess the compliance and permiitting status of these operations and
facilities with applicable environmental laws and regulations and seek to address 1dent1ﬁed issues in
accordance - w1th apphcable law, ' :

The Comprehenswe Env1r0nmental Response Compensation and L1ab111ty Act, also known as
“CERCLA” orthe “Superfund” law, imposes liability, without regard to fault or the legality of the -
original conduct, on persons who-are considered 't6 be responsible for the release of a “hazardous
substance” into the environment. These persons include the owner or operator of the facility or disposal
site or sites where the release occurred and companies that disposed or arranged for the disposal of the
hazardous substances. Under CERCLA and similar state laws, such persons may be subject to joint and
several liability for the costs of cleaning up the hazardous substances that have been released into the ‘
environment, for damages to natural resources and for the costs of certain health studies. Furthermore, it is
not uncommon for neighboring landowners and other third parties to file claims for personal injury and
property damage. allegedly caused by hazardous substances or other pollutants released into the
env1ronment

The Resource Conservatlon and Recovery Act (“RCRA”) and regulations promulgated by it govern
the generation, storage, transfer and disposal of hazardous wastes. We must comply with RCRA »
regulations for any of our operations that involve the generation, management or disposal of hazardous
wastes (such as painting activities or the use of solvents). In addition, to the extént we operate
underground tanks on behalf of specific customers, such operations may be regulated under RCRA. We
believe we are in substantial compliance with RCRA and are not aware of any current claims.against us .
alleging. RCRA violations. We cannot provide any assurance, however, that we will not receive such -
notices of potential liability in the future. -

We currently own. or lease, and in the past have owned or leased, a number of prdperties that have
been used in support of our operatlons for a number of years. Although we have utilized operating and
disposal practices that were standard in the industry at the time, hydrocarbons, ‘hazardous substances, or
other regulated wastes may have been disposed of or released on or under the properties owned or leased
by us or on or under other locations where such materials have been taken for disposal. In addition, many
of these properties have been operated by third parties whose treatment and disposal or release of
hydrocarbons, hazardous substances or other regulated wastes was not under our control. These properties
and the materials released or disposed thereon may be subject to CERCLA, RCRA, and analogous state
laws. Under such laws, we could be required to remove or remediate historical property contamination, or
. to perform remedial plugging or pit closure operations to prevent future contamination. We are not
currently under any order requiring that we undertake or. pay for any clean-up activities; nor are we aware
of any current environmental claims by the-government or private parties against us demanding remedial
action or alleging that we are liablefor remedial costs already-incurred. However, we cannot provide any
assurance that we. will not receive any such claims in the future.
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-“The Federal Water Pollution: Control Act.of 1972, also knowr as the “Clean Water Act,” and = -~
analogous state laws impose restrictions and strict’ controls'regarding the discharge of pollutants into waters
of the United States. The discharge of pollutants inté regulated’waters is prohibited, except in accordance |
with the térms of a permit issued by the EPA or the state. The EPA also has adopted regulations .- '. .-
requiring covered industrial operators to-obtain permits for storm water’ discharges.:Costs may be '
associated with the treatment of wastewater or developing and implementing storm water pollution
_prevention plans. We believe that we are in substantral comphance wrth requrrements under the Clean
Water Act. : ‘ , "

The Clean Air Act restncts the emission of air pollutants from many sources, 1nclud1ng compressors
and operational support facilities. New facilities may be required to obtain permits before work can begin,
and existing facilities may be required to incur capital costs in order to remain in compliance. In addition,
certain states have or are considering.and the federal government-has recently passed more: stringent air

" emission controls on off-road engines. These laws and regulations -may affect the costs of our .operations.

On June 25, 1999, we notified the Air:Quality Bureau of the' Environmental Protection Division, New
Mexico Environment Department, of potentlal violations of regulatory and permitting requirements. The
potentral V1olatrons mcluded failure to conduct requrred performance tests failure to file- required not)ces )
and’ farlure fo pay fees for .COMPIESSOTr Units located on _sites for more than ‘one. year. We promptly pard the
requrred fees and corrected the potential violations. On Jiine 12, 2001 .after the potentral violations’ had
been corrected the Drrector of the Division issued a comphance order to us in connectron with the "
potential violations. The’ compliance order assessed a civil penalty of $15 000 per day-per alleged regulatory
violation and permit; no total penalty amount was proposed in the compliance order. On" October 3, 2003,
the Division notified us that the total proposed penalty would be $759,072. However, since the alleged .-

- .viclations had been self-disclosed; that :amount was reduced to $189,768. We have responded to the. .
penalty assessment, challenging some of the calculations, and have proposed an alternative. settlement
amount. We are currently negotiating with the New Mexico Environment Department on the method of
calculatron and proposed settlement amounts, and the issue is not yet resolved. A Stlpulated Motion for
Extensmn of Trme to File Answer has been filed which extends the deadline for ﬁhng our response to
March 22 2004 )

We -believe that we'are currently in substantial comphance with envrronmental laws and regulatrons v
and that the phasirig-in of fecent more stringent air emission controls on-off-road engines and other known’
regulatory- requiremerits in the time periods -currently- contemplated by such laws and regulations will not
have a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated financial condition, results of operations and
cdsh: flows. Tt is possible that strictér environmental laws and regulations. may be imposed in the future
_such as more stringent air emission requirements or’proposdls to make curréntly non-hazirdous wastes "
subject to more stringent and costly handling, disposal and clean-up requireients. While we may be-able
to pass on the additional costs of complying with such laws to our customers, there can be no assurance ‘"
that attemipts to'do so will-be- successful Actordingly, new laws or regulations or amendments to exrstrngf «
laws or regulations might require -us to undertake significant capital expenditures and othérwise have a”
material adverse: effect on' our busmess, consohdated ﬁnanmal condition, results of operatlons and cash
flows. = - ey ' A o

o .

Our operations outside the United States are potentially subJect to s1m11ar forergn govemmental
controls and restrictions pertammg to the.envifonment. We believe our operatlons are in substantral
comphance with existing foreign governmental controls and restrictions and that comphance with these
foreign controls and restrictions has not had a material adverse effect on’ our operations. We cannot
provide any assurarce, however that we wrll not 1ncur 51gn1ﬁcant costs to comply wrth these foreign
controls and restnct10ns 1n the future.

Internatlonal Operatlons . e
We operate in many different geographrc markets some of which are outsrde the Unrted States At
December 31,-2003, of the .approximately 925,000 horsepower. of compression we had-deployed - ;-
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‘internationally, approximately 84% was.located in Latin America (primarily in Venezuela, Argentina and
Mexico) and approximately 11% was located in Canada. Changes in local economic or political conditions,
particularly in Venezuela, Argentina and other parts of Latin America, could have a material adverse
effect on our business, consolidated financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Addltlonal
risks inherent in our international business activities include the following: :

. ditﬁculties in managing international operations;

. ﬁnexpected chahges in regulatory requirementS'

« tariffs and other trade barriers which may restrict our ability to enter into new markets
. changes in political conditions;

. potentially adverse tax consequences;

« restrictions on repatriation of earnings or expropriation of property;

« the burden of complying with foreign laws; and

¢ fluctuations in currency exchange rates and the value of the U.S. dollar.

Our future plans involve expanding our business in international markets where we currently do not
condiict business. Our decentralized management structure and the risks 1nherent in new business ventures,
especially in international markets where local customs, laws and business procedures present spemal
challenges, may affect our ability to be successful in these ventures or avoid losses which could have a
matenal adverse effect on our business, ﬁnanc1a1 condmon results of operations and cash flows.

We have significant operations that expose us to currency risk in Argentina and Venezuela To
mitigate that risk, the majority of our existing contracts provide that we receive payment in or based on
U.S. dollars rather than Argentine pesos and Venezuelan bolivars, thus reducing our exposure to
fluctuations in their value. : ‘

Although the Qperating environment in Argentina has since stabilized, in January 2002, Argentina
devalued its peso against the U.S. dollar and imposed significant restrictions on fund transfers internally”
and outside the country. In addition, the Argentine government enacted regulations to temporarily prohibit
enforcement of contracts with exchange rate-based purchase price adjustments. Instead, payment under
such contracts could either be made at an exchange rate negotiated by the parties or, if no such agreement
were reached, a preliminary payment could be made based on a one dollar to one peso equivalent pending
a final agreement. The Argentine government also required the parties to such contracts to renegotiate the
price terms within180 business days of the devaluation. We have renegotiated all of our agreements in
Argentina. As a result of these negotiations, we received approximately $11.2 million in reimbursements in
2002 and $0.7 million in 2003. For the year ended December 31,.2003, our Argentine .operations
represented approximately 5% of our revenue and 9% of our gross profit. During the years ended
December.31, 2003 and 2002, we recorded an exchange gain of approximately $0.5 million and an
exchange loss of approximately $9.9 million, respectively, for assets exposed to currency translation in
Argentina. The economic situation in Argentina is subject to change. To the extent that the situation in
Argentina deteriorates, exchange controls continue in place and the value of the peso against the dollar is
reduced further, our results of operations in Argentina could be materially and adversely affected which
could result in reductions in our net income.

In December 2002, opponents of Venezuelan President Hugo Chdvez initiated a country-wide strike
by workers of the national oil company in Venezuela. This strike, a two-month walkout, had a significant
negative impact on Venezuela’s economy and temporarily shut down a substantial portion of Venezuela’s
oil industry. As a result of the strike, Venezuela’s oil production has dropped substantially. In addition,
exchange controls have been put in place which put limitations on the amount of Venezuelan currency
that can be exchanged for foreign currency by businesses operating inside Venezuela. In May 2003, after
six months of negotiation, the Organization of the American States brokered an accord between the
Venezuelan government and its opponents. Although the accord does offer the prospect of stabilizing
Venezuela’s economy, if another national strike is staged, exchange controls remain in place, or economic
and political conditions in Venezuela continue to deteriorate, our results of operations in Venezuela could
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be materially and adversely affected, which could result in réductions in our net income. As a result of the
disruption in our operations in Venezuela, during the fourth quarter of 2002, our international rental
revenues decreased by apprommately $2.7 million.  In the twelve months ended December 31, 2003, we
recognized approximately $2.7 million of billings to Venezuelan customers that were not recognized in
2002 due to concerns about the ultimate receipt of those revenues. In addition, a recent movement to
remove President Chdvez has resulted in renewed civil strife in Venezuela. If such strife continues or
escalates, our results of operat1ons in Venezuela could be further materially and adversely affected

During the years -ended December 31 2003 and. 2002 we recorded exchange losses of approxnnately
- $2.4 million and $5:8 million, respectively, for assets exposed to currency translation in Venezuela. For the
year ended December 31, 2003, our Venezuelan operations represented approximately 11% of our revenue
and 18% of our gross profit. At December 31, 2003, we had approximately $23.0 million in accounts’
receivable related to our Venezuelan operations. - .

In February 2003, the Venezuelan governmeént fixed the exchange rate to 1,600 bolivars for each
U.S. dollar. In February 2004, the government devalued the currency by approx1mately 17%. The imipact
of the devaluation on our results will depend upon the amount of our assets (pnmanly workmg cap1tal)
exposed to'currency- fluctuation in Venezuela in future penods As of December 31; 2003, we had
approximately $6.0 million in net assets ‘exposed to currency fluctuation in Venezuela. Based on these
assets, a 10% change in exchange rates would result in a $0.5 million L gain or loss in Venezuela.,

As part-of our acquisition of the gas compress1on busmess of -Schlumberger, we acquired minority
interests in three joint ventures in Venezuela. As a ‘minority investor'in these joint ventures, we will not be
able to control their operations and activities; including, without limitation, whether and when they -
distribute cash or property to their holders: In- J anuary 2003, we gave notice of our intentto exercise our
right to’put our interest in one of these joint ventures; the PIGAP II joint-venture, back to Schlumberger
Surenco. If not exercised, the put right would have expired as of February 1, 2003. On May 14, 2003, we
entered 1nto an agreement with Schlumberger Surenco to terminate the PIGAP II put and thus have
retamed our ownershlp 1nterest in PIGAP II

v We are 1nvolved'1n a prOJect to build and operéte barge-mounted gas compression and gas processing
facilities to be stationed in a Nigeridn. codstal waterway as part of the performance of a contract between
an affiliate of The Royal/Dutch Shell Group (“Shell”) and Global Energy and Refining Ltd. (“Global”),
a Nigerian. company. We have completed the building of .the required barge-mounted facilities. We -
understand that Global must complete a srgmﬁcant financing for part of the project in the near term or
Shell would be able to terminate its contract with Global. Global has orally informed us that they have.
completed a financing, although it is not clear to us whether the funds raised will be sufficient to perform
their obligations under the Shell contract. In ‘light of the political environment in Nigeria, Global’s lack of
a successful track record with respect to this project-and other factors, there is no assurance that Global
will be able to comply with its-obligations under the Shell contract. We believe that Global is.in default
with respect to certain agreements they have w1th us, as a result of which we believe we have certain
termination nghts - : » '

If Shell were 10 terminate its contract with Global for.any reason or 'w'e were to terminate our
involvement in the project, we would e required to find an alternatwe use for.the barge facility which
could result in a write-down of our investment. We currently have an investment of approximately
$29.8 million associated with the barge facrhty and apprommately $4 1 mrlhon assomated with advances to,
and our rnvestment in, Global :

For financial data relating to the Company s geographic concentrations, see Note 23 to the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements 1ncluded in Item 15 of this Form 10-K.-
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Executive Ofﬁcer‘s of the Registrant

The following sets forth, as of March 12, 2004 the name, age and busmess experience for the last five
years of each of our executive ofﬁcers

© Name S _Age © ..~ Position

Chad C. Deaton..... R e Lo 51 Pres1dent and Chief Executive: Officer; D1rector

John E. Jackson....... e 45 Senior Vice President—Chief F1nanc1a1 Officer
Mark S. Berg* ........... ... oo 45  Senior Vice President—General Counsel and Secretary
Peter G. Schreck ................... .. + 40 Vice President—Treasury and Planning

Stephen P. York ... ... ... ... .. ..., . 47 Vice President and Corporate Controller

The foilowing sets forth certain information regarding executive, officers of the Company:'

Chad C. Deaton was elected President, Chief Executive Officer and director in August 2002. From
1976 through 1984, Mr. Deaton served in a variety of positions with the Dowell Division of Dow
Chemical. Following Schlumberger’s acqulsmon of Dowell in 1984, Mr, Deaton served in management
positions with Schlumberger in Europe, Russia and the United States. Mr. Deaton was executive vice
president: of Schlumberger Oilfield Services from.1998 to 1999. From September 1999 to September 2001,
Mr. Deaton served as a Senior Advrsor to Schlumberger Ollﬁeld Serv1ces -

John E. Jackson has served as Senior Vice President and Chief*Financial Officer since February
2002. Prior to joining Hanover, Mr. Jackson served as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Duke
Energy Field Services, a joint venture of Duke Energy and Phillips -Petroleum that is one of the nation’s
largest producers and marketers of natural gas liquids..Mr. Jackson joined Duke Energy Field Services as
Vice, President and Controller.in. April 1999.and was named, Chief, Financial Officer in February 2001.
Prior to joining Duke Energy Field Services, Mr. Jackson served in a variety of treasury, controller- and -
accounting positions at Union Pacific Resources between June 1981 and April 1999.

Mark S. Berg* has served as ‘Senior Vlce President, General Counsel and Secretary since May 2002.
From 1997 through 2001, Mr. Berg was an executive officer of American General Corporation, a Fortune
500 diversified financial services company, most recently serving in the position of Executive. Vice
Pres1dent General Counsel and Secretary. Mr. Berg began his career in 1983 as an associate with the
.Houston- based law. firm of V1nson & Elkins L.L.P. and served, as a partner from 1990 through 1997.

' Peter G. Schreck has served as Vice Pres1dent —= Treasury and Planmng since September 2000.

Mr. Schreck was prev1ously eémployed in various financial posmons by Union Pacific Corporation and its
aﬁihated subsidiaries from. 1988 through August 2000. Immedlately prior ‘to joining Hanover, Mr; Schreck
held the pos1t1on of Treasurér and Diréctor of F1nanc1al Servrces for Union Pacific Resources Company

- Stephen P York has served -as Vice President and Corporate Controller since April 2002. Prior to
joining Hanover, Mr.. York served as Director; Payroll Prodiction of Exult; Inc., a provider of web-enabled
human resources managemerit services-in Charlotte, NC, since 2001. From 1981 to.2000, Mr. York held
various management positions with Bank of America Corporation, including Senior Vice President —
Personnel Operations, Senior Vice President — Controller/General Accounting, Senior Vice President —
Corporate Accounts Payable/Fixed Assets, and’ Vice President — Audit Director. Mr. York was an
accountant with KPMG Peat Marwick'in Waco, TX, from 1979 to '1981';'

* On February 27, 2004 Mr. Berg entéred into a Separation ‘Agreement with us and we announced that
Mr. Berg plans to step down from his position at Hanover effective March 31, 2004.

Employees

As of December 31, 2003 we had approximately 5,500 employees, approximately 500 of whom are
represented by a labor union. Furthermore, we had approximately 850 contract personnel. We believe that
our relations with our employees and contract personnel are satisfactory.
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Electronic Information

‘We maintain: a website which.can be found at Attp://www.hanover-co.com. We make our Annual -
Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly. Reports on' Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and the
amendmiénts to those repoits filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 available on our website. Also, such information is readily avarlable at the website
of the Securmes and Exchange Commlssmn whrch can be found at hth //www sec. gov

A paper copy of any of the above-described filings is also available free of chargefrom the. Company
upon request by-contacting Hanover Compressor Company, 12001 North Houston Rosslyn Road, Houston,
‘Texas 77086, Attention: Corporate Secretary (281) 405-5175. You may also read 4nd copy any document
we file with the SEC at its public reference facilities at Room 1024, 450 Fifth Street N.W.,

Washington, D.C. 20549. You can obtain copies of the documents at prescribed rates by writing to the
Public Reference Section of the SEC at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the
SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the public reference facilities. Our
SEC filings are also available ‘at the ofﬁces of the New York Stock Exchange Iric., 11 Wall Street

New York New York 10005 o

i

Item 2. Propertzes L . ’ .
The followrng table- descnbes the materral fac111t1es owned or leased by Hanover and our subsrdlanes
as of December 31, 2003 LR e N
£ : - Siluare 3 o
Locatron ST . -, Status . Feet - : e : Uses
Broken Arrow, Oklahoma . e -Owned 127,505 Cornpressor and accessory fabncatlon
Davis, Oklahoma | R . Owned 393,870 Compressor and accessory fabrication
Houston, Texas .« ... Owned-256,505- Compressor and accessory fabrication . |
Houston, Texas . ..« .. .Leased .51,941 Office.
Anaco, Venezuela Leased 10,000 Compressor rental and service
Casper, Wyoming Owned 28,390 Compressor rental and service
Comodoro Rivadavia, Argentina - '+ Leased 21,000 Compressor rental and service
Comodoro Rivadavia, Argentina:© . -~ --Owned 26,000 Compressor rental and service
Farmington, New Mexico. . . - Owned 20,361 Compressor rental and service - .
Gillette, Wyoming ‘ . . Leased 10,200 Compressor rental and service
Houston, Texas " .77 Leased 13,200 Compressor rental and service
Kilgore, Texas* = '~ '+ *-Owned" 33,039 Compressor rental and service
Maturin, Venezuela® *- -* - = "~ Owned 20,000 Compressor rental and service -
Midland, Texas - ~' .+ Owned :53,300 Compressor rental and service
Neuquen, Argentina- -~ .~ . ..+ 'Owned 30,000 Compressor rental and service . =
Pampa, Texas- - .. ©oo + . - Leased - 24,000 Compressor rental and service
Pocola, Oklahoma : - -+ - . Owned . 18,705 -Compressor rental and. service
Santa Cruz,.Bolivia .-+ .Leased 32,200 Compressor rental and service
Victoria, Texas : , ~ Owned 21,840 Compressor rental and service
Victoria, Texas L o Leased 18,083 Compressor rental and service
Walsall, UK- Redhouse " Owned 15,300 Compressor rental and service
Walsall, UK-Westgate - Owned 44,700 Compressor rental and service -
Yukon, Oklahoma . . Owned 22,453 Compressor, rental and service
Odessa;, Texas " Owned 15,751 Parts, service and used equipment
Houston, Texas - "~ Leased 28,750 Parts, service and used equipment’
Houston, Texas y Leased 73,450 Parts, service and used equipment
Odessa, Texas Owned 30;281 -Parts, service and used equlpment :
Broussard, Louisiana Owned 74,402 Production and processmg equipment fabncatlon
Calgary, Alberta, Canada | Owned 95,000 Production and processing equipment fabrication
Columbus, Texas ... .- . Owned 219,552 Production and proces'sing equipment fabrication
Corpus Christi, Texas =~ :° Owned 11,000 Production and processmg equipment fabrication
Dubai, UAE g Owned 33,128 Production and processrng equipment fabrication
Hamriyah Free Zone, UAE Owned 12,628 Production and processing equipment fabrication
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Square

Location Status Feet Uses
Mantova, Italy Owned 198,037 Production and processing equipment fabrication
Tulsa, Oklahoma . Owned 40,100 Production and processing equipment fabrication
Victoria, Texas Owned 50,506 Production and processing equipment fabrication

Our corporate headquarters and compressor fabrication facility in Houston, Texas and our production
equipment manufacturing facility in Columbus, Texas are mortgaged to secure the repayment of
approximately $2.9 million (as of December 31, 2003) in indebtedness to a .commercial bank.

Our executive offices are located at 12001 North Houston Rosslyn, Houston, Texas 77086 and our
telephone number is (281) 447-8787. '

Item 3. Legal Proceedings -

Commencing in February 2002, approximately 15 putative securities class action lawsuits were filed
against us and certain of our current and former officers and directors in the United States District Court
for the Southern District of Texas. These class actions (together with subsequently filed actions) were
consolidated into one case, Pirelli Armstrong Tire Corporation Retiree Medical Benefits Trust, On Behalf
of Itself and All Others Similarly Situated, Civil Action No. H-02-0410, naming as defendants Hanover,
Mr. Michael J. McGhan, Mr. William S. Goldberg and Mr. Michael A. O’Connor. The complaints
asserted various claims under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and
sought unspecified amounts of compensatory damages, interest and costs, including legal fees. The court
entered an order appointing Pirelli Armstrong Tire Corporation Retiree Medical Benefits Trust and others
as lead plaintiffs on January 7, 2003 and appointed Milberg, Weiss, Bershad, Hynes & Lerach LLP as lead
counsel. On September 5, 2003, lead plaintiffs filed an amended complaint in which they sought relief
under Sections 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act and Section 11 of the Securities Act against
Hanover, certain former officers and directors and our auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, on behalf of
themselves and the class of persons who purchased Hanover securities between May 4, 1999 and
December 23, 2002. '

In the securities action, the plaintiffs allege generally that the defendants violated the federal
securities laws by making misstatements and omissions in Hanover’s periodic filings with the SEC as well
as in other public statements in connection with the transactions that were restated in 2002.

Commencing in February 2002, four derivative lawsuits were filed in the United States District Court
for the Southern District of Texas, two derivative lawsuits were filed in state district court for Harris
County, Texas (one of which was nonsuited and the second of which was removed to Federal District
Court for the Southern District of Texas) and one derivative lawsuit was filed in the Court of Chancery
for the State of Delaware in and for New Castle County. These derivative lawsuits, which were filed by
certain of our shareholders purportedly on behalf of Hanover, alleged, among other things, that our
directors breached their fiduciary duties to shareholders in connection with certain of the transactions that
were restated in 2002, and sought unspecified amounts of damages, interest and costs, including legal fees.
The derivative lawsuits in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas were
consolidated on August 19 and August 26, 2002 into the Harbor Finance Partners derivative lawsuit. With
that consolidation, the pending derivative lawsuits were:

: Date
Plaintiff ) Defendants Civil Action No. Court Instituted

Harbor Finance Partners, Michael J. McGhan, William S. : H-02-0761 United States District : 03/01/02
derivatively on behalf of Goldberg, Ted Collins, Jr., Robert R. Court for the Southern '
Hanover Compressor Furgason, Melvyn N. Klein, Michael District of
Company A. O’Connor, and Alvin V. Shoemaker, Texas

Defendants and Hanover Compressor

Company, Nominal Defendant
Coffelt Family, LLC, Michael A. O’Connor, Michael J. 19410-NC Court of Chancery for the 02/15/702
derivatively on behalf of McGhan, William S. Goldberg, Ted State of Delaware State
Hanover Compressor Collins, Jr., Melvyn N. Klein, Alvin V. Court in New Castle
Company Shoemaker and Robert R. Furgason, County

Defendants and Hanover Compressor
Company, Nominal Defendant
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On October 2, 2003, the Harbor Finance Partners derivative lawsuit was consolidated into the Pirelli
Armstrong Tire Corporation Retiree Medical Benefits Trust securities class action.

On and after March 26, 2003, three plaintiffs filed separate putative class actions against Hanover,
certain named individuals and other purportedly unknown defendants, in the United States District Court
for the Southern District of Texas. The alleged class was composed of persons who participated in or were
beneficiaries of The Hanover Companies Retirement and Savings Plan, which was established by Hanover
pursuant to Section 401 (k) of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The
purported class action sought relief under ERISA based upon -Hanover’s and the individual defendants’
alleged mishandling of Hanover’s 401 (k) Plan. The three ERISA putative class actions are entitled:
Kirkley v. Hanover, Case No. H-03-1155; Angleopoulos v. Hanover, Case No. H-03-1064; and Freeman v.
Hanover, Case No. H-03-1095. On August 1, 2003, the three ERISA class actions were consolidated into
the Pirelli Armstrong Tire Corporation Retiree Medical Benefits Trust federal securities class action. On
October 9, 2003, a consolidated amended complaint was filed by the plaintiffs in the ERISA class action
against Hanover, Michael McGhan, Michael O’Connor and William Goldberg, which included the same
allegations as indicated above, and was filed on behalf of themselves and a class of persons who purchased
or held Hanover securities in their 401 (k) Plan between May 4, 1999 and December 23, 2002.

These actions alleged generally that, in connection with the transactions that were-restated in 2002,
we and certain individuals acting as fiduciaries of Hanover’s 401 (k) Plan breached our fiduciary duties to
the plan participants by offering Hanover common stock as an investment option, failing to provide
material information to plan participants regarding the suitability of Hanover common stock as an
investment alternative, failing to monitor the performance of plan fiduciaries, and failing to provide
material information to other fiduciaries.

On October 23, 2003, we entered into a Stipulation of Settlement, which settled all of the claims
underlying the putative securities class action, the putative ERISA class action and the shareholder
derivative actions described above. The terms of the settlement provided for us to: (1) make a cash
payment of approximately $30 million (of which $26.7 million was funded by payments from Hanover’s
directors and officers insurance carriers), (2) issue 2.5 million shares of our common stock, and (3) issue
a contingent note with a principal amount of $6.7 million. The note is payable, together with accrued
interest, on March 31, 2007 but will be extinguished (with no money owing under it) if our common stock
trades at or above the .average price of $12.25 per share for 15 consecutive trading days at any time
between March 31, 2004 and March 31, 2007. In addition, upon the occurrence of a change of control that
involves.us, if the change of control or shareholder approval of the change of control occurs before
February 9, 2003, which is twelve months after final court approval of the settlement, we will be obligated
to contribute an additional $3 million to the settlement fund. As part of the settlement, we have also
agreed to implement corporate governance enhancements, including allowing shareholders 6wning more
than 1% but less than 10% of our outstanding common stock to participate in the process to appoint two
‘independent directors to our board of directors (pursuant to which on February 4, 2004 we appointed
Margaret K. Dorman and Stephen M. Pazuk to our board of directors) and making certain changes to our
code of conduct. : ‘ \

GKH Investments, L.P. and GKH Private Limited (collectively “GKH”).which, as of December 31,
2003, together owned approximately 10% of Hanover’s outstanding common stock and which sold shares in
our March 2001 secondary offering of common stock, are parties to the settlement and have agreed to
settle claims. against them that arise out of that offering as well as other potential securities, ERISA, and
derivative claims. The terms of the settlement provide for GKH to transfer 2.5 million shares of Hanover
common stock from their holdings or from other sources to the settlement fund.

On October 24, 2003, the parties moved the United States District Court for the Southern District of
Texas for preliminary approval of the proposed settlement and sought permission to provide notice to the
potentially affected persons and to set a date for-a final hearing to approve the proposed settlement. On
December 5, 2003, the court held a hearing and granted the parties’ motion for preliminary approval of the
proposed settlement and, among other things, ordered that notice be provided to appropriate persons and
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set .the date for the final hearing. The final hearing was held on February 6, 2004, and no objections to the
settlement or requests to be excluded from the terms of the settlement had been received prior to the
deadline set by the court.

On February 9, 2004, the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas entered
three Orders and Final Judgments, approving the settlement on the terms agreed upon in the Stipulation
of Settlement with respect to all of the claims described above including the dismissal of each of the
actions other than the Coffelt Family derivative action filed in the Delaware Chancery Court. The court
also entered an Order and Final Judgment approving the plans of allocation with respect to each action, as’
well as an Order and Final Judgment approving the schedule of attorneys’ fees for counsel for the settling
plaintiffs, The time in which these Orders and Final Judgments may be appealed expired on March 10,
2004 without any appeal being lodged. In addition, on March 16, 2004, the Delaware Chancery Court
dismissed the Coffelt Family derivative action. The settlement has therefore become final and will be
implemented-according to its terms. In March 2004, we issued and delivered to the escrow agent for the
settlement fund 2.5 million shares. of Hanover common stock, as required by the settlement. Our
independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, is not a party to the settlement and remains a party to the
securities class action.

Based on the terms of the settlement agreement and individual components of the settlement, we
recorded the cost of the litigation settlement The details of the litigation settlement charge were as follows
(in thousands): : : :

Cash N o i $ 30,050
Estimated fair value of note to be issued =~ 3,633
- Common stock to be issued by Hanover ’ ' 29,800
Legal fees and administrative costs . ‘ 6,178
Total g . 69,661
Less: insurance recoveries o (26,670)
Net litigation settlement - C $ 42,991

The $3.6 million estimated fair value of the note to be issued was based on the present value of the
future cash flows discounted at borrowing rates currently available to us for debt with similar terms and
maturities. Using a market-borrowing rate of 9.3%, the principal value and the stipulated interest rate
required by the note of 5% per annum, a discount of $0.8 million was computed on the note to be issued.
Upon the issuance of the note, the discount will be amortized to interest expense over the term of the
note. Because the note could be extinguished without a payment (if our.common stock trades at or above
the average price of $12.25 per share for 15 consecutive trading days at any time between March 31, 2004
and March 31, 2007), we will be required to record an asset when the note is issued for the value of the
embedded derivative, as required by SFAS 133. We estimated the value of the derivative and reduced the
amount we included for the estimate of the value of the note by approximately $2.3 million at
December 31,2003. This asset will be marked to market in future periods with any increase or decrease -
included in our statement of operations.

As of December 31, 2003, our accompanying balance sheet included a $33.4 million long-term
liability and $32.7 million in accrued liabilities related to amounts that are expected to be paid in the next
twelve months. During the second quarter of 2003, the $26.7 million receivable from the insurance carriers
and $2.8 million of our portion of the cash settlement was paid into an escrow fund and is included in the
accompanying balance sheet as restricted cash. In the first quarter of 2004, we will reclassify $29.8 million,
the value accrued for the stock to be paid, from other liabilities to stockholders’ equity and will include the
shares in our outstandmg shares used for earnings per share calculatlons

On November 14, 2002, the SEC issued a Formal Order of Private Investigation relating to the
transactions underlying and, other matters relating to, the restatements of our financial statements. In
December 2003, we entered into a settlement with the SEC. Without admitting or denying any of the .
SEC’s findings, we consented to the entry of a cease and desist order requiring future compliance with
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certain periodic reporting, record keeping and internal-control provisions of the securities laws. The
settlement did not impose any monetary penalty on us, and requrred no add1t1onal restatements of our
historical financial statements. - :

As of December 31, 2003 we had 1ncurred approxrrnately $15.1 mrlhon in legal related expenses in
connection with the internal 1nvestrgat10ns the putative class’ action securities and ERISA lawsuits, the
derivative lawsuits and the SEC 1nvest1gat10n Of this dmount, we, advanced approxrmately $2.3 mrllron on
behalf of certain current and former oﬁicers and. difectors i in connectxon with the above-named
proceedings. We intend to advance any lrtrgatron costs of our current and former officers and directors,
subject to the limitations imposed-by Delaware and other applicable law and Hanover’s certificate of
incorporation and bylaws.” We do not éxpect additional legal fees and administrative costs in connection
with the settlement of the litigation, advances on behalf of current and” former officers and directors for
legal fees and other related costs to exceed $2.5 million, the remaining balance of the accrual

P

On June 25, l999 we notified the Air Quality Bureau of the Envrronmental Protectron Division, New
Mexico Environment Department, of potential violations of regulatory and permitting requirements. The
potential violations included failure to conduct required performance. tests, failure 'to file required notices and
failure to pay fees for compressor units located on sites for more than one year. We promptly paid the
required fees and corrected the potential violations. On June 12, 2001, after the potentral violations had been
corrected, the Director of the Division issued a-compliance order to us in conngction with' the potential
violations. The compliance order assessed a civil-penalty of $15,000 per day per alleged regulatory violation
and permit; no total perialty amount was proposed in the compliance order.”On October 3, 2003, the Division
notified us that the total proposed ‘penalty-would bé-$759,072. However, since the alleged violations had been
self-disclosed, that amount was reduced to $189,768. We have responded to the penalty assessment,
challenging some-of the calculations, and have proposed an alternative-settlement amount. We are currently
negotiating with the New-Mexico Environmerit Departinent on th¢ method of calculation and proposed

_settlenent amounts, and the issue is not yet resolved. A Stipulated Mgtion' for Extension of Time to File
Answer has been filed’ which extends ‘the deadline for ﬁhng our response to March 22,:2004.

i

In the ordrnary course of busrness we -are mvolved in various other 'pending or threatened legal
actions, including environmental matters. While management is unable to_predict. the ultimate outcome- of
these actions, it believes that any ultrmate habrlrty arising from these actrons will not have a materral
adverse ‘effect-on our- consolidated financial posrtron ‘results of operations or cash flows.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of our shareholders during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year
ended December 31, 2003.

23




PART 11

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Commbn Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “HC.” As of
March 19, 2004, 85,536,605 shares of our common stock were issued and held of record by approximately
700 holders. On March 19, 2004, the last reported sales price of our common stock on the New York
Stock Exchange was $10.87. The following table presents, for the periods indicated, the range of high and
low quarterly closing sales prices of our common stock, as reported on the New York Stock Exchange.

Price
. High Low

Year ended December 31, 2002 ‘
First Quarter $ 25.52 $ 10.50
Second Quarter’ $ 20.33 $ 11.56
Third Quarter $ 13.50 $ 6.80
Fourth Quarter ' $ 11.98 $ 620
Year ended December 31, 2003

First Quarter - - ‘ $ 10.10 $ 6.00
Second Quarter : - $11.70 $ 6.85
Third Quarter _ o $ 1219 $ 9.00
Fourth Quarter . $1150 $ 9.21

We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock since our formation and do not anticipate
paying such dividends in the foreseeable future. The Board of Directors anticipates that all cash flow
generated from operations in the foreseeable future will be retained and used to pay down debt, develop
and expand our business. Any future determinations to pay cash dividends on our common stock will be at
the discretion of the our Board of Directors and will be dependent upon our results of operations and
financial condition, credit and loan agreements in effect at that time and other factors deemed relevant by
the Board of Directors. Our bank credit facility, with the JPMorgan Chase Bank, as agent, prohibits us
(without the lenders’ prior approval) from declaring or paying any dividend (other than dividends payable
solely in our common stock or in options, warrants or rights to purchase such common stock) on, or
making similar payments with respect to, our capital stock.

See Item 12 of this report for disclosures regarding segufitics authorized for issuance under equity
compensations plans. -
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Item 6. Selected Fmanctal Data - --

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (HISTORICAL)

' In the table below we have presented certain selected financial data for Hanover for.beac'h of the'five years in the .
period ended December 31, 2003. The historical consolidated financial data has been derived from Hanover’s audited =

consolidated financial statements. The following information should be read together with “Management’s Dlscussxon :
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operanons” in Item 7 of this Form 10- K and the. Consohdated

Fmancml Statements in Item 15 of this Form 10 K.

Income ‘Statement Data;
. Revenues and other income:
' Domestic rentals . [ ... .. covereie
International rentals’
Parts, service and used equipment
Compressor-and accessory fabrication
Production and processing equipment fabrication
Equity in income of non-consolidated affiliates
., Gain on change in interest in non- consohdated aﬂihate.
" Other

Total revenues (2)

Expenses o
Domestic rentals

. International rentals .................................
Parts, service and used equipment .............. ...,
Compressor and accessory fabrication

Production and processing. equipment fabncatlon». LS

Selling, general and administrative
Foreign currency translation
- Provision for cost of litigation settlement (5) ..
Other
Depreciation and amomzatlon (3) (4)
Goodwill impairment (3) .
Leasing expense (4) .-
. Interest expense (4)

Income (loss) from contmumg operatlons before mcome taxes ......
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

Income (loss) from continuing operations...............ccoovnun
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, .net of tax(2)
Cumulative effect of accounting-change, net of tax(4) .

Net income (loss)

Earnings (1oss) per common share:-
Basic earnings (loss) per common share from commumg operanons .

Diluted earnings (]oss) per common share from continuing operations

Weighted average common and common equivalent shares:
Basic. .o

JL

. B P B
‘ Years Ended Decembér 31, .
2003 2002 ., 3001(1) . _20001) . 1999(1)
(in thousands, except per share data)

............. ' $ 324186 $ 328,600 § 269,679 S 172,517 $136,430
.............. 206,404 189,700 ° 131,097 . 81,320° . 56,225
169,023 223,845 214872 ' 113,526-. 39,130
............. 106,896 114,009 - 223,519 90,270 52,531
............. 260,660 149,656 - 184,040 779,121 27,253
................ 23,088 . - 18,311 19,350 - 3,518 1,188
............. —_ . — S T o 864 .=
............. 5,093 4189 7 8,403 5688 5371
............. 1,095,350 1,028,810 1,040960 546,824 " 318,130
............. 127,425 © 122,172 95203 - 60,336 46,184
............. 67,465 57,579 45795 - 27,656 18,765
............. 126,619 * 179844 152,701 79,958 26,504
............. . 96922 . 99,446 188,122 - 76,754 43,663
e e’ - 234203 127,442 147,824 62,684 20,278
............... 161,655 153,676 92,172 51,768 . 33,782
L 2,548 16,753 6,658 - .
............. 42,991 - T -
e S 2906 27,607 9721 . — ., =
............. " 172,602 151,181 88,823 52,188 37,337
............. 35,466 52,103 0 — ¢ _ -
............... 43,139 - . 90,074 . 78,031 45484 - 22,090
RS 89,175 . . 43352 23904  .15,048 9,064

1,203,116 ° 1,121,229 _ 928,960 _ 471,876 257,667
ST (107,766)  (92.419) 112,000 = 74,948 60,463 -
............. 784 (17,576) 42,388 . 270818 - 22,008
............. (108,550)  (74,843) 69,612 . 47,130 38,455
............... (12,799)  (41,225) 2,965 2,509 T
............... (86,910) — (164) — —
............. - $ (208,259) $ (116,068) 5 _,72,,4,13 $ 49,639 § 38455
............ L% (134) 8 (094) 8. 096 $ 076 $. 067
............. $§ (134)$ (0949 % 091 § - 071 $ 063
............. 81,123 79,500 72,355 61,831 57,048
............. 81,123 79,500 66,366 61,054

81,175
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Years Ended December 31, ]
2003 2002 2001(1) 2000(1)  1999(1)
(in thousands) '

Cash flows provided by (used in):

Opérating activities.... oL e e SRR “$ 164,735 $ 195717 $ 152,774 $ 29,746 $ 71,610
~Investing activities :..... .. el e el e el (43,470)  (193,703)  (482,277) (67,481) (95,502)
: Fmancmg activities ... .. ..o io o e e e , .(84,457) (4,232) 307,259. . 77,589 18,218
Balance ‘Sheet Data (end of penod) ‘ ‘ ) . o ]
“Working capital. ;% ... o e el ... $0255242 % 195444 $ 275,074 $ 282,730 $103,431
Net property, plant and equipment(4) ... ... 2,027,654 1,167,675 - 1,151,513 - 574,703 498,877
Total @SSEIS(4) .« vttt et e e 2,918,466 2,154,029 2,265,776 1,246,172 753,387
Debt and mandatonly redéemable .convertible preferred securmes @........ 1,782,823 641,194 596,063 199,608 171,898

Common stockholders equ1ty ...... e F . 753,488 927,626 1,039,468 628,947 365,928

(1) During 2002 we announced a series of restatements that ultimately reduced our initially reported pre-tax income
. by $0.4 million, or 0.3%, for the year ended December 31, 2001, by $14.5 million, or 15.5%, for the year ended
- December 31, 2000, and by $3.1 million, or 4.9%, for the year ended December 31, 1999 although certain
" restatements resulted in a larger percentage adjustment on a quarterly basis.

(2) For a description of significant business acquisitions, see Note 2 in Notes to the Consolidated Fmanmal
© " Statements in Item 15 of this' Form 10-K. In the fourth quarter of 2002, we decided to discontinue certain
businesses. For a description of the discontinued operations, s¢e Note 3 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial
* “Statements in item 15 of this Form 10-K. ‘

(3) In June 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accountmg Standards 142, “Goodw111 and Other
. Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 1427). Under SFAS 142, amortization of goodwill to earnings is discontinued.
Instead, goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or whenever events indicate 1mpa1rment may have
. occurred. SFAS 142 was effective for us on January 1, 2002. For financial data relating to our goodwﬂl and other
" - intangible assets, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
~, and Note 9 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 15 of this Form 10-K:

(4) In accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 46 “Consohdatlon of Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation of
~ ARB 517 as revised in December 2003 (“FIN 467), for periods ending after June 30, 2003, we have included in
our consolidated financial statements the special purpose entities that lease compression equipment to us. As a

- result, on July 1, 2003, we added approximately $897 million of compression equipment assets, net of
" accumulated depreciation, and approximately $1,139.6 million of our compression equipment lease obligations
- '(including approximately $1,105.0 million in debt) to our balance sheet. See “Management’s Discussion and
_"Analysis .of Flnancxal Condition and Results of Operations — Leasing Transactiors and Accountmg Change for
.FIN 46”"in Item 7 of this Form 10-K.

(5) On October 23; 2003 we entered into a Stlpulatton of Settlement, which became ﬁnal on March 10, 2004 and
settled all of the'claims underlying the putative securities class action, the putative ERISA class action and the
shareholder derivative actions discussed in “Legal Proceedings” in Item 3 of this Form 10-K and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Year Ended December 31, 2003
- Compared to Year-Ended December 31, 2002 — Provision for Cost of Lttlgatlon Settlement” in Item 7 of thls
Form 10-K.-
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Item 7 Management S Dtscusston and Analyszs of. anancml Candmon and Results of. Operatzons

Management s drscussron and analysrs of the results of operatrons and ﬁnancral condrtron of Hanover
Compressor Company should be read in. conjunetron w1th the Consohdated Financial Statements and
related Notes thereto. .. .« . ...

]

Overview Co e L rg.-;r-".w: T S
We are a global market leader in the full service natural gas compress1on busrness and are also a
leading provrder of service, fabrrcatron and equrpment for oil and natural gas processing and transportation

applications. We sell and rent this equrpment and provide complete operation and maintenance services,
including run-time guarantees, for both customer-owned equipment and our fleet of rental equipment.
Hanover was founded as a Delaware corporation in 1990, and has been a public company since 1997. Our
customers include both major and independent oil and gas producers and distributors as well as national oil
and gas companies:in the countries-in which we ‘operate. Qur maintenance: business, together with our
parts dnd service businéss, provides solutions to‘customiers.that own their own compression and surface -
production and processing equlpment but want to outsource their operatlons We also fabricate compressor
and oil and gas production and processing equipment and provrde gas processing and tréating, gas-
measurement and oilfield power generation services; pnmanly t6 dur domestic and international customers
as a complement to our compression services. In' addition, through our subsidiary, Belleli, we provide
engineering, procurement-and construction services primarily related to the” manufacturing of heavy wall
reactors for refineries and construction of desalrnatron plants, pnmanly for use in Europe and the Mrddle
East. S - - - : S : '

- Impact of Rapid Growth . - i

We expenenced raprd growth from 1998 through 2001 pnmanly as a result of s1gmﬁcant acqu1s1t10ns
during 2000 and 2004, dunng which period our total assets increased from approxrmately $753 million as
of December 31, 1999 to approxrmately $2.3 bllllOIl as ‘of December 31, 2001, and our debt, including
compressron equrpment leases obligations, 1ncreased from approxrmately $572 million at December 31,
1999 to approxrmately $l 736 million at December 31,,2001 )

Tn addition to substantially iricreasing our-outstanding’ debt', our growth éxceeded our infrastructire
capabilities and strained our internal control environment. Durifig 2002, we announced a series of
restatements of certain transactions that occurred in 1999, .2000 and. 2001. In November 2002, the SEC
issued a Formal Order of Private Investlgauon relatrng to the transactions underlying and other matters .
relating to the restatements. In addition, during 2002, Hanover and certain of its past and present: officers
and directors were named as defendants’i ina consolidated action pendrng in federal court that included a
putative securities class’ action, a putative class action arising 'under ‘the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act and shareholder derivate actions: " THe litigation teldted principally to thé miatters involved in
the transactions underlying' the: restatements of our financial statéments. As discussed below, both the SEC
investigation and the litigation have recently’ béen settled. For-a more detailed discussion of the SEC
investigationi and the securities litigation, see™“Legal Proceedings” in [tem 3 of thi§ Form 10-K.

Industry Conditionls ’

Our operations depend upon the levels of act1v1ty in natural gas development product1on processing
and transportation. Such activity levels typ1cally declme when there isa s1gn1ﬁcant reduction in oil ‘and gas
prices or significant 1nstab1hty in energy markets In recent years, orl and gas prices have been extremely
volatile. In addition, domestic natural gas consumptron fell in 2001 and 2002 as a result of the recent
economic slowdown in the United States. Due to a detenoratron in market condltlons, we experienced a
decline in the demand for our products and seérvices in 2002 and 2003; which, along with the distractions
associated with our management reorganization,.resulted in"reductions in the utllrzatron of our compressor
rental fleet and our revenues, gross margins and. proﬁts in-those years. - :
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The North American rig count increased by 27% -to 1,531 at December 31,.2003 from 1,204 at
December 31, 2002, and the twelve-month rolling average North American rig count increased by 28% to
1,404 at December 31, 2003 from 1,097 at December 31, 2002. In addition, the twelve-month rolling
average New York Mercantile Exchange wellhead natural gas price increased to $5.39 per Mcf at
December 31, 2003 from $3.22 per Mcf at December 31, 2002. Despite the increase in natural gas prices
and the recent increase in the rig count, U.S. natural gas production levels have not significantly changed.
Recently, we have not experienced any significant growth in domestic rentals or purchases of equipment.
and services by our customers, which we believe is primarily the result of the lack of a significant increase
in U.S. natural gas production levels However, with several non- operatlonal issues behind us, we are
focused on improving our sales success ratio on new bid- opportunrtles and ant1c1pate some revenue growth
in 2004.

Management Reorganization and New Initiatives

Puring 2002, a number of our executives involved directly or indirectly with the transactions
underlying the restatements described above resigned, including our former Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer, Vice Chairman of our board of directors, Chief Operating Officer and the head of our
international operations. During and after 2002, we hired and appointed a new Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, hired and appointed-our first General Counsel, hired a new Controller, and hired
new managers of Human Resources, Financial Reporting and Policy Administration. During 2002, we
added three independent directors to our board of directors and elected an independent Chairman of the -
Board from among the three new directors. In addition, on February 4, 2004, we added two new
independent directors to our board of directors. Our new management team has undertaken the following
initiatives to improve our operations and our liquidity position.

Focus on core business. We have built our leading market position through' our strengths in
compression rentals, compressor fabrication, production and processing equipment rental and fabrication
and parts and service. We are focusing our efforts on these businesses and on streamlining operations in
our core markets. In connection with these efforts, we have decided to exit and sell certain non-core
business lines. In December 2002, our board of directors approved management’s recommendation to exit
and sell our non-oilfield power generation assets and certain used equipment business lines. In 2003, we
sold our interests in two non-oilfield power generation facilities for approximately $27.2 million, consisting
of $6.4 million in cash, $3.3 million in notes that -mature in 2004 and 2005 and the release from a capital
lease that had an outstanding balance of approximately $17.2 million.

Enhance return on capital. We are seeking to deploy our capital more effectively in order to improve
the total returns from our investments. To achieve this objective, we intend to work to improve our
operating performance and profitability by focusrng on the followrng initiatives:

. Improve our domestic fieet utilization by limiting the addition of new units, where applicable and
permissible under our bank credit facility and the conforming amendments to our compression
equipment lease obligations, moving idle domestic units into service in international markets and
retiring less profitable units. During 2003, we renewed several key domestic customer alliances
involving approximately 300,000 horsepower, retired approximately 41,000 horsepower, moved
approximately 36,000 horsepower to international markets and increased compression under contract
by approximately 50,000 horsepower. As a result, domestic utilization increased to 76% at
December 31, 2003 from 72% at December 31, 2002.

+ Increase prices selectively for our domestrc rental busmess In early 2003, we began to selectively

" introduce price increases for our domestrc compresswn rental business. Such price increases, along
with a slight improvement in market conditions, resulted in a 3% increase in revenue from our
domestic rentals business in the six months’ ended December 31, 2003 as ‘compared to the six
months ended December 31, 2002.

-+ Improve operatmg efficiencies by consolidating certain of our operations. During 2003, we shut
down six facilities and reduced our U.S. headcount by approximately 550 employees.
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« Increase activity in our fabncatron sales and parts. and service operatlons to take advantage of our
available fabrication capacity and field ‘technician manpower

. Exploit international opportunities. Internatmnal markets contiriue to represent the greatest growth

' opportunrty for our business. We believe that these markets are underserved. In addition, we typically see
higher pricing in international markets relative fo the domestic market. During 2003, we added
approximately. 50,000 horsepower to our international rental fieet under contract. We intend to allocate
additional resources toward international markets, to open offices abroad, where appropriate, and to move
idle domestic units’ mto service in 1ntematronal markets, ‘where apphcable However, our ability to invest .
capital resources and allocate assets into 1nternat10nal markets is restricted by our new bank credit facility-
and ‘the conforming amendments to our compression equlpment lease obhgatlons and by our intentions to -
reduce outstandmg debt as described below

Improve our capital dzsczplme. We plan o 1mprove our capital discipline by lowering the workmg
capital we have employed and reducing our substantial level of debt with both excess operating cash flow
and proceeds from assét sales.. We are also:focused on improving the management of our working capital
by lowering the number of days outstanding for our.accounts receivable and reducing inventory levels: To
reduce debt, we are committed to under-spending cash.flow, and we are currently planning to allocate
approximately $180 million of our operating cash ﬂow generated from 2004 through 2006 to debt
repayment. . .

As part of our plans to address our substantial level of debt resulting from our growth through
acquisitions, we engaged in a number of refinancing transactions in 2003 to address liquidity issues
associated with our debt. In December 2003, we issued $200 million aggregate principal amount of our
8.625% Senior Notes due 2010 and $143.8 million aggregate principal’ amount of our 4.75% Convertible
Senior Notes due 2014. The net proceeds from these offerings were-used to repay outstanding indebtedness
under our 1999A equipment lease .notes due June 2004 and a portion of the outstanding indebtedness
under our previous bank credit facility. In addition, in December 2003, we entered into a new $350 million
bank credit facility that matures in December 2006. The new bank credit facility replaced our previous
. bank credit facility that matured in November 2004. The new bank credit facility provides additional
flexibility to support our short-term liquidity needs. Also, in October 2003, the PIGAP II joint venture, in
which we have a 30% interest, engaged in a project financing and d1str1buted ‘approximately $78.5 million
to us, of which approximately $59.9 million was used to pay off a non-recourse promissory note issued by
one of ouf subsidiaries that had been secured by our interest in PIGAP II..We also restructured a
$150 million subordinated note that had been issued: to Schlumberger in connection with an acquisition.
We restructured the note as our Zero Coupon Subordmated Notes due March 31, 2007 and reéduced the
1rnpl1c1t interest rate

Resolved pendzng lztzgazzon and mvesngatzons In 2003, we entered into an agreement to settle the
pending securities litigation. On Februdry 9, 2004, the United States District Court for the Southern
District of Texas entered three Orders and Final Judgments, approving the settlement on the terms agreed
-upon in the Stipulation of Settlement with respect to all of the pending claims. The court also entered an
Order and Final Judgment approvmg the plans of allocation with respect to each action, as well as an
Order and Final Judgment approving the schedule of aftorneys’ fees for counsel for the settling plaintiffs.
~ The time in which these Orders and Final Judgments may be appealed expired on March 10, 2004 without

any appeal being lodged. The settlement has therefore become ﬁnal and will be implemented accordmg to
its terms. -

. The settlement provides for us to (1) make a cash payment_ of approximately $30 million (of which
$26.7 million was funded by payments from;our directors. and-officers insurance carriers), (2) issue
2.5 million shares of our common stock, and'(3). issue a‘contingent note with a principal amount of -
$6.7 million, which may be extinguished in certain circumstances. In addition, upon the occurrence of a
‘change of control that involves us, if the change of control or shareholder -approval of the change of control -
occurs before February 9, 2005, which is twelve months after final court approval of the settlement, we will
:be obligated to contribute an additional $3 million. to the settlement fund. Also, in December 2003, a
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settlement between the SEC and us was entered by the SEC. Without admitting or denying any of the
SEC’s findings, we consented to the entry of a.cease and.desist order requiring future compliance. with
certain periodic reporting, record keeping and internal control provisions of the secuntles laws The
settlement w1th the SEC d1d not 1mpose any monetary penalty on us. “

.-

Summary ofResultsy . o ‘ .

Net losses. We recorded a consohdated net loss of $208. 3 mllhon for the year ended December 31, .
~2003 as compared toa consohdated net loss of $116.1 million and consolidated net income of
$72.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2()01 .Trespectively. Our results for each of the
last two years have been affected by a number of charges that’ may not necessarily be indicative of our
core operations or our future prospects and impact comparab1l1ty between years. These special 1tems are
drscussed in “Results-of Operatlons below - .

: Results by Segment The followrng table summarizes revenues, expenses and gross proﬁt margin
percentages for each of .our business segments (dollars in thousands)

Years ended December 31,

. U ‘ s S L2003 2002 <2001
Revenues and other income:

Domestic rentals........ S e ... 8 324,186 $ 328,600 $ 269,679
Interhational rentals. ... ... e PR e . 206,404 189,700 131,097
Parts, service and used equrpment AT e 169,023 223,845 214,872
Compressor and .accessory | fabncat1on i eveees.. 106,896 . 114,009, - 223,519
.- Production and processing equipment fabrication e ide - 260,660 149,656 184,040
Equity in income ‘of -non-consolidated aﬂ”rhate i e s 23,088 18,811 "~ - 9,350
Other................ S N SN 5093. . 4,189~ 8,403
oo e T $01095,350 $1,028,810° $_1,040,960

Expenses: P A o I
' Domestic. rentals. ... ...t vy e $ 127425 8 122,1720$ 95,203
TInternational-rentals .. . . . oo vo e on e it T 67,465 . ...57,579 45,795
) Parts, service and -used eQUIPMENnt . . L vu 126,619 . -~ 179,844 © 152,701
. Compressor. and accessory fabrication . e RS 96,922 99,446 - 188,122
. Production and.processing:equipment fabncatron S .. 234,203 127,442 147,824

$ 652,634 $§ 586,483 % 629,645

"Gross profit margin: o e Pl v :
Dorhestic rentals. . . . .. e I e L BT 6l% 63% T 65%

. International rentals’. .. T e eonedoos - 67% 70% " 65%
- Paits, service and used equipment .......... P 25% - 20% " 29%
Conipressor and accessory fabrrcat10n e L Do : 9% S 13% " 16%
‘Production and processmg equrpment fabncatron . - af . ‘ 10% o ._ 15% ' 20%

Belleli Acquisition

-Belleli Acquisition. In 2002, we increased our ownership .of Belleli to 51% from 20.3% by converting
$13.4 million in loans; together with' approximately $3.2 million’in ‘accrued interest thereon; into additional’
equity ownership and in Noveniber 2002 began consolidating .the tesults of Belleli’s operations. Belleli has
three manufacturing facilities, one’in Mantova, Italy and two.in the United Arab Emirates (Jebel Ali and
Hamriyah). During: 2002, we also purchased certain operating assets used by Belleli for approximately. =
$22.4 million from a bankruptcy estate of Belleli’s former parent and leased.these assets to Belleh for
approximately $1.2-million per year,.for.a term of seven yeats. ‘ ‘
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In connection with our increase in ownership in 2002, we entered into an agreement with the minority
owner of Belleli that provided the minority owner the right, until June 30, 2003, to purchase our interest
for an amount that approximated our investment in Belleli: The agreement also provided us with the right,
beginning in July 2003, to purchase the minority owner’s interest in-Belleli. In addition, the minority owner
historically had been unwilling to provide its proportionate share of capital to Belleli. We believed that our
ability to maximize value would be enhanced if we were able to exert greater control through the exercise
of our purchase right. Thus, in August 2003, we exercised our option to acquire the remaining 49% interest
in Belleli for approximately $15.0. million in.order to gain complete control :of Belleli. As a result of these
transactions.and intervening foreign exchange. rate changes, we recorded $4.8-million in identifiable
intangible assets, with a We1ghted average lrfe of approximately 17 years, and $35.5 million in goodwill.

_As a result of the war in Iraq, the strengthemng of. the Euro and generally unfavorable economic
condltrons we believe that the estimated fa1r value of Belleli déclined s1gn1ﬁcantly during 2003. Upon
gaining complete control of Belleli and assessmg our long-term growth strategy, we determined that their
general factors in combination with the specific économic factors impacting Belleli had significantly and
adversely impacted the timing and amount of the future cash flows that we expected Belleli to generate.
We currently do not expect to realize.our ongmal growth expectations for Belleli in the timeframe that we
originaily forecasted. . .. :

_ Durmg the performance of our annual goodwrll 1mpa1rment review in the fourth quarter of 2003 we
determined the present value of Belleli’s €xpected future cash flows was less than our carrying value of
Belleli. This resulted in a full impairment charge for the $35.5 million in goodwill associated with Belleli.
Upon further analysis, it was determined that the factors resulting in the goodwill impairment charge were
also present during the third quarter of 2003 and that the exercise of our purchase option in the third
quarter of 2003 and the presence of such factors should have resulted in an interim goodwill impairment
test under SFAS 142 and an 1mpa1rment charge at that tlme We have adjusted our third quarter results
accordmgly ‘

F, aczllty Consoltdatton

v -

‘We had previously” announced our plan to reduce our U S. headeount by approximately 500 employees
worldwide and to close four fabrication facilities. During the year ended December 31, 2002, we accrued
approximately $2.7 million in employee separationi costs related to the reduction in workforce. During the -
year ended December 31, 2003, we paid approximately $2.0 million in'employee separation costs,-
implemented further cost saving initiatives and closed two additional facilities. We expect to incur an
additional $0.7 million in employee separation costs related to the completion of these activities. Since
December 31, 2002, our U.S. workforce has decreased by approximately 550 employees.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, we reviewed our business lines and our board of directors approved
management’s. recommendation to exit and sell our non-oilfield power generation facilities and certain used
equipment business lines. The results from these. businesses are reflected as discontinued operations in our
consolidated financial statements. Additionally, during 2003 and 2002, we recorded certain write-downs, -
asset.impairments and restructuring costs.'A summary of these charges and the related impact-on our
ﬁnancral results is discussed below. : ‘

1

Crltlcal Accountmg Estlmates

This dlseusswn and analysrs of our financial condmon and results of operations is based upon our
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make
estimates and judgments that affect. the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and
related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our, estimates and
accounting policies, including those related to bad debts, inventories, fixed assets, investments, intangible
assets, income taxes, warranty obligations, sale leaseback transactions, revenue recognition and contingen-.
cies and litigation. We base’ our estimates on historical experience and on other assumptions that we
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believe are reasonable under the circumstances. The results of this process form the basis of our judgments
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions and these differences can
be material to our financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

Allowances and Reserves

We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our
customers to make required payments. If the financial condition of a customer deteriorates, resulting in an
impairment of its ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. As of December 31,
2003, our largest account receivable from a customer was approximately $10.3 million. During 2003, 2002
and 2001, we recorded approximately $4.0 million, $7.1 million and $4.9 million in additional allowances
for doubtful accounts, respectively. A 10% increase in bad debt expense would have resulted in
approximately $0.4 million in additional selling, general and administrative expense for 2003.

We write down our inventory for estimated obsolescence or unmarketable inventory equal to the
difference between the cost of inventory and the estimated market value based upon assumptions about
future demand and market conditions. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those expected
by management, additional inventory write-downs may be required. During 2003, 2002 and 2001, we
recorded approximately $3.0 million, $13.9 million and $2.3 m11110n respectively, in add1t10nal reserves for
obsolete and slow movmg inventory.

Long-Lived Assets and Investments

We review for the impairment of long-lived assets 1ncludmg property, plant and equ1pment assets
held for sale and investments in non-consolidated affiliates whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss exists when
estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition
are less than its carrying amount. When necessary, an impairment loss is recognized and represents the
excess of the asset’s carrying value as compared to its estimated fair value and is charged to the period in
which the impairment occurred. The determination of what constitutes an indication of possible
impairment, the estimation of future cash flows and the determination of estimated fair value are all .
significant judgments. During 2003 and 2002, as a result of the-review of our rental fleet, we recorded
$14.3 million and $34.5 million, respectively, in additional depreciation on equipment that was retired and
equipment that was expected to be sold or abandoned.

In addition, we perform an annual goodwill impairment test, pursuant to the requirements of
SFAS 142, in the fourth quarter of each year, to determine if the estimated recoverable value of the
reporting unit.exceeds the net carrying value of the reporting unit, including the applicable goodwill. We
determine the fair value of our reporting units using a combination of the expected present value of future
cash flows and the market approach. The present value of future cash flows is estimated using our most
recent five-year forecast, the weighted average cost of capital and a market multiple on the reporting units
earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization. Changes in forecasts could effect the estimated
fair value of our reporting units and result in a goodwill impairment charge in a future period. We used a
12% weighted average cost of capital in our analysis of the present value of future cash flows. During 2003
and 2002, we recorded $35.5 million and $52.1 million, respectively, in goodwﬂl impairments as a result of
our goodw1ll evaluations.

We hold minority interests in companies having operations or technology in areas that relate to our
business, one of which is publicly traded and may experience volatile share prices. We record an
investment impairment charge when we believe an investment has experienced a decline in value that.is
other than temporary. Future adverse changes in market conditions or poor operating results of underlying
investments could result in losses or an inability to recover the carrying value of the investments that may
not be reflected in an investment’s current carrying value, thereby possibly requiring an impairment charge
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in the future. During 2002, we- recorded approx1mately $16 0-million in write- downs and charges related to
our 1nterest in non- consohdated affiliates. k . :

TaxAssets C o ' -

We must estimate our expected future taxable income in order to assess the realizability of our
deferred income tax assets. As of December 31, 2003, we reported a net deferred tax liability of
$28.3 million, which included gross deferred tax assets of $320.0 million, net of a valuation allowance of
$55.0 million and ‘gross deferred tax liabilities of $293.3 million. Numerous assumptions are inherent in the
estimation of future taxable income, including assumptions about matters that are dependcnt on future
events, such as future operatmg conditions and future financial conditions.

Additionally, we must consider any prudent and feasible tax plannin'g strategies that might minimize
the amount of deferred tax liabilities recognized or the amount of any valuation allowance recognized
against deferred tax assets, if management has the ability to implement these strategies and the
expectation of 1mplcment1ng these strategies if the forecasted conditions actually occur. The principal tax
planning strategy available to us relates to the permanent reinvestment of the earnings of foreign
subsidiaries, Assumptions related to the permanent reinvestment of the earnings of foreign subsidiaries are
reconsidered periodically to give effect to changes in our businesses and in our tax profile.

As a result of current year operating losses and charges in 2003, we were in .a net deferred tax asset
position (for U.S. income tax. purposes) for the first time in 2003. Due to our cumulative domestic losses
over the pést three years, we could not reach the conclusion that it was “more likely than not” that certain
of our U.S. deferred tax assets will be realized in the future. Accordingly, we provided a $25.7 million
deferred tax valuation allowance against our net U.S. deferred tax asset. We will be required to record
additional valuation allowances if our domestic deferred tax asset position is increased and the “more likely
than not” criteria of SFAS 109 is not met. If we are requlred to record additional valuation allowances,
our effective tax rate will be increased, perhaps substantially above the statutory rate. Our preliminary
analysis leads us to believe that we will likely be required to record additional valuation allowances in the
first quarter of 2004, unless we are able to implement tax planning strategies that would minimize or
eliminate the amount of such additional valuation allowance prior to the end of the first quarter, and may
be required to record additional valuation allowances in future periods.

' Revenue Recognition — Percentage of Completion Accounting -

We recognize revenue and profit for our fabrication operations as work progresses on long-term, fixed-
price contracts using the percentage-of-completion method, which relies on estimates of total expected
contract revenue and costs. We follow this method ‘because reasonably dependable estimates of the
revenue and costs applicable to various stages of a contract can be made and because the fabrication
projects usually last several months. Recognized revenues and.profit are subject to revisions as the contract
progresses to completion. Revisions in profit estimates are charged to income in the period in which the
facts that give rise to the revision become known. The average duration of these projects is four to thirty-
six months. Due to the long-term nature of some of our jobs, developmg the estimates of cost often
requires significant judgment.

We estimate percentage of completlon for compressor and. processing equlpment fabrication ona
direct labor hour to total labor hour basis. This calculation requires management to estimate the number
of total labor hours required for each project and to estimate the profit expected on the project. Production
and processing equipment fabrication percentage of completion is estimated using the direct labor hour and
cost to total cost basis. The cost to total cost basis requires us to estimate the amount of total costs (labor
and materials) required to complete each project. Since we have many fabrication projects in process at
any given time, we do not believe that materially different results would be achieved if different estimates,
assumptions, or conditions were used for any single project.

Factors that must be considered in estimating the work to be completed and ultimate profit include
labor productivity and availability, the nature and complexity of work to be performed, the impact of
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change orders; availability of raw materials and the impact of delayed performance. If the aggregate’
combined cost estimates for all of our fabrication businesses had been higher or lower by 1% in 2003, our
results of operations before tax would have been decreased or increased by approximately $3.3 million. As
of December 31, 2003, we had approximately $41.7 million in costs and estimated earnings on."
uncompleted cont_racts in excess of billings to our customers.

Contmgenczes and ngatwn

* In the ordmary course of busmess W€ are mvolved in various pending or threatened legal actions.
While we are unable to. predict. the ultimate outcome of these actions, SFAS 5, ‘Accounting for .
Contingencies” requires management ‘to-make judgments about future events that are inherently uncertain..
We are required to record (and have recorded) a loss during any period in which we, based on our
expenence believe a contingency is ‘likely to result in a financial loss to us. In making its determinations of
likely outcomes of pendmg or threatened legal matters, management considers the evaluation of counsel
knowledgeable about each matter See “Legal Proceedmgs m Ttem 3 of this Form 10-K.

Year Ended December 31, 2‘093~C‘ompared to_ Year ,Enlded"Dec,em_her 31, 2002

Summary

For the year ended December 31, 2003, revenue increased to $1,095.4 million over 2002 revenue ‘of
$1,028.8 million. Included in 2003 revenue was $116.8 million of production and processing equipment
fabrication tevenue from Belleli, compared to $15:4 million for the same period a year earlier. We began
1ncludmg Belleli in our consohdated financial results in November 2002

Net loss for the year.ended Decernber 31, 2003, Was $208 3 mllhon compared with a net loss of
$116.1 million in 2002. As.detailed in the chart below, included in the 2003 net loss was $250. 6 million in.
pre-tax charges. In addition, we recorded a $25. 7 million U.S. deferred tax valuation allowance that was
included in the provision for i income taxes. The net loss in 2002 included $182.7 million in pre-tax charges
for the write-down of our 1nvestment in discontinued operatlons the write-down of a portion of our
domestic compressron rental fleet, severance costs and bad debt reserves.

In addition, 2003 net loss increased due to a decrease in gross margin percentages for both our
domestic and international rental fleet and our fabrication businesses and an increase in selling, general
and administrative expense and depreciation.expense which are discussed further below. Our 2003 net loss
included a $39.2 million pre-tax loss from the inclusion of Belleli, including a $35.5 million goodwill
impairment discussed further below.

Included in the net loss for 2003 were the following pre-tax charges (1n thousands)

' Rental ﬁeet asset 1mpa1rment (in Depre01at10n and amortlzatron) .......... . $ 14,334
Cumulative effect of accounting change-FIN 46 ................ e 133,707 -
Securities-related litigation ‘settlément .- .. ... e e e e 42,991
Belleli goodwill impairment (in Goodwill impairment) ............... A 35,466
Write-off of deferred financing costs (in Depreciation and amortization) .. .. 2,461
Loss on sale/write-down of drscontmued operatlons e e D - 21,617 -

:Total B ' : ; § 250,576
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Business Segment Results

Domestic Rentals
(in thousands)

Years ended December 31, Increase

- 2003 - - 2002 Y. - (Déttease)
Revenue .....0.........co. ool L $ 324186 § 328600, ()%
Operating eXpense .................cooiiuiionnn. 127,425 122,172 4%
Gross profit ......". ... o A R 196, 761 $ 206,428 )%

‘Gross rnargin. SN Lo R S

For 2003, domestic rentdl revenues and gross ‘profit’ decreased from 2002 due {0 weaker demand,
stronger competition, ‘which resulted in’ lower fleet utilization in the- first srx months of the'year relativé fo
the same period a year earlier, and higher operatmg expenses mcludmg hlgher reparrs and*maintenance
and start up costs for a large gas plant in' 2003. As a result- of lower fle¢t utilization in the first half of -the’
year, our average domestic utilization for 2003 was approximately 3% lower than our average utilization for
2002. However, our domestic rental horsepower utilization rate at December 31, 2003 was 76% comparéed -
to 72% at December 31, 2002.-The increase il utilization was due to an increase in contracted units, which
led to a 2% increase in-utilization,' the retrrement of units to be sold or scrapped and the deployment of*

units into 1nternat10nal operatlons o

-

f“t‘ S

International Rentals
(in'tt’housarld‘s) ) .

Years ended December 31, Increase
. o S T : 2003 2002 (Decrease)
Revenbie .. ...i..0 o ou. .. e ‘$ 206,404 $ 189,700 9%
Operating expense ........ e . -67,465 - 57,579 - 17%
Gross Profit . ................ e leilooooo0 800138939 08 132,121 T 5%
Gross margin........... PO SO 67% 70%:-_":" (3)%

For 2003, international rental revenue and. gross profit increased, compared to 2002, due to increased
compression rental activity, primarily in Argentina and.Mexico, .and the addition in 2003 of two gas
processing plants in Mexico and Brazil. As of December 31, 2003, we had approximately 925,000
horsepower of compression deployed internationally compared to 860,000 horsepower deployed at

December 31, 2002.

Our 2003 revenue and gross margin were positively impacted by approximately $2.7 million in revenue
that was not recognized until 2003 due to concerns about the ultimate receipt as a result of the strike by
workers of the national oil company in Venezuela. Our 2002 international revenue and gross margin
benefited from the inclusion of approximately $9.7 million in revenues from partial reimbursement of -
foreign currency losses from the renegotiations of contracts with our Argentine customers, dlscussed
further below, but was negatively impacted by approximately $2.7 million in revenues from Venezuelan
customers that was not recognized until 2003. These items increased our 2002 revenue by approximately
$7.0 million and our gross margin by approximatély 2%, net. Excludmg these itéms from our 2002
revenues, our 2003 revenues and operating expenses. increased by approximately 13% and .17%, respectively.
Gross margin for 2003 decreased, when compared t0.2002, due pnmanly to the mcluswn of these revenue

items in 2002 and an increase in'start- up costs in 2003 Cn
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Parts, Service and Used Equipment
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31, Increase.

2003 2002 (Decrease)

Revenue................ S $ 169,023 § 223,845 (25)%
Operating eXpense ... ....oeuurteunneunneneenneens 126,619 179,844 (30)%
Gross profit ....... S $ 42,404 § 44,001 (4)%
Gross margin. ... .. A 25% 20% 5%

. For 2003, parts, service, and used equipment revenue was lower than 2002 results due primarily to
lower used rental equipment and installation sales. Parts, service and used equipment revenue includes two
business components: (1) parts and service and (2) used rental equipment and installation sales. Parts and
service revenue was $125.9 million with a gross margin of 29% for 2003, compared to $144.1 million in
revenue with a gross margin of 22% in 2002. Parts and service revenue declined by approximately
$18.2 million due to weaker market conditions. Used rental equipment and installation sales revenue was
$43.1 million with a gross margin of 14% compared to $79.8 million with a gross margin of 16% in 2002.
The decrease in used rental equipment and installation sales was primarily due.to a large gas plant sale
transaction that occurred during 2002. Our used rental equipment and installation sales (which usually
have a lower margin than our parts and service sales) decreased our parts, service and used equipment
gross margin by approximately 4% in 2003 and by 2% in 2002. In addition, the 2002 parts, service, and
used equipment gross margin was negatively impacted by approximately 3% due to the $6.8 million
inventory write-down and reserves recorded during 2002 for parts, which were either obsolete, excess or
carried at a price above market value.

Compression and Accessory Fabrication
(in thousands)

Years Ended Decémber 31, Increase
. o 4 2003 2002 (Decrease)
ReVenUE . . . i $ 106,896 $ 114,009 (6)%
Operating Expense ... ...t 96,922 99,446 3)%
Gross Profit ...... ... . i $ 9974 § 14,563 (32)%
Gross Margin ... ... oo 9% 13% ()%

For 2003, compression fabrication revenue and gross margin declined, compared to 2002, due
primarily to strong competition for new orders which negatively affected the selling price and the resulting
gross margin and sales and operational disruptions associated with the consolidation of our fabrication
facilities. o '

Production and Processing Equipment Fabrication
(in'thousands)

Years Ended December 31, pporease
_ ’ ©2003 2002 (Decrease)

REVENUE . .. ..o iieeniienneannn, e $ 260,660 $ 149,656 74%
Operating expense .......... e R 234,203 127,442 84%
Gross profit . ... $ 26457 § 22214 19%
Gross margin....................... T 10% 15% (5)%

Production and processing equipment revenue for 2003 increased over 2002 revenue because of the
inclusion of a full year of revenue from Belleli. Included in 2003 was $116.8 million in revenue and
$105.3 million in expense for Belleli, compared to $15.4 million in revenue and $13.7 million in expense in
2002. In November 2002, we increased our ownership percentage of Belleli to 51% and began including
Belleli in our consolidated financial results. Gross margin for production and processing equipment
fabrication declined, compared to the same period a year earlier, due primarily to increased competition for
our high specification equipment lines, cost overruns on certain projects that we were not able to pass on
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to respective customers, project delays in anticipated-orders, a slow-down in sales activity at Belleli early in
the year caused by the war in Iraq, and increased foreign curréncy exposure due to the strengthening of
the Euro and Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar.

OtherRevenue C . S )

Equlty in, mcome of non- consohdated afﬁhates 1ncreased by $4.3 million to $23 1 million during the
year ended December 31, 2003 from $18.8 million dunng the year ended December 31, 2002. This
increase is primarily due to a 1mprovement in results from our equity interest in Hanover Measurement
and PIGAP II joint venture. Durmg 2002, Hanover Measurement had recorded a goodwill impairment
charge and PIGAP 1T results were negatively impacted by foreign exchange losses.

Expenses '

Selling, general, and administrative expense (“SG&A”) for both 2003 and 2002, as a percentage of
revenue, was 15%. SG&A expense in 2003 was $161.7 million compared to $153.7 million'in 2002. The
increase over 2002 was primarily due to the inclusion of Belleli's SG&A expense of $11.0 million,
compared to $1.2 mllhon in 2002.

Deprecratlon and amoruzatmn expense for 2003 was $172.6 million, compared to $151 2 million in
2002. The increase in depreciation .and amortization was primarily due to: (1) additions to the rental fleet,
including maintenance capital, placed in service during the year; (2) the inclusion of $3.0 million of
depreciation and amortization from the inclusion of Belleli for a full year; (3) $14.3 million of
impairments recorded for idle rental fleet assets to be sold or scrapped; (4) approximately $8.5 million in
additional depreciation expense associated-with the compression equipment operating leases that were
consolidated into our financial statements.in the third quarter of 2003; and (5) $2.5 million in amortization
to write-off deferred financing costs associated with the our old bank credit facility and compression,
equipment lease obligations that were refinanced in December 2003. Depreciation and amortization
expense for 2002 included $34.5 million in impairment charges for the reduction in the carrying value of .
certain idle compression equipment that was retired and the acceleration of depreciation related to certain
plants and facilities that were expected to be sold or abandoned. After a review of our idle rental fleet
assets in 2002 and 2003, we determined that certain assets should be scrapped or sold rather than repaired.
A number of these units were acquired in business acquisitions over the last several years and given our
utilization level, we determined not to repair or rebuild them to bring them up to Hanover’s standards.

Beginning in July 2003, payments accrued under our sale leaseback transactions are included in
1nterest expense as a result of consolidating the entities that lease compression equipment to us. See

— Cumulative Effect Of Accounting Change” below. As a result of this, our interest expense increased
$45.8 million, to $89.2 million, and our leasing. expense decreased $46.9 million to $43.1 mﬂhon for the
year ended December 31, 2003. :

Our interest and leasing expense 1ncreased due to the increase in the outstandmg balance of our zero
coupon note, the inclusion of approximately $1.5 million in interest expense from Belleli and higher
effective rates as a result of the February 2003 amendment to our bank credit facility and compression
equipment operating leases. These increases were offset by lower interest on our bank credit facility as a
result of lower balances outstandmg and by a decrease in additional interest paid on leases explamed
below.

In connection with the compression equipment leases entered into ‘in August 2001, we were obligated
to prepare registration statements and complete an exchange offer to enable the holders of the notes issued
by the lessors to exchange their notes with notes registered under the Securities Act of 1933. Because of -
the restatement of our financial statements, the exchange offer was not completed pursuant to the time
line required by the agreements related to the compressiorn equipment lease obligations and we were
required to pay additional lease expense in an amount equal to $105,600 per week until the exchange
offering was completed. The additional lease expense began accruing.on January 28, 2002 and increased
our lease expense by $1.1 million and $5.1 million during 2003 and 2002, respectively. The registration
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statements became effective in February 2003. The exchange offer was completed and the requirement to
pay the additional lease expense ended on March 13, 2003.

Foreign currency translation expense for the year ended December 31, 2003 was $2.5 million,
compared to a $16.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. In January 2002, Argentina devalued
its peso against the U.S. dollar and imposed significant restrictions on fund transfers internally and outside
the country. In addition, the Argentine government enacted regulations to temporarily prohibit
enforcement of contracts with exchange rate-based purchase price adjustments. Instead, payment under
such contracts could either be made at an exchange rate negotiated by the parties or, if no sich agreement
were reached, a preliminary payment could be made_ based on a one dollar to one peso equivalent pending
a final agreement. The Argentine government also required the parties to such contracts to renegotiate the
price terms within 180 business days of the devaluation. We have renegotiated all of our agreements in
Argentina. As a result of these negotiations, we received approximately $11.2 million in reimbursements in
2002 and $0.7 million in 2003. During the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, we recorded an
exchange gain of approximately $0.5 million and an exchange loss of approximately $9.9 million,
respectively, for assets exposed to currency translation in.Argentina.

In addition, during the vears ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, we recorded exchange losses of
approximately $2.4 million and $5.8 million, respectively, for assets exposed to currency translation in
Venezuela and recorded translation losses of apprommately $0.6 million and $1.1 million, respectlvely, for
all other countries. ‘

Other expenses decreased by $24.7 million to $2.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2003
from $27.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. For the year ended December 31, 2003, other
expenses included $2.9 million in charges primarily recorded to write-off certain non-revenue producing
assets and to record the settlement of a contractual obligation. For the year ended December 31, 2002,
other expenses included $15.9 million of write-downs and charges related to investments in four non-
consolidated affiliates that had experienced a decline in value that we believed to be other than temporary,
a $0.5 million write-off of a purchase option for an acquisition that we had abandoned, $2.7 million in
other non-operating costs and a $8.5 million write-down of notes receivable, including a $6.0 million
reserve established for loans to employees who were not executive officers.

During 2003, we recorded a $35.5 million non-cash charge for goodwill impairment associated with
Belleli. As a result of the war in Iraq, the strengthening of the Euro and generally unfavorable economic
conditions, we believe that the estimated fair value of Belleli declined significantly during 2003. Upon
gaining complete control of Belleli and assessing our long-term growth strategy, we determined that these
general factors in combination with the specific economic factors impacting Belleli had significantly and
adversely impacted the timing and amount of the future cash flows that we expected Belleli to generate.
We currently do not expect to realize our original growth expectations for Belleli in the timeframe that we
originally forecasted. ' : » :

Durihg the performance of our annual goodwill impairment review in the fourth quarter of 2003, we
determined the present value of Belleli’s expected future cash flows was less than our carrying value of
Belleli. This resulted in a full impairment charge for the $35.5 million in goodwill associated with Belleli.
Upon further analysis, it was determined that the factors resulting in the goodwill impairment charge were
also present during the third quarter of 2003 and that the exercise of our purchase option in the third
quarter of 2003 and the presence of such factors should have resulted in an interim goodwill impairment
test under SFAS 142 and an 1mpa1rrnent charge at that time. We have adjusted our third quarter results
accordingly.

In the fourth quarter 2002, we recorded a $4.6 million goodwill impairment charge related to the
write-down of the goodwill associated with our pump division. In addition, in the second quarter 2002, we
recorded a $47:5 million goodwill impairment charge on the goodwill associated with our production and
processing equipment fabrication business.
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vatswnfor Securities. ngatton Settlement T e L ;:.".J: .

Hanover and certain of 1ts past and present ‘officers and drrectors are named as defendants in a
consolidated action pending in federal court that includes a putative securities class action, a putatrve class
action arising under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”) and shareholder
derivative actions. The litigation relates principally to-the matters involved in- the transactions underlying
the restatements of our financial statements. The plaintiffs allege, among other things, that we and the
other defendants acted unlawfully and fraudulently in connéction with those transactions and our original
disclosures related to those transactions and thereby violated the antifraud provisions of the federal
securities laws and the other defendants ﬁdumary duties to Hanover

_On October 23, 2003 We entered into a Stlpulatron of Settlement wh1ch settled all of the cla1ms ““““
underlymg the putative securities class action, ‘the putative ERISA class actron and the shareholder i "l
der1vat1ve actions described above. The terms of the settlement prov1ded for us to: (1) ‘make a cash
payment of approxrmately $30 mrlhon (of wh1ch $26 7 million was, funded by, payments from Hanover s’
directors and ofﬁcers insurance carrrers) (2) issue 2.5, mllhon shares of our common stock ‘and’ (3) 1ssue
. a contrngent note with a pr1nc1pal amount of $6.7 mrlhon The note 1s payable together with accrued
interest, on, March 31,2007 but will be extmgu1shed (w1th no money owing under it) if our common stock
trades at orf above the average price of $12.25 per share for 15 consecutrve tradmg days at any time .

between March 31, 2004 and March 31, 2007. In addltlon , upon the’ occurrence of a change of control that :

involves us, if the change “of control or shareholder approval of the change of control occurs before y
February: 9 2005, which is twelve months after final court approval of the settlement, we will be obhgated
to contribute an additional $3 million to the settlement fund. As part of the ‘settlement, we have also
agreed to implement corporate governance enhancements, including allowing shareholders owning more
than 1% but less than 10% of our outstanding common stock to participate in the process to appoint two
independent directors: to ouriboardibf directors (pursuant to-which.on February 4, 2004 we appointed
-Margaret K. Dorman .and Stephen M Pazuk ‘to our: board of d1rectors) and certam enhancements to our
code of conduct. - § T oA e o

GKH wh1ch as of December 31 2003 owned approxrmately 10% of Hanover s outstandmg common ‘

stock and which sold shares in our March 2001 secondary offering of . common stock are parties to the ..
settlement and have agreed to settle claims against them' that arise out of that oﬁ"enng as well as other
potential securities; ERISA, and: defivative claims. The terms of the settlement provide for GKH to
transfer 2.5 mrlhon shares of Hanover common stock from the1r holdmgs or from othersources to the ¢
settlement fund: - T e : o H

On: October 24 2003, the partres moved the Umted States Drstrrct Court for the . Southern Dlstrtct of
Texas for. prehmmary, approval of the, proposed settlement and sought permission to. provrde notice to the
potentrally affected persons and to set a date for a ﬁnal hearmg to approve the proposed settlement On
December 5, 2003, the court held a hearmg and granted the parties’ motion for preliminary approval of the
proposed settlement and, among other things, ordered that notice be provided to appropriate persons and
set the date for the final hearing. The final hearing was held on February 6, 2004, and.no objections to, the
settlement or requests to be excluded from the terms of the settlement had been recelved prior to the
deadline’ set by the court. T E ot miest b

On February 9 2004 the Umted States Dtstnct Court for the Southern D1str1ct of Texas entered L

three Orders. and Frnal Judgments -approving the settlement on the terms agreed. upon in the Strpulatron .

- of Settlement w1th respect to all of the .claims described above. The court also entered an Order and Final:
Judgment approving-the plans.of allocation with.respect to each action, as well as an Order and Final
‘Judgment approving the schedule of attorneys’ fees for counsel for the settling plaintiffs: The time in,
which these Orders and Final Judgments may be appealed expired on March 10, 2004 without any appeal
being lodged. The settlement has therefore become final and will be implemented according to its terms.
In March 2004, we issued and delivered to the escrow agent for the settlement fund 2.5 million shares of
Hanover common stock, as required by the settlement. Our independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers,
is not a party to the settlement and remains a party to the securities class action.
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Based on the terms of the settlement agreement and the individual components of the settlement, we
recorded the cost of the litigation settlement The details of the litigation settlement charge were as follows
(in thousands)

LCASh .

“Bstimated fair value of note to be issued
-Common stock to be issued by Hanover
Legal fees and administrative costs ...........

CTotal L PR I

Less: inSurance recoveries .. ........vveeieeerenen.n e e

Net litigation settlement ... .. O T A S N

The $3.6 million estimated fair value of the note to be issued was based on the present value of the
future cash flows discounted at borrowing rates currently available to us for debt with similar terms and
maturities. Using a market-borrowing rate of 9.3%, the principal value and the stipulated interest rate
required by the note of 5% per annurh, a discount of $0.8 million was computed on the note to be issued.
Upon the issuance of the note, the discount will be amortized to interest expense over the term of the
note. Because the note could be extrngurshed without a payment (if our common stock trades at or above
the average price of $12.25 per share for 15 consecutive trading days at any time between March 31, 2004
and March 31, 2007), we will be requrred to record an asset when the note is issued for the value of the’
embedded derivative, as required by SFAS 133. We estlmated the value of the derivative and reduced the
amount we included for the estimate of the value of the note by approximately $2.3 million at
December 31, 2003. This asset will be marked to market in future periods with any increase or decrease
1ncluded in our statement of operations.

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes increased $18.4 million, to $0.8 million during the year ended
December 31, 2003 from a benefit of $17.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2002. The average
effective income tax rates during the year ended December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 were (0.7%)
.and 19%, respectively. The decrease in rate was primarily due to a $25.7 million valuation allowance
recorded for U.S. deferred tax assets where near-term future realization i is ‘uncertain and the non-
deductible Belleli goodwill impairment.

As a result of current year operatlng losses in 2003, we were in a net deferred tax asset position (for.
U.S. income tax purposes) for the first time in 2003. Due to our cumulative domestic tax losses over the
past three years, we could not reach the conclusion that it was “more likely than not” that certain of our
 U.S. deferred tax assets will be realized in the future. Accordingly, we provided a $25.7 million deferred
tax valuation allowance against our net U.S. deferred tax asset. We will be required to record additional
valuation allowances if our domestic deferred tax asset position is increased and the “more likely than not”
criteria of SFAS 109 is not met. If we are required to record additional valuation allowances, our eﬁ"ectlve
tax rate w1ll be increased, perhaps substantlally above the statutory rate.

Dtscontmued Operations

Durmg the fourth quarter of 2002 we reviewed our business 11nes and the board of directors approved
management’s recommendation to exit and sell our non-oilfield power generation and certain used
equipment business lines. Income from discontinued operations increased $2.1 million, to net income of
$1.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2003, from a loss of $0.9 million during the year ended
~ December 31, 2002. In 2003, we recorded an additional $14.1 million chargé (net of tax) to write-down
our investment in discontinued operations to'their current estimated market value. During 2002, we
recorded a $40.4 mrlhon charge (net of tax) related to wnte downs’ of our 1nvestment in dlscontlnued
operat1ons
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Cumulative Eﬁ"ect of Accountlng Change

We recorded a cumulatrve effect of accountrng change of $86 9 mllhon net of tax, related to the
partial adoption of FIN 46 on July 1, 2003..

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46. The primary ob]ectlves of FIN 46 are to prov1de guidance
on the identification of entities for which control is achieved by means other than through voting rights
and the determination of when and which business enterprise should consohdate a variable interest entity
(“VIE”) in its financial statements. FIN 46 applics to an entity in Wthh either (1) the equity investors
(if-any) do not have a controlling financial interest or (2) the equity 1nvestment at risk is insufficient to
finance that entity’s activities without receiving additional subordmated ﬁnanc1a1 support from other
parties. In addition, FIN 46 requires that both the primary beneﬁc1ary and all other enterprises with a
significant variable interest in a VIE make additional disclosures. As revrsed FIN 46 was effective
‘immediately for VIE’s created after January 31, 2003. For spe01al purposes entities created prior to
February 1, 2003, FIN 46 is effective at the first intérim or annual reporting period ending after
December 15, 2003, or December 31, 2003 for us. For entities, other than special purpose entities, created
prior to February 1, 2003, FIN 46 is effective for us as of March 31, 2004. In addition, FIN 46 allows
companies to elect to adopt early the provisions of FIN 46 for some, but not all, of the variable interest
entities they own. Because we are-still evaluating whether we will be required to make any other potential
changes in connection with our adoption of FIN. 46, we have. not adopted the provisions of FIN 46 other
than discussed here and under “Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condltron — New
Accounting Pronouncements” in Item 7 of thrs Form 10- K '

Prior to July 1,-2003, we had entered into lease transactrons that were recorded as a sale and
leaseback of the compression equipment and were treated as operating leases “for financial reporting
purposes. On July 1, 2003, we adopted the provisions of FIN 46 as they relate to the special purpose
‘entities that lease compression equipment to us. As a result of the adoption, we added approximately
$1,089 million in compressor equipment assets, $192.3 million of accumulated depreciation (including
approximately $58.6 million of accumulated depreciation related to periods before the sale and leaseback
of the equipment), $1,105.0 million in debt and $34.6 million.in minority interest obligations to our
balance sheet, and we reversed $108.8 million of deferred gams that were recorded on our balance sheet as
a result of the sale leaseback transactions. On July 1, 2003, we recorded a $133.7 million charge
($86.9 million net of tax) to record thé cumulative eﬁ'ect from the adoption of FIN 46 related to prior
period depreciation of the compressron equipment assets. Additionally, we estimate that we will record
approximately $17 million per year in' additional depreciation expense on our leased compression
equipment as a result of the mclusmn of the compression equipment on our balance sheet and will also
record the payments made under ¢ our compresswn equlpment leases as 1nterest expense.

In December 2003 we exercised our purchase optlon under the 1999 ‘compression equipment
operating leasé: As of December 31 2003, the remaining compressmn assets owned by the entities that
lease equipment to us but aré¢ now 1ncluded in property, plant and equlpment in our consolidated financial
statements had a net book value of approximately $804 0 mllhon mcludmg 1mprovements made to these
assets after the sale leaseback transactrons ' :

Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Year Ended December 31 2001

Summary

Our total revenues decreased by $12.2 million to $1,028.8 million during the year ended
December 31, 2002 from $1,041.0 million during 2001, as declining revenues in our fabrication businesses
more than offset increases in revenues from our domestic and mternauonal rental revenues.

Revenues from rentals increased by $1 17.5 million, or 29%, to $518.3 million during 2002 from
$400.8 million during 2001. The increase in both domestic and international rental revenues resulted from
expansion of our rental fleet and business acquisitions completed in 2001. During 2001, we completed two
significant acquisitions: (1) in March 2001 we acquired OEC Compression Corporation, which increased
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our rental fleet by approximately 175,000 horsepower, and (2) in August 2001 we acquired Production
Operators Corporation, which increased our rental fleet by approximately 860,000 horsepower. At
December 31, 2002, the compressor rental fleet consisted of approximately 3,514,000 horsepower, a 1%
increase over the 3,477,000 horsepower in the rental fleet at December 31, 2001.

Net income decreased $188. 5 million, or 260%, to a net loss of $116.1 million during 2002 from net
income of $72.4 million during 2001 pnmanly due to (1) the decline in market conditions which 1mpacted
our compressor and accessory fabrrcatron and production and processmg equipment sales and gross proﬁts
(2) an 1nventory write-down, (3) a charge included in deprecratron and amortization expense for
reductions in the carrying value of certain idle 'units of our compression fleet that are beirig retired and the
acceleration of depreciation related to certain plants and facilities expected to be sold or abandoned,

(4) an increase in selling, general ‘and administrative expenses, depreciation expense, leasing expense,
foreign currency translation expense and interest expense, (5) a goodwill impairment and (6) a charge to ‘
write-down xnvestments in discontinued operatlons to thelr estrmated fair market values.

‘Included in the net loss for 2002 were the followmg pre-tax charges (in thousands)

Inventory reserves (in Parts and service and used equlpment expense) ......... $ 6,800
Severance and other charges (in Selling, general and ‘administrative) - . ... e 6,160
Write-off of idle equipment and asséts to- be sold or abandoned (rn Depreciation
- _and amortization) ............ ... ... e e ¢ .34485
Goodwill ImMpairments. .. ... ..ot e i e . 52,103 |
Non-consolidated affiliate write- downs/charges (in Other expense) e 15,950
Write-down of discontinued operations .......... ... ... ... ... o i oL 58,282
Note receivable reserves (in Other expense) ................. e . . 8,454
Write-off of abandoned purchase option (1n Other expense) e, - 500
Total .......... e RO e $ 182,734

Business Segment Results . IR
" Donestic Rentals |
" {in thousands)
L Years Entied December 31,

i : . Increase

o ) 2002 2001 (Decrease)

REVENUE . . oo, 8328600 $ 260679 - .22%
Operating expense .................. b s 122,172 95,203 . 28%
Gross profit ... P $ 206,428 $ 174,476 . 18%
Gross Margin. ...\ ..vve e iniene e, e 63% 65% 2)%

The increase in domesnc rental revenues and expenses for the year 2002 over the year 2001 were
primarily the result of the expansion of our rental fleet and acquisitions. The.increase in revenues was
more than offset by higher operating expenses, creatrng a decrease in the gross margin of approximately 2%
for the year 2002 compared to 2001. The higher operating expenses were primarily due to lower
horsepower utilization brought on by weaker domestic market conditions without a decrease in overhead.
Domestic horsepower decreased by 2% to approxlmately 2,654,000 horsepower at December 31, 2002 from
approximately 2,696,000 horsepower at December 31, 2001. Domestic horsepower utilization rate at
December 31, 2002 was 72% compared to 80% at December 31, 2001.
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:International Rentals-
(in thousands) _ .
Years Ended December 31, Increase

I . e 2002 2001 (Decrease) .
Revenue......... SR S ©$ 189,700  $ 131,097 . . 45%
Operating expense .. ... e e e o 51,579 L 45795 26%
Gross profit ... .. e e e e e $ 132,121  $. 85302 : .. 55%
Gross margin. ............ e - 70% 65% - 5%

The increase in‘international rentals resulted from ‘the expansion®of our rental fleet ‘and business
acquisitions completed in 2001. International’ horsepower incréased by 10% to approxrmately 860,000
horsepower at December 31, 2002 from approxrmately 781,000 horsepower at December 31, 2001. The
increase in tevenues was offset in part’ by decreased revenues from our Venezuelan operatlons In
December 2002, certaifi opposition groups in Venezuela initiated an unofficial national §tiike. This caused
economic conditions in Venezuela to-deteriorate, including a substantial reduction in thé’ production of oil *
in Venezuela. As a result, during the fourth quarter of 2002, our international rental revenues were
decreased by approximately $2.7 million a8 a result of the disruption in our operations in Venezuela.
However, our 2002 international gross margin benefited from approximately $9.7 million in partial
reimbursement of foreign currency-losses from the renegotiations of contracts with ‘our Argentine
customers, discussed further below, but was negatively impacted by approximately $2.7 million in revenues
from Venezuelan customers that was not recognized until 2003. We estimate that these items. mcreased
our 2002 gross margm by approx1mate1y 2%. RN

Intematronal horsepower utrhzatron rate at December 31,2002 was 96% compared to 97% at
December 31, 2001..

-

‘Parts’:'Serv‘i‘ce avnvduv'Used Equipment ..

Lo . Ainthousands) . L ]
’ *. " Years Ended December 31, - Lintieace
) s e , S +2002- ¢ - 2001 ', (Deérease)«
" Revenue. i Ll BT o008 223,845 $214872 4%
Operating expense .......% ... . cowen oo nin,. -2 179844 - < 152710 = 18% -
Gross profit ................ e $ 44001 § 62,162. ' (29)%
Gross margin ..... SEEEREEERLEE Feee e e 2% - 29% (9)%

The increase in revenues from parts; serv1ce and used equrpment was dué'to-a $26. 5 million-gas plant
sale transaction and 4 $20.1 million, compressron equipment sale” transactlon oﬁ"set by lower revenues asa -
result of weaker market conditions. ~ S

The increase in operating expenses of our parts, service and used equipment segment and the decrease
in the gross profit margrn from parts, service and used equrpment was primarily due to lower profit margins
on used equipment ; ‘sales in 2002 compared to used equrpment sales in 2001. In 2()02 parts and service
revenue included $62.4 million in used equipment sales at a 13% gross margln compared 0 $28 O mrlhon
in 2001, with a 31% gross margin. Approxrmately four percentage points of the decrease in gross margrn
for parts servrce and used equipment was due t0 a low margin gas plant sale transaction and 2 Iow margin
compressor sale transaction. In addition, approxrmately three percentage -points of the decrease 1n gross
margin was due to $6.8 million in inventory write-downs and reserves for parts that were either obsolete,
excess or carried at a price above market value. The remainder of the decrease was primarily due to the
impact of weaker market conditions on sales volume and margins. -

43




Compressor and Accessory Fabrication
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31, Increase
o 3 : 2002 2001 (Decrease)
Revenue................... e $ 114,009 $ 223,519 (49)%
Operating expense . .......... e 99,446 188,122 47)%
Gross profit . .o.....oiiiii $ 14563 $§ 35,397 (59)%
Gross mMargin .. ......oo ittt 13% 16% - (3)%

Revenues, operatlng expenses and gross profit from the compressor and accessory fabrication segment
decreased due to weaker market conditions. During 2002, an aggregate of approximately 150,900
horsepower of compressmn equlpment was fabrlcated and sold compared to approximately 366,000
horsepower fabricated and sold during 2001. The decrease in gross profit margin for compression and
accessory fabrication was attributable to lower sales levels without a corresponding decrease in overhead
and the impact of weaker market condltlons on sales margins..

, "Pr'i)ductio‘n and Processing Equipment Fabrication
_ (in thousands)

- -Years Enaed December 31, . ' Increase
ot ‘ ‘ ) . 2002 2001 {Decrease)
REVENUE /. . cin o i i $ 149,656 $ 184,040 9%
Operating eXpense ................ccooiviueeinn... - 127,442 . 147,824 (14)%
Gross profit . ......oi.iii $ 22,214 $ 36,216 (39)%
Gross margin: ..o 15% 20% (5)%

Production and processing equipment revenues include $15.4 million in revenues from the
consolidation of Belleli since November 2002. In November 2002; we increased our ownership in Belleli to
51% and began consolidating the results of Belleli’s operations. Excluding Belleli, revenues from our
fabrication businesses declined by 27% due to decreased capital spending by our customers in 2002 caused
by weak economic market conditions and recent political and economic events in South America resulting
in lowef.drilling and new well completion activity by .oil and gas producers. The average North and South
American rig count decreased by 27% in 2002 to 1,097 from 1,497 in 2001 and the twelve-month rolling
average Henry Hub natural gas price decreased to $3.22 per Mcf in December 2002 from $4.26 per Mcf
in December 2001 ' - ‘

Productlon and processmg equipment fabncatlon operating expenses and gross profit decreased due to
lower sales levels. The decrease in gross proﬁt margin for production and processing equipment fabrication
was attributable to lower sales levels without a corresponding decrease in overhead and the impact of

-~ weaker market conditions on sales margins.

Other Revemle

Equ1ty 1n earnmgs in subsidiaries increased $9.4 million, or 101%, to $18.8 million durmg 2002, from
$9.4 mllhon “during 2001. This increase is primarily due to our acquisition of POC, which included
mterests in »three joint vénture projects in South America. These joint ventures contributed $21.7 million in
equity earmngs for 2002 compared to $8.1 million in 2001 and was partially offset by a decrease in equity
earnings : from Hanover Measurement Services Company LP which decreased to a loss of $2.2 rmlhon in
2002 from $0 8 million in income in 2001.

Expenses

SG&A expenses increased $61.5 m11110n or 67%, to $153.7 million in 2002 from $92. 2 II‘lllllOIl in
2001. The increase was attributable to increased personnel and other selling and administrative activity in
our business segments resulting from the acquisitions completed during 2001. We also recorded
$3.8 million in employee separation costs relating to our announced reduction in our work force and

44




managemeént changes and approximately $11.6 million in additional legal and accounting costs, a
significant portion of which was associated with our board of directors and Special Litigation Committee
review of certain transactions, the restatement of our financial results and the SEC investigation.

Depreciation and amortization increased by $62.4 million, or 70%, t_o.‘ $151.2 million during 2002.
compared to $88.8 million durmg 2001. During 2002 we recorded a $34.5 million charge included in
deprecxatlon and amortization expense for reductions in. the carrying value of certain idle compression
equipment that is being retired and the acceleration of depreelatxon related to certain plants and facilities
expected to be sold or abandoned. The remaining increase in depreciation was due to the additions to the
rental fleet, partially offset by the change in estimated lives of certain compressors. After a review of the
estimated economic lives of our compression fleet, on July 1, 2001 we changed our estimate of the useful
life of certain compression equipment to range from'15 to 30 years instead of a uniform 15-year
depreciable life. Our new estimated lives are based upon our experience, maintenance program and the
.different types of compressors presently in our rental fleet. We believe our new estimate reflects the
economic useful lives of the compressofs more accurately than a uniform useful life applied ‘to all
compressors regardless of their age or performance characteristics. The effect of this change in estimate on
2002 was a decrease in depreciation expense of approximately $14.4 million and an increase in net income
of approximately $8.6 million ($0 11 per share). :

In addition, because we sold compressors in sale leaseback transactions in August 2001, deprec1at10n
expense was' reduced by approximately $36 million in 2002 compared to approximately $43 million in
2001. The decrease in depreciation in 2002 from 2001 was due to our change in estimate of useful hves of
our compressors on July 1, 2001 as discussed above.

The increase in depreciation was also offset by the decrease in goodwﬂl amortization due to our
adoption of SFAS 142. Under SFAS 142, amortization of goodwill over an estimated useful life was
discontinued. Instead, goodwill amounts became subject to a fair value-based annua} impairment
assessment. During 2001, approximately $10.1 million in goodwill amortization was recorded.

We incurred leasing expense of $90.1 million during 2002 compared to $78.0 million during 2001. The
increase of $12.1 million was attributable to the sale leaseback transactions we entered into in August 2001
and was partially offset by the unrealized gains and losses recorded related to two of our.interest rate
swaps. In connection with these leases, we were obligated to prepare registration statements and complete
an exchange offer to enable the holders of the notes issued by the lessors to exchange their notes for notes
that were registered under the Securities Act of 1933. Because the exchange offer was not completed until
March 13, 2003, we were required to pay additional leasing expense in the amount of approximately
$105,600 per week until March 13, 2003. The additional leasing expense began accruing on January 28,
2002. In 2002, we recorded additional leasing expense of approximately $5.1 million related to the
registration and exchange offering obligations. :

The fair value of our derivative instruments (interest rate swaps) increased by $3.2 million-during
2002 while the fair value decreased: by $7.6 million in 2001. These changes in fair value were due to the
recognition of an unrealized change in the fair value of our interest rate swaps that we had not designated
as cash flow hedges under SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”
The unrealized gains and losses are reflected in our leasing expense.

- Interest expense increased by $19.5 million to $43.4 million during 2002 from $23.9 million 'during
2001. The increase in interest expense was due to higher levels of outstanding debt partially offset by lower
effective interest rates. \ :

Foreign currency translation expense increased by $10.1 million, or 152%, to $16.8 million during
2002 compared to $6.7 million during 2001. The increase was primarily due to our operations in Argentina
and Venezuela. In January 2002, Argentina devalued its peso against the U.S. dollar and imposed
significant restrictions on funds transfers internally and outside the country. In addition, the Argentine
government enacted regulations to temporarily prohibit enforcement of contracts with exchange rate-based
purchase price adjustments. Instead, payment under such contracts could either be made at an exchange
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rate negotiated by the parties or, if no such agreement was reached, a preliminary payment could be made
based.on a one dollar to one peso equivalent pénding a final agreement. The Argentine government also '
required the parties to such contracts to renegotiate the price terms within 180 days of the devaluation.
We have renegotiated all of our agreements in Argentina. As a result of these negotiations, we received
approximately $11.2 million in partial reimbursements in 2002. We recorded $1.5 million of these partial
reimbursements in translation expense and $9.7 million in revenues from international rentals. During
2002, we recorded an exchange loss of approx1rnate1y $9.9 million and $5.8 million for assets exposed to
currency translation in Argentina and Venézuela, respectlvely, and recorded a translation Ioss of -
approximately $1.1 million for all other countries.

Due to a downturn in our business and changes in the busmess env1r0nment in Wthh we operate we
completed a goodwill impairment analysis-as-of June 30, 2002. As a result of the test performed as of
June 30, 2002, we recorded an estimated $47.5 million impairment of goodwill attributable to our
production and processing equipment fabrication business in the second quarter of 2002. We estimated the
fair value of our reporting units using a combination of the expected present value of future cash flows and
the market approach, which uses actual market sales. In-the fourth quarter of 2002, we also recorded a
$4.6 million goodwill impairment related to our pump division, which is expected to be sold.

Other expenses increased $17.9 million, or 184%, to $27.6 million during 2002 compared to
$9.7 million: during 2001. Other expenses in 2002 included -$15.9 million of write-downs and charges
related to investments in four non-congolidated affiliates that had experienced a decline in value that we
believed to be other than temporary, a $0.5 million write-off of a purchase option. for an acquisition that
we had abandoned, $2.7 million in other non-operating costs and a $8.5 million write-down of notes .
receivable, including a $6.0 million reserve established for loans to employees who were not executive
officers. Other expenses in' 2001 included a $2.7 million bridge loan commitment fee associated with our
acquisition of POC, a $5.0 million write- down of an investment in Aurion Technologies, Inc., a
$1.0 million litigation settlement and $1.0 million in other non-operating expenses. ‘

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes decreased by $60.0 million, or 141%; to a tax benefit of $17.6 million
during 2002 from $42.4 million of tax expense during 2001. The decrease resulted primarily from the
corresponding decrease in income before income taxes. The average éffective income tax rates during 2002
and 2001 were 19.0% and 37.8%, respectively. The decrease in the effective tax rate was due’ primarily to a
nondeductible goodwill impairment charge, U.S. impact of foreign operations, and valuation allowances'
against certain net operating losses. The effective tax rate benefited from non-U.S. foreign exchange losses
deductible for tax in excess of book:losses.

Discontinued 0perations

During the fourth quarter of 2002, we reviewed our business lines and the board of directors approved
management’s recommendation to exit and sell our non-oilfield power generation and certain used
equipment business lines. During 2002, we recorded a $40.4 million charge (net of tax) to write-down -our
investment in discontinued operations to current estimated fair market values, Discontinued operations
include three non-oilfield power generation projects in California and related inventory, and certain of our
used equipment divisions.

- Income (loss) from discontinued operations decreased $3.9 million;, or 130%, to'a net loss of
$0.9 million during 2002 from net income of $3.0 million during 2001. The decrease in net income was
primarily attributable to weaker market conditions that impacted sales volume and gross margins.

Leasing Transactions and Accounting Change for FIN 46

As of December 2003, we are the lessee in four transactions involVing ‘the sale of compression
equipment by us to special purpose entities, which in turn lease the equipment back to us. At the time we
entered into the leases, these transactions had a-number of advantages over other sources of capital then
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available to-us. The sale leaseback .transactions (1) enabled us to aﬁ'ordably extend the duratron of ‘our
financing arrangements and (2) reduced our cost of capital. -

In August 2001 and in connectron with the acqu1s1t1on of POC ‘we completed two sale. lcaseback
transactions 1nvolvrng certain compressron equlprnent Under one, sale leaseback transactron we recerved
$309.3 million in proceeds from.the sale of certain compression equrpment Under the. second sale
leaseback transactron we received $257.8 million in proceeds from thé sale of additional compression
equipment. Under the first transaction, the equipment was sold and 1eased back by us for a seven-year
period and will continue to be deployed by us in the normal course of our business. The agreement calls
for. semi-annual rental payments of approximately $12.8 million in addition to quarterly rental payments of
approximately $0.2 million. Under the second transaction, the equipment was sold and leased back by us
for a ten-year period and will continue to be deployed by us in the normal-course.of our business. The
agreement calls for semi- annual rental payments of approx1mately $10.9 million, in addition to. quarterly
rental payments of approximately $0.2 million. We have options to repurchase the equlpment under certarn
conditions as defined by the lease agreements. Through December 31, 2003, we incurred transaction costs
of approximately-$18.6 million related to these transactions. These -costs are included in intangible and
other assets and, are being amortized over the respective lease terms..

' N

. In October 2000, we completed a $172 6 million sale leaseback transactron of compressron equrpment.
In March 2000, we entered into' a separate $200 million sale leaseback transactron of compression ’
equrpment Under the March transaction, we ‘received proceeds of $100 million from the sale of
compression ‘equipment at-the first closing in March 2000; and in-Abgust 2000 we completed the second
half of the equipment lease and received an additional $100 milliori for the sale of additional compression
equipment., Under our 2000 lease agreements the equ1pment was sold and leased back by us for a five- '
year term and will be used by us in our business. We have options to repurchasé the equipment under the
2000 leases, subject to certain conditions set forth in these lease agreements. The 2000 lease agreements
call for variable quarterly payments that fluctuate with the London Interbank OlTenng Rate and have
covenant restrictions similar to our bank credit facility. We incurred an aggregate of approximately
$7.1 mrll1on in transaction costs for the leases entered into in 2000, which are included in intangible and -
other assets on the balance sheet and are bemg amortrzed over the respectlve lease terms of the respectwe'
transactlons

The following table summarizes, as of December 31, 2003, the proceeds, residual guarantee, lease . .
terrmnat1on date and mmonty interest obhgatmns for.our equipment leases (in thousands) -

Residual Minority -
Sale’ Value - Yease: =i . . Interest -
Lease Proceeds Guarantee  Termination Date  Obligation
March and August 2000 ..... P $ 200,000 $§ 166,000 .March 2005, § - 6,400
October 2000 ... ..". N P 172,589 142,299 October 2005 oS8
POAugust 2000 oLl i DI 309,300 232,000 . - September 2008 9,300
- August 2001, o ceeeneeenn 7 257,750 ¢ 175,000 -, - September. 2011 7;750

$ 939,639 $ 715299 528,628

The lease facilities contain certain financial covenants and limitations which restrict us with respect
to, among other things, indebtedness, liens, leases and sale of assets. We are entitled under the
compression equipment operating lease agreements to substitute equipment that we own for equipment- -
owned by the special purpose entities, provided that the value of the equipment that we are substituting is
equal to or greater than the value of the equipment that is being substituted. Each lease agreement hrnrts _
the aggregate amount of replacement equrpment that rnay ‘be substrtuted to under each lease

Prior to July-1,.2003, these lease transactions were recorded as a sale and leaseback of the
compression equipment and’ were treated as operating leases for financial.reporting purposes. On July 1
2003, we adopted the provisions of FIN 46 as they relateto the special purpose entities that lease:
compression .equipment to us. As a result of the adoption, we addéd approximately $1,089 million-in
compressor equipment assets, $192.3 million of accumulated depreciation. (including approximatety
$58.6 million of accumulated dépreciation related to periods before the sale and leaseback-of the .-
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equipment), $1,105.0 ‘million in debt and $34.6 million in minority interest obligations to our balance
sheet, and we reversed $108.8 million of deferred gains that were recorded on our balance sheet as a result
of the sale leaseback transactions. On July 1, 2003, we recorded a $133.7 million charge ($86.9 million net
of tax) to record the cumulative effect from the adoption of FIN 46 related to prior period depreciation of
the compression equipment assets. Additionally, we estimate that we will record approximately $17 million
per year in additional depreciation expense on our leased compression equipment as a result of the
inclusion of the compression equipment on our balance sheet and will also record the payments made
under our compression equipment leases as interest expense. B '

In December 2003 we exercised our purchase option under the 1999 compression equipment operating
lease. As of December 31, 2003, the remaining compression assets owned by the entities that lease
equipment to us but are now included in property, plant and equipment in our consolidated financial
statements had a net book value of approximately $804.0 million, including improvements made to these
assets after the sale leaseback transactions.

The minority interest obligations represent the equity of the entities that lease compression equipment
to us. In accordance with the provisions of our compression equipment lease obligations, the equity
certificate holders are entitled to quarterly or semi-annual yield payments on the aggregate outstanding
equity certificates. As of December 31, 2003, the vield rates on the outstanding equity certificates ranged
from 4.4% to 9.5%. Equity certificate holders may receive a return of capital payment upon lease
termination or our purchase of the leased compression equipment after full payment of all debt obligations
of the entities that lease compression equipment to us. At December 31, 2003, the carrying value of the
minority interest obligations approximated the fair market value of assets that would be required to be
transferred to redeem the minority interest obligations

In connection with the compression equipment leases entered into in August 2001, we were obligated
to prepare registration statements and complete an exchange offer to enable the holders of the notes issued
by the lessors to exchange their notes with notes registered under the Securities Act of 1933. Because of
the restatement of our financial statements, the exchange offer was not completed within the time frame
required by the agreements related to the compression equipment lease obligations and we were required
to pay additional lease expense in an amount equal to $105,600 per week until the exchange offering was
completed. The additional lease expense began accruing on January 28, 2002 and increased our lease
expense by $1.1 million and $5.1 million during 2003 and 2002, respectively. The registration statements
became effective in February 2003. The exchange offer was completed and the requirement to pay the .
additional lease expense ended on March 13, 2003.

In February 2003, in connection with an amendment to our bank credit facility and, in December
2003, in connection with the closing on our new bank credit facility we executed conforming amendments
to the compression equipment leases entered into in 2000. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources” in Item 7 of this
Form 10-K.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our unrestricted cash balance amounted to $56.6 million at December 31, 2003 compared to
$19.0 million. at December 31, 2002, Working capital increased to $255.2 million at December 31, 2003
from $195.4 million at December 31, 2002. The increase in working capital was primarily due to
modification and subsequent payment of a $58.0 million obligation associated with the PIGAP II joint
venture that was accrued as a contingent liability on our balance. sheet since the acquisition of POC. The
obligation was converted into the PIGAP Note with a 6% interest rate compounding semi-annually until
maturity in December 2053. In October 2003, the PIGAP 1I joint venture closed on the project’s financing
and distributed approximately $78.5 million to Hanover, of which approximately $59.9 million was used to
pay off the PIGAP Note. '
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Our cash flow from operating, investing and financing activities, as reflected in the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flow, are summarized in the table below {dollars in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31: . 2003 . 2002

Net cash provided by (used in) contlnumg operations:

Operating activities . ... i i e $161,529 - $ 194,876
Investing activities . ................. UV RERE (67,177) (175',064)
‘Financing activities .................. . ‘._ e (65,919) (3,348)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents ......... 800 {1,962)
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations ....... . oo 8375 (18,682)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents Ceree e . ... $ 37608 % (4,180)

The decrease in net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2003 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2002 ‘was primarily due to the reduction in net income
discussed above. ‘

~ The decrease in cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2003 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2002 was primarily attributable to a decrease in capital
expenditures and the return of some of our investment in PIGAP 1II as a result of the financing discussed -
above. We are seeking to deploy our capital more effectively in order to improve our returns from our
investments, and we decreased our capital expenditures in the year ended December 31, 2003 by
$107.7 million from the year ended December 31, 2002. We invested $142.5 million in property plant and
equipment during the year ended December 31, 2003, pnmarﬂy for international rental pro;eets and
maintenance capital.

The increase in cash used in financing activities was primarily due to the repayment of the PIGAP
Note from the cash distributed from the financing dlscussed above

The increase in cash provided by discontinued operations was related to the proceeds from the sale of
Gates and Panoche which were approxxmately $27.2 million. :

We may carry out new customer prO_]CC'[S through rental fleet additions and other related capital
expenditures. We generally invest funds necessary to make these rental fleet additions when our idle
equipment cannot economically fulfill a project’s requirements and the new equipment expenditure is
matched with long-term contracts whose expected economic terms exceed our. return on capital targets.
During 2004, we plan to spend approximately $100 to $150 million on capital expenditures including
(1) rental equipment fleet additions.and (2) approximately $50 to $60 million on equipment maintenance
capital. Since capital expenditures are largely discretionary, we believe we would be able to significantly
reduce them, in a reasonably short time frame, if expected cash flows from operations were not realized.

As a result of our agreement to settle the securities-related litigation, we expect to incur
approximately $2.5 million in additional legal fees and administrative costs over the next 12 months in
addition to the amount held in escrow and reported as restricted.cash on our condensed consolidated
balance sheet. Historically, we have funded our capital requirements with a combination of internally
generated cash flow, borrowings under a bank credit facility, sale leaseback transactions, raising additional
equity and issuing long-term debt.
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The following summarizes our cash contractual obligations at December 31, 2003 and the effect such
obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow in future periods: ‘
‘ Total 2004 2005-2006  2007-2008  Thereafter

Cash Contractual Obligations:
(In thousands)

Long term Debt ’
4.75% convertible senior notes due 2008................... $ 192,000 $

— 3 — . $ 192,000 $ —

4.75% convertible senior notes due 2014................... 143,750 —_ —_ — 143,750
7.25% subordinated convertible securities due 2029 ......... 86,250 —_ _ — © 86,250
8.625% senior notes due 2010 . ........ ... . .., 200,000 — — —_ 200,000
11% zero coupon subordinated notes due 2007(1) .......... 262,622 - — 262,622 —
Bank credit facility due 2006 . ........ ... ... ... ...l 27,000 —_ 27,000 — —
Other long-term debt ............ ... .. ... .ol 4,792 3,511 1,018 86 177
2000A equipment lease notes, due 2005 ................... 193,600 — 193,600 — , —
2000B equipment lease notes, due 2005 ................... 167,411 — 167,411 . — —
2001A equipment lease notes, due 2008 ................... 300,000 — — 300,000 L —
2001B equipment lease notes, due 2011 ................... 250,000 — — — 250,000
Total long-term debt . .............. ... ... L 1,827,425 3,511 389,029 754,708 680,177
Minority interest obligations(2) ............. ... . ... ... ... 28,628 — 11,578 9,300 7,750
Purchase commitments . . ......... ... oot ieinnieianenn. © 45,181 42,139 2,816 226 —
Facilities and other equipment operating leases .. ............. 12,698 4,447 4,921 2,735 595
Total contractual cash obligations .................. e $ 1,913,932 $50,097  $408,344 $766,969 $685,522

(1). Amount represents $262.6 million zero coupon note. Balance payable at December 31, 2003, 1nclud1ng
11% discount per annum, was $185.5 million.

(2) Represents third party equity interest of lease equipment t_ruslts that was requifed to be consolidated
into our financial statements. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operanons — Leasing Transactions and Accounting Change for FIN 46” in Item 7 of thls
Form 10-K.

As part of our business, we are a party to various financial guarantees, performance guarantees and
other contractual commitments to extend guarantees of credit and other assistance to various subsidiaries,
investees and other third parties. To varying degrees, these guarantees involve elements of performance and
credit risk, which are not included on our consolidated balance sheet or reflected in the table above. The
possibility of our having to honor our contingencies is largely dependent upon future operations of various
subsidiaries, investees and other third parties, or the occurrence of certain future events. We would record
a reserve for these guarantees if events occurred that requlred that one be established.

Debt Refinancing. 1In June 2003, we. filed a shelf registration statement with the SEC pursuant to-
which we may from time to time publicly offer equity, debt or other securities in an aggregate amount not
to exceed $700 million. The SEC subsequently declared the shelf registration statement effective on
November 19, 2003. Subject to market conditions, the remaining shelf registration statement will be
available to offer one or more series of additional debt or other securities. -

In December 2003, we issued under our shelf registration statement $200.0 million aggregate principal
amount of our 8.625% Senior Notes due 2010, which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a senior
subordinated basis by HCLP. The proceeds-from this offering were used to repay the outstanding
indebtedness and minority interest obhgauons of $194.0 million and $6.0 mllhon respectlvely, under our
1999A equipment lease that was to expire in June 2004. ;

Also in December 2003, we issued under our shelf registration statement $143.8 million aggregate
principal amount of our 4.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014, We may redeem these convertible
notes beginning in 2011 under certain circumstances. The convertible notes are convertible into shares of
our common stock at an initial conversion rate of 66.6667 shares of our common stock per $1,000 principal
amount of the convertible notes (subject to adjustment in certain events) at any time prior to the stated
maturity of the convertible notes or the redemption or repurchase of the convertible notes by us. The
proceeds from this offering were used to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under our bank
credit facility.
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«.New Bank Credit Facility. - Effective’ December 15,2003, we entered info a new $350 million bank | .
credit facility with a maturity:date of December. 29, 2006. and made conforming amendments related to- - .
the compression equipment lease obligations: that we entered into in -2000. Qur prior $350 million bank’ -
credit facility that was scheduled to mature in November, 2004.was terminated upon closing of the new
facility. The’ new, bank credrt ‘facility, mod1ﬁed certaln covenants that were contarned in the prior facility .
and eliminated certam covenants entrrely The new. agreement prohrbrts us (w1thout the lenders’ prior
approval) from declaring. or paymg any d1v1dend (other than drvrdends payable solely in our common stock
or in gptions, warrants or r1ghts to purchase such common _Stock) on, or makmg similar payments with ’
respect to, our caprtal stock. The new agreement clanﬁes and provrdes certain thresholds with respect to
our abrhty to make investrents in our forelgn subs1d1ar1es In add1tron under the new ‘agreement we -

- granted the lenders a security interest in the inventory, equlpment and cértain other property of Hanover
and its domestic: subsidiaries (with”certain exceptions), and pledged 66% of. the equity interest in certain of
our foreign subsidiaries: We.believe that this new: bank dredit’ facility will provide ﬂexrbrhty in accessmg
the capacrty under the. fac111ty to support our short terny hqurdrty needs N S C N ,

Our new, bank credrt fac1hty prov1des for a $350 million. revolvmg credrt facility i in which advances ’
bear interest at (a) the greater of the admmtstratrve agent s pnme rate, the federal funds eﬁ‘ectr,‘ve rate or "
the base CD rate, or (b)a eurodollar rate( plus, in each case, a specrﬁed margrn (4. 2% weighted average -

. interest rate at December 31, 2003) A comm1tment fee’ equal to 0. 625% times the average’ darly amount
of the available commitment under the bank credit facility is payable quarterly to the lenders participating
in the bank credit facility. Our bank credit facility: contains certain-financial covenants and limitations on,
among other thrngs 1ndebtedness hens leases and sales of assets. R

" As of Decernber 31 2003 we were 1n complrance w1th all materral covenants and other requrrements
set forth in’ our bank credit facility, agreements related. to_our compress10n equtpment lease obhgatrons and
indentures. G1v1ng effect to the covenant hmrtatrons in our bank credit facility, the. hqurdrty avarlable L
under that facrlrty as of December 31, 2003 was approxrmately $223 million. While there is’ no Assurance,
we believe based on our current prO_]CCtIOIlS for 2004, that we will be in complrance w1th the ﬁnancral
covenants m our bank credit facﬂlty and the agreements related to our compressmn equtpment lease .
obl1gat10ns A default under our bank credit facrhty orrthese agreements would tngger cross- default .
prowsrons under the agreements relating to cértain of our other debt obllgat1ons Such defaults would have )
a materral adverse effect on our hqurdrty, ﬁnancral posrtron and operatrons ) 5

R

“ We expect that our new.bank credrt facﬂrty and cash flow from operatlons will prov1de uSradequate
capital resources to fund our estimated level of capital expenditures for the short.term. As of - :
December 31, 2003,.we had approximately $27.0 million in borrowings and !approximately $77.1 million+in

letters of credit outstanding under our:bank credit facility (4.2% weighted average effective rate at "' .
December 31,7 2003). Our bank credit facility permits-us to incur. indebtedness;‘.subject to covenant i
limitations described above, up to a»$350 million credit limit; plus, in addition to certain-f other v R
indebtedness, an additional (1) $40 million in unsecured indebtedness, (2) $50 million of nonrecourse . . +
indebtedness of unqualified subsidiaries, and (3): $25 million of secured purchase money indebtedness.

* In addition to purchase money and similar obligations, the indentures and. the agreements related to
our compression equipment lease obligations for our 2001A and 2001B sale leaseback transactions and our
8.625% Senior Notes due 2010 permit us to incur indebtedness up to the $350 million credit limit under

our.bank credit facility, plus (1) an additional $75 million in unsecured indebtedness and (2) any
additional indebtedness so long as, after incurring such indebtedness, our ratio of the sum-of consolidated
net income before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation expense, amortization of intangibles, certain
other non-cash charges and rental expense to total fixed charges (all as defined and adjusted by the
agreements), or our “coverage ratio,” is greater than 2.25t0 1.0 and no default or event of default has -
occurred or would occur as a consequence of incurring such additional indébtedness and the application of
the proceeds thereon. The indentures and agreements related to our compression equipment lease |
obligations for our 2001A and 2001B sale leaseback transactions define indebtedness to include the present -
value of our rental obligations under sale leaseback transactions and under facilities similar to our
compression equipment operating leases. As of December-31, 2003, Hanover’s coverage ratio was less than
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2.25 to 1.0 and therefore as of such date we could not incur indebtedness other than under our. bank credit
facility and up to an additional $75 million in unsecured indebtedness and certain other permitted
indebtedness, including certain refinancing indebtedness. :

PIGAP II Restructurmg and our Zero Coupon Subordmated Notes due March 31 2007. On May 14,
2003, we entered into an agreement with Schlumberger to terminate our right to put our interest in the
PIGAP II joint venture to Schlumberger. As a result, we retalned our interest in PIGAP II. We had
- previously given notice of our 1ntent to exercise the PIGAP putin January 2003. PIGAP II i is a joint
venture, currently owned 70% by a subsidiary of Williams Companies Inc. and 30% by Hanover, which - i
operates a natural gas compression facility in Venezuela. The natural gas processed by PIGAP II is re--
injected into oil reservoirs for enhanced oil recovery.

- Also on May 14, 2003, we agreed with Schlumberger Surenco, an affiliate of Schlumberger, to the
modification of the repayment terms of a $58.0 million obligation that was accrued as a contingent liability
on our balance sheet since the acquisition of POC and was associated with the PIGAP 1I joint venture.

The obligation was converted into the PIGAP Note payable by Hanover Cayman Limited, our indirect _
wholly-owned consolidated sub51d1ary, with a 6% interest rate compoundlng semi- annual]y until maturlty in
December 2053. In October 2003, the PIGAP II joint venture closed on the project’s financing and
distributed approximately $78.5 mllhon to Hanover of which approx1mately $59.9 million was used to "
repay the PIGAP Note.

In connectlon with the agreement to termmate our right to-put our 1nterest in PIGAP IT back to -
Schlumberger, we also agreed with Schlumberger to restructure-the $150 million subordinated note that.
Schlumberger received from Hanover in August 2001 as part of the purchase price for our acquisition of
- POC’s natural gas compression business, ownership interest in certain joint venture prOJects in South
America (1nclud1ng PIGAP II), and related assets. As of March 31, 2003, the date from Wthh the
interest rate was adjusted, the $150 million subordinated note had an outstanding pnn01pal balance of -
approxxmately $171 million, including accrued interest. We restructured the $150 million subordinated note
as our Zero Coupon Subordinated Notes die March 31, 2007, which notes were issued to Schlumberger
and were sold by Schlumberger in a registered public offering in December 2003. Original'issue discount
accretes under the zero coupon notes at a rate of 11.0% per annum for their -Tremaining life, up to a total

principal amount of $262.6 million payable at maturity. The notes will accrue additional intérest at a rate
~of 2.0% per annum upon the occurrencé and during the continuance of an event of default undér the notes.”
The notes will also-accrue additional interest at a rate of 3.0% per annum if our consolidated leverage
ratio, as defined in the indenture governing the notes, exceeds 5.18 to 1.0 as of the end of any two
consecutive fiscal quarters. As of December 31, 2003, we estimate that our debt balance could have
increased by approximately $53 million in additional indebtedness and not exceeded the 5.18 to 1.0 ratio.
Notwithstanding the preceding, in' no event will the total additional interest accruing on the notes exceed
3.0% per annum-if both. of the previously mentioned circumstances occur. The notes also contain a-
covenant that limits our ability to incur additional indebtedness:if our consolidated leverage ratio exceeds
5.6 to 1.0, subject to certain exceptions. : » :
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Crédit R.atings. As of March 5, 2004 our credit ratmgs as .assigned by Moody’s Investors Servrce
Inc. (“Moody’ ”) and Standard & Poor s Ratrngs Serv1ces (“Standard & Poor’s’”) were: . -

7 Standard
- " - , Moody’s & Poor’s
-Outlook. ........ e e Stable  Negative
Senior implied ratlng e T AP e Bl BB— '
Bank credit facility. due December 2006 .. ... EI e ~ Baj —
~4.75% convertible senior notes due 2008 ... .. e e oo s oo B3 —
" 4.75% convertible senior notes due 2014 ....... e e PR B3 B
8.625% senior notes due: 2010. . ... . S B3 B.
.. 2001A equipment lease notes, interest at 8. 5%, due September 2008 . B2 -
2001B equipment lease notes, interest at 8.8%, due September 2011.... B2 = —
Zero coupon subordinated notes, interest at 11%, due March 31 2007 Caal =~ B—
- 7.25% convertible subordrnated notes due 2029* ............... ool . Caal -
Senior secured . .. .t e e e e, P S == - B+
Senior unsecured .. ........ e e e Y. e B

* Rating is on the Mandatonly Redeemable Convertrble Preferred Securrtles which were issued by

~ Hanover Compressor Capital Trust, our wholly-owned subsrdrary See discussion of the impact of
FIN 46 in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations —
New Accounting Pronouncements” under Item 7. of thrs Form 10-K.

We do not haveany credrt ratrng downgrade provrsrons in our debt agreements or the agreements
related to our compressron equrpment lease obligations that would accelerate théir maturity dates.
However, a downgrade in our credit rating could materially and adversely affect our ability to renew
existing, or obtain access to new, credit facilities in the future and could increase the cost of such facilities.
Should this occur, we might seek alternative sources of funding. In addition, our significant leverage puts
us at greater risk of default under. one or more of our existing debt agreements if we experience an adverse
change to our financial condrtlon or results. of operations. Our ability to reduce our leverage depends upon
market and economic condrtrons as well as our ability to execite liquidity-enhancing transactions such as
sales of non-core assets or our equity secuntres

Derlvatzve Fmanczal Instruments We use derivative ﬁnancral instruments to m1n1m1ze the rrsks
and/or costs assocrated wrth ﬁnancral and global operatrng activities by managing our exposure to interest .
rate fluctuation on a portion of our variable rate debt and leasing obligations. We do not use denvatrve
financial instruments for trading or other speculative purposes. The cash flow from hedges is classified in
our consolidated statements- of ‘cash flows under ‘the ' same category as the cash flows from the underlylng
assets, lrabrhtres or. antrcrpated transactrons :

,,,,,

SFAS 133 “Accountmg for Denvatrve Instruments and Hedgrng Actrvrtres as amended by
SFAS 137, SFAS 138 and SFAS 149, requires that all derivative instruments (including certain derivative
instruments embedded in other contracts). be recognrzed in the balance sheet at fair value, and that
changes in such fair values- be recognized in earnings unless specrﬁc hedgrng criteria are met. Changes in
the values of derivatives that meet these hedging criteria will ultimatély:offset related earnings effects of
the hedged item pending recognition in earnings. Prior t6.2001,.we entered int6 two interest rate swaps
with notional amounts of $75 million and $125 million and strike.rates. of 5.51% and 5.56%, respectively.
These swaps were to expire in-July 2001; however, they were extended for an additional two years at.the
option of-the swap counterparty and expired in July 2003. The dlfference paid:or received on the swap .
transactions was recorded as-an accrued liability and. recognized-in léasing expense in all periods before
- July 1, 2003, and in interest expense thereafter. Because management decided not to designate the interest
rate swaps as hedges-at the time they were extended by the counterparty, we recognized unrealized gains
of approximately $4.1 million and approximately $3.2 million rélated to the change in the fair value of :.
these interest rate swaps-in lease expense in our statement of operations during the years ended-
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and recognized an. unrealized. gain of approximately
$0.5 million in interest. expense during 2003. The fair value of-these interest rate swaps fluctuated with - -
changes in interest ratés, over their terms and the fluctuations were recorded in our statement of operations..
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Dunng the second quarter of 2001, we entered’ 1nto three additional interést rate swaps to convert
variable lease payments under certain lease arrangements to fixed paymeénts as follows:

Lease : Maturity Date Strike Rate Notional Amount
March 2000 ‘ - March 11, 2005 5.2550% . $100,000,000
August 2000 ) . ) March 11, 2005 5.2725% $100,000,000
October 2000 . ' October 26, 2005 o5397%% .., . $100,000,000

These three swaps, which we have designated as cash flow hedging instruments, meet the specific
hedge criteria and any changes in their fair values have been.recognized in other comprehensive income.
During the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, we recorded income of approximately $7.9 million
and a loss of $13.6 million, respectively, related to these three swaps ($5.1 million and $8.9 million, net of
tax) in other comprehensive income. As of December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, a total of
approximately $11.7 million and $11.5 million, respectwely, was recorded in current l1ab111t1es and
approximately $3.4 million and $11.5 million, respectively, in long-term liabilities with respect to the fair
value adjustment related to these three swaps. -

The counterparties to the interest rate swap agreements are major international financial institutions.
We continually monitor the credit quality of these financial institutions and do not expect non-performance
by any counterparty, although such non- performance could have a material adverse el’fect on us. .

During 2003, we entered into forward exchange contracts with a notional value of $10.0 million to
mitigate the risk of changes in exchange rates between Euro and the U.S. dollar. These contracts mature
during 2004. As of December 31, 2003, a total of approximately $0.6 million was recorded in other current
assets and other comprehensive income with respect to the fair value adjustment related to these three,
contracts. : .

We have significant operations that expose us to currency risk in Argentina and Venezuela. To
mitigate that risk, the majority of our existing contracts provide that we receive payment in or based on
U.S. dollars rather than Argentine pesos and Venezuelan bolivars, thus reducmg our exposure to -
fluctuations in the their value. '

For the year ended December 31, 2003, our Argentine operatrons represented apprommately 5% of our
revenue and 9% of our gross profit. Dunng the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, we recorded an
exchange gain of approximately $0.5 million and an exchange loss of approxrmately $9. 9 million, ' ‘
respecuvely, for assets exposed to currency translation in Argentma :

In add1t1on during the years ended December 31 2003 and 2002 we recorded exchange losses of
approximately $2.4 million and $5.8 million, respectively, for assets exposed to currency translation in
Venezuela and recorded translation losses of approximately $0.6 million and $1.1 million, respectively, for
all other countries. For the year ended December 31, 2003, our Venezuelan operanons represented
approximately 11% of our revenue and 18% of our gross profit. At December 31, 2003, we had
approximately’ $23 0 m1lllon in accounts recervable related to our Venezuelan operat10ns

In December 2002 opponents of’ Venezuelan Pres1dent Hugo Chavez 1n1t1ated a country -wide stnke
by werkers of the national oil company in Venezuela. This strike, a two-month walkout, had a significant
negative impact on Venezuela’s economy and temporarily shut down a substantial portion -of Venezuela’s
oil industry. As a result of the strike, Venezuela’s oil production dropped substantially. In addition, .
exchange controls have been put in.place that put limitations on the amount of Venezuelan currency that
can be €xchanged for foreign currency by businesses operating inside' Venezuela. In May 2003, after six
months of negotiation, the Organization. of the American States brokered an agreement between the
Venezuelan government and .its opponents. Although the accord does offer the prospect of stabilizing -
Venezuela’s economy, if another national strike is staged, exchange controls remain in place, or.economic
and political conditions in Venezuela continue to deteriorate, our results of operations.in Venezuela could -
be materially and adversely affected, which could result in reductions in our. net income. -As a result of the’
disruption in our operations in Venezuela;.during the fourth quarter of 2002, our international rental
revenues decreased by approximately $2.7 million. In the year ended December 31; 2003, . we recognized
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approximately $2.7 million of billings to Venezuelan customers that were not recognized in 2002 due to-
concerns about the ultimate receipt of those revenues. In addition, a recent movement to remove President
Chdvez has resulted in renewed civil strife in Venezuela. If such strife’ contmues or escalates our results of
operatrons in Venezuela could be further miterially’and adversely affected.

In February 2003, the Venezuelan government fixed the exchange rate to 1,600 bolivars for each
U.S. dollar. In February 2004, thegovernmert devalued the currency by approximately 17%. The impact
of the devaluation on our results will depend upon the amount of our assets (primarily working capital)
exposed to currency fluctuation in Veriezuela in future periods. As of December 31, 2003, we had
approximately $6.0 million in net assets exposed to currency fluctuation in'Venezuela. Based on these
assets, a 10% change in exchange rates would result in a $0.5 million gain or loss in Venezuela

The economic situation in Argentma and Venezuela is subject to change. To the extent that the
situation deteriorates, exchange controls continue in place and the value of the peso and bolivar against the
dollar is reduced further, our results of operations in Argentina and Venezuela ccould be materially and
adversely affected which could result in reductions in our net income.

We are involved in a prOJect to build and operate barge-mounted gas cornpressron and gas processing
facilities to be stationed in a Nrgenan coastal waterway as part of the perforrnance of a contract between
an affiliate of The ‘Royal/Dutch Shell Group (“Shell”) and Global Energy and Refining Ltd. (“Global”)
a Nigerian company. We have completed the building of the required barge-mounted facilities. We
understand that. Global must-complete a significant financing-for part of the project in the near term or
Shell would be able to terminate its contract with Global. Global has orally informed us that they have
completed a.financing, although it is not clear to us whether the funds raised will be sufficient to perform
their obligations under the Shell contract. In light of the political environment in Nigeria, Global’s lack of
a successful track record with respect to this project and other factors, there is no assurance that Global
will be able to comply with its obligations under the Shell contract. We Believe that Global is in default
with respect to certain agreements they have with us, as a result of which we belreve we have certain
termination rights. , S

If Shell were to terminate its contract with Global for any reason or we were to terminate our
involvement in the project, we would be.required to.find an alternative use for the barge facility which
could result in a.write-down of our investment. We currently have an investment of approximately
$29.8 million associated with- the barge facﬂrty and. approxrmately $4.1 million associated with advances 0,
and our investment in, Global.. . . . ..., - .. . o v R

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We agreed to assume from certain affiliates of Schiumberger the guarantee obligations of indebtedness
of the Simeo/Harwat Consortium and of El Furrial, each of which are:joint ventures that we aé‘q‘uired
interésts in pursuant to our acquisitien- of POC from Schlumberger.:Each of these joint ventures: are non-
consolidated affiliates of ‘Hanover'and our guarantee obligations are not recorded on our accompanying
balance sheet. Our guarantee obligation is a percentage of the total debt of the non-consolidated affiliate -
equal to our ownership percentage in such affiliate. We have issued the followmg guarantees of the
1ndebtedness of our non- consolldated afﬁhates (m thousands)
' Maximum Potential

‘Undiscounted
Payments as of
) e TR . , i . E _»Term December 31, 2003
Simco/Harwat Consortium.. ... .... e ol s . 2005 $12,285 -
El I‘urnal ...... TP P A '2013/ $40021

Our obhganon to perform under the- guarantees arises only in the event that our-non- consohdated
affiliate defaults under the agreements governing the indebtedness. We currently have no reason to believe .
that either of these non-consolidated affiliates will default on their indebtedness.
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Factors That May Affect Our Financial Condition and Future Results

We have a substantial amount of debt, including our compression equipment lease obligations, that could
limit our ability to fund future growth and operations and increase our exposure during adverse economic
conditions.

As of December 31, 2003, we had épproximately $1,782.8 million of debt.

Our substantial debt and compression equipment lease commitments could have important
consequences. For example, these commitments could:

 make it more difficult for us to satisfy our contractual obligations;
» increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

« limit our ability to fund future working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or other general
corporate requirements;

* increase our vulnerability to interest rate fluctuations because the interest payments on a portion of
our debt are at, and a portion of our compression equipment leasing expense is based upon, variable
rates; )

» limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and our industry;

* place us at a disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt or fewer operating lease
commitments; and ' :

+ limit our ability to borrow additional funds.

4

We will need to generate a significant amount of cash to service our debt, to fund working capital and to
pay our debts as they come due.

Our ability to make scheduled payments on our compression equipment lease obligations and our
other debt, or to refinance our debt and other obligations, will depend on our ability to generate cash in
the future. Our ability to generate cash in the future is subject to our operational performance, as well as
general economic, financial, competitive, legislative and regulatory conditions, among other factors.

For the year ended December 31, 2003, we incurred interest and leasing expense of $132.3 million
related to our debt, including our compression equipment lease obligations.

As of December 31, 2003, we had outstanding borrowings of approximately $27.0 million (4.2% rate
at December 31, 2003) and outstanding letters of credit of approximately $77.1 million under our bank
credit facility and approximately $223 million of credit capacity remaining (after giving effect to the
covenant limitations in our bank credit facility). \

Approximately $397.5 million of our debt will mature within two years from December 31, 2003. Our
ability to refinance this debt and other financial obligations at a reasonable cost will be affected by the
factors discussed herein and by the general market at the time we refinance.

Our business may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations, and future borrowings may not be
available to us under our bank credit facility in an amount sufficient to enable us to pay our debt,
compression equipment lease obligations, operating lease commitments and other financial obligations, or
to fund our other liquidity needs. We cannot be sure that we will be able to refinance any of our debt or
our other financial obligations on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Our inability to refinance our
debt or our other financial obligations on commercially reasonable terms could materially adversely affect
our business.
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The documents governing our outstanding debt, including.our compression equipment lease obligations,
contain financial and other restrictive covenants. Failing to comply with those covenants could result in
an event of default whzch zf not- cured or wazved could have a materml adverse ejfect on us.

Our bank credit facrhty and other debt obhgatrons 1nc1ud1ng the agreements related to our
compression equipment lease obligations, contain, among other things, covenants that may restrict our
ability to finance future operations or capital needs or to engage in other business activities. These
covenants include provisions that restrict our ability to: : '

« incur nddit"ional debt or issue guarantees;
+ create liens on o‘ur ésse_ts;. -
* engage in mergers, consolidations and‘dispo'sitions of assets;
« enter into additional operating leases; |
+ pay dividends on or re_deem capital stock;
* enter into deribv.ative transactions;
. rnal_(e certain investments or restricted payments;
» make capital expenditures_ ahp‘\ie‘eertain Iiniits;‘ :
f~make investments, loans or ativancements»to certain of our subsidiaries;
L prepay or modlfy our debt- facrlmes |
* enter into, transactrons w1th afﬁhates or
* enter into sale leaseback transactions.
In addition, under our bank crecht facility and the_agreementslreléted to ‘certain of our compression
equipment lease obligations that we entered into in 2000, we have granted the lenders a security interest in

our inventory, equipment and certain of our other property and the property of our domestic subsidiaries
and pledged 66% of the equity interest in certain of our foreign subsidiaries. : :

Our bank credit facility also prohibits us (without the lenders’ pnor approVal) from declaring ‘or
paying any dividend (other than dividends payable solely in our common stock or. in options, warrants or
nghts to purchase such common stock) on, or making similar payments with respect to, our capital stock..

Our bank credit facility and other financial obhgatlons and the agreements related to our compressron
equipment lease obligations require us to maintain financial ratios and tests, which may require that we
take action to reduce our debt or act in a manner contrary to our business. objectives. Adverse conditions
in the oil and gas business or in- the United States or global economy or other events related to our
business may affect our ability to meet those financial ratios and tests. ‘A breach of any of these covenants
or- failure to maintain such financial ratios would result in an event of default under our bank credit -
facility, the agreements related to our compression equipment lease obligations and the agreements relating
to our other financial obligations. If such an event of default occurs, the lenders could elect to declare all-.
amounts outstanding thereunder, together with accrued interest, to be immediately due and payable.
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We have significant leverage relative to-our total capztaltzatton, which could result in a further
downgrade .in our credit - ratmg if we do.not reduce our leverage.’

As of March 5, 2004, our credit ratlngs as asmgned by Moody s and Standard & Poor’s were:

- Standard
) ) _ L ‘ ) Moody’s & Poor’s
Outlook | , - , Stable  Negative
Senior implied rating o B! BB— ‘
Bank credit facility due December 2006 .......................... Ba3 —
4.75% convertible senior notes due 2008 ........ ... ... .. .. ..l B3 —
4.75% convertible senior notes due 2014 ............... e ' B3 B
8.625% senior notes due 2010 . ........ .. ... B3 B
2001A equipment lease notes, interest at 8.5%, due September 2008 . . B2 —
2001B equipment lease notes, interest at 8.8%, due September 2011. .. B2 —
Zero coupon subordinated notes, interest at 11%, due March 31, 2007 Caal B—
7.25% convertible subordinated notes due 2029%............ ... ... .. Caal —
Senior SECUIEd .. oo e e — B+
Senior unsecured . . . ... e = B

* Rating is on the Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible Preferred Sedun’tit—:s issued by Hanover
Compressor Capital Trust, our wholly-owned subsidiary. (See discussion of the impact of FIN 46 in.
“— New Accounting Pronouncements.”

We do not have any credit rating downgrade provisions in our debt agreements or the agreements
related to our compression equipment lease obligations that would accelerate their maturity dates.
However, a downgrade in our credit rating could matenally and adversely affect our ability to renew
existing, or obtain access to new, credit facilities in the future and could increase the cost of such facilities.
Should this occur, we might seek alternative sources of funding. In addition, our significant leverage puts
us at greater risk of default under one or more of our existing debt agreements if we experience an adverse
change to our financial condition or results of operations. Our ability to reduce our leverage depends upon
market and economic conditions, as well as our ability to execute liquidity-enhancing transactions such as
sales of non-core assets or our equity securities.

We are still in the process of improving our infrastructure capabilities, including our internal controls
and procedures, which were stramed by our rapzd growth, to reduce the risk of future accounting and
ﬁnanc:al reporting problems

We experienced rapid growth from 1998 through 2001 primarily ‘as a result of acquisitions,
particularly during 2000 and 2001, during which period our total assets increased from approximately
$753 million as of December 31, 1999 to approximately $2.3 billion as of December 31, 2001. Our growth
exceeded our infrastructuré capabilities and strained our internal control environment. During 2002, we
announced a series of restatements of transactions that occurred in 1999, 2000 and 2001. These
restatements of our financial statements ultimately reduced our initially reported pre-tax income by
$3.1 million, or 4.9%, for'the year ended December 31, 1999, by $14.5 million, or 15.5%, for the year -
ended December 31, 2000, and by $0.4 million, or 0. 3%, for the year ended December 31, 2001, although
certain restatements resulted in a larger percentage adJustment on a quarterly ba51s

During 2002 a number of company executives involved directly and 1nd1rectly with the transactions
underlying the restatements resigned, including our former Chief Executive Officer; Chief Financial Officer
and Vice Chairman of our board of directors, Chief Operating Officer and the head of our international
operations. During. and after 2002, we hired and appointed a new Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, hired and appointed-our first General Counsel, and hired a new Controller and managers
of Human Resources, Financial Reporting and Policy Administration. During 2002, we added three
independent directors to our board of directors and elected an independent Chairman of the Board from
among the three new directors. In addition, on February 4, 2004 we added two new independent directors
to our board of directors.
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Under the direction of our board of-directors and new management, we have been reviewing and.
continue to review our internal controls-and procedures for financial reporting and have substantially
enhanced certain of our controls and _procedures. We have begun to implement a new enterprise resource
planning system 10 better mtegrate our accountmg functlons ‘particularly to better ‘integrate acqulred
companies. We have made personnel changes and hired addmonal quahﬁed staff in the legal, accounting, ‘
finance and human resource areas and are utilizing third parties to assist w1th certam aspects of our
integration. We have hired a third party to- perform 1nterna1 audit functrons for us and’ anticipate hrrrng
infernal personnel to perform this function. Our new. management has also adopted pohcles and )
procedures mcludmg dlssemmatmg a new code of conduct apphcable to all employees to better assure
compliance wrth apphcable laws regula‘uons and ethrcal standards o

Although we have had certain financial reporting probleéms’in recent’ months that requrred us, to
amend our Form'10-Q for the third quarter.of 2003, adjust-dur income tax provision for the fourth quarter
from what we had previously announced-and delay ‘the filing of ‘our Form 10-K for 2003, we do not believe
these problems resulted from any material -deficiency int our-internal-centrols and procedures or financial
reporting process. However, we are contintiing to implement improvements to-our internal controls and
procedures. Full implementation of these improvements will be' accomplished over a period of ‘time and,
unless and until these efforts are successfully completed, we could experience futire-accounting ‘and
financial reporting problems. Accounting-and financial-réporting-problems could result in, among other
things; new securities litigation claims being brought against -us, future investigations of us by the SEC and
possible fines and penalties, including those résulting from' a violation of the-cease and desist order we
entered into with the SEC in December 2003, and a'loss of investor confidence which' could adversely
affect the trading prices of our debt and’equity securities and adversely affect our ability to access sources*
of necessary capital.- '

Unforeseen dtﬁ’zculttes wzth the implementation of our enterprzse resource planning system could
adversely aﬁ"ect our internal controls and our business. ) .

We have contracted with Oracle Corporatlon to assrst us with the desrgn and 1mp1ementat10n of a

new enterprise resource planning systenr that will support our human resources, accounting, estimating, .
-financial, fleet and job management and_customer systems. We are currently. implementing this system. -
The efficient execution of our business is dependent upon the proper fuactioning of our internal systems.
Any significant failure or malfunction 6f ouf enterprise resource plannlng system may result in disruptions
of our operations. Qur results of operations could bé adversely affected: if we encounter unforeseen
problems with respect to the 1mplementatron or operatron of this system.

We requtre a substanttal amount of capztal to expand our compressor rental ﬂeet and our complementaty

businesses.

We invested $142.5 million in property plant and equipment during: the year ended December 31,
2003, primarily for international rental projects and maintenance capital. During 2004 we plan to spend
approximately $100 to $150 million on continued expansion and maintenance of our rental fleet and other
businesses 'including'$50 t6°$60 million on equipment maintenance capital. The amount of these ‘
expendrtures may vary dependrng on conditions: in the naturalg gas mdustry and the timing ‘and extenit of
any srgmﬁcant acqu1s1t1ons we may" make. Lol RER ‘

Hlstoncally, we have funded our capltal expendrtures through mternally generated funds sale
ledseback transactrons and debt and equity ﬁnancmg Whrle we believe that cash flow from our operations
and borrowings under our existing $350 ‘million bank credit facrhty will provide us with sufficient cash to
fund our planned 2004 capital expendrtures, we cafinot assure you that these sources will be sufficient. As
of December 31, 2003, we had approximately $223 million of credit capacity remaining (after giving effect
to the covenant limitations in our.-bank credit facility) under our.bank-credit facility (4.2% weighted
average effective interest rate at December 31, 2003). Failure to. generate sufficient cash flow, together
with the absence of alternative sources of capital, could have a material.adverse effect on our busrness
consolidated financial condition, results of operations,or: cash flows. .
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Our ability to substitute compressor equipment under our compressor equipment leases is limited and
there are risks associated with reaching that limit prior to the expiration of the lease term.

We are the lessee in four transactions involving the sale of compression équipment by us to special
purpose entities, which in turn lease the equipment back to us. We are entitled under the compression
equipment operating lease agreements to substitute equipment that we own for equipment owned by the
special purpose entities, provided that the value of the equipment that we are substituting is equal to or
greater than the value of the equipment that is being substituted. We generally substitute equipment when
one of our lease customers exercises a contractual right or otherwise desires to buy the leased equipment
or when fleet equipment owned by the special purpose entities becomes obsolete or is selected by us for
transfer to international projects. Each lease agreement limits the aggregate amount of replacement
equipment that may be substituted to, among other restrictions, a percentage of the termination value
under each lease. The termination value is equal to (1) the aggregate amount of outstanding principal of
the corresponding notes issued by the special purpose entity, plus accrued and unpaid interest and (2) the
aggregate amount of equity investor contributions to the special purpose entity, plus all accrued amounts
due on account of the investor yield and any other amounts owed to such investors in the special purpose
entity or to the holders of the notes issued by the special purpose entity or their agents. In the following
table, termination. value does not include amounts in excess of the aggregate outstanding principal amount -
of notes and the aggregate outstanding amount of the equity investor contributions, as such amounts are
periodically paid as supplemental rent as required by our compression equipment operating leases. The
aggregate amount of replacement equipment substituted (in dollars and percentage of termination value),.
the termination value and the substitution percentage limitation relating to each of our compression

equipment operating-leases as of December 31, 2003 are as follows:

Substitution
Limitation as

Value of Percentage of Percentage of Lease
Substituted Termination ~ Termination ‘Termination Termination
Lease Equipment Value(1) Value(1) Value Date
(dollars in millions) )
March and August 2000 ...... $ 26.1 13.1% $ 2000 25% March 2005
October 2000................ ‘ 24.0 13.9% S 1726 25% October 2005
August 2001 ................ 27.3 8.8% 309.3 25% -September 2008
August 20001 ... Lo 25.2 9.8%: 257.7 25% September 2011
Total............... e $1026 $939.6 : S

(1) Termination value assumes all accrued rents paid before termination.

In the event we reach the substitution limitation prior to a lease termination date, we will not be able
to effect any additional substitutions with respect to such lease. This inability to substitute could have a
material adverse effect on our business, consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

A prolonged, substantial reduction in oil or gas prices, or prolonged instability in domestzc or global
energy markets, could adversely affect our busmess

Our operations depend upon the levels of actmty in natural gas development, production, processmg
and transportation. In recent years, -oil and .gas prices and the level of drilling and exploration activity have
been extremely volatile. For example, oil and gas exploration and development activity and the number of
well completions typically decline when there is a significant reduction in oil and.gas prices or significant
instability in energy markets. As a result, the' demand for our gas compression and oil and gas production
equipment would be adversely affected. Any future significant, prolonged decline in oil and gas prices
could have a material adverse effect on our busmess conisolidated financial condition, results of operatlons
and cash flows.

Erosion of the financial condition of our customers can.also adversely affect our business. During
times when the oil or natural gas market weakens, the likelihood of the erosion of the financial condition
of these customers increases. If and to the extent the financial condition of ‘our customers declines, our
customers could seek to preserve capital by canceling or delaying scheduled maintenance of their existing -
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gas compression and oil and gas production equipment and determining not to purchase new gas
compression and oil and gas production equipment. In addition, upon the financial failure of a customer,
we could experience a loss associated w1th the unsecured portion of any of our outstanding accounts
receivable. -

Recently, due in part to a deterioration in market conditions, we have experienced a decline in
revenues and proﬁts Our business recorded a $208.3 million net loss for the year ended December 31,
2003 and a $116.1 million net loss for the year ended December 31, 2002. Our results for the years ended,
December 31, 2003 and 2002 have been affected by ar increase in selling, general and administrative
expenses, deprecmtron expense, foreign currency translation expense, interest expense, goodwill impair-
ments, asset impairments, write-downs of discontinued operations, the provision for the cost of the
litigation settlement and the cumulative. effect of an accounting change. If market conditions were to
deteriorate, there could be a material decline i in our business, consolidated financial condmon results of
operations and cash flows.

There are many risks associated with conducting operations in international markets.

We operate in many different geographic markets, some of which are outside.the United States.
Changes in local economic, or political conditions, particularly in Latin America or Canada, could have a
material adverse effect on our businéss, consolidated financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows. Additional risks inherent in our international business act1v1t1es include the following:

« difficulties in rnanagmg international operatlonS'

 unexpected changes i 1n regulatory requirements; v _

+ tariffs and other trade barners that may restrlct our abrhty to enter into new markets
» potentially adverse tax consequences, ' '

+ expropriation of property or restrictioné on reﬁatriation of earnings;

+ difficulties in establishing new 1nternat10nal offices and nsks 1nherent in estabhshmg new
relatlonshlps in foreign countries;

« the burden of complying with forelgn laws; and

+ fluctuations in currency exchange rates and the value of the U.S. dollar, particilarly with respect to
our operations in Argentma and Venezuela. ’

In addmon, our future plans involve expanding our business in international markets where we
currently do not conduct business. Our decentralized management structure and the risks inherent in
establishing new business ventures, especially in international markets where local customs, laws and
business procedures present special challenges, may affect our ability to be successful in these ventures .or
avoid losses which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.

Some of the 1ntemat10nal markets in Wthh we operate or plan to operate in the future are pohtlcally
unstable and are subject to occasional civil and community unrest, such as Venezuela and Western Africa.
Riots, strikes, the outbreak of war or terrorist attacks in foreign locations could also adversely affect our
business. We have not obtained insurance against terrorist attacks and, due to its limited availability and
high cost, do not expect to obtain such insurance in the future.

Political conditions and ﬂuctuattons in currency exchange rates in Argentina and Venezuela could
adversely affect our business. :

We have substantial operations in Argentina and Venezuela. As a result, adverse political conditions
and fluctuations in currency. exchange rates in Argentina and Venezuela could materially and adversely
affect our business. : :
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In January 2002, Argentina devalued its peso against the U.S. dollar and imposed significant
restrictions on fund transfers internally and outside. the country. In addition, the Argentine government
enacted regulations to temporarily prohibit .enforcement of contracts with exchange rate-based purchase
price adjustments. Instead, payment under such contracts could either be made at an exchange rate.
negotiated by the parties or, if no such agreement were reached, a preliminary payment could be made
based on a one dollar to one peso equivalent pending a final agreement. The Argentine government also
required the parties to such contracts to renegotiate the price terms within 180 business days of the
devaluation. We have’ renegotiated all of our agreements in Argentina. As a result of these negotlatlons we
received approximately $11.2 million in reimbursements in 2002 and $0.7 million in 2003. For the year °
ended December 31, 2003, our Argentine operations represented approxrmately 5% of our revenie and 9%
of our gross profit. Durmg the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, we recorded an exchange gain of
approximately $0.5 million and an exchange loss of approximately $9.9 ‘million, respectively, for assets
exposed to currency translation in Argentina. The economic situation in Argentlna is subject to change. To
the extent that the situation in Argentina deteriorates, exchange controls continue in place and the value of
the peso against the dollar is reduced further, our results of operations in Argentma could be matenally
and adversely affected which could result in reductions in our net income.

In addltlon during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 we recorded exchange losses of
approximately $2.4 million and $5.8 million, respectwely, for assets exposed to currency translation in’
Venezuela and recorded translation losses of approx1mately $0.6 million and $1.1 million, respectively, for
all other countries. For the year ended December 31, 2003, our Venezueldn operations represented
approximately 11% of our revenue and 18% of our gross profit. At December 31,.2003, we had
approximately $23.0 million in accounts receivable related to our Venezuelan operations.

In December 2002, opponents of Venezuelan President Hugo Chdvez initiated a country-wide strike
by workers of the national oil company in Venezuela. This strike, a two-month walkout, had a significant
negative impact on Venezuela’s economy and temporarily shut down a substantial portion of Venezuela’s
oil industry. As a result of the strike, Venezuela’s oil production dropped substantially. In addition,
exchange controls have been put in place which put limitations on the amount of Venezuelan currency
that can be exchanged for foreign currency by businesses operating inside Venezuela. In May 2003, after
six months of negotiation, the Organization of the American States brokered an, agreement between. the
Venezuelan government and its opponents. Although the accord does offer the prospect of stabilizing .
Venezuela’s economy, if another national strike is staged, exchange controls réemain in place, or economic
and political conditions in Venezuela continue to deteriorate, our results of operations in Venezuela could
be materially and adversely affected, which could result in reductions in our net income. As a result of the
disruption in our operations in Venezuela, during the fourth quarter of 2002, our international rental
revenues decteased by approximately $2.7 million. In the year ended December 31, 2003, we recognized
approximately $2.7 million of billings to Venezuelan customers that were not recognized in 2002 due to-:
concerns -about the ultimate receipt of those revenues. In addition, a recent movement to remove President
Chavez has resulted in renewed civil strife in Venezuela. If such strife continues or escalates our results of
operations in Venezuela could be further materially and adversely affected. :

In February 2003, the Venezuelan government fixed the exchange rate to 1,600 bolivars for each
U.S..dollar. In February 2004, the government devalued the currency by approximately 17%. The-impact
of the devaluation on our results of operations will depend upon the amount of our assets (primarily .
working capital) exposed to currency fluctuation in Venezuela in future periods. As of December 31, 2003,
we had approximately $6.0 million in net assets exposed to currency fluctuation in Venezuela. Based on.
these assets, a 10% change in exchange rates would result in a $0.5 million gain or loss in Venezuela.

Many of our compressor leases with customers have short initial terms, and we cannot be sure that the
leases for these rental compressors will be renewed after the end of the initial lease term.

The length of our-compressor leases with customers varies based on operating conditions and customer
needs. In most cases, under currently prevailing lease rates, the initial lease terms are not long enough to
enable us to fully recoup the average cost of acquiring or fabricating the equipment. We cannot be sure that
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a substantial number of .our lessees will continue to rehew-their leases or that we.will be able to re-lease the

equipment to new cuistomers or that any renewals or.re-leases will be at comparable lease rates. The inability
to renew or re-lease a substantial portion of our compressor rental fleet would have a material adverse effect

upon. our busmess consohdated ﬁnancral condltron results of operatlons and cash ﬂows

We operate in a highly competitive industr.y - ;‘.A ‘,”‘: e e
We expenence competmon from compames that may be able to adapt moré qu1ckly to technologlcal

and other changes within our industry and throughout the economy as a whole -more readrly take " .
advantage of acqu1s1t1ons and other opportunltles and adopt more aggresswe prrcmg pollcres We alse may
not be able to take advantage of certain” opportunltles or ‘make certam investments ‘because of olir
significant leverage and ‘the restrictive covenants in our bank credit’ fac111ty, the agreements related to our’
compression equ1pment lease obhgatlons and our other obhgatlons In trmes of weak market condrtrons we
may experience reduced proﬁt margins from inéreased pricing pressure Weé may not be able to contmue to
.compete successfully in this market or agarnst such competition.' If we cannot compete successfully, we
may lose' market share and our business,’ consohdated ﬁnanmal condition, results of - operatlons and cash
flows’ eould be matenally adversely aﬁ"ected P P S A R P

Natural gas operations entail inherent risksthat"r‘ndy result in substantial 'liability'm us.-

.-Natural gas operations entail inherent risks, including equipment defects, malfunctions and failures -
and natural disasters, which could result in uncontrollable flows of -gas or well fluids, fires and explosions.
These risks may expose. us, as an equipment operator-of fabricator;:to liability for personal .injury, wrongful
death, property-damage, pollution and other environmental damage. We have obtained insurance against ..;
liability for personal injury, wrongful death and property damage, but we canhot be sure that: the insurance
will be adequate to cover the liability we may incur:“Insurance premium:pricing is highly volatile and we.’
cannot be sure that-we will be-able to obtain insurance in-the future at a reasonable ‘cost or at all:,Our ...
business, consolidated financial condition, results'of operations and cash.flows could be materially adversely
affected if we incur. substantlal llablhty and the damages are not eovered by insurance or are in excess of
pohcy hmrts

o 5w

~ Our ablltty to manage our busmess eﬁ"ecttvely w:ll be weakened lf we lose key personnel

We depend on the eontlnulng eﬁ”orts of our executwe otﬁcers and sen1or management The departure
of any of our key personnel could have a matenal adverse ‘effect on our business, operatrng results and
financial condmon We do not mamtam key man life insurance coverage with respect to our executlve
officers or Key management personnel In addition, we believe that OUr SuCCess depends on our ablhty to
attract and refain qualified employees. There is 51gn1ﬁcant demand in our 1ndustry for quahﬁed engmeers
and mechanics to manufacture and repair natural gas compresswn equipment. If we fail to retain our
skilled personnel and to recmlt other skilled personnel, we eould be unable to compete el’fectlvely '

There is a rtsk that the Internal Revenue Service or another taxtng authortty would not agree with our
treatment of sale leaseback transacttons, whzch could i zncrease our taxes.. " -

- We: treat our sale leaseback transactrons as ﬁnancmg arrangements for income tax and’ certam other
tax purposes. A tax treatment inconsistent with our ‘position could-have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations.and liquidity.. We intend to continue to treat the leases as a
secured. financing arrangement.for income and- certain other tax purposes, which is consistent with the way
the leases are intended to bé treated for bankruptcy law and state law purposes.”If-the Internal Revenue
Service or another taxing authority were to successfully contend that the leases or any of our other -
operating leases should ‘be treated as a sale leaseback of equipment rather than a secured financing
arrangement, we may owe significant additional taxes. This result may affeet our'ability to make payments
on our debt or our compressron equipment:lease: obhgatrons R C A
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Our business is subject to a variety of governmentul regulations velating to the envtronment health and
safety. :

Our business is subject to a variety of federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations relating to
the environment, health and safety. These laws and regulations are complex, change frequently and have
tended to become more stringent over time. Failure to.comply with these laws and regulations may result
in a variety of administrative, civil and criminal enforcement measures, including assessment of monetary
penalties, imposition, of remedial requirements and issuance of injunctions as to future compliance. From
time to time as part of the regular overall evaluation of our operations, 1nclud1ng newly acquired
operations, we apply for or amend facility permits with respect to stormwater or wastewater discharges,
waste handhng, Or air emissions relatrng to manufacturmg activities or equlpment operations, which
subjects us to new or revised permrttrng conditions that may be onerous or costly to comply with. In
addition, certam of our customer service arrangements may require us to operate, on behalf of a specific -
customer, petroleum storage units such as underground tanks or pipelines and other regulated units, all of
Wthh may 1mpose additional complrance and permitting obligations.

As one of the largest natural gas compression companies. in the-United States, we conduct operations
at numerous facilities in a wide variety of locations across the country. Our operations at many of these
facilities require federal, state or local environmental permits or other authorizations. For example, natural
gas compressors at many of our customer facilities require. individual air permits or general authorizations
to operate under various air regulatory programs established by rule or regulation. These permits and
~authorizations frequently contain numerous:compliance requirements, including monitoring and reporting
- obligations and operational restrictions, such as emission limits. Given the large number of facilities in

which we operate, and the numerous environmental permits and other authorizations applicable to our
operations, we occasionally identify or are notified of technical violations of certain requirements existing in
_various permits and other authorizations, and-it is likely that similar technical violations. will occur in the
future. Occasionally, wé have been assessed penalties for-our non-compliance, and we could be subject to
such penalties in the future. While such penaltles generally do not have a material financial impact on our
business' or operations, it is possible future violations could result in substantial penalties.

We are evaluating the impact on our operations of recently promulgated air emission regulations
under the Clean Air Act relating to non-road engines. We intend to implement any equipment upgrades or
permit modifications required by these air emission regulations according to the required schedule of
compliance. We do not anticipate, however, that-any changes or updates in response to such regulations, or
any other antrclpa’ted permit modifications (for stormwater, other air emission sources or otherwise) or
anticipated ongoing regulatory compliance obligations will have a material adverse effect on our operations
either as a result of anly enforcement measures or through increased capital costs. Based on our expenence
to date, we beheve that the future cost of compllance with existing laws and regulations will not have a
material adverse effect on our busmess consolidated financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows. However future events, “such as comphance with more stringent laws, regulations or permit
conditions, a major expansion of our operatrons into more heavily regulated activities, more vigorous
enforcement policies by regulatory agencies, or stricter or different interpretations of exrstrng laws and
regulatwns could requlre us to make material expendrtures

We have conducted prehmmary environmental site assessments with respect to some, but not all,
properties currently owned or leased by us, usually in a pre-acquisition context. Some of these assessments
have revealed that soils and/or groundwater at some of our facilities are contaminated with hydrocarbons,
heavy metals.:and various other regulated substances. With respect to newly acquired properties, we do not
believe that our operations caused or contributed to any such contamination in any material respect and
we are not currently under:any governmental orders or directives requiring us to undertake any remedial
activity at such properties. 'We typically will develop a baseline of site conditions so we can establish -
conditions. at the outset of our operations .on such property. However, the handling of petroleum products
and other regulated substances is a normal part of our operations and we have experienced occasional-
minor spills or incidental-leakage in connection with our operations. Certain properties previously owned or
leased by us were determined. to be affected by soil contamination. Where such contamination was
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"identiﬁ'ed and determined by us to-be our responsibility, we.conducted remedial activities at these
'prevrously -held properties to the extent we believed necessary to meet regulatory standards and either sold
,the owned propertres to third parties or returned the leased properties to the lessors. Based on our ‘
experlence to’ date and the relatively minor :nature of the types of contamination we have identified to date,
we' believe that the future cost of necessary investigation or remedidtion on-our current properties will not
- have a matenal adverse effect on our business, consol1dated financial condition, results of operations, and -
cash ﬁows “We-cannot be certain, however ‘that clean-up standards will not become more stringent, or that
wé will not be requ1red to undertake any remedlal act1v1t1es 1nvolv1ng any material costs on any of these
current or. prevrously held propertiés in the future or that the drscovery of unknown contamination or third-
party claims made with respect to current or prevrously -owned or leased propertres wrll not result in
matenal costs :

' Our stock: price may experience volatility..

Our stock price, like that of other companles can be volatilé, Some of the factors that could aﬁ'ect
-our stock price are quarterly increases or decreases in revenue Or eammgs changes in revenue or earnlngs
~ estimates by. the investment community, and speculatlon in thé | press orinvestment communrty about our
financial condition or restilts of operations. General market conditions and domestic or international
‘economic factors unrelated to our performance may : also affect our stock pnce For these reasons, investors
should not rely on recent trends to predict future stock prices or. ﬁnanc1al results. In addition, following’
periods of volatility in a compary’s securities, securities class actron lrtlgatron against a company is
sometimes instituted and has been prev1ously brought against us. This type of litigation could result in
liability, substantlal costs and the d1vers1on of management time and resources

New “Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 143 “Accountmg for Obhgatlons Assocrated wrth the
Retlrement of Long L1ved Assets” (“SFAS 143”) SFAS 143 estabhshes the accounting standards for the
SFAS 143 bécamé eﬁ’ectlve for us on January l 2003 The adoptlon of- this new standard’ did not have a
material effect on our consolrdated results of operat1ons cash ﬁows or ﬁnanc1al position.

"In April 2002, the FASB 1ssued SFAS 145, “Resc1ss10n of FASB Statements 4, 44, and 64;
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and’ Techmcal Corrections” (“SFAS 145”). SFAS. 145 updates,
clarifies and simplifies existing accounting pronouncements. Provisions of SFAS 145 related to the
‘rescission of. Statement 4 became effective for us-on January I)-2003. The provisions of SFAS 145 related
to SFAS 13 are effective for transactions 'occurring after May 15, 2002 We have adopted-the provisions of
.the new standard, which’ had no matenal eﬁect on -our consohdated results -of operatlons, cash flows or
,ﬁnancral posmon B T TR Lo

In June 2002 the. FASB 1ssued SFAS 146 “Accountlng for Costs Assocrated wrth Ex1t or, Dlsposal
Activities” (“SFAS 146”) which addresses accountmg for restructuring ‘and similar costs. SFAS 146
supersedes’ previous accounting guidance,-principally Emerging. Issues. Task ‘Force Issue (“EITF”)

No. 94-3."We adopted the provision of SFAS"146 for restructuring activities initiated after December 31,
'2002, which had no material effect on-our financial. statements. SFAS 146 :requires thai the Hability for
costs associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. Under EITF
No. 94-3, a liability for an exit cost was recognized at the date of the commitment to an exit splan,

SFAS 146 also establishes that the liability should initially be measured and recorded at fair value .
Accordingly, SFAS 146 may aﬁ'ect the t1m1ng of recogmzmg future restructurlng costs as well as the
amounts recogmzed

In' November 2002, the EITF reached a ¢onsensus on Issue No. 00 21, “Revenue Arrangements with
Multiple Deliverables” (“EITF 00-21""). EITF 00-21 addresses certain aspects.of the accounting by a
vendor for arrangements under which the vendor. will perform multiple revenue generating activities.
EITF 00-21 became effective for interim periodsibeginning after June 15,.2003. We have adopted the: . -
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provisions of EITF 00-21,-which d1d not have a material effect-on our consohdated results of operat1ons "
cash flows or ﬁnancral position.:- . IR HE R L e

In November 2002 ‘the FASB issued Interpretat1on No 45 “Guarantor s Accountmg and D1sclosure
'Requ1rements for Guarantees, Includmg Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others ” which clanﬁes
drsclosure and recogmtlon/ measurement requirements related to certain’ guarantees. The d1sclosure .
requrrements are effective for ﬁnanc1al statements issued after December 15, 2002 and the recogm- ’ ,
tion/ measurement requrrements are effective on a prospective basis for. _guarantees 1ssued or modified after
December 31, 2002 The adoptron of the provisions of this’ 1nterpretat1on did not have a materral effect on
our consohdated results of operat10ns cash flows or ﬁnancral posmon '

In January 2003 the FASB 1ss:ued FIN 46. The primary objectives of FIN 46 are to provrde gurdance
on the identification of entities for which control is achieved by means other than through voting rights
and the determination of when and }Which business enterprise should consolidate the VIE in its financial
~ statements. FIN 46 applies to an entity in which either (1), the equity investors' (if any) do not have a
controlhng ﬁnanc1al interest or (2) the equlty lnvestment at risk is insufficient to finance that entrty s
activitiés w1thout receiving addltronal subordlnated ﬁnancml support from other partres In addition, ,

FIN 46 requ1res that both the prlmary beneﬁ01ary and all other enterpnses with a significant Vanable
interest in a VIE make addltlonal disclosures. As revised, FIN 46 was effective lmmedrately for VIEs -
created after January 31, 2003. Forlspecral purposes entities created prior to February 1,2003, FIN 46 is”
effective at the ﬁrst interim or annual reporting period endmg after Décember 15, 2003, or December 31,
2003 for us. For entities, other than special purpose entities, created prior to February 1, 2003, FIN 46 is
effective for us as of March 31, 2004 In addition, FIN 46 allows companies to elect to adopt early the =
provisions of FIN 46 for some, but not all, of the variable interest entities they own. Because we are still -
evaluating whether or not we will make any other potential changes in connection with our adoptron of
FIN 46, we have not adopted the prov1srons of FIN 46 other than discussed below.

Prior to July 1, 2003 we enter d into five lease transact1ons that were recorded as a sale and
leaseback of the compression equrpment and were treated as operatmg leases for financial reportmg
purposes. On July 1, 2003, we adopted the pr0V1s1ons ‘of FIN 46 as. they relate to the special purposé
entities that lease compression equrpment to' us: As a result of the. adoptlon we added approximately
$1,089 million in compressor equipment assets, '$192.3 rillion of accumulated depreciation (1nclud1ng
approximately :$58.6 million.of accumulated. depreciation related to periods before the sale and leaseback
of the equipment),-$1,105.0 million} in.debt and $34.6 millivn in minority interest obligations to our
balance sheet, and we reversed $108.8 million of deferred gains that were recorded on our balance sheet. as
a result of the sale leaseback transahtions. On July 1, 2003, we recorded, a $133.7 million charge
($86.9 million net of tax) to: recordl the cumulative effect from the adoption.of FIN 46 related to prior'
period depreciation of the compression equipment assets. Additionally, we estimate that we will record
approximately $17 million per year {m additional depreciation expense on our leased compression
equ1pment as a result of the inclusion of the compression equipment on our balance sheet and will also
record the payments made under orlr compressron equlpment leaSes as 1nterest expense

In December 2003, we exerc1se’d our purchase option under the 1999 compressron equrpment

operating lease. As of December 31‘ 2003, the remaining compression assets owned by the entities. that
lease equipment.to us but are now lncluded in property, plant-and equipment in’our consolidated finantial
statements had a net book value of »approx1mately $804.0 mllllon 1nclud1ng 1mprovements made to. these
assets afterthe. sale leaseback transactrons : - ,

We have a consohdated subs1d1ary trust that has mandatonly redeemable convertrble preferred
securities outstanding that have a l1qu1dat1on value of $86.3 million. These securmes were previously
reported on our balance sheet as mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred securities. Because we only’
have a limited ability to.make decisions about its activities-and we ‘are not the primary beneficiary of the
trust,.the trust is a VIE.under. FIN 46. As such,;the mandatorily redeemablé convertible preferred - . :
securities issued by the trust are no longer reportéd on our balance sheet: Instead, we now report our -
subordinated notes-payable to; the trust a§ a.debt.,These intercompany notes have previously been :
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eliminated in our consolidated financial statements: The changes related to our mandatorily redeemable
convertible preferred securities for our balance sheet are reclassifications.and had no impact on our
consohdated results of operat1ons or. cash flow.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 149”). SFAS 149 amends and clarifies financial accounting
and reporting for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other
contracts and for hedging activities under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities.”” This Statement is. effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003
and for hedging relationships designated after. June 30, 2003. All provisions of SFAS 149 will be applied
prospectively. We have adopted the provisions SFAS-149, which did not have a material effect on our
consolidated results of operations, cash flow or financial position.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics: of both. Liabilities dnd Equity” (“SFAS 150”)."SFAS 150 changes the accounting for
certain financial instruments that, under previous guidance,.issuers could account for as equity. SFAS 150
requires that those instruments be classified as liabilities in statements of financial ;position. SFAS 150 is -
effective for financial instruments entered.into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective
for interim penods begmmng after June 15, 2004. On November 7, the FASB issued Staff Position 150-4
that delayed the effective date for certain types of financial instruments. We do not belieye the adoption of
the guidance ‘currently provrded in SFAS 150 will have a ‘material effect on our consolidated results of
operations or cash flow. However we may be required to classrfy as debt approxrmately $28.6 million in
sale leaseback obligations that : are currently reported as “Minority interest” on our condensed consolidated
balance sheet pursuant to FIN 46 See “— Leasing Transactions and Accountmg Change for FIN 46 ”

These mlnorrty interest obhgatrons represent the equlty of the entities that lease compression i
equ1pment to us, In accordance with, the provisions of our compression equipment lease obligations, the
equity certificate holders are. entitled to quarterly or semi-annual yield payments on the aggregate
outstanding .equity certificates. As of December 31, 2003, the yield rates on the outstanding equity.
certificates ranged from 4.4% to 9.5%. Equity certificate holders may receive a return of capital payment |
upon lease termination or our purchase of the leased compression equipment after full payment of all debt
obligations of the entities that lease compression equipment to us. At December 31, 2003, the carrying
value of the mrnonty interest obligations approximated the faif market value of assets that would be '
required to be transferred to redeem the mmonty interest obhgatrons

Item 7A." Quantttattve and Qualttatlve Dtsclosures About Market Rtsk

We are exposed to 1nterest rate and forelgn currency r1sk Hanover and its subsidiaries penodrcally
enter into interest rate swaps to manage our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates. At December 31,
2003, the fair market value of our interest rate swaps, excluding .the portion attributable to and included, in
accrued interest, was a liability of approximately $15.1 million, of which $11.7 million was recorded in
accrued liabilities and $3.4 million in other long-term liabilities. At December 31, 2003 we were party to
three interest rate swaps to convert variable lease payments under certain lease arrangements to fixed
payments as follows (dollars in thousands):

Fair Value of
the

Swap at
Company Pays Notional December 31,
Maturity Date : Fixed Rate . Amount ) 2003
3/11/2005 _ 5.2550% ~ $100,000 $(4,435)
3/11/2005 Lo 5.2725% $100,000  $(4,456)
10/26/2005 : '_ S 53975% - - $100000  ©© $(6,191)

At December 31, 2003 .we were exposed to variable: rental rates Wthh fluctuate- with market 1nterest'
rate, on-a portion of the equipment leases we entered into in 2001 and 2000. Assuming a hypothetical 10%.
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increase in the variable rates from those in effect at year end, the increase in annual interest expense on
the equipment lease notes would be [approximately $0.5 million. :

We are also exposed to interest|rate risk on borrowings under our floating rate bank credit facility. At
December 31, 2003, $27.0 million was outstanding bearing interest at a weighted average effective rate of
4.2% per annum. Assuming a hypothetical 10% increase in the weighted average interest rate from those in
effect at December 31, 2003, the increase in annual interest expense for advances under this facility would
be approximately $0.1 million.

We have significant operations 1\hat expose us to currency risk in Argentina and Venezuela. To
mitigate that risk, the majority of our existing contracts provide that we receive payment in or based on
U.S. dollars rather than Argentine pesos and Venezuelan bolivars, thus reducing our exposure to

fluctuations in the their value.

For the year ended December 31, 2003, our Argentine operations represented approximately 5% of our
revenue and 9% of our gross profit. During the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, we recorded an
exchange gain of approximately $O.5} million and an exchange loss of approximately $9.9 million,
respectively for assets exposed to currency translation in Argentina. ~

In addition, during the years en(ded December 31, 2003 and 2002, we recorded exchange losses of
approximately $2.4 million and $5.8 million, respectively, for assets exposed to currency translation in
Venezuela and recorded translation losses of approximately $0.6 million and $1.1 million, respectively, for
all other countries. For the year ended December 31, 2003, our Venezuelan operations represented
approximately 11% of our revenue and 18% of our gross profit. At December 31, 2003, we had '
approximately $23.0 million in accounts receivable related to our Venezuelan operations.

In February 2003, the Venezuelan government fixed the exchange rate to 1,600 bolivars for each
U.S. dollar. In February 2004, the g‘é)vernment devalued the currency by approximately 17%. The impact
of the devaluation on our results will depend upon the amount of our assets (primarily working capital)
exposed to currency fluctuation in Venezuela in future periods. As of December 31, 2003, we had
approximately $6.0 million in net assets exposed to-currency fluctuation in Venezuela. Based on these
assets, a 10% :change in exchange ra\tes would result in a $0.5 million gain or loss in Venezuela.

The economic situation in Argc’ntina and Venezuela is subject to change. To the extent that the
situation deteriorates, exchange controls continue in place and the value of the peso and bolivar against the
dollar is reduced. further, our results |of operations in Argentina and Venezuela could be materially and
adversely affected which could result in reductions in our net income. '

During 2003, we entered into forward exchange contracts with a notional value of $10.0 million to
mitigate the risk of changes in exchz}mge rates between the Euro and the U.S. dollar, These contracts
mature during 2004. . ’

[
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The financial statements and supplementary information specified by this Item are presented following
Item 15 of this report. ‘ '
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Cpntrols and Procedures. The Company’s principal executive officer
and principal financial officer evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures as of December 31, 2003/ (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934). Based on the evaluation, the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer

believe that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that material
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information was accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Company’s
principal executive ofﬁcer and pnnmpal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regardmg
required disclosure.

“(b) Changes in Internal Controls. Under the direction of our President and Chief Executive Officer,
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, and Senior Vice President and General Counsel, we -
continued -the process of reviewing our internal controls and procedures for financial reporting and have
changed or are in'the process of changing some of those controls and procedures, including changes
relating to: information systems (including controls over access to the systems and segregation of duties),

' human resources; internal audit; tax accounting, planning and analysis, reconciliation of intercompany
accounts; approval of capital expenditures; preparation, approval and closing of significant agreements and
transactions; review and quantification of compressor substitutions under compression equipment lease
agreements; integration of acquired businesses and assets (including integration of certain financial and
accountmg systems related. thereto); standardization of internal controls and policies : across the
organization; and the development, implementation and enhancements of corporate governance policies and
procedures and performance management systems. As part of our review of our internal controls and
procedures for financial reporting, we have made personnel changes and hired addltronal qualified staff in
the legal, accounting/finance and human resource areas and are utilizing third parties to assist with some
of our integration and internal audit.functions. This review is ongoing, and the review to date constitutes
the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) of the Securities- Exchange Act of 1934.

PART. I

Item 10. . Directors and Executive Officers of thelRegistrant :

The information included or to be included in the Company s deﬁmtlve proxy statement for its 2004
Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions “Nominees for Election as Directors,” and
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Comphance is incorporated by reference herein. Pleasé
- see Item 1 of this Form 10-K for identification of our executive officers.

Hanover has adopted “P.R.I.D.E. in Performance — Hanover’s Guide to Ethical Business Conduct”
(“Ethics Guide”) that applies to our directors, officers and employees, including our principal executive
officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer. Our Ethics Guide is posted on the
Company’s website at http://www.hanover-co.com. Changes to and waivers granted with respect to our
Ethics Guide, if any, relating to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal
accounting officer, and other executive ‘officers and directors of Hanover that we are required to disclose
pursuant to applicable rules and regulations of- the Securities and Exchange Commission will also be
posted on our website. Upon request the Company will provide a copy of our Ethics Guide without charge.
Such request can be made in writing to the Corporate Secretary at Hanover Compressor Company, 12001
North Houston Rosslyn Road, Houston, Texas 77086.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information included or to be included under the:caption “Information Regarding Executive:
Compensation” in the Company’s definitive proxy statement for its 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
is incorporated by reference herein. = * '

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneﬁctal Owners and Management and Related Stockholder _
Matters

The information included or to be included under the captions “Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the Company’s
definitive proxy statement for its 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated by reference herein.
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EQUITY CbMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

" The ‘equity compensation plans arfrd agreements discussed in this section are referred to collectively as
the “Equity Compensation Plans.” The table below provides information as of December 31, 2003 with
respect to shares of our common Stock that. may be issued under the following Equity Compensation Plans
of the Company:.1997 Stock Option Plan the 1998 Stock Option Plan, the December 9, 1998 Stock
Option Plan, the 1999.Stock Option Plan the 2001 Equity Incentive Plan and the 2003 Stock Incentive
Plan. The Compensation Committee has authority to make future grants only under the 1997 Stock.
Option Plan, the 2001 Equity Incentive Plan and the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan. .

The table also includes mformatlpn with respect to shares of our common stock subject to outstanding
options that were granted under (1) the following Equity Compensation Plans adopted prior to our initial
public offering in 1997, under which the authority to make additional grants has been terminated: the 1992
Stock Compensation Plan, the 1993 Management Stock Option Plan, the 1995 Employee Stock Option
Plan, the 1995 Management Stock Optron Plan, the 1996 Employee Stock Optron Plan; and (2) Stock
Option Agreements entered into by and between Hanover and the following individuals: Tom P.

McNeil 111, Glenn Wind, and Kurt Wmd The plans listed in (1) above are referred to as the “Pre IPO
Plans.” The agreements hsted in (2) \above are referred to as the “Pre-IPO Agreements.”

P . Weighted- Number of securmes

r average exercise - remaining available for
| Number of ‘securities to be price of * - - future issuance under
| issued upon exercise of outstanding equity compensation plans
l outstanding options, options, warrants (excluding securities
l warrants and rights and rights reflected in column a)
Plan category } (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders(1) ............. .. [ 3,306,592 (4) $11.42 2,485,790
Equity compensation plans not approved o ;
by security holders(2) B 2,589,229 $ 5.93 —(5)
Total........ P S T 5,895,821 $ 901 2,485,790

l
|
|
- I
(1) Composed of the 2003 Stock Incentrve Plan the 2001 Equ1ty Incentlve Plan and the 1997 Stock
Option Plan.

(2) Composed ‘of all of the Equity’ Compensatron Plans except the 2003 Stock [ncentive Plan the 2001
Equity Incentive Plan and the 1997 Stock Option Plan,

(3) The table does not 1nclude 1nf0rmat10n for the Applied Process Solutlons Incorporated . (“APSI”)
1998 Stock Opt1on Plan assumed by Hanover in connection with its acquisition of APSI in May 2000.
As of December 31, 2003, a total of 35, 873 shares of the Common Stock were 1ssuable upon exercise
of outstanding options under the assumed plan The weighted average exercise price of those
outstanding options is $16.65 per share. No additional awards may be granted under such plan

(4). In addition, as of December 31, 12003, there-are 512, 000 shares of restricted stock outstanding granted
under the 2003 Stock Incentive | Incentive Plan.

(5) The Board of Directors termmated any existing authority to make future grants under these plans on
May 15, 2003. 4 g

The Equity Compensation Pla»ns,l that have not been approved by security holders are described below.
The Pre-IPO Plans and the 1997 Stock Option Plan, the 1998 Stock Option Plan, the December 9, 1998
Stock Option Plan, and the 1999 Stock Option Plan have the following material features: (1) awards
under such plans are limited to stock options and may be made, depending on the terms of each plan, to
the Company’s officers, directors, employees advisors and consultants; (2) unless otherwise set forth in
any applicable stock option agreement and depending on the terms of each plan, the stock options vest
over a period of up to five vears; and (3) the term of the stock options granted under the plans may not
exceed 10 years, except for the 1992 Stock Option Plan under which the term of the stock options may
not exceed 15 years. The Pre-IPO Agreements have the following material features: (1) awards under
such agreements are limited to: stock{ options and were. made to the specific person named in the
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agreement; (2) the stock options vest over a period of five years from the date of the agreement; (3) the
term of the stock options granted under the agreements is 10 years; and (4) no addltlonal grants may be

[

made under these agreements. . - . .

Additional information as of December 31, 2003, about the Equity Compensation Plaris ‘that have not
been.approved by stockholders is provided in the following table. e

Number of Shares

Shares Previously  Reserved for Issuance “~Weighted- Shares
o Number of  Issued Pursuant to  Upon the Exercise of  Average Available
Shares ~  Stock Option "Outstanding Stock  Exercise  for Future
Plan or Agreement Name . . Issuable(#) . Exercises(#) . - Options(#) o Price($) 'Grams(#)
1992 Stock Compensation Plan 379,200 257,856 113,760 § 206  *
Incentive Option Plan | 2,703,064 1,283,191 14198727 872297 *
1995 Employee Stock Option Plan 199,694 - 169,347 30,031 $ 475
1995 Management Stock Option Plan 26,332 © 19,588 ‘ 6, 636" $ 3.48-1 *
1996 Employee Stock Option Plan 116,920 Tt 143648 0 69,836 $ 5.70 *
Tom P. McNeil III Stock Option A . .
Agreement 26,332 - 26,332 $ '6.96 *
Glenn Wind and Kurt Wind Stock o e . o oo
Option Agreements 47,400 24,322 23,078 § 0.003 *
1998 Stock Option Plan - - 520,000 . 14173 . 421,047 § 1329  **
December 9, 1998 Stock Option Plan 700,000 309,828 298,370 § 9.75 **
1999 Stock Option Plan - 600,000 23,866 180,267 ' $ 14.51 *x

* The authority to make future grants under these plans was termmated upon our initial public oﬁemng '

in 1997,

**  The Board of Drrectors termmated authorrty to- make future grants under these plans on May 18,
2003. S -

PN

Item 13.  Certain Relatzonsths and Related Transactzons

The mformatron included or to be included under the captron “Certarn Relatronsh1ps and
Transactions” in the Company ] deﬁn1t1ve proxy statement for its 2004 Annual Meetmg of’ Stockholders is
incorporated by reference herein.

Item 14, Prmcxpal Accountmg Fees and Servtces ' ‘ _ . .
The 1nformat10n 1ncluded or to-be 1ncluded under the captron “Pnncrpal Accountmg Fees and
Services” in the Company’s definitive proxy statement for its 2004 Annual Meetrng of Stockholders is

mcorporated by reference herein:
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} PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statlement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) Documents filed as a part of this report.
|

1. Financial Statements. ‘ The following financial statements are filed as a part of this report.

Report of Independent Audito!}rs .............................................. F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheet . | ... ... i - F-2
Consolidated Statement of Operations .. ... e e e e F-3
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (LOSS) .. ...........c.ovoven... F-4
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. ... F-5
Consolidated Statement of Common Stockholders’ Equity ............. ... ... ... F-7
Notes to Consolidated Fmanmal Statements ... e F-8

Selected Quarterly Financial Data (anaudited) . ......... e . F-51

2. Financial Statement S}chedule :

Schedule IT — Valuation and iQualifying ACCOUNTS . . .ottt it ‘S-1

Exhibit
Number

3.1
3.2
33

34
4.1

4.2
4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

|
All other schedules have been omitted because they are not required under the relevant instructions.

, |
3. Exhibits

|
|
I Description

|

Certlﬁcate of Incorporation of the Hanover Compressor Holding Co., as amended, mcorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 t6 Hanover Compressor Company’s (the “Company ’} Current Report on

Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 5, 2001.

Certificate of Amendmentw of Certificate of Incorporation of Hanover Compressor Holding Co., dated
December 8, 1999, mcorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 5, 2001.

Certificate of Amendment, of Certificate of Incorporation of Hanover Compressor Holding Co., dated
July 11, 2000, 1ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Companys Current Report on
Form §- K filed with the SEC on February 5, 2001.

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, dated March 10, 2004.*

Third Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 5, 1995, by and
between the Company, GKH Partners, L.P., GKH Investments, L.P., Astra-Resources, Inc. and
other stockholders of the tCompany party thereto incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement (File No. 333-24953) on Form S-1, as amended.

Form of Warrant Agreement, dated as of August 7, 1995, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.10
to the Company’s Registrjation Statement (File No. 333-24953) on Form S-1, as amended.

Specimen Stock Certiﬁcatje, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.11 to the Company’s Registration
Statement (File No. 333-24953) on Form S-1, as amended.

Form of Hanover Compressor Capital Trust 7':% Convertible Preferred Securities, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.8] to the Company’s Registration Statement (File No. 333-30344) on
Form S-3 as filed with the SEC on February 14, 2000.

Indenture for the Convertlble Junior Subordinated Debentures due 2029, dated as of December 135,
1999, among the Company, as issuer, and Wilmington Trust Company, as trustee, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.6)to the Company’s Registration Statement (File No. 333-30344) on

Form S-3 filed with the SEC on February 14, 2000.
Form of Hanover Compressor Company Convertible Subordinated Junior Debentures due 2029,

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 to the Company’s Registration Statement (File
No. 333-30344) on FormtS 3 as filed with the SEC on February 14, 2000.

Indenture for the 4.75% Convertlble Senior Notes due 2008, dated as of March 15, 2001, between
the Company and Wllmlngton Trust Company, as trustee.*
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Exhibit
Number

4.8
4.9

4.10
4.11

4.12
413

Description

Form of 4.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2008.*
Indenture for the 8. .50% Senior Secured Notes due 2008, dated as of August 30, 2001, among the

"2001A Trust, as issuer, Hanover Compression Limited Partnership and certain subsidiaries, as

guarantors, and Wilmington Trust FSB, as Trustee, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.69 to the

- Company’s Quarterly Report: on-Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001.

Form of -8.50% Senior Secured Notes due 2008.*

Indenture for the 8.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2011, dated as of August 30, 2001, among the
2001B Trust, as issuer, Hanover Compression Limited Partnership and certain subsidiaries, as
guarantors, and Wilmington Trust FSB, as Trustee, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.75 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001.

Form of" 8 75% Senior Secured’ Notes due 2011.*

Indenture for the Zero Coupon Subordinated Notes due March 31, 2007, dated as of May 14, 2003,
between the Company and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to” the- Company’s Registration Statement (File No. 333- 106384) on

- Form S-3, asfiled with the SEC on June 23, 2003.

4.14
4.15

4.16

4.17
4.18

419

4.20

4.21

10.1
10.2

10.3

10.4

Form of Zero Coupon Subordinated Notes due March 31, 2007. *

_Senlor Indenture, dated as of December 15, 2003, among the Company, Subsidiary Guarantors

named therein and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Reglstratlon Statement on Form 8-A, as filed with the SEC on
December 15, 2003.

First Supplemental Indenture to the Senror Indenture dated as of December 15, 2003, relating to the
8.625% Senior Notes due 2010, dated as of December 15, 2003, between the Company and
Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A, as filed with the SEC on December 15, 2003.
Form of 8.625% Senior Notes due 2010.* :

Second Supplemental Indenture to the Senior Indenture dated as of December 15, 2003, relating to
the 4.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014, dated as of December 15, 2003, between the
Company and Wachovia Bank, National "‘Association, as trustee, incorporated by reference to
Exh1b1t 4 4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on December 16,
2003. -

Form of 4.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014 *

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 14, 2003 by and between Schlumberger
Technology Corporation and the’ Company

Lock- -Up, Standstill and Registration nghts Agreement dated as of August 31, 2001, by and among

Schlumberger Technology Corporation, Camco International, Inc., Sehlumberger Oilfield Holdings

Ltd., Schlumberger Surenco S.A., Operational.Services, Inc. and the Company, incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 99.5 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
September 14, 2001.

Strpulatlon and Agreement of Settlement, dated as of October 23, 2003 1ncorp0rated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2003.

PIGAP Settlement Agreement, dated as of May 14, 2003, by and among Schlumberger Technology

Corporation,  Schlumberger Oilfield Limited; Schlumberger Surenco S.A., the Company and
Hanover Compressron Limited Partnership.*

Offset Rights Agreement, dated as of May 14, 2003, by and between Schlumberger Technology
Corporation and the Company.* .

Credit Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2003 among the Company, Hanover Compressron
Limited Partnership, Bank- One, NA .as 'Syndication Agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, as
Administrative Agent, and the several lenders parties thereto, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on December 16,

2003.
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Exhibit
Number

10.5

10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10
10.11
10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16
10.17

10.18

'10.19

t Description

Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2003, among the Company, Hanover
Compression Limited Partnershrp and certain of their subsidiaries in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank,
as Collateral Agent, lncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on December 16, 2003.

Hanover Guarantee, dated‘ as of December 15, 2003, made by the Company in favor of JPMorgan
Chase Bank, as Administrative Agent for the lenders parties to the Credit Agreement dated as of
December 15, 2003.% |

Subsidiaries’ Guarantee, dated. as of December 15, 2003, .in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank as
Administrative Agent for ‘the lenders parties to the Credit Agreement dated as of December 15,
2003.*

Lease, dated as of March 1‘3 2000, between Hanover Equlpment Trust 2000A (the “2000A Trust”)
and Hanover Compressmntlnc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 43 to the Company s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999.
Guarantee, dated as of March 13, 2000, made by the Company, Hanover Compression Inc. and
certain of their Subsidiaries, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999.

Participation Agreement, dated as of March 13, 2000, among Hanover Compressron Inc., Hanover

‘the 2000A Trust and the several banks parties thereto, incorporated by reference to Exhlbrt 10.45 to

the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the.fiscal year ended December 31, 1999.

Security Agreement, dated as of March 13, 2000, made by the 2000A Trust i in favor of The Chase
Manhattan Bank, as agent, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.46 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form' 10-K for the ﬁscal year ended December 31, 1999.

Ass1gnment of leases, rents and ‘Guarantee from the 2000A Trust to The Chase Manhattan Bank,
dated as of March 13, 2000, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.47 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1999.

Lease, dated as of October ‘27 2000, between Hanover Equipment Trust 2000B (the “2000B Trust”)
and Hanover Compressmn Inc., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.54 to the Company’s
Registration Statement (File No. 333-50836) on Form S-4, as filed with the SEC on December 22,
2000.

Guarantee, dated as of October 27, 2000 made by the Company, Hanover Compression Inc. and
certain subsidiaries, 1ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 to the Company’s Registration
Statement (File No. 333-50836) on Form S-4, ‘as filed with the SEC on December 22, 2000.

Participation Agreement, hated as of October 27, 2000, among ‘Hanover Compression Inc., the
2000B Trust, The Chase Manhattan Bank, National Westminster Bank PLC, Citibank N.A., Credit
Suisse First Boston and the Industrial Bank of Japan as co-agents; Bank Hapoalim B.M. and FBTC
Leasing Corp., as mvestors Wilmington Trust Company and various lenders, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 56 to the Company’s Registration Statement (Flle No. 333-50836) on
Form S-4, as filed with the SEC on December 22, 2000.

Security Agreement, dated as of October 27, 2000, made by the 2000B Trust in favor of The Chase
Manhattan Bank as agent for the lenders, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to the
Company’s Registration Statement (File No. 333-50836) on Form S-4, as filed with the SEC on
December 22, 2000. ‘

Assignment of Leases, Rents and Guarantee, dated as of October 27, 2000, made by the 2000B Trust
to The Chase Manhattan Bank as agent for the lenders, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 to
the Company’s Reglstratlon Statement (File No. 333-50836) on Form S-4, as filed with the SEC on
December 22, 2000. ‘

Lease, dated as of August 31 2001, between Hanover Equipment Trust 2001A (the “2001A Trust™)

. and Hanover Compression Limited Partnership, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.64 to the

Company’s Quarterly Rep?rt on-Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001.
Guarantee, dated as of August 31, 2001, made by the Company, Hanover Compression Limited

~ Partnership, and certain subsidiaries, 1ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.65 to the Company’s

Quarterly Report on Formt 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001.
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Exhibit
Number

-10.20

10,24 |

10.25

1026

10.27

10.28

10.‘\29"

. Description : S ~’:-=f: ol

Partrclpatlon Agreement dated as-of August 31, 2001, -among,. Hanover Compressron erlted
Partnership, the 2001 A’ Trust, and General Electric: Cap1ta1 Corporation, 1ncorp0rated by reference to
Exhibit 10.66. to the Companys Quarterly Report on. Forrn 10-Q- for the quarter ended
September- 30, 2001.- NI et ’

Security Agreement, dated -as of" August 31 2001 made by the 2001A Trust in: favor ermmgton
Trust FSB as,agent, incorporated by reference ‘to Exhibit. 10 67 to the Company s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the-quarter ended September 30, 2001: B

- Assignitient of Leases, Rents and Guarantee" from the: 2001AuTrust to Wllmlngton Trust FSB, dated

as of August 31;2001, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 68 to-the Company s Quarterly Report

- on Form '10-Q for" the quarter ended September 30,2001, %% - s .

Lease, dated as of August 31, 2001, between Hanover Equlpment Trust 2001B (the “2001B Trust”)

- and Hanover ‘Compression Limited Partnershrp, mcorporated by reference 'to Exhibit 10 70 to the

Company S Quarterly ‘Report on Form 10- Q for the quarter ‘ended September 30, 20017

Guarantee, dated as of August 31, 2001, ‘made by the Company, Hariover Compressron Limited
Partnership, and certain’ subsrdlarres incorporated by reference to ExHhibit’ 10 71 to the Companys

" Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001

Participation Agreement, dated as.of August 31, 2001, among Hanover Com ressmn Limited
Partnership, the 2001B Trust, and General Electric Caprtal Corporatron 1ncorporated by refereiice to
Exhibit 10.72 to the Companys Quarterly Report on, i:orm 10- Q for the quarter ended

‘f‘September 30, 2001. "~ 4 : ¢
_Securrty Agreement dated as of August 31, 2001 made by the 2001B Trust in favor of Wilmington

Trust FSB as agent, mcorporated by reférence to Exhlbrt 10 73 to the Company $ Quarterly Report
on Form'10- -Q for the’ quarter ended September 30,72001, : ot

A551gnment of Leases Rents and Guarantee from'the 2001B Trust to ermlngton Trust FSB dated_ '
as of August 31, 2001, 1ncorporated by Treferénce to Exhibit 10 74 to. the Company s Quarterly Reéport .
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001

Amendment and Consent dated as of June 26, 2000, to (1) the Amended and Restated Sentor Credrt

‘Agreement dated March 13, 2000, among the Company, Hanover Compressron Inc the Chase
' Manhattan Bank, as agent, and the lenders parties. thereto’ and (11) certain,_ Synthetrc Guarantees
_referenced in the amendment 1ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 40 to- the Company s Annual :
- Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2002,

Second Amendment dated- as of August. 30, 2000 to (i) the Amended and Restated Semor Credlt, ‘
Agreement dated March 13, 2000, ,among the Company, . Hanover Compressron Inc., the ‘Chase

~ Manhattan Bank as agent, and the lenders parties thereto” and (n) certain’ Synthenc Guarantees

10.30

referenced in the amendment, mcorporated by reference to; Exhrbrt 10141 to the Company s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31; 2002,

. First Amendment dated as of January 31, 2001 to (1) the Amended and Restated Semor Credrt

Agreement dated March 13, 2000, among the’ Company, Hanovér Compressmn Inc,, the Chase
Manhattan Bank, as agent, and the lenders parties thereto and (i)’ certain’ Synthetrc Guarantees
referenced in the -amendment, mcorporated by reference to 'ExHhibit’ 10 42 to the Company s Annual

~- Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 20025 Sl

110.31

110.32.

.,December 31, 2002.,

Second Amendment dated as of Taly 27, 2001 to (i) ‘the Credrt Agreement dated- as of
" December 15, 1997, as amended and restated -on ‘March 13;-2000, among ‘the Company, Hanover
' Compress1on Inc.; the Chase Manhattan Bank,-as adrhinistfative agent, and ‘the lerders parties

thereto. and - (ii) .certain Synthetic Guarantees- referenced- in- the amendment;. mcorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.43 to the Company s Annual Report on. Form 10-K:-for the ﬁscal -year'ended

P

T e RN N

Third- Amendment to certam Guarantees dated as- of December 3 2001, among the Company,

_ certain of the Company’s subsidiaries, JPMorgan Chase Bank, as agent,’ ‘and several.banks and other

financial institutions parties thereto,’ “incorporated by reference to- ‘Exhibit: 10.80;to .the Company s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 17, 2001. -




“Exhibit
Number

10.33 .

\
t
! Description

Warver and’ Amendment dated as of March 15, 2002, to. (i) the Credlt Agreement dated as of
December 15, 1997, as amended and restated on December 3, 2002, among: the Company, Hanover

- . Compression Inc., the Chase Manhattan Bank, and the lenders parties ‘thefeto and (ii) certain

. 1034 -

Synthetic Guarantees referenced in the amendment, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002.

Amendment, dated as of June 26, 2002, to (i) the Credit Agreement dated as of December 15, 1997,
as amended and restated as of December 3, 2001, among the Company, certain of the Company’s

" .subsidiaries, JPMorgan Chdse Bank, as administrative agent, and the lenders parties thereto and
. (i) certain Synthetic Guarantees. and Credit Agreements . referenced in. the amendment,
. incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.75 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with

1(').35 g

the SEC on August 6, 2002.

Amendment, dated as of January 31, 2003, to (i) the Credit Agreement dated as of December 15,
1997, as amended and restated on December 3, 2001, among the Company, certain of the Company’s
subsrdlarres JPMorgan Chase Bank, as administrative agent, and the lenders parties thereto and (ii).

" certain Synthetic Guarantees and Credit Agreements referenced in the amendment incorporated by
"~ reference to Exhibit 10.80 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on

10. 3,6

10.37

February 7, 2003. P
Amendment dated as of December 15 2003 to the 2000A and 2000B Synthetrc Guarantees Credit

_Agreements and Partrclpatron Agreements.*

Amended and Restated Declaratlon of Trust of Hanover Compressor Caprtal Trust, dated as of
December 15, 1999, among the Company, as sponsor, Wilmington Trust Company, as property
trustee; and Richard S. Meller, William. S. Goldberg and Curtis A. Bedrich, as administrative

' trustees, incorporated by r‘eference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Company s Reg1strat10n Statement (File’

o
| 15._’3.9
1040
| 1041
«,1o'§42;

1043 -

10.45" .

- No. 333-30344) on Form S-3 filed with the SEC on February 14, 2000.

Preferred Secuntres Guarantee Agreement, dated as of December 15, 1999, between the Company,
as guarantor, ‘and Wllmlngton Trust Company, as guarantee trustee, mcorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.10 to the Company’s Registration Statement (File No. 333 30344) on Form S-3 as filed

- with the SEC on February- 14, 2000.

Common Securmes Guarantee Agreement, dated as of December 15, 1999 by the Company, as

‘guarantor, for the benefit of the holders of common securities of Hanover Compressor Capital Trust,

incorporated” by reference to Exhibit 4.11 to the ‘Company’s Registration Statement (Frle
No. 333-30344) on Form S-3 as filed with the SEC on February 14, 2000.

" Amended dand Restated Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated J anuary 31, 2003, made by the

.” Company, certain of the Company s subsidiaries, JPMorgan Chase Bank, as admmlstratlve agent,
" .and the lenders partres ‘theréto, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to.the Company’s Annual
f Report on Form 10- K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002.

. Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 11, 2000, among the Company, Hanover Compression Inc.,
... Dresser-Rand Company and Ingersoll-Rand Company, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to
., the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 14, 2000.

_Agréement and Plan. of Merger dated as of July 13, 2000 among the Company, Caddo Acquisition
Corporation, and OEC Compression Corporation, ,1ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.51 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000.

Amendment No 1.to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 14, 2000, by and among

. the Company, Caddo Acquisition Corporation and OEC Compression Corporation.*
- 10.44..:

Amendment No: 2 to Agreement and Plan.of Merger; dated as of February. 2, 2001, by and among
the Company, Caddo- Acqursmon Corporatlon and’OEC Compression Corporation.* -

Purchase Agreement, dated June 28, 2001, among . Schlumberger Technology  Corporation,

= _.Schlumberger Oilfield Holdings Ltd., Schlumberger Surenco S.A., Camco International Inc., the

R Company and Hanover-Compression Limited Partnership, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.63
- to the Company’s  Quarterly. Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001.
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Exhibit’

Number

10.46 ..
.+ Corporation, Schlumberger Oilfield - Holdings.. -Limited, Schlumberger -Surenco” S.A., Camco

~ 1047

Descnptron

Schedule 1. 2(0) 'to Purchase Agreement dated June 28, 2001 among Schluniberger Technologyv .

International Inc., the Company and Hanover Compression Limited Partnership; mcorporated by

. reference to Exhrbrt 99 1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K: ﬁled with the SEC on .
.February 6, 2003.

.- Amendment No. 1, dated as of August 31; 2001 -to. Purchase Agreement ‘among Schlumberger :
_ Technology Corporation, Schlumberger O1lﬁeld Holdmgs Ltd., Schlumberger Surenco S.A., Camco

International Inc., the Company and Hanover Compression L1m1ted Partnership, mcorporated by

", -reference to Exhrbxt 99.3 to' the Company s Current Report on Form 8 -K ﬁled Wrth the SEC on

o September 14, 2001

10.48

10.49

©10.50

10.51
10.52

10.53

10.54
10.55
10.56

10.57

10.58

10.59
10.60

10.61

Most Favored Supplrer and Alhance Agreement dated August 31,- 2001 among Schlumberger
Oilfield Holdings Limited, Schlumberger Technology Corporat1on and Hanover Compression

" Limited Partnersh1p, incorporated by refererice to Exhibit 99.4 to the Company s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 14,2001, -

Agreement by and : among SIMB,LP, Charles Underbrmk John L. Thoinpson, Belleli Energy S.rl
and Hanover Compressor Comparny and certain of its subsidiaries dated September 20, 2002, .
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 62 to the Company § Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, : , i

Hanover ‘Compressor Company 1992 Stock Compensatlon Plan 1ncorporated by reference tor
Exhibit 10.63 to the Companys Annual Report on - Form 10 K for the ﬁscal year ended

- December 31, 2002.71-

Hanover Compressor Company Senior Executrve Stock Opt1on Plan,’ 1ncorporated by reference to -
Exhibit 10.4 to the Companys Reg1stratron Statement (Frle No 333 24953) on Form S- 1 as .
amended. TT +

Hanover Compressor Company 1993 Management Stock Option Plar, 1ncorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 to the Companys Regrstrauon Statement (File No. 333 24953) on Form S-1, as
amended.}{ - :

Hanover Compressor Company Tncentive Optron Plan, 1ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to

" the Company’s Regrstratron Statement (F1le No. 333-24953) on Form S-1, as “amended.

Amendment and Restatement of the Hanover Compressor Company Incentive Option Plan,

incorporated by ‘reference to” Exhibit” 10.7 to the Companys Regrstratron Statement (File

No. 333-24953) on Form S-1, as amended. i

‘Hanover Compressor Company 1995 Embployee Stock Optlon ‘Plan, 1nc0rporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s! Regrstratron Statement (Frle No. 333- 24953) on Form S-1, as
amended.{t

Hanover Compressor Company 1995 Management Stock Option Plan, 1ncorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.9 to the Companys Regrstranon Statement (Frle No. 333 24953) on Form S-1, as
amended.t7

Form of Stock Option Agreement for DeV111e and McNerl mcorporated ‘by reference to

" Exhibit 10.70 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form. 10-K for the fiscal year ended
‘December 31, 2002. :

Form of Stock Optron Agreements for Wmd Bros, 1ncorporated by reference to Exh1b1t 10 71 to the
.Company s ‘Annual Report on Form 10- K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002.

"Hanover Compressor- Company 1996 Employee Stock Option Plan, 1ncorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.10 to the Company ] Reg1strat10n Staternent (Frle No 333 24953) on Form S-1, as
amended.tt - E

Hanover Compressor Company 1997 Stock Opt10n Plan as amended 1ncorporated by reference to

" Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s Reglstratlon Statement (F1le No.. 333 24953) on’ Form S-1, as

amended.{t
1997 Stock Purchase Plan 1ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 24 to the Company s Regrstratron

- Statement (Frle No. 333-24953) on Form S- 1 as amended o
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Exhibit
Number

10 62

'J063
- 10.64
7 10.65

10.66

10.67
10.68
10.69
10.70
10.71
10.72
110.73

10.74
121
14.1
21.1
231
31.1

312
32.1
322

99.1

iT ’ Description

Hanover Compressor Company 1998 Stock Option Plan, incorporated by referénce to Exhibit 10.7 to
the Company ] Quarterly, Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1998.

Hanover Compressor Company December 9, 1998 Stock Option Plan; incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.33 to the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 1998.1+

Hanover Compressor Company 1999 Stock Option Plan, incorporated by reference to- Exhibit 4.1 to
the Company’s Regrstratron Statement (File No. 333 32096) on Form S-8 ﬁled with the SEC on
March 10, 2000.1+ ;

Hanover Compressor Company 2001 Equrty Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
to the Company’s Reglstratlon Statement (F11e No 333- 73904) on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on
November 21, 2001.1+ |

Hanover Compressor Company 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, 1ncorporated by reference to the

"“ Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A, as. filed with the. SEC on April 15, 2003.

Management Fee Letter, dated November 14, 1995 between GKH Partners L.P. and the Company,

- incorporated by reference’ t6 Exhibit 10.3" to the Companys Reglstratron Statement (File
‘No. 333-24953) on Form S-1, as amended.

Employment Letter with' John E. Jackson, dated February 1, 2002, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.73 to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10 Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2002.%% . . i

Employment Letter w1th Mark S. Berg, dated April 17, 2002, 1ncorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.74 to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2002+t Lo e !

Employment Letter wrth\ Chad C. Deaton dated August 19 2002, 1ncorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.79 to the Company’s Quarterly . Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

" September 30, 2002. TT !

Letter Agreement by and between Robert O. Pierce and Hanover Compressor Company dated
September 18, 2002, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.92 to the Cornpany s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal jyear ended December 31, 2002.%

Employment Letter wrth Peter Schreck, dated August 22, 2000, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form. 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2003.4%

Employment Letter wrth Stephen York, dated March 6, 2002, incorporated by reference to

" Exhibit 10.2 to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,

¢ List of Subsidiaries*®
‘Consent of’ PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP.*

~ Certification of the Chief’ Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a- 14(a)/ 15d- 14(a) of the Securities
‘Exchange Act of 1934.* b

2003.1+
\
Separation Agreement w1th Mark Berg, dated February 27, 2004. ﬁ*
Computatron of ratio of earmngs to fixed charges *
P.R.I.D.E. in Performance — Hanover’s Gurde to Ethical Business Conduct *

\a“ .t

Certification of the. Chref Fmancral Oﬁicer pursuant to Rule 13a 14(a)/ 15d- 14(a) of the Securrtles
Exchange Act of 1934. * -

Certification of the Chlef Executrve Ofﬁcer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 .as adopted pursuant

_ to Section 906 of ‘the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.*
" Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 uUs. C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant

to Section 906 of the Sar‘banes Oxley Act of 2002.*
Letter from GKH partners regarding wind-up of GKH Investments, L. P. and GKH anate Limited,

dated October 13, 2001, incorporated by reference fo Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with t‘he SEC on October 18, 2001.
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Exhibit e
Number Description

99.2

99.3

Letter from GKH Partners, L.P. to Mark S. Berg, ‘Senior Vice President and General Counsel of the
Company, dated November 12, 2002, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 15, 2002.

Letter from GKH Partners, L.P. to Mark S. Berg, Senior Vice President and General Counsel of the
Company, dated March 11, 2004, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 12, 2004.

* Filed herewith

Tt

+1 Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement

(b) Réports on Form 8-K.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2003, Hanover filed or furnished the following information in

current_reports on Form 8-K:-

-+ On December 19, 2003, we filed a current feport on Form 8-K, reporting uhder Item 5 that we

issued a press release announcing a settlement with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The
date of such report (the date of the earliest event reported) was December 18, 2003,

* On December 16, 2003, -we filed a current report on Form 8-K, reportmg under Item 5 that we -
entered into an underwmmg agreement with J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., as representatwe of the
several uniderwriters, and Citigroup Global Markets Inc., as independent underwriter, in connection
with the issnance and sale of $200,000,000 aggregate principal amount of our 8.625% Senior Notes
due 2010. We also reported that we entered into-an underwriting agreement with J.P. Morgan
Securities Inc., as representative of the several underwriters, and Simmons & Company
International, as independent underwriter, in connection with the issuance and sale of $143,750,000
aggregate principal amount of our 4.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014."We also reported that
we closed our new $350,000,000 bank credit facility. In addition, we filed the underwriting
agreements, senior indenture, supplement indentures, forms of notes, opinion of Vinson & Elkins
L.L.P, credit agreement and guarantee and collateral agreement under Item 7. The date of such
report (the date of the earliest event reported) was December 9, 2003. ’

e Qn December 9, 2003, we filed a current report on Form 8-K, reporting under Item-5 that we filed

a prospectus supplement with the Securities and Exchange Commission in'.connection with the offer
and sale for the account of Schiumberger Technology Corporation of $262,621,810 aggregate
principal amount at maturity of our Zero Coupon Subordinated Notes due March 31, 2007. We
also reported that we had bank commitments totaling $345 million for a proposed bank credit
facility, and we reported the preliminary approval by the court of the proposed settlement to resolve
all of the securities class actions, ERISA class actions and sharecholder derivative actions previously
filed against us and certain other individuals. In addition, we filed the prospectus supplement and
form of proposed credit agreement under Item 7. The date of such report (the date of the earliest
event reported) was December 2, 2003.

+ On November 18, 2003, we filed a current report on Form 8-K, ﬁling under Item 7 our Audited
Consolidated Financial Statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.
The financial statements were filed to conform to the 2003- presentation for the distributions on our
mandatorily redeemable preferred securities, now included in interest expense, and the change in
value of derivative financial instruments, now included in leasing expense, as discussed under
Item 5. The date of such report (the date of the earliest event reported) was November 18, 2003.

* On November 5, 2003, we filed a current report on Form 8-K, furnishing under Item 12 a press
release announcing our financial results for the quarter ended September 30, 2003. The date of such
report (the date of the earliest event reported) was November 5, 2003.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements Bf Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly

authorized. !
|

|
|
r

Date: March 26, 2004

HANOVER COMPRESSOR COMPANY

By: /s/  CHAD C. DEATON

Chad C. Deaton

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on'behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature

/s/  CHAD C. DEATON

Chad C. Deaton

/s/ JoHN E. JACKSON

John E. Jackson '

/s/  VICTOR E. GRIJALVA |

Victor E. Grijalva

/s/  TED COLLINS, JR. |
|

Ted Collins, Jr.

/s/  ROBERT R. FURGASONT

Robert R. Furgason

/s/ ALVIN V. SHOEMAKER‘

Alvin V. Shoemaker |

/s/ 1. JON BRUMLEY

I. Jon Brumley

|

/s/ GORDON HALL |
Gordon Hall !

|

/s!/  STEPHEN M. Pazuk:

Stephen M. Pazuk ‘

|
/s/  MARGARET K. DorMaN

Margaret K. Dorman|

Title

President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer and
Director)

Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Officer)
Director
Director
_ Director
Director
. Director
Director

Director .

Director

30

Date

March 26, 2004

March 26, 2004
March 26, 2004
March 26, 2004
March 26, 2004

March 26, 2004

March 26, 2004

March 26, 2004

. March 26, 2004

March 26, 2004



. REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
~ Hanover Compressor Company

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing under Item 15 (a)

(1) on page 72, present fairly, in all material respects, the financial.position of Hanover Compressor
Company and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results of their operations and their

. cash flows for each of the three years in the penod ended Decemiber 31, 2003, in conformtty with v
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our op1n1on the
financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under Item 15 (a) (2) on page 72 presents
fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read 1 in conjunctlon with the related
consolidated financial statements. These financial statements.and financial statement schedule are the .
responsibility of the Company’s management; our respons1b1hty is to express an opinion on these ﬁnanc1al
statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits. We conducted our audits ‘of these:
statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the- United States of America, -
which require that we plan and perform the.audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit.includes examining, on a’ test basis,
‘evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management and evaluating the overall finaricial
statement presentation. We beheve that our audits prov1de a reasonable basis for our opmlon

As discussed in Notes 12 and 9 to the financial statements the Company changed its method" of
accounting for variable interest entmes in 2003 and goodwﬂl and other 1ntang1bles in 2002 respectlvely
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

" Houston, Texas
March 25, 2004



~HANOVER COMPRESSOR COMPANY -
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

. - December 31,
2003 2002
Cn TN RN KT S - : BTN ETERTL R (in thousands, except par
- , ST o : C ~ value and share amounts)
) ; ,ASSETS | ‘ T
Current assets L e L o

Cash and cash equxvalents e o0 8 56,619 $ 19,011

Restricted cash—securities séttlement ESCIOW ... ..ot R e L 129,649 _ —
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of ‘$5,460 and $5,162 .. %...... 0. .o B oo 195183 ©T211,722
Inventory,net.................................................L ...... o E '155,297 - 166,004
Costs 'and’estimated earnlngs in excess of bllhngs on uncompleted contracts S ol Te 50,128 © 57,346
Prepaid-taxes ... ... ... 0 S S RN AT 2T 4,677 - 7,664
Assets held for sale: 017,344 - 33,765
Other CUIrent assels. . ... il oot ie ae us T T e - 35,105 . 49,933
Total CUITENt aSSeS ..o\ oo vt FAfia i v e v e e S i s d et v o © 544,002 . -545,445
Property, plant and- equlpment net-. e : e Y ;2,027,654 1,167,675
Goodwill, net .se il e D e g i e e e ey e Bl e e e in o0 176,629 180,519
Intangible and other assets ... ........... e e T TR 67,482 . 74,058
Investments in non- consphdated aﬁihates B P Cage s 88 718 150,689
Assets held for sale, non-current .......... . ..o iiiiii.. A S . 13,981 35,643
Total assets.a-.'-.v...‘-.'.-.J.’.'.‘.".\..~.;.»;«’. R Rk $ 2,918,466 $ 2,154,029

3 LIABILITIES AND COMMON STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Short-term debt . .................... S S $ 32,519 $- . 31,997
Current maturities of long- term debt. .o 3,511 1,744
Accounts payable, trade ............... PP . 53,354 . 72,637
Accrued Habilities . ... ...l e B 155,441 189,639
Advance billings . .................... P 34,380 36,156
Liabilities held for Sale .. ..ot e e e 1,128 3,257
Billings on uncompleted contracts in excess of costs and estimated earnings.......... 8,427 14,571
_ Total current Habilities . ... ..ottt e e e 288,760 350,001
Long-term debt ...... .. i e e e 1,746,793 521,203
Other Habilities . . . ot i e e e e e e 72,464 156,191
Deferred IMCOME TaXES . . . oot ittt e et e e e e e e e e 28,333 93,613
Liabilities held for sale, NON-CUITENt .. ... . it it it ettt et et e c e — 19,002
Total Habilities ... ...t e 2,136,350 1,140,010
Commitments and contingencies (Note 19). _ . ’
Minority interest. . . ...t i e e 28,628 143
Mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred securities.......................... ... ..., — 86,250

Common stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $.001 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 82,649,629 and

80,815,209 shares issued, FeSPECHIVELY . ... .. \ovir et et 83 81
Additional paid-in capital .. ... L 856,020 841,657
- Deferred employee compensatlon—restncted stockgrants ............... ... ... ..., (5,452) (2,285)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ................................. 9,227 (13,696)
Retained earnings (deficit) .. ... i e (104,065) 104,194
Treasury stock—252,815 and 253,115 common shares, at cost, respectively ........... (2,325) (2,325)
Total common stockholders’ equity .. ...ttt i 753,488 927,626
Total liabilities and common stockholders’ equity .............covvveiion.. $ 2918466 $ 2,154,029

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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HANOYER COMPR-ESSOR COMPANY -

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS .

‘ i : _ Years Ended December 31,
Rl ' o ‘ ] .. __.2003 -~ 2002 2001

i : C (In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues and other 1ncome . - ' o
“ Domestic-rentals. . 1. i8R e e e . $ .324186 $ 328,600 - $ 269,679

International rentals. . . . . ol e T e “‘206",'404""‘- 189,700 .. '~ 131,097
' Parts, service and used ‘equipment . C T T el e s 169,023, -0 -223,845 0 L 214,872
Compressor and accessory. fabrication . .. ........... e i -1 106,896, . 114,009 - - 223,519
.. Production &nd processmg equipmient fabncanon ..................... 260 660 .~ 149,656, 184,040
<«.; BEquity in'income .of non- consohdated affiliates ... . ... Lo 23,088 0 T 18811 Tt 9,350
Other.............ccoiiiinn.. e [P = 5,093 4,189 8,403
: w0 1,095,350 1,028,810 1,040,960
Expenses: ‘ ‘ '
Domestic tentals. . ... vt e " 127,425 122,172 95,203
"International rentals.................. L e B 67,465 57,579 45,795
" Parts, service and used equUIpMENt . . ... ... i e 126,619 179,844 152,701
~ Compressor and accessory fabrication . ........ ... ... i i ’ 96,922 99,446 188,122 -
Production and processing equipment fabncatlon e 234,203 127,442 147,824
Selling, general and administrative ......... ... . ... .. oL 161,655 153,676 92,172
Foreign currency translation ....... ... i 2,548 16,753 6,658 .
Provision for cost of litigation settlement ....... ..., ................ 42,991 — -
Other...........coc.ouu.. e e S 2,906 27,607 9,727
Depreciation and amortization ..........c.o i, 172,602 © 151,181 88,823
Goodwill impairment ... ......... . ... e 35,466 52,103 —
Leasing EXPEeNSEe . .« oo vvvu ittt ettt - 43,139 90,074 78,031
Interest EXpense . ....vvunnin e, AP 89,175 ° 43,352 23,904
. : : ' 1,203,116 1,121,229 928,960
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes............... (107,766) (92,419) 112,000
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes ....... e e e e 784 (17,576) . 42,388
Income (loss) from continuing operations ..................... e -~ (108,550) (74,843) . 69,612
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax ..................... © 1,252 » (875) . 2,965
Loss on sale/write-downs of. discontinued operations, net of tax .............. (14,051) (40,350) —
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting changes ............... (121,349) (116,068) 72,577
Cumulative effect of accounting changes, netof tax ........................ (86,910) L — (164)
Net Income (108S) .o vv ittt e e e e e $ (208,259) $ (116,068) $ 72,413
Basic earnings (loss) per common share: ' SN
Income (loss) from continuing operations .. ... e e $ (134) § (0.94) § 0.96 .
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax .. ... e g (0.16) (0.52) 0.04
Cumulative effect of accounting changes, net of tax ................... , (1.07) — — .
Net income (Joss) ........ ... i e e $ (257) $ © (1.46) $ 1.00
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share: - ‘ a : '
Income (loss) from continuing operations ........................... § (1.34) '§ (0.94) § 091
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax ................ (0.16) (0.52) 0.03
Cumulative effect of accounting changes, net of tax ................... (1.07) e , .
Netincome (10S8) ..o vvvi it el e Y $ (257) 8 . (146) 8 - 094
Weighted average common and equlvalent shares outstandlng ‘ -
Basic ... T e 81,123 79,500 72,355

Diluted ... ... e : 81,123 79,500 . 81,175

The 'accompanying notes ‘are an integral part of these findncial statements.
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- HANOVER COMPRESSOR COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 © 2001
: . . (in thousands)
:Net income (loss) ....... e e I $  (208,259) $ (116,068) $ 72,413
Other comprehensive income (loss): ‘ . ‘ : ‘
Change in fair value of derivative. financial instruments, net of tax ... - 5,693 (8,866) (6,073)
Foreign currency tran'slatié)n adjustment . ... 17,230 - 1,727 (27)
Comprehensive income (loss) .. ........ FRSTDE e S $(185336) $_ (123207) $_ 66,313

The accompariying notes are an integral part ofrthese financial statements.
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HANOVER COMPRESSOR COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:

NEt INCOME (108S) « oo v\ttt et e et e $ (208,259) $ (116,068) $ 72,413
Adjustments:; .
Depreciation and amortization .. .....c... i 172,602 151,181 88,823
Amortization of debt issuance costs and debt discount ....... PPN 120 121 831
Loss (income) from discontinued operations, net of tax .................. .. 12,799 41,225 (2,965)
Cumulative effect of accounting changes, net of tax......................... , 86,910 . — 164
Baddebtexpense .......0. ... i S A, . 4,028 7,091 4,860
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment .............. ... .ol (6,347) - (7,769) (3,492)
Equity in income of non-consolidated affiliates, net of dividends rccelved ....... (4.637) (2,223) (9,350)
Loss on investments and charges for non- consohdated affiliates ............... — 15,950 4,629
(Gain) loss on derivative instruments. .........ccco et e " (4,606) " (3,245) 7,849
" Provision for inventory impairment and TESEIVES . ... .ovvvee e vrnrerinenen.,. 3,049 13,853 2,336
Provision for cost of litigation settlement; in excess of cash pa1d .............. 39,494 ‘ —
~ Write-down of notes receivable ........ e R — 8,454 —
- Goodwill impairment . ... ... i e NN 35,466 52,103 —
Restricted stock compensation eXpense .. ........c.vvviierirerneeenaenenn.. 1,178 423 —
Pay-in-kind interest on long-term notes payable .....................o.L 21,048 17,163 4,285
Deferred INCOmME taXES 1.\ vvtrt et ettt et terricanrenas (12,407) (15,041) 30,218
Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding business combinations: T
Accounts, receivable and MOTES . o vttt e e . 19,444 89,457 (20,671)
IVEntOTY oottt e 4,026 - 4,699 (41,186)
Costs and estimated earnings versus billings on uncompleted contracts . 16,455 33,129 (32,640)
Accounts payable and other liabilities ........... ... ... ... .. ... ... (33,931) (67,132) 14,745
Advance billings ... e PN (4,213) (8,394) 20,647
Other ..., EP . 19,310 (16,101) 4,401
Net cash provided by continuing operations ................... 161,529 194,876 145,897
Net cash provided by discontinued operations........... e - 3,206 - 841 6,877
Net cash provided by operating activities...................... 164,735 195,717 152,774
Cash flows from investing activities: ‘ L
Capital expenditures . ... ...ttt " (142,466) (250,170) (639,883)
Payments for deferred lease transaction COSts ...........c.coovviiiiiinnninninnnn, (1,246) (1,568) (18,177)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment . .................. ... .. ... 26,698 69,685 590,763
Proceeds from sale of investment in non-consolidated affiliates...................... — —_ 3,143
Cash used for business acquisitions, Net. ........ ..o inre i (15,000) (10,440) (386,056)
Proceeds from business divestitures ........ ... 500 — —
Cash returned from non-consolidated affiliates . .............. ... ... ... ... 64,837 17,429 —
Cash used to acquire investments in and advances to non-consolidated afﬁllates ....... (500) — (11,865)
Net cash used in continuing operations ............. .......... (67,177) (175,064) (462,075)
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations ......... 23,707 (18,639) (20,202)
 Net cash used in investing activities.......................... (43,470) (193,703) (482,277)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings on revolving credit facilities ............ ... .. i 145,000 141,750 —
Repayments on revolving credit facilities ........ ... ... o (274,500) (142,250) 54,500
Payments for debt issue COStS ... ... .. uoiir it e . (7,464) (644) (3,390)
Issuance of common StOCK, et . .. ...ttt it e e e — — 83,850
Purchase of treasury stock .. ... ...t s e —_ (1,608) —
Proceeds from stock options exercised ....... ..ottt 6,699 6,661 2,280
Proceeds from employee stock purchase .............. .. ... ool — 271 —
Issuance of convertible SENIOr NOLES, MEL ..o vt e ittt 138,941 — 185,537
Issuance of SEnior MOtEs, MO .. ...\ttt et ittt e et ety 193,698 —
Payments of 1999 equipment lease obligations ........... .. .. ... ... (200,000) — —
Repayment of other debt ... ... ... ... ... ... [P (68,293) {7,654) (15,571)
Proceeds from employee stockholder notes ............ ... i — 120 62
Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operations........... (65,919) (3,348) 307,268
Net cash vsed in discontinued operations. ..................... (18,538) (834) (9)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ............. (84,457) (4,232) 307,259
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents ................ ... ... ... ... 800 (1,962) (49)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ............ ... .. ... .. . ... .. 37,608 (4,180) (22,293)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year .......... ... ... ... . . i 19,011 23,191 45,484

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year. ... ... ottt i e e $ 56,619 $ 19,011 $ 23,191

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

F-5




HANOVER COMPRESSOR COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: _

Interest paid, net of capitalized amounts .................... $ 49011 $§ 23263 $§ 12,154

Income taxes paid (refunded), net......................... $ 1,129 § (4,212) $ 1,723
Supplemental disclosure of noncash transactions: -

Debt paid for property, plant and equipment. .. .. .. S — § (4,352) —

Assets (received) sold in exchange for note receivable ........ $ 3300 $ 258 $  (1,601)

Common stock issued in exchange for notes receivable . . . .. .8 35 § 274 § 1,069

Conversion of deferred stock option liability .......... e $ 289 § 253 % 1,529
Acquisitions of businesses:

Cash ... . 0 8209 — —

Property, plant and equipment acquired............ Ceeve..... 8267 8 11,716 $ 606,271

Other assets acquired, net of cash acquired.................. $ 3,918 $ 102204 $ 87,865

Investments in and advances to non-consolidated affiliates ... .. $ (4,673) — $ 140,081

GoodWill. . ..o $ 15558 $ - 5,162 § 115131

Liabilities assumed . ........ ... . ... . . . i i $  (279) $ (72,209) $ (118,388)

Debt issued or assumed . ... ...t e — $ (36,433) $ (155,462)

Deferred taxes ... ...t e — — $ (35212

Treasury and common stock issued ................ . ..., — — 3

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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HANOVER .COMPRESSOR COMPANY
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMMON STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Vg
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: ‘ Accumulated Notes Deferred
Commeon stock Additional . other receivable- compensation-  Retained
paid-in , . comprehenswe Treasury .. employee restricted earnings
Shares Amount *  capital . “income (loss)” . stock~  stockholders '~ stock grants (deficit)
. i X . ,'4 . N - - (m thousands,- except sharé data)
Balance at December 31, 2000 .......... N 66,454,703 § 66 $ 483 737 ; $ . (457) S (717) $ (1, 531) $ — § 147,849
Exercise of stock options ..................." Ts0,161 o1 3808 — - — -
Cumulative translation-adjustment ... .. e, Co - — L= ’(27)~ = - - -
Change in fair value of derivative ﬁnanc1al oy e o .
instrument, net of tax ................ e . - - — (6 073) '_ - R — —
Issuance of common stock net .......... L 2,500,000 27 83 848" o~ ’ — — — —
Issuance of commeon stock for acqu1smons ...... -9,980,540 100 7254220 — —_ . —_ — —
Issuance of common stock to employees .. ...... " 42775 . ;. Lo =" 1,069 oo o= L= ot (1,069) — —
Repayment of employee stockholder notes N Go— e e = 62 - —
Income tax beneﬁt from stock options exermscd o — — ., L1618, ’ — — — —
Other............ 0o i, = = 639" = - — —_
Net income .. ... b e — Lt — - - — 72,413
Balance at December 31,2001 .......... T001920817908 0 79§ 828939 $ (6 557) (7)Y 08 (2538 8 — - § 220262 .
Exercise of stock options ... .w....... I 41,422,850, 2., 6,912 FEE RN j o — . —
Cumulative translation adjustment — — - oy == — —_
Change in fair value of derivative financial ) ) o
instrument, nef of tax .%..... e P — t— - (8 866) Tt — - -
Issuance of restricted stock grants; net of B ' L. - e : .
amortization eXpense. ... . ............oo.n. 142,630 — -2, 708 - = - (2,285) —
Issuance of common stock to employees ....... 21,550 — 551 — — (274) — —
Purchase of 147,322 treasury, shaes at $8.96 per . o o .o
ShATE ..o — —_ — — (1,320 — — —
Purchase of 30,054 treasury shares at $9.60 per ¢ :
share ... — — ) — — (288) — — —
Repayment of employee stockholder notes.... .. — — — — — 120 — —
Income tax benefit from stock options exercised — —_ 2547 — - - — —_
Reserve for collecubxhty ............ st o e, — = 2,692 — —
Netloss.................. . - L= . e —‘ e ‘ - — ' (116,068)
Balance at f)ecembcrn, 2002 ... . 80815209 § - 81 $ 841,657 § (13696) . § (2,325) . % - . $(228 § 104,194
Exercise of stock opticns .......... B 5 XTI I -7 A - _ : _
Cumulative translation adjustmént ... 770, 50— bt 172307, 7 DL e s e - -
Change in fair value of derivative financial Fal ¥ o g S
instrument, net of tax . ..., o N T — ‘ = P 5693 o L —, e .= —
Issuance of restricted stock grants net of ’ ol 5
. forfeitures, net of amortization expense ... ... 400,384 1 - 4,345 — - Co— (3,167) —
Issuance of common stock to employees . ... . .. 1,400 — 35 — — - .= -
Income tax benefit from stock options exercnsed — - 29% .. . —. = A — —
Net 0SS, .. vttt - — S — T — — {208,259)
Balance at December 31, 2003 0.5, .0 82649620 ° % © - 83 $ 85602078 | 9227 $°(2,325) 0§ U= .7 $(5450)  § (104,065)
e B X
J.’ = 4
‘. o I ‘8
- i e
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. . «



HANOVER COMPRESSOR COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

- 1. The Company, Busmess and’Significant Accountmg Policies-

~ Hanover Compressor Company, “we”, “Hanover”, or “the Company ) ‘a Delaware corporation,
together with its subsidiaries, is a global market leader in the full service. natural gas compression business
and is also a leading provider of service, fabrication and equipment for oil and natural gas processing and
transportation applications. We sell and rent this equipment and provide complete operation and
maintenance services, including run-time guarantees, for both customer-owned equipment and our fleet of
rental equipment. Hanover was founded as a Delaware corporation in 1990, and has been a public
company since 1997. Our customers include both major and independent oil and gas producers and
distributors as well as national oil and gas companies in the countries in which we operate. Our
maintenance business, together with our parts and service business, provides solutions to customers that
_ own their own compression and surface. production and processing equipment, but want to outsource their .
" operations. We also fabricate compressor and oil and gas production and processing equipment and provide
.gas processing and treating, gas measurement and oilfield power generation services, primarily to our
domestic and international customers as a complement to our compression services. In addition, through
our subsidiary, Belleli Energy S.r.l. (“Belleli”’), we provide engineering, procurement and construction
services primarily related to the manufacturing of heavy wall reactors for refineries and construction of
desalination plants, primarily for use in Europe and the Middle East. '

Substantially all of our assets and operations are owned or conducted by our wholly-owned subsidiary,
Hanover Compression Limited Partnership (“HCLP”).

bPrinciples of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include Hanover and its-wholly-owned and
majority owned subsidiaries and certain variable interest entities, for which we are the primary beneficiary.
‘All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Investments
in affiliated entities in which we own more than a 20% interest and do not have a controlling interest are
accounted for using the equity method. Investments in entities in which we own less than 20% are held at
cost. Prior year amounts have been reclassified to present certain of our businesses as discontinued
operations. (See Note 3.)

Use of Estimates in the Financial Statements

. The preparation of ﬁnan01al statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

' requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses, as well as the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. Because of
the inherent uncertainties in this process, actual future results could differ from those expected at the '
reporting date. Management believes that the estimates are reasonable.

Our operations are influenced by many factors, including the global economy, international laws and
currency exchange rates. Contractions in the more significant economies of the ‘world could have a
substantial negative impact on the rate of our growth and profitability. Acts of war or terrorism could
influence these areas of risk and our operations. Doing business in foreign locations subjects us to various
risks and considerations including, but not limited to, economic and political conditions in the United
States and abroad, currency exchange rates, tax laws and other laws and trade restrictions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid 1nvestments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less
to be cash equivalents. .o o
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' HANOVER COMPRESSOR COMPANY o
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued),

Restricted Cash

Our restricted cash represents funds held in escrow for the payment related to. the settlement of our .
: rsecumtles-related litigation.” (See Note 19.)

T

Revenue Recogmtzon

Revenue from equtpment rentals is recorded when earned over the pertod of rental and mamtenance E

contracts which generally range from one month to five years. Parts, service and used equlpment fevenue
is recorded as products are delivered and title is transferred or services are performed for the customer.

A
Compressor, production and processing equipment fabrication revenue is recogmzed usmg the
percentage- of-completton method. We estimate percentage-of-completion for compressor and- processmg
equipment fabrication on a-direct labor-hour to total labor hour basis. Production‘equipment fabncatlon ’
percentage-of-completion is estimated using the direct labor hour to total labor hour and the cost to total,
cost basis. The average duration of these projects is typically between four to thirty-six months

Concentrations ofCredit Risk D ’

Financial instruments that potentially subJect us to. concentranons of: credlt risk consrst of cash and ‘
cash equivalents, accounts receivable, advances to non- consohdated aﬁihates and notes recetvable We ‘
believe that the credit risk in temporary cash 1nvestments that we have with financial institutions is
minimal. Trade accounts and notes recetvable are due from companies of varying size engaged prmCIpally
in oil and gas activities throughout the world. We review the financial condition of customers pnor to
extending credit and generally do not obtain collateral for trade receivables. Payment terixis’ are on ‘a short-
term basis and in accordance with industry practice. We consider this credit risk to be limited due to these .
companies’ financial resources, the nature of products and the services we provrde therm and the terms of
our rental contracts. Trade :accounts teceivable is recorded net of estimated doubtful accounts of °
apprommately $5.5 million and $5 2 mllhon at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respecttvely oy

Inventory . : C

and fac111t1es processmg and productlon equ1pment and also 1ncludes compressron units‘and productton _
equlpment that are held for sale Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market usmg the average cost
method

e . . v
5 . . oA

Property, Plant and Eqmpment

Property, plant and equ1pment are recorded at cost and are deprec:lated using the stratght line: method'
over their estimated useful lives as follows: .. . . -~ .~ .. : . :

Ve

- “Comipression - equ1pment and fac1ht1es ol B, SUDURESRCUI'S to 30 years' R
sBuildings ... ... e PR N S L |
Transportatton shop equtpment and other - T e Ly 3t 12 years S

‘Major 1mprovements that extend the useful life of in asset are cap1tahzed Repa1rs and mamtenance "
_are e‘tpensed as incurred. When rental equipment is sold, retired or otherwise dtsposed of; ‘the cost,” net of ‘
accumulated depreciation is recorded in parts, service and used equtpment €Xpenses. ‘Salés proceeds are
recorded in parts, service and used equipment revenues, Interest is capitalized in connectlon with the -
compressiori equipment and facilities that are constructed for Hanover’s use in our rental operations’ until
such equipment is complete.- The capitalized. interest.is recorded as part* of the assets.to-which it relates
and is amortized over the asset’s estrmated useful hfe ' e
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HANOVER COMPRESSOR COMPANY’ .
N’OTES TO*CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

After a review of the estimated economic lives of our compression fleet, on July 1, 2001 we changed
our estimate of the useful life of certain compression equipment to range from 15 to 30 years instead of a
umform 15-year deprec1able life. Our new estimated lives are based upon our experience, maintenance
program and the different types of compressors presently in our rental fleet. We believe our new estimate
-reflects the economic useful lives of the compressors more accurately than a uniform useful life applied to
all compressors tegardless of their age or performance characteristics. We estimate that the effect of this
"' change in estimate -on 2001 was a decrease in depreciation expense of approx1mately $5.0 million and an

increase. in net: mcome of. approx1mately $3.t million ($0.04 per share). -

Computer software

b

Certam costs related to the development or purchase. of 1nterna1 -use software are cap1tahzed and
amort1zed over the .estimated useful life of the software. Costs. related to the preliminary project stage, data
convers1on and the post 1mplementat10n/ operat1on stage of an internal-use computer software development
prOJect“ are expensed as incurred. . ; :

Lonélived Assets, other than Intangibles

We rev1ew for the impairment, of long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment, assets
held forwsale and investments in non-consolidated affiliates whenever events or changes in circumstances
. indicafe that, the carrymg "amount of ‘an asset may not be recoverable An impairment loss exists when
est1mated undlscounted cash ﬂows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition
are less. than 1ts carrylng amount. The impairment loss recogmzed represents. the excess of the assets
carrymg value as compared to its estlmated fair value.

Goothll and Other Intangtbles e

The éxcess of cost OVEr net assets of acquired bus1nesses is recorded:as goodwill. In June 2001, the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS™) 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”). Under SFAS 142, amortization of
goodwill over an estimated useful life is discontinued. Instead, goodwill will be teviewed for impairment
annually .or whenever events indicate impairment may have occurred. Prior to adoption of SFAS 142 on
January i, 2002 we amortlzed goodw1ll on a straight-line basis over 15 or 20 years commencing on the
dates of the respect1ve acqu1smons ‘except for goodwill related to business acquisitions after June 30, 2001
Accumulated arhortization was $13.7 million and $14.3 million at December 31, 2003 and’ 2002,

' respectively; Amortization of goodwill totaled $10.1 million in 2001. (See Note 9 ) Identifiable intangibles
are amortlzed over.the assets estimated useful lives.

~Sale fLeaseback, T {ansactzons ;

We have entered into sale leaseback transactions of compression equipment with special plrpose
entities. Salé leaseback transactions of compression equipment are evaluated for lease classification in
accordance with SFAS No. 13 “Accounting for Leases.” Prior to the. adoption in 2003 of FASB -
Interpretatioii No. 46, “Consolidation-of Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation of ARB 51" as
revised in Decernber 2003 (“FIN 46”) these special purpose entities were not consolidated by Hanover
when the OWNETS. of the spec1al purposes entities made a substantial residual equity investment of at least
three percent that was. at I‘lSk dunng the entlre term of the lease (See Notes 6 and 12.) ’

Income Ta axes ' ' ) ‘

We account. for income taxes using an asset and l1ab111ty -approach that requires the recognltlon of
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that.have been '
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_ HANOVER COMPRESSOR COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

recognized in our financial statements or tax returns. In estimating future- tax consequences; all expected
future events are considered other than enactments .that would change the tax law or rates. A valuation
allowance is recognized for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred
tax asset will not be realized.

Foreign Currency Translation

The financial statements of subsidiaries outside the U.S., except those located in Latin America and
highly inflationary -economies, are measured using the local currency as the functional currency. Assets and
liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated at-the rates of exchange at the balance sheet date. Income
and expense items are translated at average monthly rates of exchange. The resulting gains and losses from
the translation of accounts are included in accumulated other comprehensive income. For subsidiaries
located in Latin America and highly inflationary economies, ﬁnancial.statement_s are measured using
U.S. dollar functional currency and translation gains and losses are included in net income (loss).

Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings (loss) per common share is computed by dividing income (loss)“‘available to common
shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings (loss)
per common share is computed using the weighted average number .of shares outstanding adjusted for the -
incremental common stock equivalents attributed to outstanding options, warrants to purchase common .
stock, convertible senior notes and convertible  subordinated notes, unless their effect would be anti-dilutive.

" The table below 1nd1cates the net 1ncome for purposes of computing dlluted net income per share
from contlnumg operatlons (m thousands) ‘

Year Ended
2001
Diluted net income per. share
Net Income . ...t e § 72,413
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax................... (2,965)
Distributions on convertible subordinated notes, net. of fax .......... 4,142
Net income for purposes of computing diluted net income per share from
CONtINUING OPETALIONS .\ v vt vttt et s e i e e e e e ans <. % 73,590

The table below indicates the potential common shares issuable which were included in computing
the dilutive potential common shares used in diluted earnings (loss) per common share {in thousands):

- Years Ended
December 31,

. . . 2003 2002 2001
Weighted average common shares outstanding — used in : :
basic earnings (loss) per common share ............... 81,123 © 79,500- . 72,355
Net dilutive potential common shares issuable: _
On exercise of options and vesting of restncted stock o *x 3,991
On exercise of warrants ..........c.... ... 0 oo, .. S *k Pk - 4
On conversion of convertible subordlnated notes due ‘ - o
2029 e e e .o ** >k 4.825.
On conversion of convemble senior notes due 2008 . *x *x **
On conversion of convertible senior notes due 2014 . ** kX i
Welghted average common shares and dilutive potent1al '
common shares — used in dilutive earnings (loss) per
common Share . ... ot e 81,123 79,500 81,175

*¥ Excluded from diluted earnings (loss) per common share as the effect would have been anti-dilutive.
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HANOVER COMPRESSOR COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The table below indicates the potential common shares issuable which were excluded from net
dilutive potential common shares issuable as their effect would be anti-dilutive (in thousands):

Years Ended
December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Net dilutive potential common shares issuable:

On exercise of options and vesting of restricted stock . .. 1,264 2,442 —
On exercise of 'options-exercise price greater than - '

average market value at end of period .............. 3,929 931 —
On exercise of warrants ....... P 4 4 —
On conversion of convertible subordinated notes due

2020 4,825 4,825 —
On conversion of convertible senior notes due 2008 .. ... 4,370 4,370 3,399

On conversion of convertible senior notes due 2014 ... .. 420 —
: ' 14,812 12,572 3,399

Stock-Based Compensation

Certain of our employees participate in stock option plans that provide for the granting of options to
purchase Hanover common shares. In accordance with Statement of Financial Standards No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” (“SFAS 123”) Hanover measures compensation expense
for its stock-based employee compensation plans using the intrinsic value method prescribed in APB
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”). The following pro forma net
income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share data illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and net
earnings (loss) per share if the fair value method had been applied to all outstanding and unvested stock
options in each period (in thousands).

Years Ended
December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Net income (loss) as reported ..................... $ (208,259) $ (116,068) $ 72,413
Add back: Restricted stock grant expense, net of
125 GO 766 275 —
Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation ‘
expense determined under the fair value method,
netoftax ............. ... ... .. e (2,628) (2,753) - (3,804)
Proforma net income (loss)..... e e $ (210,121) $ (118,546) $ 68,609
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basicasreported............. .. ol $ (257) § (146) $ 1.00
Basic proforma .......... . ... .. $ (2.59) $ (1.49) § 0.5
Diluted asreported . .......................... $ (257) $§ . (1.46) $ 094
Diluted proforma........ ... ... ... $ (2.59) $ (149) $ 090

In 2003 and 2002, we granted 435,000 and 151,000 restricted shares, respectively, of Hanover
common stock to certain employees as part of an incentive compensation.plan. The restricted stock grants
vest equally over four years. As of December 31, 2003, 512,000 restricted shares were outstanding under
our incentive compensation plans. We will recognize compensation expense equal to the fair value of the
stock at the date of grant over the vesting period related to these grants. During 2003 and 2002, we
recognized $1.2 million and $0.4 million, respectively, in compensation expense related to these grants.

Comprehensive Income

Components of comprehensive income (loss) are net income and all changes in equity during a period
except those resulting from transactions with owners. Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
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HANOVER COMPRESSOR COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

consists of the foreign currency translation adjustment and changes in the fair value of derivative financial
instruments, net of tax. The following table summarizes our accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) (in thousands): -

December 31,

i ) 2003 2002
Cnange in fair value of derivative financial instrurnents, netoftax.... $ (9 246) $ (14,939)
Foreign currency translation adjustment ............... PR N 18,473 . 1,243

$.9227 % (13,696)

Financial Instruments

We utilize denvatwe financial mstruments to minimize the nsks and/or costs associated with financial
and global operating activities by managing our exposure to interest rate fluctuation on a portion of our
leasing obligations and foreign currency exchange changes on a smiall portion of our international business.
We do not utilize derivative financial instruments for trading or other speculative purposes. The cash flow
from hedges is classified in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows under the same’ category as the
cash flows from the underlying assets, liabilities or anticipated transactions.

In June 1998, the FASB issued SFAS-No. 133, “Accounting for Denvatlve Instruments and Hcdgmg
Activities” (“SFAS 133”). SFAS 133, as amended by SFAS 137, SFAS 138, and SFAS 149, requires.
that, upon adoption, all derivative instruments (including certain derivative instruments embedded in other
contracts) be recognlzed in the balance sheét at fair value, and that changes in such fair values be
recognized in earnings ‘unless specific hedging criteria are met. Changes in the values of derivatives that
meet these hedging criteria will ultimately offset related earnings effects of the hedged item pending
recognition in earnings. We adopted SFAS 133 beginning January 1, 2001. (See Note 14.)

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the prior peﬁbd;s financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the
2003 financial statement classification as more fully discussed in.Notes 3 and 14. These reclassifications
have no impact on net income. See Note 3 for & dlscussmn of dlscontlnued operations.

2. Business Acquisitions

Acquisitions were accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. Results of operations of
companies acquired are included from the date of acquisition. We allocate the cost of the acquired’
business to the assets acquited and the liabilities- assumed based upon fair value estimates thereof. These
estimates are revised during the allocation penod as necessary when information regarding contingencies
becomes available to redefine and requantify assets acqulred and liabilities assumed. The allocation period
varies for each acquisition but does not exceed one year. To the extent contingencies are’ resolved or
settled during the allocation period, such items are included in the revised purchase price allocation. After
the allocation period, the effect of changes 1n such contingencies is 1ncludcd in results of operations in the
periods the adjustments are determined. :

Year Ended December 31 2003

" Belleli Acquisition. In 2002, we increased our ownership of Belleli to 51% from 20.3% by converting
$13.4 million in loans, together with approximately $3.2 million in accrued interest thereon, into additional
equity ownership and in November 2002 began consolidating the results of Belleli’s operations. Belleli has
three manufacturing facilities, one in Mantova, Italy and two in the United .Arab Emirates (Jebel Ali and
Hamriyah). During 2002, we also purchased certain operating assets used by Belleli for approximately
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

$22.4 million from a bankruptcy estate of Belleli’s former parent and leased these assets to Belleli for
approximately $1.2 million per year, for a term of seven years. :

In connection with our increase in ownership in 2002, we entered into an agreement with the minority
owner of Belleli that provided the minority owner the right, until June 30, 2003, to purchase our interest
for an amount that appreximated our investment in Belleli. The agreement also provided us with the right,
beginning in July 2003, to purchase the minority owner’s interest.in Belleli. In addition, the minority owner
historically had been unwilling to provide its proportionate share of capital to Belleli. We believed that our
ability to maximize value would be enhanced if we were able to exert greater control through the exercise
of our purchase right. Thus, in August 2003, we exercised our option to acquire the remaining 49% interest
in Belleli for approximately $15.0 million in order to gain complete control of Belleli. As a result of these
transactions and intervening foreign exchange rate changes, we recorded $4.8 million in identifiable
intangible assets, with a weighted average ‘life of approxrmately 17 years and $35.5 million in goodwill.

Asa result of the war in Iraq, the strengthemng of the Euro and generally unfavorable economic
conditions, we believe that the estimated fair value of Belleli declined significantly during 2003. Upon
gaining complete control of Belleli and assessing our long-term growth strategy, we determined that these
general factors in combination with the specific economic factors impacting Belleli had significantly and
adversely impacted the timing and amount of the future cash flows that we expected Belleli to generate.
We currently do not expect to reahze our ongmal growth expectations for Belleli in the trmeframe that we
originally forecasted ,

During the performance of our annual goodwﬂl impairment review in the fourth quarter of 2003, we
determined the present value of Belleli’ s.expected future cash flows was less than our carrying value of
Belleli. This resulted in a full impairment charge for the $35.5 million in goodwill associated with Belleli.
Upon further analysis, it was determined that the factors resulting in the goodwill impairment charge were
also present during the third quarter of 2003 and that the exercise of our purchase option in the third
quarter of 2003 and the presence of such factors should have resulted in an interim goodwill impairment
test under SFAS 142 and an impairment charge at that time. We have adjusted our third quarter results
accordingly. (See Note 9:) ‘ : - .

In December 2003, we acqurred the remalnmg 50% 1nterest in Servi Compressores CA and cancelled
the note receivable related to the sale of such interest in June 2000.

Year Ended December 31, 2002

‘In July 2002, we acquired a 92.5% interest in Wellhead Power Gates, LLC (“Gates”) for
approximately $14.4 million and had loaned approximately $6 million to Gates prior to our acqulsrtlon
Gates i is a developer and owner of a forty-six megawatt cycle power facrhty in Fresno County, California.’
This investment was accounted for as a consohdated subsidiary and was classified as an asset held for sale
and its operating results were reported in income (loss) from discontinued operations, until sold in
September 2003. See Note 3 for a discussion of discontinued Operatioqs'. o ‘

In July 2002, we acquired a 49.0% interest in Wellhead Power Panoche; LLC (“Panoche”) for
approximately $6.8 million and had loaned approximately $5.0 million to Panoche prior to the acquisition
of our interest. Panoche is a developer and owner of a forty-nine megawatt cycle power facility in Fresno
County, California, which is under contract with the California Department of Water Resources. This
investment was classified as an asset held for sale and the equity income (loss) from this non-consolidated
subs1d1ary was reported in income (loss) from discontinued operations, untrl sold i in June 2003. See Note 3
for a dlscussmn of dlscontlnued operatlons

“In July 2002 we acquired certain assets of Voyager Compressron Services, LLC-a natural gas
compression services company located in Gaylord, Michigan, for approximately $2.5 million-in cash.
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See discussion of 2002 acquisition of Belleli .above.

Year Ended December 31, 2001

In August 2001, we acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Production Operators
Corporation (“POC”) from Schlumberger for $761 million in cash, our common. stock and debt, subject
to certain post-closing adjustments. pursuant to the purchase agreement that to date have resulted in an
increase in-the purchase price to:approximately $778. million due to an increase in net assets acquired.
Under the terms of the purchase: agreement, Schlumberger received approximately $270 million in cash
(excluding the amounts.paid for the increase in net assets), $150 million in a long-term subordinated note,
which in May, 2003 was restructured as our Zero Coupon Subordinated Notes due March 31, 2007, and
8,707,693 shares of our common stock, or approximately 11% of our then outstanding shares, which are
required to be held by Schlumberger for at least three years following the closing date (see Note 11). The’
ultimate number of shares issued under the purchase agreement was determined based on the nominal
value of $283 million divided by $32.50 per share, the 30-day average closing price of Hanover common
stock as defined under the acquisition agréement and subject to a collar of $41.50 and $32.50. The
estimated fair value of the stock issued was $212.5 million, based on the market value of the shares at the
time the number of shares issued was determined, reduced by an estimated 20% discount due to the
restrictions on the stock’s marketability. The POC acquisition was accounted for as a purchase and was
- included in our financial statements commencing on September 1, 2001

_ Additionally, as part of the purchase agreement we are requlred to make a payment of up to
$58.0 million due upon the completion of a financing of the PIGAP II South American joint venture
(“PIGAP” ) acquired by Hanover. Because the joint venture failed to execute the financing on or before
December 31, 2002, we had the right to put our interest in the joint venture back to Schlumberger in
exchange for a return ‘of the purchase price allocated to the joint venture, plus the net amount of any
capital contributions by Hanover to the joint venture. (See Note 11.)

The purchase price was a negotiated amount between Hanover and Schlumbergér. We believe the
purchase price represented the fair market value of the POC business based on its assets, customer base,
reputation, market position (domestic and international) and potential for long-term growth. We 1ncurred
apprommately $15.0'million in expenses in connection with the  acquisition.

As of December 31, 2003 we had recorded approximately $68.2 million in goodwill, that will not be
deductible for tax purposes, related to the POC acquisition which was not amortized in accordance with
the transition provisions of SFAS 142 :(See Note 9). In addition, we recorded $9.8 million in identifiable
intangible assets of which $8.2 million was amortized over a 24 ‘month weighted average life and
$1.6 million is included in our basis of the PIGAP joint venture and relates to the option to put the joint
venture back to Schlumberger. The purchase price is subject to a contingent payment by Hanover to
Schlumberger based on the realization of certain tax benefits by Hanover over the next 15 years No -
payments on this contingent obligation have been made to date. Co

In June 2001, we acquired the assets of J&R International for approximately $3.7 million in cash and
17,598 shares of Hanover’s common stock valued at approximately $0.7 million

In Aprll 2001, we acqu1red certain assets of Power Machinery, Inc. for approxunately $2.6 million in
cash and 108, 625 shares of Hanover s common stock valued at apprommately $3 9 mllhon

Tn March 2001 we purchased OEC Compression Corporation (“OEC”) in an-all-stock transaction
for approximately $101.8 million, including the assumption and payment of approximately $64.6 million of -
OEC indebtedness. We paid an aggregate of approximately 1,145,706 shares of Hanover common stock to
stockholders of OEC. The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accountmg and is -
included in our financial statements commencing in April 2001.
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During 2002 and 2001, we completed other acquisitions which were not significant either individually
or in the aggregate.

Pro Forma Information

The pro forma information set forth below assumes the Belleli acquisition is accounted for had the
purchase occurred at the beginning of 2002. The. remaining acquisitions were not. considered material for
pro forma purposes. The pro forma information is presented for informational purposes only and is not
necessarily indicative of the results of operations that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisitions been consummated at that time (in thousands, except per share amounts):

- Years Ended
December 31,

2002

(unaudited)

Revenue .........coovvvevinnnnn. e $1,108,990
Net income (10ss) . ... ..coovviineiiinnnn AR (116,262)
Earnings (loss) per common share—basic................ (1.46)
Earnings (loss) per common share—diluted .. ............ (1.46)

3. Discontinued Operations and Other Assets Held for Sale

During the fourth quarter of 2002, Hanover’s Board of Directors approved management’s plan to
dispose of our non-oilfield power generation projects, which were part of our domestic rental business, and
certain used equipment businesses, which were part of our parts and service business. These disposals meet
the criteria established for recognition as discontinued operations under SFAS 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” (“SFAS 144”). SFAS 144 spcmﬁcally requires that such
amounts must represent a component of a business comprised of operations and cash flows that can be
clearly distinguished, operationally and for financial reporting purposes, from the rest of the entity. These
businesses are reflected as discontinued operations in our Consolidated Statement of Operations. Due to
changes in market conditions, the disposal plan was not completed in 2003. We are continuing to actively
market these assets and have made valuation, adjustments as a result of the change in market conditions.
As a result of our consolidation efforts during 2003, we reclassified certain closed facilities to assets held
for sale. These assets are expected to be sold within the next 12 months and the assets and liabilities are
reﬁected as held-for-sale on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

In 2003, we recorded a $21.6 million ($14.1 million after tax) charge to write-down our investment in
discontinued operations to their current estimated market-value. During the fourth quarter of 2002,
Hanover recognized a pre-tax charge to discontinued operations of approximately $52.3 million
($36.5 million after tax) for the estimated loss in fair-value from carrying value expected to be realized at
the time of disposal. This amount includes a $19.0 million pre-tax impairment of goodwill. During the
second quarter of 2002, Hanover recognized a pre-tax write-down of $6.0 million ($3.9 million after tax)
for certain turbines related to the non-oilfield power generatlon business Wthh has also been reflected as
discontinued operations.

In 2003, we announced that we had agreed to sell our 49% membership interest in Panoche and our
92.5% membership interest in Gates to Hal Dittmer and Fresno Power Investors Limited Partnership, who
owned the remaining interests in Panoche and Gates. Panoche and Gates own gas-fired peaking power
plants of 49 megawatts and 46 megawatts, respectively. The Panoche transaction closed in June 2003 and
the Gates transaction closed in September 2003. Total consideration for the transactions was approximately
$27.2 million consisting of approximately $6.4 million in cash, $2.8 million in notes that mature in May
2004, a $0.5 million note that matures in September 2005 and the release of our obligations under a
capital lease from GE Capital to Gates that had an outstanding balance of approximately $17.5 million at
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the time of the Gates clesing I addition‘ we weré released from a $12 million letter of credit from us to
GE Cap1ta1 that was prov1ded as addltlonal credit support for the Gates capital lease.

Summary of operatmg results of the discontinued operatlons (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

_ - , y 2003 2002 7 2001
- Revenues and other: ~ L : S o
' Domestic renfals .. ;.. .. AU P $ '4,490 $ 280 8. —
" Parts, service-and used equrpment e 17,223 20,197 . 29,168
Equlty in 1ncome of non consohdated affiliates . . e . 550, 405 —
Other R e ©(77) 52 569
o L IR SR 22,186 . 23524 29,737
Expenses:' o ' ‘
Domestic rentals’. . .......... U S 1,176 = 363 -
Parts, service and used equipment ................... 11,334- . 13,485 14,136
Selling, general and administrative'. . ... ....... R <.76,512 - 8,346 8,808
Deprecnatron and amortization.......... e e — 1,672 1,737
,’Interestexpense..i......‘..........‘......' ....... 796 - 481 9
. Other' o R R, 433 1,309 . . —~

20,251 - 25,656 24,690
Income (loss) from dlscontmued operations before income -

L ARES 4 e e e 1,935 (2,132) 5047
 Provision for. (beneﬁt from) income taxes.........., e iy 683 (1,257). 2,082
Incorne (1oss) from dlscontmued operatlons R T 1 252 % ’(875) $ 2,965

,Summary balance sheet data for assets ‘held for sale as of December 31, 2003 (m thousands):

o

Non- -
: Oilfield
. Used . . Power :
" Equipment  Generation = Facilities Total’
Current assets .. P ., -$ 6820 $ 10524 % — $ 17,344 .

Property plant and equlpment : 924 1,386 11,671 13,981
Total assets held for sale ’ 7,744 11,910 11,671 31,325
) Current liabilities . — 1,128 — 1,128
L1ab111t1es held for sale ‘ = 1,128 — 1,128

Net assets held for sale % 7,744 $ 10,782 $ 11,671 $ 30,197
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. Summary balance sheet data for discontinued operations as of December 31, 2002 (in thousands):

: . : Non-QOilfield
Used Power
. - . .Equipment =~ Generation .. Total

Current assets $ 20099 $ 13666 $§ 33,765
Property plant and equlpment 858 28,103 28,961
Non-current assets - - : ‘ — 6,682 6,682
Total assets held for sale ‘ : 20,957 48,451 69,408
Current liabilities , ' o= 3257 3,257
Non-current liabilities ' : Co T e 19,002 19,002
" Total liabilities held for sale ’ 2 22959 '22259

Net assets held for sale $_ 20957 $__ 26,192 S__ 47,149

4. Inventory

Inventory, net of reserves, consisted of the following amounts (in.thousands):
‘ December 31,

: ' . L . - 2003 ..2002
Parts and supplies .................... e . % 114063 $ 114,833
WOTK 1N PrOgress . ..o vttt e © 29,412 37,790
Finished goods ... .................... e e . 11,822 13,381

$ 155297 $ 166,004

Durmg the year ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 we recorded apprommately $3 0 mllhon
~ $13.9 million and $2.3 mllhon respectively, in inventory write-downs and reserves for parts inventory
which was either obsolete, excess or carried at a price above market value. As.of December-31, 2003 and
2002, we had inventory reserves of $12.7 million and $14.2 million, respectlvely

5. Compressoi' and Production Equipment Fabrication Contracts

: Costs estimated earnings and billings on uncompleted contracts consisted of the followmg (1n '
thousands): :
Dedelﬁber 31. |

. ' 2003 2002
Costs incurred on uncompléte’d contracté ................. e $ 366,626‘ ‘.$ 234,670
Estimated €arnings. . .......ouuee el i 47,782 21,073
: _ 414,408 255,743
Less —billings todate ........................... TP (372,707)  (212,968)

$ 41,701 $ 42,775

Presented in the accompanying financial statements as follows (in thousands):

_December 31,
2003 2002

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts $ 350,128 §. 57,346
Billings on uncompleted contracts in excess of costs and estimated earnings (8,427)  (14,571)
$ 41,701 $ 42,775
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6. Property, plant and equipment - ,i; N . e
!Property, plant and equrpment cons1sted of the followmg (in thousands) ‘ 5
ey, R ’ December 31, '
. 2003 2002
Compression equipment, facilities and other rental assets. ... ii....:. $2,407,873 ° $1,261,241
Land and buildings .........ooiriiiniiiiiiii e, 80,142 . 86,732
Transportation and shop equipment ... e S 1912 75,443
Other....0 00 e o i . 41741 31,888
s K : - 2,607,668 1,455,304
Accumulated deprec1at10n.(.j.". e e (580,014) (287,629)
o o 082,027,654 $1 167,675

Depreciation expense was $l60 6 mllhon $139.4 ‘million and- $73 6 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. Depreciation expense for 2003 and 2002 1ncludes $14.3 million and $34.5 million; réspectively
for the impairment ‘of certain idle units of our compression fleet that are being retired and the acceleration
of depreciation of certain plants and facilities expected to be sold or abandoned. Assets under construction
of $81.3 million and $116.4 million are included i in compression equipment, facilities and other rental
assets at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectlvely We capitalized $1.0 million, $2.5 million and
$2.8 mllhon of 1nterest related to constructlon 1n process durmg 2003 2002 and 2001, respectlvely

P

On July 1, 2003 we adopted the provisions of FIN 46 as they relate to the special purpose entmes
that lease compression equipment to us. As a result; we added approximately $1,089.4 million in
compressor equipment assets, $192.3 million’ of -accumulated depreciation’(including approxitately
$58.6 millioni of accumulated depreciation related to periods before the sale' and leaseback’ of the
equipment), $1,105.0 million in debt and $34.6 million in minority interest obligations to our balance
sheet, and we reversed $108.8 million of deferred gains that were recorded on our balance sheet in Other
liabilities as a result of the sale leaseback transactrons See Note 12 and 22 for a discussion of the impact
of our part1al adoptton of FIN 46.

In December 2003, we exercised our purchase option under the 1999 compression equipment
operating lease. As of December 31, 2003, the remaining compression assets-owned by the entities that
lease equipment to us but are now included in property, plant and equipment in our consolidated financial
statements had a net book value of approximately $804.0 million, including improvements made to these
assets after the sale leaseback transactions.

7. Intangible and Other Assets

S
'l

Intangrble and other assets cons1sted oﬁ the followmg (m thousands)

e : \,4:_5 - December 31,. '
ey L (2003 e 2002, .

Deferred debt 1ssuance and leasmg transactlons costs AN $ 52,633 $ 44,396 .
. Notes receivable.......... e S e S g e P & 319 12 769,
Intangibles™.............. I R . ." e PR PO 9,922 27, 602
Other....................... R S PR e ' 12,770 110,983
RS v © 82,644 95,750
Accumulated amortization . . ... e o (15,162)  (21,692)

$ 67,482 $§ 74,058
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Notes receivable result primarily from customers for sales of equipment or advances to other parties
in the ordinary course of business. During 2003, we sold our ownership positions in two non-oilfield power

generation projects and received a portion of the proceeds in notes. (See Note 3.) During 2002, we
recorded a charge in other expense to reserve for certain employee notes. (See Note 20.)

See Note 18 for a discussion of related party notes receivable.

Intangible assets consisted of the following:
’ As of December 31, 2003 As of December 31, 2002

Gross " Gross
~ carrying Accumulated carrying Accumulated

amount amortization amount amortization
(in thousands)’ :

Deferred debt issuance and leasmg transaction

COSES ©vvvvn i i e $52,633  $(12,538) -$44,396  $(14,179)
Marketing related ................0...... L 4,419, . (1,482) 4,465 (618)
Customer related...................... Lieee 23,390 (490) 1,881 (20)

. Technology based ........ T 1,463 . ‘(206) . —_ . —

Contract based..............0 ..o .. 6500 1 (446) 21,256 (6,875)
S 362,555 T$(15,162)  $71,998 - $(21,692)

In 2003, upon the acqu151t1on of the remaining 49% 1nterest of Belleh certain contract based
intangibles were reclassified to goodw1ll : :

Amortlzatmn of intangible and other assets totaled $12 0 million, $11.8 million and $5.1 million in
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Estimated future intangible amortization expense is (in thousands):

2004 ... T S $10,306
2005 ..., e . 8,413
2006 .. e 7,170
2007 e 5,277
2008 ... ... S . e 3,795
Thereafter .............:.... e e 12,432
$47,393

8. Investmeénts in Non-Consolidated Affiliates

Investments in affiliates that are not controlled by Hanover but where we have the ability to exercise
significant influence over the operations are accounted for using the equity method. Our share of net
income or losses of these affiliates is reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Operations as Equity in
income of non-consolidated affiliates. Our primary equity method investments are comprised of entities
that own, fabricate, operate, service and maintain compression and other related facilities. Our equity
method investments totaled approximately $87.6 million and $148.8 million at December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectwely
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Our ownership interest and location of each equity method investee at December 31 2003 is as
follows: ’

- Ownership . : ‘

: o Interest = . Location N Type of Busmess
Pigap II......... R, 300% " Venezuela ~ Gas Compression Plant
El Furrial ........ ... .0 0iic0 ... - 33.3% Venezuela Gas Compression Plant
Simco/Harwat Consortium .......:.  355% . Venezuela = Gas Compression Plant
Hanover Measurement Servrces ' e ) ‘

Company LP .............. wveoe. 504%  United States Monitoring Services .

Collicutt Energy Serv1ces Ltd.. PR +241% . -~Canada Compression Service Provider-
CrystaTech, Inc. .................. 35.0% . United Statées Process Technology Company

Summarized balance sheet 1nformat10n for 1nvestees accounted for by the equ1ty method follows {on a
100% basis, in thousands) ' ' :
) De,cember 31,

‘ . L ‘ , 2003 * 2002
Current assets......... S e . RO ... $176,925 § 140,314
Non-current assets .............. DRETR ‘." ............... 585,335 575,985 -
Current liabilities, excluding debt .............0c..ooii.n.. 43,753 53,474
Debt Payable. .. . ..o e e L0 409,157 182,288 .-
Other non-current hablhtles ..... P P P . 36,114 14,193
Owners’ equity .. ... et PR el 273 ,236 466 344

Summarized earnings information for these entmes for the years cnded December 31 2003, 2002 and
2001 follows (on a 100% basis, in thousands) - '
. " Years Ended December 31,

R 2003 002 2001(0)
Revenues ............... ' ........... e $ 277, 575§ 288 268 $ 201, 581 .
Operating income .. .....:.. .o o e 136,998 85,907 ~ 46,097

Pretax income ....... G Sl 12,054 '76,519'.:, 25,417

(1) Amounts for the joint ventures acqulrcd in connectron with the POC busmess acqulsltron are included
from September 1, 2001. , S

The most significant 1nvestments are the Jo1nt ventures (Prgap II El Furnal and Slmco/ Harwat
Consortium) acquired in connection w1th the POC acquisition completed in August 2001. At
December 31, 2003 and 2002, these ventures account for approxrmately $79.4 and $141.0 m1111on of our’
equity investments, respectlvcly, and generatéd equity in earnings for 2003, 2002 and 2001 of
approximately $21.7 million, $21.7 million and $8.1 million. During 2003 and 2002, we received
approximately $18.5 million and $16.6 million in dividends from these joint ventures. In connection with
our investment in El Furrial and Simco/Harwat. Consortium, we guaranteed our portion of the. debt in the
joint venture related to these projects. At December 31, 2003 and 2002 we have guaranteed approximately:
$52.3 million and $56.7 million, respectively, of the: debt whrch is on these _]omt venture books. These -
amounts are not recorded on Hanover’s books. b Cs

In Octobér 2003, the PIGAP II joint venture engaged in a project financing and distributed
approximately $78.5 million to us, of which approximately $59.9 million was used to repay a non—recourse
promlssory note that had been secured by our interest in- PIGAP 11 (See Note 11:) :
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During 2003, we acquired a 35% interest in CrystaTech, Inc. a process technology company, for -
approximately $0.5 million.

The financial data for 2001 includes Belleli. Effective January 2001, we agreed to provide certain
facilitation services to Belleli and provide Belleli with project financing including necessary guarantees,
bonding capacity and other collateral on an individual project basis. We received $1.7 million from Belleli
in 2001 for our facilitation services. In November 2002 and August 2003, Hanover acquired additional
interest in Belleli bringing the total ownership to 100%. The increase in ownership in November 2002,
required that we record our investment in Belleli using the consolidation ‘method of accounting rather than
equity method accounting. The results of Belleli’s operations.subsequent to the acquisition of the
‘controlling interest in November 2002, and the assets and liabilities of Belleli have been consolidated in
our financial statements. (See Note 2.),, :

. In the normal course of business, we engage in purchase and sale transactions with Collicutt Energy
Serv1ces Ltd. During the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, we had sales to this related
party of $0.3 million, $0.9 million and $2.6 million respectively; and purchases of $6.1 million,
$19.6 million and $19.2 million, respectively. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, we had a net payable to
this related party of $0.8 million and $0.1 million, respectively. In 2002, due to permanent decline in the
market value of our investment in Collicutt Energy Servxces Ltd., we recorded to Other expense an
1mpa1rment of $5.0 million.

We also hold interests in companies in which we do not exercise significant influence over the
operations. These investments are accounted for using the cost method. Cost method investments totaled
approximately $1.1 million-and $1.9 million at December 31, 2003 and.2002; respectively. During 2002, we
determined that certain of our cost method investments were permanently impaired and therefore recorded
in Other expense impairment charges amounting to $7.1 million.

In May 2000, we acquired common stock of Aurion Technologles Inc. (“Aurion”), a technology
company formed to develop remote monitoring and data collection services for the compression industry,
for $2.5 m11110n in cash.-In 2001, we purchased additional shares for approximately $1.3 million, advanced
$2.7 million to-Aurion-and had an accounts receivable of $1.1 million. Aurion filed for bankruptcy
protection in March 2002, and-accordingly, we recorded in Other expense approximately $5.0 million
during the year ended: December 31, 2001 to impair our investment and the unrecoverable amount of the
advances. During 2002, we recorded an additional charge related to Aurion of $3.9 million.

9., Goodwill —

In January 2002,we adopted SFAS 142. Under SFAS 142, amortization of goodwill over an estimated
useful life was discontinued. Instead, goodwill will be reviewed for 1rnpa1rment annually or whenever events
indicate impairment may havé occurred. The standard also requires acqulred intangible assets to be
recognized separately and amortlzed as appropriate. The adoptlon of SFAS 142 has had an impact on
Hanover’s ﬁnanc1al statements, due to the d1scontmuat10n of goodw1ll amortlzanon expense.

" The provisions of SFAS 142 require us to 1dent1fy our reportmg units and perform an annual
impairment assessment of the goodwill attributable to.each reporting units. We determined that our
reporting units: are the same as our business segments, except for-our production and processing equipment
business that we evaluated -at .one level below our business segments. We perform our. annual impairment
assessment’in the fourth quarter of the year and determine the fair value of reporting units usmg a:
combination of the expected present value.of future cash flows and the market approach.

Due to a downturn in our business.and changes in the business environment in which we operate, we
completed an additional impairment analysis as of June 30, 2002. As a result of the test performed as of
June 30, 2002 we recorded a $47.5 million impairment of goodwill attributable to our production and
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processmg equlpment fabrication business unit. In the fourth quarter of 2002, we recorded a $4.6 million
goodwill impairment related to our pump “division.

During 2003, we performed an 1mpa1rment review of goodwﬂl and because the present value of '
Belleli’s expected cash flows was less than the book value of our investment in Belleli, we determined that
a $35.5 million rmparrment charge should be recorded on the goodwrll associated with Belleh (See
Note 2.) '

The table below presents the change in ‘the net carrying amouat, of goodwill for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002 (in. thousands) -

Purchase - B R
Adjustment BRI . )
December 31, =~ and Other Goodwill December 31,
- : o - 2002 _-Acquisitions -Adjustments ITmpairment 2003

Domestrc Tentals <.l . ..., .08 94655 8 — $ 249 % — $ 94504
International rentals. ... ........... cee 34,659 - T — 377) = 34,282
Parts, service and used equipment.. ceee L 32,691 558 . (319 ... — 32,870
Cornpressor and accessory fabncatlon e 14 573 L= —_ S o— . 14,573
Production and processing equlpment 3941 15000 16,525 (35,466) —.

Total ......... e L.....$ 180,519 '$ 15,558 '$_16,0i8 $_ (35466)$_ 176,629

SR S Goodwill
- o .. Purchase = Written Off |
Ad]ustment Related to

Déeember 31, and Other Discontinued Goodwill .December 31;

) 2001 Acquisitions  Adjustments . Operations Impairment 2002
Domestic rentals .. .......o..oro... $. 89,696 $. — . $ 4959 $  — § .— $ 94655
Intcmatlonal remals ...... e NI ... 33984 — 6T = L . 34,659
Parts, service and used equ1pment Coenee 51822 - — 0 (l121)  t(1s010)  — 32,601
Compressor and accessory. fabtication .. 190176 = j R S =1(4,603) - "14,573
Production and processing equlpment o 47,5000 . -3,941 - Do — . (47,500) 3,941

" Total..... ..... $ 242178 $ 3941 $ 5513 $ (19010) $ (52 103) $ 180,519

Addltlons to goodwill for our production and processing segment for 2003 and 2002 relate to our
acquisition of Belleh (See Note 2).

Hanover’s adjusted net income and earnings.per share, adjusted.to exclude goodwill amortization
expense, for the twelve .months ended December 31, 2001 is as follows (in thousands, except per share
data): ‘

: I . o201
Netrncome e e Soiooien  $ 72,413
~.Goodwill amortization, ‘net of tax ............................ ST -8,846
. Adjusted net fficome. ... 8 81;259
Basic earnings per share asreported . ... e . $ 1.00
Goodwill amortization, netof tax . ... v, e oo 012
. ~Adjusted basrc earmngs per: share B PR e T $.o a2 -y
‘Diluted’ earnrngs per’; “shate, as reported ....... 0 il e S 094 '
‘Goodwill amortization, net of tax ........... ... ... PRI PN 0!
1Ad]usted diluted ‘earnmgs per share‘\". e e Ll $ 105
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10. - Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities are comprised of the following (in thousands):
' ’ December 31,

‘ : 2003 2002
Accrued salaries, bonuses and other employee benefits. . .......... ... 8 20,533 $§ 21,024
Accrued income and other taxes . ... ..ot 15,948 24,095
Accrued leasing eXpense ... ... .. e — 23,465
Additional purchase price for POC ....................... S Y - 60,740
Current portion of hedge instruments ................ ... ..... SN - 11,703 16,082
Litigation settlement accrual ........ ... ... ... . il 32,692 —
Accrued Interest . . ... v 23,228 2,939

Accrued other........ et e 51,337 41,294
- " ) $ 155,441 -$ 189,639

The decrease of $60.7 million for the additional purchase price for POC is due to the reclassification
and repayment of a $58 million contingent liability and accrued interest associated with the PIGAP II
joint venture that was restructured into the PIGAP Note. (See Note 2 and 11. )

Begmmng in July 2003, payments accrued under our sale leaseback transactions which were
previously included in accrued leasing are included in accrued interest as a result of adopting the
provisions of FIN 46 and consohdatmg the special purpose entltles that lease compression equ1pment to us.
(See Note 12.) :

In December 2002 we announced a‘plan to consolidate certain of our manufacturing facilities and to
terminate approximately 500 employees worldwide during 2003. In connection with the planned severance,
we recorded an expense to selling, general and administrative expenses for $2. 7 mllhon for estimated .
termination benefits and the amount is included in accrued other liabilities. As of December 31, 2003,
$2.0 million had been paid out for the planned severance and we reversed the remaining balance. During
the fourth quarter of 2003, we identified additional headcount reductions and implemented a plan to close
two additional facilities and recorded a $0.7 million expense. ‘

L

11. Debt

Short-term debt consisted of the following (in thousands): ‘
' ‘ » " December 31,

2003 2002
Belleli—factored receivables . .. ................... e . 813,261 $ 15,970
Belleli—revolving credit facility ... ... e 16,141 11,964
Other, interest at 5.0%, due 2004. ........ ... . i e - 3,117 4,063

Short-term debt . ... . $.32,519 $ 31,997

In November 2002, we increased our ownership in Belleli to 51%. (See Note:2.) Belleli has financed
its operations through the factoring of its receivables. Such factoring is typically short-term in nature and
at December 31, 2003 bore interest at a weighted average rate of 4.0%. In addition, Belleli’s revolving
credit facilities bore interest at a weighted average rate of 3.2% and 3.0% at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. These revolving credit facilities expire in 2004 and are partially secured by letters of credit
issued and outstanding under Hanover’s bank credit facility of $10.2 million as “of December 31, 2003.
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~ Long-term debt consisted o‘f-ft-he, fQL10w1ng,’. (in thou§'ands):

P . T T BT TR T IR : " December 31,
: BT A R RIS - 2003 2002
; +Bank credit. fac1hty dife November 2004 L S $ T — $ 156,500
r Bank credit facility ‘due December 2006 ........ R e - 27,000 -
4.75% convertible semor notes. due 2008 ... e e 192,000 192,000
4.75% convertible senior notes due 2014 ... ... e PP . 143,750 g

- 8.625%. senior notes. due 2010, ilii. vt it ip s e e e e - 200,000 —

. 2000A equlpment lease notes,‘rnterest at 4. 2%, due March 2005* C e 193,600 —

) 2000B equrpment lease notes mterest at- 4.1%, due October 2()05* .. . ‘-' 167,411 —
200TA equipment lease notes,- 1nterest at 8.5%, due September 2008*° .... 300,000 —
2001B equipment lease notes, interest ‘at'8.8%; due September 2011*»;. oo 250,000 - ¢ —

."Schlumberger note, interest at' 12:5% at December 31, 2002 ;:. -0 cocw, 0 = 167,096 -

" Zero coupon, subordinated notes; intefest :at 11%, due March 2007 .4, ..~ 185,501 -
7.25% convertible subordinated notes due 2029% ... ;... ... i iee. e 86,250  —
‘Real estate mortgage, eollaterahzed by certam land and bulldmgs payable

through. September 2004 . ..... i e e e et v 2,917, 3,250
_ Other, interest at various rates collaterahzed by equlpment and other . . o o
assets,. net of unamomzed dlscount 1,875. 4,101
o . R . , 1,750,304 . 522,947
Less—current matuntles L e ) . (3, 511) (1,744)
N Long term debt ........ e L 81,746,793 T § 521,203

* See Note 22 for a dlscussmn of the 1mpacr of adoptlon of FIN 46

Matuntles of long term debt (excludrng 1nterest to be accrued thereon) at December 31, 2003 are (m
thousands) e , C .

ST o . C .. December 31,
o o ) . 2003

2004......... AT e R S8 3511
2005.......... B RS L 361512
2006 ... . o ’ TSI | 27,517

a3 R SN 185,542
2008 . ... Lol 492,045

Thereafter. ... i, e Cloiocaeoao 680,177
N R . $ 1,750,304

Semor Notes o

In December 2003 -we issued under our shelf reglstratlon statement $200.0 million aggregate principal
amount of our-8.625% Senior Notes.due 2010, which are fully and-unconditionally guaranteed on a senior
subordinated basis-by HCLP. The net proceeds from.this offering were used to repay the outstanding
indebtédness and minority interest obligations of $194:0 million and $6 0 mrlhon respectrvely, under our
1999A equlpment lease that was to explre in June 2004.

Bank Credit Fac:ltty

) In December 2003, we entered. into a new $350 mllllon bank credrt facility having a matunty date of
‘December 29, 2006 and made conformlng amendments related to the compression equipment lease

. obligations- that we-entered into in 2000. Our prior $350 million bank credit facility that was scheduled to

mature in November 2004, was terminated upon closing of the new facility._TheAnew bank credit facility

modified certain covenants that were centained in the prior facility:and eliminated. certain covenants

entirely:: The new. agreement prohibits us (without the lenders’ prior approval) from declaring or paying:
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any dividend (other than dividends payable solely in our cominon stock or in options; warrants or rights to
purchase such common stock) on, or making similar payments with respect to, our capital stock. The new
agreement clarifies and provides certain thresholds with respect to our ability to make investments in our
foreign subsidiaries. In addition, under the new agreement, we granted the lenders a security interest in the
inventory, equipment and certain other property of Hanover and its domestic subsidiaries (with certain
exceptions), and pledged 66% of the equity mterest in certain of our forelgn subsidiaries.

Our new bank credit facility provides for a $350 million revolvmg credit in which advances-bear
interest at (a) the greater of the administrative agent’s prime rate, the. federal ‘funds effective rate, or the
base CD rate, or (b) a eurodollar rate, plus, in each case, a spec1ﬁed margm (4.2% welghted .average
interest rate at December 31, 2003). A commitment fee equal to 0. 625% times of the average daily
amount of the available commitment under the bank credit facility is. payable quarterly to-the lenders
participating in the bank credit facility. Our bank credit facility contains-certain’ financial covenants and
limitations on, among other things, mdebtedness hens leases and sales of assets

As of December 31, 2003, we-had apprommately $27 mllhon in borrowmgs and approximately
$77.1 million in letters of credit outstanding on our bank credit facﬂlty (4 2% weighted average effective
rate at December 31, 2003). Our bank credit facility permits us to incur indebtedness, subject to covenant
limitations described above, up to a $350 million credit limit, plus, in addition to certain other
indebtedness, an additional (i) $40 million in unsecured indebtedness, (ii) $50 million of nonrecourse
indebtedness of unqualified subsidiaries ahd (iii) $25 million of $ecured purchase money indebtedness.

As of December 31, 2003, we were in compliance with all material covenants and other requlrements
set forth in our bank credit facility, agreements related to our compression equ1pment lease obhganons ‘and
indentures. Giving effect to the covenant limitations in our bank credit facility, the liquidity available -
under that facility as of December 31, 2003 was approximately $223 million. A default under our bank
credit facility or these agreements would trigger cross-default provisions under the agreements relating to
certain of our other debt obligations. Such defaults would have a material adverse effect on our liquidity,
financial position and operations.

In addition to purchase money and similar obligatiens, the indentures and the agreements related to
our compression equipment lease obligations for our 2001A and 2001B sale leaseback transactions and our
8.625% Senior Notes due 2010 permit us to incur indebtedness up to the $350 million credit limit under
- our bank credit facxhty, plus (1) an additional $75 million i in unsecured indebtedness and (2) any
additional indebtedness so long as, after incurring such indebtedness, our ratio of the sum of consolidated
net income before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation expense, amortization of intangibles, certain
other non-cash charges and rental expense to total ﬁXed charges (all as defined and adjusted by the
agreements), or our “‘coverage ratio,” is greater than 2.25 to 1.0 and no default or event of default has
occurred or would occur as a consequence of incurring such additional indebtedness -and the application of
the proceeds thereon. The indentures and agreements for our 2001 A and 2001B sale leaseback transactions
define indebtedness to include the present value of our rental obligations under sale leaseback transactions
and under. facilities similar to our compression €quipment operating léases. As of December 31, 2003,
Hanover’s coverage ratio was less than 2.25 to 1.0 and therefore as of such date we could not incur
indebtedness other than under our bank credit facility and up to an additional $75 million in unsecured
indebtedness and certain other permitted indebtedness, including certain refinancing indebtedness.

Zero Cél{;_:)bn:Subordinated Notes

In January 2003, we gave notice of our intent to exercise our right to put our interest in the
PIGAP 11 joint venture back to Schlumberger. If not exercised, the put right would have ‘expired as of
February 1, 2003. Hanover acquired its ifiterest in PIGAP II as part of its purchase of POC from
Schiumberger-in August 2001. On May 14, 2003, we entered into an agreement with Schlumberger to
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ternnnate our r1ght to put our 1nterest in the PIGAP II Jomt venture to Schlumberger As a Tesult, we

$150 million subordinated note that Schlumberger received- from us in ‘Aungust 2001 as part of the -
purchase price for the acquisition of POC.

A comparison of the primary financial terms of the original $150 million subordmated note and the
restructured note are shown in the table below. : :

) anary Fmancnal Term . ,J"’ - Restructured Note' j : B 'briginal Note
Pnncrpal Outstanding : at March 31, 2003 © St7imilion - L0 $171 million
Matur'rty: o o March 31,2007 - T F December 31 2005
Interest Rater . —~ - .. . . - Zero coupon accreting at 11.0% fixed - 13 5%, 14.5% begmmng March [, 2004,

15,5% beginning March 1, 2005

Schlumberger First Call Rights on R : v . o
Hanover Equity Issuance: None Schlumberger had first call on any
- - : -y . Hanover equity offering proceeds

Call Iiro"vision; ' " Hanover cannot calI the Note prlor to “ Vu ‘ Callable at‘any time
' - ‘ : March 2006 - e ‘

As. of March 31 2003 the date from which the mterest rate was ad]usted the $150 mrlhon
subordmated note had an outstandmg principal balance of approximately $171 million, 1nc1ud1ng accrued
interest. Under the restructured terms, the maturity of the. restructured notes have been extended to
March 31, 2007, from the original maturity of December 31, 2005 The notes are, zéro.coupon, notes with,
original issue discount accreting at 11.0% for its remaining life, up to a total principal amount of '
$262.6 million payable at maturity. The notes will accrue additional interest at a rate of 2.0% per annum
upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an event of default under the notes. The notes will also
accrue additional interest at a rate of 3.0% per annum if our consolidated leverage. ratio, as defined in the
indenture governing the notes, exceeds 5.18 to.1.0 as of the end of. two consecutlve fiscal quarters. As of
December 31, 2003, we estimate that our debt balance could have increased by approxrrnately $53 mrlhon
in addmonal indebtedness and not exceeded the 5.18 to 1.0 ratio. Notw1thstand1ng the foregoing, the notes.
will accrue addmonal interest at a rate of 3 0% per annum if ‘both of the previously menttoned
circumstances occur. The notes. also contain a covenant that limits our ability to incur addrttonal

. indebtedness if Hanover’s consolidated leverage ratio exceeds 5.6 to 1.0, subject to certain exceptlons 4
Schlumberger will no longer have a first call on any proceeds from the issuance of any shares of capital
stock or other equity interests by Hanover and the notes are not callable by Hanover until March, 31, 2006.,
As agreed upon with Schlumberger Hanover has agreed to bear the cost of and has registered these notes)
with the Securities and Exchange Commrssron (“SEC”) covering the resale of the restructured notes by
Schlumberger. The registration process was completed in December 2003 and the notes were sold by
Schlumberger and we incurred $0 8 million in registration expenses

'

Also on May 14, 2003, we agreed:with Schlumberger Surenco an affiliate of Schlumberger to the
modification of the repayment terms of a $58.0 million obligation that was accrued as a contrngent liability
on our balance sheet since the acquisition of POC and was associated with the PIGAP II joint venture.
The obligation was converted into a non- recourse promissory note (“PIGAP Note”) payable by Hanover
Cayman Limited, our indirect ‘wholly- owned consohdated subsrdlary, with a 6% intérest rate compounding
semi-annually until maturity in December 2053. In October 2003, the PIGAP II joint ventufe closed on
the project’s ﬁnancmg and dlstnbuted approximately $78. 5 m1lhon to Hanover of Wthh approxrmately
$59.9 mllhon was used to repay the PIGAP Note
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For financial accounting purposes, the above described changes to the restructured subordinated note
and PIGAP Note were not considered an extinguishment of debt, but have been accounted for as debt
modifications which resulted in no income or expense recognition related to the transaction.

Convertible Senior Notes

In December 2003, we issued under our shelf registration statement $143.8 million aggregate principal
amount of our 4.75% convertible senior notes due 2014. We may redeem these convertible notes beginning
in 2011, subject to certain conditions. The convertible notes are convertible into shares of our common
stock at an initial conversion rate of 66.6667 shares of our common stock per $1,000 principal amount of
the convertible notes (subject to adjustment in certain events, some of which may result in the triggering
of a beneficial conversion feature) at any time prior to the stated maturity of the convertible notes or the
redemption or repurchase of the convertible notes by us. The proceeds from this offering were used to
repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under our bank credit facility. The fair value of the 2014
convertible senior notes is approximately $160.5 million at December 31, 2003.

In March 2001, we issued $192.0 million principal amount of 4.75% convertible senior notes due
2008. The notes mature on March 2008 and are subject to call beginning on March 2004. The notes are
. convertible into shares of our common stock at a conversion price of approximately $43.94 per share
(subject to adjustment in certain events, some of which may result in the triggering of a beneficial
conversion feature) at any time prior to the stated maturity of the convertible notes or the redemption or
repurchase of the convertible notes by us. We received approximately $185.5 million of proceeds from the
sale, net of underwrmng and offering costs. The fair value of the 2008 convertible senior notes is
approximately’ $178 6 m11110n at December 31, 2003

Convertible Subordinated Notes

In December 1999, we issued $86.3 million of unsecured mandatorily redeemable convertible:
preferred securities through Hanover Compressor Capital Trust, a Delaware business trust and wholly-
owned finance subsidiary of Hanover. The convertible preferred securities have a liquidation amount of
$50 per unit. The convertible preferred securities mature in 30 years but we may redeem them partially or
in total any time on or after December 20, 2002. The convertible preferred securities also provide for
annual cash distributions at the rate of 7.25%, payable quarterly in arrears; however, payments may be
deferred up to 20 quarters subject to certain restrictions. We recorded approximately $6.3 million, during
2003, 2002 and 2001, for distributions related to convertible preferred securities. Each convertible preferred
security is convertible into 2.7972 shares of Hanover common stock, subject to certain conditions. We have
* fully and unconditionally guaranteed the convertible preferred securities. We incurred approximately
$3.6 million in transaction costs that are included in other assets, and recorded $0.1 million, $0.1 million
~and $0.1 million of amortization for December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The transaction costs
are being amortized over the term of the convertible preferred securities. The fair value of the convertible
preferred securities is approximately $85.2 million at December 31, 2003.

These securities were previously reported on our balance sheet as mandatorily redeemable convertible
preferred securities. Because we only have a limited ability to make decisions about its activities and we
are not the primary beneficiary of the trust, the trust is a VIE under FIN 46. As such, the mandatorily
redeemable preferred securities issued by the trust are no longer reported on our balance sheet. Instead, we
now report our subordinated notes payable to the trust as a debt. These intercompany notes have
previously been eliminated in our consolidated financial statements. The changes related to our
mandatorily redeemable preferred securities are reclassifications and have no impact on our consolidated
results of operations or cash flow. (See Note 22.)
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12. Leasing Transactions and Accounting Change‘for FIN 46

As of December 31, 2003, we are the lessee in four transactions involving ‘the sale of compression
equipment by us to special purpose entities; which in turn lease the equipment back to us. At the time we
entered into the leases, these transactions had a number of advantages over other sources of capitat then
available to us. The 'sale leaseback transactions (1) enabled us to aﬂ"ordably extend the duration of our’
financing arrangements and (2) reduced our cost of capital. :

[

In August 2001 and in connectron wrth the acqursltlon of POC we completed two sale Ieaseback
transactions involving certain compression equipment. Under one'sale leaseback transaction, we rece1ved
$309.3 million in proceeds from the sale of certain compression equipment. Under. the second sale
leaseback transaction, we received $257.8 million in proceeds from the.sale of addltronal compression

equipment. Under the first transaction, the equipment was sold and leased back by us for a seven-year
period and will continue to be deployed by us in;the normal course of our business. The agreement calls
for semi-annual rental payments of approximately $12.8 mrlllon in addition te quarterly rental . payments of
approximately- $0.2 million. Under the second transaction, the equipment was sold and leased back by, us
for a ten-year period and will continue to be deployed by us in the normal course of our business. The
agreement calls for semi-annual rental payments of approximately $10.9 million in addrtron to quarterly
rental payments of approximately $0.2 million. We have options'to repurchase the equipment under certain
conditions as defined by the lease agréements. Through December 31, 2003, we incurred transaction costs
of approximately $18.6 million related to these ‘transactions. These costs are.included in 1ntang1ble and
other assets anid are being amortized over the respective lease terms.

In October 2000, we completed a $172 6 million sale leaseback transactlon of compression equ1pment.
In March 2000, we entered into a separate $200 mrlhon sale leaseback transaction involving certain -
compression equrpment Under the March transaction, we recerved proceeds of $100 million from the sale
of compression equipment at the first closing in March’ 2000, and in August 2000, we completed the
second half of the equrprnent lease and, received an additional $100 million for the sale of additional
compression equipment. Under our 2000 lease agreements, the equipment was sold and leased back by us
for a five-year term and will be used by us in our business. We have options to repurchase the equipment.
under the 2000 leases, subject to certaln conditions set forth in these lease agreements. The 2000 lease
agreements call for variable quarterly payments that fluctuate with the London Interbank Offering Rate
and have covenant restrictions similar to our bank credit facrhty We incurred an aggregate of
approximately $7.1 million in transaction «costs for the leases entered into-in:2000, which are included in
intangible and other assets on the balance sheet and are berng arnortrzed over the respective lease terms of-
the respective transactions. o : : :

The followrng table summanzes as of December 31, 2003 the proceeds re31dual guarantee lease
termination date and minority interest obhgatlons for equipment leases (in. thousands)

Residual . ., ... . Minority

) . . D Sale Value . . Lease . . Interest
Lease ' : B - Proceeds -~ Guarantee Termination Date - Obligation
March and August 20000 ........ P, U $ 200,000 $ 166,000 ' March 20057 $ 6,400
October 2000 ... . e 172,589 142,299. . .. October 2005 . =~ 5,178 -
August 2001 ... ..o e 309,300 232,000 September 2008 9,300
August 2001 ............. e e e P 257,750 .. 175,000. . September 2011 7,750

$939,639 §.715299 © < .828628

The lease facilities contain certain financial covenants and limitations which restrict us with respect
to, among other things, indebtedness, liens, leases and sale of assets. We are entitled under the
compression equipment operating lease agreements to substitute equipment that we own for equipment
owned by the special purpose entities, provided that the value of the equipment that we are substituting is
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equal to or greater than the value of the equipment that is being substituted. Each lease agreement limits
the aggregate amount of replacement equipment that may be substituted to under each lease.

Prior to July 1, 2003, these lease transactions were recorded-as a sale and leaseback of the
compression equipment and were treated as operating leases for financial reporting purposes. On July. 1,
2003, we adopted the-provisions of FIN.46 as they relate to the special purpose entities that lease
compression equipment to us. As a result of the adoption, we added- approximately $1,089 million in.
compressor equipment assets, $192.3 million of accumulated depreciation (including approximately
$58.6 million of accumulated depreciation rélated to periods before the sale and leaseback of the -
equipment), $1,105.0 million in-debt and $34.6 million in minority interest obligations to our balance
sheet, and we reversed $108 8 million of deferred gains that were recorded on our balance sheet as a result
of the sale leaseback transactions. On July I, 2003, we recorded a $133.7 million charge ($86.9 million net
of tax) to record the cumulative effect from the adoption of FIN-46 related to prior period depreciation of
the compression’ equlpment assets. Additionally, we estimate that we will record approx1mately $17 million
per year in additional depreciation expense on our léased compression equipment as a result of the

“inclusion -of the compression equipment on our balance sheet and will also record the payments made
under our compressron equrpment leases as interest expense.

In December 2003, we, exercrsed our purchase opt1on under the 1999 compress10n equrpment
operating lease. As of December 31; 2003, the. remaining compression assets owned by the entities that
lease equipment to us but are now 1ncluded in property, plant and equipment in our consolidated financial
statements had a net book value of approx1mately $804.0 million, 1nclud1ng 1mprovements made to these
assets after the sale leaseback transactions.

The mrnonty interest obl1gat10ns represent the equity of the ent1t1es that lease compression equlprnent
to us. In accordance with the provrsrons of our compression equipment lease oblrgatrons the equity
cert1ﬁcate holders are entitled to quarterly or semi-annual yield payments on the aggregate outstandrng
equity certificates. As of December 31, 2003, the yield rates on the outstandmg equity certificates ranged
from 4.4% to 9.5%. Equity certificate holders may receive a return of capital payment upon lease
termination or our purchasé of the leased compressron equipment after full payment of all debt obligations

“of the entities that lease compression equipment to us. At December 31, 2003, the carrying value of the
mmorrty interest. obllgatrons approxrmated the fair market value of assets that would be required to be
transferred to redeem the minority 1nterest obllganons

In connect1on with the compression equipment leases entered 1nto in August 2001 we were obl1gated
to prepare registration statements and complete an exchange offer to enable the holders of the notes issued
by the lessors to exchange their notes with notes registered under the Securities Act of 1933, Because of
the restatement of our financial statements, the exchange offer was not completed within the timeframe
required by the agreements related to the compression equipment lease obligations and we were required
to pay additional lease expense in an amount equal to $105,600 per week until the exchange offering was
completed. The additional lease expense began accruing on January 28, 2002 and increased our lease
expense by $1.1 million and $5.1 mrllron during 2003 and 2002, respectively. The registration statements
became ‘effective in February 2003. The exchange offer was completed and the requirement to pay the
additional lease expense ended on March 13, 2003. -

In February 2003, in connection w1th an amendment to our bank credit facility and, in December
- 2003, in connection with the closing on. our new. bank credit facility we executed conforming amendments
to the compression equipment leases entered into in 2000 (see Note 11).
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13. Income Taxes N O

The components of i 1ncome (loss) from contmumg operatrons before income taxes were as follows (in
thousands) -
Years Ended Decémber 31,7 -

L 72003 0 2002 2001
Domestic ....s+.. . e $ (115 937) $ (115,733). $ 62,128
Foreign ..... Wia s e e, 8171 23,314 49,872

L B (107766)$ (92419)$112000

The prov1s10n for (beneﬁt from) 1ncome taxes from co‘ntrnurng operatlons con51sted of the followmg
< (in thousands) \ :

T."x,':,': o o V-_‘; : | . B ] e N . | Years Ended December 31,‘ e
R e r . , 2003 2002 - .. 2001
Current tax provrsron (beneﬁt) . 4 .
SFederal . L i $ — A9, 551) $ _1,136
oState L i s 245 T (227) 560
Foreign e T S S 12,946 ‘1“1,24‘3- . 10,474
.. Total current™.................. 13,191 1465 12,170
Deferred tax provrsron (beneﬁt) ' R ' o
*. TFederal ... , (18,334) - (10,738) 25,085
‘Forelgn . 5,927 _(8,303) 5,133
Total deferred ERER L0t T(12407) (19,041) 30218 1
Total provrsron for (beneﬁt from) 1ncome taxes . . e $ 784 $ (17 576) $_ 42,388 '

“ The prov1sron for (beneﬁt from) mcome taxes for 2003 2002 and 2001 resulted in eﬁectlve tax rates
on continuing operatrons of 07 %, 19 0%’ and 37. 8%, respectrvely The reasons for the dlﬁ"erences between
these eﬂectrve tax rates and the U.Ss. statutory rate of 35% are as follows (in thousdnds):

e a Wt " Years Ended ‘December 31,
. : SR 20035 C: 2002 C2001
‘Federal income tax at statutory Tate ... .. PRI P $ (37, 718) $ (32 347) $ 39, 200
State income taxes; net:of federal-benefit . . /.o 59 (148) © 364
.~ Foreign effective. rate/U:S: rate differential (mcludlng N

foreign valuation-allowances). .. ....... ... Loe... : 8,997n (8 020) (2, 775)
U.S. impact of foreign operations, net of federal : : _

benefit.. .. ... ... . 4,561 " 7,894 3458
Nondeductible goodwill . ..t v v s ot vns o iasn — . 10,117 1,118 - -
U.S. valuation allowances .. ... R J P 25 746 - 2,609 ‘ —
Other, net..............,‘..' ........... e PR (961) 2,319 1,023

$ 7»84 $. (17,576) $_ 42,388

“The: foreign effective rate/U:S.- rate drﬁ"erenual 1ncludes the impact of” approxrmately $35 S5 million
non- deductlble goodwﬂl 1mparrment g . :
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Deferred tax assets (liabilities) are comprised of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2003 . 2002

Deferred tax assets: - : .
Net operating losses carryforward e $ 245406 $ 157,928
Investment in joint ventures .............. e 8,955 11,208
Inventory...... ..o i i e - 16,623 7,097
Alternative minimum tax'credit carryforward ....... e o 5,407 ~ 5,351
Derivative instruments.............coviiiiiiiiiann ... . 5,279 9,656
Accrued liabilities ................ S o 10,858 13,478
CIntangibles ... ... o e 14274 15,297
Capital loss carryforward. . ... e [ X 1o =
Other........ ... ..o it JR 7,364 9,003
Gross deferred tax ‘assets......... e P, 320,018 229,018

Valuatmn allowance .. ... e e (55,015) {23,371)
: ©0 265,003 . - 205,647

Deferred tax l1ab1l1t1es : o o
Property, plant and equipment . . . .. e (291,249) = (297,896)

Other...... oo it J ‘ (2,087) __ (1,364)
Gross deferred tax liabilities ... ............ e S (293,336)  (299,260)

~, ‘ . 8_(28333) 5_(93613)

g,

We had U.S. net operatmg loss carryforwards at December 31, 2003 of apprommately $6l3 0 million
expiring in 2004 to 2023. At December 2003, we had an alternatwe minimum tax cred1t carryforward of
approximately $5.4 million that does not expire. At December 31, 2003, we had ‘approximately
$88.0 million of net operating loss carryforwards in certain non-U.S. jurisdictions.” Of these, approx1mately
$17.7 million have no exp1rat10n date, and the remaining $70.3 m1lhon w1ll exp1re in future years through
2012. :

The valuation allowance increased by $31.6 million primarily due to: (l) a $25.7 million valuation
allowance recorded for our U.S. deferred tax assets related to our net operating loss carryforward and
(2) additional valuation allowances recorded, net, for losses in non- -U.S. tax jurisdictions. Realization of
deferred tax assets associated with net operating.loss carryforwards is dependent upon generating sufficient
taxable income in the appropriate jurisdiction prior to-their expiration. Management believes it is more
likely than not that the remaining deferred tax asset, not subject to valuat1on allowance, w1ll be' reahzed
through future taxable income. . e :

We plan to reinvest the undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries of approximately - '
$174 million. Accordingly, U.S. deferred taxes have not been provided on these earnings.

14. Accounting for Derivatives

We adopted SFAS 133, effective. January 1, 2001. SFAS 133 requires that all derivative instruments
(including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) be recognized in the balance sheet
at fair value, and that changes in such fair values be recognized in earnings unless specific hedging criteria
are met. Changes in the values of derivatives that meet these hedging criteria will ultimately offset related
earnings effects of the hedged item pending recognition in earnings. Prior to 2001, we entered into two
interest rate swaps with notional amounts of $75 million and $125 million and strike rates of 5.51% and
5.56%, respectively. These swaps were to expire in July 2001; however, they were extended for an
additional two years at the option of the swap counterparty and expired in July 2003. The difference paid
or received on the swap transactions was recorded as an accrued liability and recognized in leasing expense
in all periods before July 1, 2003, and in interest expense thereafter. Because management decided not to
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designate the interest rate swaps-as hedges at the time they were extended by the :counterparty, we
recognized unrealized gains of approximately $4.1 million and approximately $3.2 million related to the
change in the fair value of these interest rate swaps in lease expense in our statement of operations during
the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively and recognized an unrealized gain of
approximately $0.5 million in interest expense in 2003. Prior to July 1, 2003, these amounts were reported
as “Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments” in our consolidated statement of operations.
We have reclassified these amounts as interest and lease expense to conform to the 2003 financial °
statement classification. At December 31, 2002, we had approximately $4.6 million in accrued liabilities
with respect to the fair value adjustment related to these interest rate swaps. The fair value of these
interest rate swaps fluctuated with changes in interest rates over their terms and the fluctuations were
recorded in our statement of operations.

" During the second quarter of 2001, we entered-into three additional interest rate swaps’to convert
vanable lease payments under certaln lease arrangements to fixed payments as follows:

Lease : Maturity Date Strike Rate =~ Notional' Amount
~-March 2000 o March 11, 2005 o 5.2550% . . $100,000,000 .
August 2000 . ~March 11, 2005 5.2725% $100,000,000
October 2000 ~ October 26, 2005 - o 5. 3975% » $100 000, 000

These three swaps Wthh we have designated as.cash flow hedglng 1nstruments meet the specific
hedge criteria and any changes in their fair values have been recognized in, other comprehensive income.
During the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, we recorded income of approximately
$7.9 million and a loss of $13.6 million and $9.3 m1111on respectively, related to these three swaps
($5.1 million, $8.9 million, and $6.1 illion net“of tax) in other cormprehensive income. As of
December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, a total of approximately $11.7 million and $11.5 million,
respectively, was recorded in current liabilities and approximately $3.4 million and $11.5 million,
respectively, in long-term liabilities with respect to the fair value adjustment related to these three swaps.

The counterparties to the interest rate swap agreements are major international financial institutions.
We continually monitor the credit quality of these financial institutions and do not expect non-performance
by any counterparty, although such’ non-performance could have a matenal adverse effect on us.

During 2003, we entered into forward exchange contracts with a notional value of $10.0 mllhon to
mitigate the risk of changes in exchange rates between Euro and the U.S. dollar. These-contracts mature
during 2004. As of December 31, 2003, a total of approximately $0.6 million was recorded in other current
assets and other comprehensrve income with respect to the fair value adjustment related to these three

contracts.

15.  Common Stockholders’ Equity
Stock Offerings ‘ ‘

In March 2001, we completed a public offering of 2.5 million newly issued shares of Hanover’s
common stock. We realized approximately $83.9 mrlhon of proceeds from the offering, net of underwriting
and offering costs.

Notes Receivable — Employee Stockholders

Under various stock purchase plans, our employees were eligible to purchase shares of Hanover stock
at fair market value in exchange for cash and/or notes receivable. The notes were collateralized by the
common stock and the general credit of the employee, bear interest at a prime rate, and were generally
payable on demand or at the end of a four-year period. The notes were recorded as a reduction of common
stockholders’ equity. Due to the decline in the price of Hanover’s stock which secured a portion of the
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notes, during 2002, we recorded a reserve for these notes receivable. During 2003, the notes receivable for
loans to employees who were not executive officers were forgiven. - ‘

Other

As of December 31, 2003, warrants to purchase approximately 4,000 shares of common stock at
$.005 per share were outstanding. The warrants expire in’ August 2005.

See Note 1 and 2 for a description of other common stock transactions.

16. Stock O.ptions

Hanover has employee stock option plans that provide for the granting of options to purchase common
shares. The options are generally issued with an exercise price equal to the fair market value on the date
of grant and are exercisable over a ten-year period. Options granted typically vest over a three to four year
period. No compensation expense related to stock options was recorded in 2003, 2002 and 2001.

In 2003 and 2002, we granted 435,000 and 151,000 restricted shares, respectively, of Hanover
common stock to certain employees as part of an incentive compensation plan. The restricted stock grants
vest equally over four years. As of December 31, 2003, 512,000 restricted shares were outstanding under
our plans. We will recognize compensation expense equal to the fair value of the stock at the date of grant
over the vesting period related to these grants. During 2003 and 2002, we recognized $1.2 million and
$0.4 million respectively, in compensation expense related to these grants.

The following is a.summary of stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 12003, 2002 and
2001:
-Weighted average

. Shares price per share
Options outstanding, December 31, 2000 .............................. 7,918,683 $ 6.63
Options Eranted ... ... it e 43575 . . 25.00
Options canceled .................. e (47,622) 12.48
Options eXercised . . ... v v vt e (250,161) 912
Options outstanding, December 31 2001 ... 7,664,475 6.62
Options granted . .. ... 't 1,497,706 13.35
Options canceled . ... ...t (261 323) 10.29
Options exercised . .. ... ..ot e (1,422,850) 4.69
Options outstanding, December 31, 2002 ............ e ’_7478 008 8.21
Options granted ..................... e 539,285 11.41
Options canceled ............. . (652,963) 11.06
Options exercised . .. ... ..t e (1,432,636) 4.68
Options outstanding, December 31,2003 ......... ... ... . ..., 5,931,694 ©9.07
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The following table summarizes 51gn1ﬁcant ranges of outstanding: and exer01sab1e optlons at
December 31, 2003: '

Options Outstanding S : :
W—ted— : ., -Options Exercisable

Average  Weighted . Weighted

Remammg "Average . Average

S . - -Lifein =~ Exercise. . . Exercise

. ‘Range of exercise prices o Shares .. Years . Price Shares Price
$0.00-2.50 . ..o e e e il .. 1,556,710 15 - $224 155,710 § 224
$2.51-5.00 ........ N S 37,240 15 452 37,240 452
$501750...l......;...'...’. .......... 96168 1.9 6.04 96168 6.04
$7.51-1000 ... o 2,322,567 - 4.5 ©9.77 1,986,522 9.76
$10.01-12.50 ...... e e Ce e 805,332 8.0 11.68 246,778 12.40
$12.51-15.00 .. .. e PP Ceee.. 843455 7.5, 1450 258,828 14.48
$15.01-17.50 ....... e e A 175,000 8.3 17.29 = 58334 - 17.29
$17.51-20.00 ...... i e S 14,000 =~ & 8.3 18.43 - 3,734 18.29
$20.01-2250 ....... P oo L 24,413 1.2 20.09 24,413 20.09
$22.51-25. 00 ..... T ST - 56809 . 7.8 25.00 17,077 - 25.00
5,931,694 - : co .4,285,804

The We1gh'ted average fair value at date of grant for optibns' where the exercise price equals the
market price of the stock on the grant date was $11 41, $13.35 and $25 00.per option during 2003, 2002
and 2001, respecnvely

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded
options which have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models
require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected stock price volatility. Because our
employee stock options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options and because
changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’s
opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of our
employee stock options. The fair value of options at date of .grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes
model with the following weighted average assumptions:

2003 2002 2001

Expected l1fe 6 years 6years 6 years
Interest rate ........ e J PR 3.16% 4.4% 4.0%
Volatility ..........ooooiiiiiiii SR P O 40.3% 39.3% 35.4%

Dividend yield. ....... .. . ... 0% 0% 0%

See Note 1 for stock based compensation proforma impact on net.income.

17. Benefit Plans ~
Our 401 (k)*retirement plar provides for optional employee contributions up to the IRS limitation and
discretionary employer niatching contributions. We recorded matching contributions of $2.6 million,
$1.5 million, and $1.1 million during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
18. Related Party a‘nd C.ertain' Other Transactions
T ransactions wtth GKH Entmes - '

Hanover and GKH Investments L.P: and GKH Prlvate Limited (collectively. “GKH”), are parties.to
a stockholders: agreement that provides, among other things, for GKH’s rights of visitation and inspection
and our obligation to-provide Rule 144A information to prospective transferees of the.Common Stock.
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GKH and other stockholders (collectively, the “Holders”) who, as of December 31, 2003, together
beneficially owned approximately 10% of the outstanding Common Stock, are, together with Hanover,
parties to a Third Amended Registration Rights Agreement dated December 5, 1995 (the “GKH Rights
Agreement”). The GKH Rights Agreement generally provides that if we propose to register shares of our
capital stock or any other securities under the Securities Act of 1933, then upon the request of those
Holders owning in the aggregate at least 2.5% of the Common Stock (the “Registrable Securities™) then
held by all of the Holders, we will use our reasonable best efforts to cause the Registrable Securities so
requested by the Holders to be included in the applicable registration statement, subject to underwriters’
cutbacks. We are required to pay all registration expenses in connection with registrations of Registrable
Securities effected pursuant to the GKH Rights Agreement.

William S. Goldberg, who was at the time a Managing Director of GKH Partners, acted as Chief
Financial Officer of Hanover during 2001 and into 2002 and served as Vice Chairman of the Board .
beginning in February 2002. Mr. Goldberg resigned as Chief Financial Officer in February 2002 and
resigned as Vice Chairman of the Board and as a member of the Board in August 2002. Mr. Goldberg did
not receive cash remuneration from Hanover. We did reimburse GKH Partners for certain travel and
related expenses incurred by Mr. Goldberg in connection with his efforts on Hanover’s behalf.

GKH has advised Hanover that it is in the process of dissolving and “winding up” its affairs. On
November 12, 2002, GKH informed us that GKH advised its limited partners that it was extending the
wind-up process of the partnership for an additional twelve months from January 25, 2003 until
January 25, 2004. On December 3, 2002, GKH, as nominee for GKH Private Limited, and GKH
Investments, L.P. made a partial distribution of 10.0 million shares out of a total of 18.3 million shares
held by GKH to its limited and general partners. As part of the wind-up process, GKH may liquidate or
distribute substantially all of its assets, including the remaining shares of the. Common Stock owned by
GKH, to its partners. (See Note 24.) .

In August 2001, Hanover paid a $4.7 miillion fee to GKH as payment for services rendered in
connection with Hanover’s acquisition of POC and related assets. Pursuant to an agreement with GKH
which provides for compensation to GKH for services, Hanover paid a management fee of $45,000 per
month from November 2001 until the agreement was terminated in February 2002,

Hanover leases:certain compression equipment to an affiliate of Cockrell Oil and Gas, LP, which was
owned 50% by GKH until January 2001. The lease is on a month-to-month basis. For ‘the year ended
2001, apprommately $0.1 million was billed under the lease. .

Transactions with Schlumberger Entities

In August 2001, we purchased POC from the Schlumberger Companies (as defined below).
Schlumberger Limited (Schlumberger Limited and the Schlumberger Companies, collectively are referred
to as “Schlumberger”) owns, directly or indirectly, all of the equity of the Schlumberger Companies.
Pursuant to the Lock-Up, Standstill and Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 31, 2001 (the
“Schlumberger Rights Agreement”), between Schlumberger Technology Company, Camco International
Inc., Schlumberger Surenco, S.A., Schlumberger Oilfield Holdings Limited, Operational Services, Inc.
(collectively, the “Schlumberger Companies”) and Hanover, Hanover granted to each of the Schlum-
berger Companies certain registration rights in connection with shares of the Common Stock received by
the Schlumberger Companies as consideration in the POC acquisition (the “Hanover Stock™). The
registration rights granted to the Schlumberger Companies include (i) the right, subject to certain
restrictions, to register the Hanover Stock in any registration of securities initiated by Hanover within the
period of time beginning-on the third anniversary of the date of the Schlumberger Rights Agreement and
ending on the tenth anniversary of the date of the Schlumberger Rights Agreement (such period of time,
the “Registration Period”), and (ii) .the right, subject to certain restrictions, to demand up to five
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registrations of the Hanover Stockrw,ithin the. Registration Period. Hanover is required to pay all
registration expenses in.connection. with -registrations of Hanover Stock pursuant to the Schlumberger -
Rights Agreement. For a period of three.years from the date of the Schlumberger Rights Agreement, the
Schlumberger Companjes are’ prohibited from, directly or indirectly,:selling or .contracting to sell any,of the
Hanover Stock. The Schlumberger Rights Agreement also provides.that none of the Schlumberger .
Companies shall, without Hanover’s written consent; (i) acquire.or propose to acquire, directly. or
indirectly, greater than: twenty-five percent (25%) of the shares of Hanover common stock, (ii) make any
public announcement -with respect to, or submit a proposal. for,.any extraordinary transaction involving
Hanover, (iii) form or join in any group w1th respect to the matters set forth in (i) above, or (iv) enter
into dlscuss1ons or arrangements w1th any th1rd party w1th respect to the matters set forth in (1) above

Schlumberger has the nght under the POC purchase agreement 8O- long as Schlumberger owns at
least 5% of the Common Stock and subject to certain restrictions, to nominate one representative to sit on
our Board of Directors. Schlurhberger currently has no-represehtative- who sits on the Company’s board of
directors. For the yéars ended December 3T, 2003, 2002  and 2001, Hanover generated revenues of
approximately $0.5 million; $6.0- million, -and-$1.4 m11110n in businéss dealings with Schiumberger. In
addition, Hanover made purchases of equlpment and serv1ces of approxrmately $7.6 million from
Schlumberger during- 2002 ‘,; Sl S

As part of the purchase agreement entered into w1th respect to the POC Acqulsrtron, we were
required to make a payment of up to $58.0 million plus interest’ from the proceeds of and due upon the
completion of a financing: of PIGAP I, a- South American joint venture acquired by Hanover from
Schlumberger. (See Note 8.) Because the joint venture failed to execute the financing on or before
December 31, 2002, Hahover had the right to put its interest in the joint venture back to Schlumberger in
exchange for a return of the purchase- pnce -allocated to the Jomt venture, plus the net amount of any
capital contribitions by us to the joint venture: In January 2003, we gave notice of our intent to exercise
our right to put our interest in-the joint venture back to Schlumberger: If not exercised; the put right
would have expired as of February 1, 2003. (See Note 11.) In May 2003, we agreed .with-Schlumberger
Surenco, an affiliate of Schlumberger, to the modification of the repayment terms of the $58.0 million
obligation. The obhgatlon was converted into’ a non-recourse promissory note. with a 6% interest rate_
compoundlng semi- annually until maturlty in December 2053. In October 2003, the PIGAP 11 joint
venture closed on the project’s. ﬁnancmg and distributed approximately $78 5 m11110n to Hanover of which
approxrmately $59 9 million was used to, pay off the PIGAP Note.

in connectron with the POC-Acquisition,. Hanover lssued a $150.0 mrlhon subordrnated acqu151t10n
note to Schlumberger which. matured December 15, 2005 The: terms of thls note was renegotiated in
May, 2003 (See Note 1) :

o I August 2001 we entered 1nto a. ﬁve year strateglc alliance w1th Schlumberger 1ntended to result in
the active support of Schlumberger in fulfilling certain” of our business objectives. The principal
components of the strategic alliance-include (1) establishing Hanover as Schlumberger’s most favored
supplier of compressmn natural gas treatment and gas processmg equipment worldwide, (2) Schlum-
berger’s coordination and cooperatlon in further developlng "Hanover’s international business by placing .

" Hanover personnel in Schlumberger s offices i in six top international markets and (3) providing ‘Hanover
with access to consultmg advice and technical assistance.in enhancing its field automation capabilities:
During 2003, we received approxrmately $0.5 m11110n in payments from Schlumberger to rermburse us for-
our eﬂ“orts in, connectlon with the alhance

Other Related Party T ransacttons : . » ‘ _ o
In January 2002, Hanover advanced cash of, $0 1 mrlhon to Robert O Prerce a former Senior Vice

) Presrdent — Manufacturing and Procurement, in. return-for a promissory note. The.note bore interest at
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4.0%, matured on September 30, 2002, and was unsecured. On September 18, 2002, the Board of -
Directors approved the purchase of 30,054 shares of Hanoveér common stock from Mr. Pierce at $9.60 per”
share for a total of $0.3 million. The price per share was determined by reference to the closing price
quoted on the New York Stock Exchange on September 18, 2002. The Board of Directors determined to
purchase the shares from Mr. Pierce because ‘it was necessary for him- to sell shares to repay his loan with
Hanover as well as another outstanding loan. The'loans matured during a blackout period under our
insider trading policy and therefore’Mr. Pierce could not sell shares of Hanover stock in the open market
to repay the loans. Mr. Pierce’s loan from Hanover -was repa1d in full in September 2002. :

During 2001, we sold equrpment totahng approx1mately $12. O million to an aﬁ“lhate of Enron Caprtal
and Trade Resources Corp. During 2001, we learned that Enron had sold its 1nvestment in Hanover’s stock
and thus is no longer a related party tous. : : .

In exchange for notes, Hanover has loaned approx1rnate1y $8 9 mrlhon to employees some of who
were subject to margin calls, which together with accrued interest were outstanding as of December 31,
2002. In December 2002, Hanovers Board of Directors, eliminated the practice of extending loans to
employees and executive officers and there are no loans outstanding with any current executive officer of
Hanover. Due to the decline in Hanover’s stock price and other collectibility concerns, we have recorded a.
charge in other expense to reserve $6.0 million for these employee loans. During 2003, the notes receivable
for loans-to employees who were not execunve officers were forg1ven

In connectron with the restatements announced by Hanover in 2002, .certain present and former
officers and directors have been named as defendants in putative stockholder class actions, stockholder
derivative actions and have been involved with the investigation that was conducted by the Staff of the
SEC. Pursuant to the indemnification provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, we paid
legal fees on behalf of certain employees, officers -and directors -involved in these proceedings. In
connection with these proceedings, we advanced, on behalf of indemnified officers and ‘directors, dunng
2003 and 2002, $1.2 million and $1.1 m1ll1on respectrvely, in the aggregate.

Durrng 2002, $0.4 million’ was advanced on behalf of former director and officer W1lham S. Goldberg,
$0.3 million was advanced on behalf of forrner d1rector and officer Michael J. ‘McGhan; $0. 1 million was
advanced on behalf of former ofﬁcer Charles D Erwin; $0. 1 million was advanced on behalf of former
officer Joe S. Bradford; $0.1 million was advanced on behalf of ‘directors Ted ‘Collins, Jr., Robert R.
Furgason, Rene Huck (former director), Melvyn N. Klein, Michael A O’Connor (former director), and
Alvin V. Shoemaker, who were elected prior to:2002; and $0.1 million was advanced on behalf of .
directors I. Jon Brumley, Victor E. Grijalva, and Gordon' T. Hall who .were elected during 2002.

During 2003, $0.3 million was advanced on behalf of former director and officer William S. Goldberg;
$0.2 million Wwas advanced on behalf of former ‘director and:officer-Michael.J: McGhan; $0.1 million was -
advanced on behalf of former officer Charles'D. Erwin; $0.1 million was advanced on behalf of.former
officer Joe S. Bradford and $0.5 ‘million was advanceéd on-behalf of various employees of :the Company

On July 30 2003, HCLP entered into a Membershrp Interest Redempuon Agreement pursuant to.
which its 10% mterest in Energy Transfer Group, LLC | (“ETG”) was redeemed, and as a, result HCLP
withdrew as a member of ETG. In con51derat1on for the surrender of HCLP’s 10% membershlp interest in
ETG, pursuant to a Partnership, Interest Purohase Agreement dated as of July 30, 2003, subsidiaries of
ETG sold to subsidiaries of the Company their entire 1% interest in Energy Transfer Hanover Ventures,
L.P. (“Energy Ventures”). As a result of the transaction, the Company now owns, indirectly, 100% of
Energy Ventures. The Company’s 10% interest in ETG was carried on the Company’s books for no value.
Ted Collins, Jr., a Director of the Company, owned 100% of Azalea Partners, which at the time of the
transaction, owned 13% of ETG. We advanced working capital to ETG, for certain costs incurred by ETG
for the performance of services relating to Energy ‘Véntures' power generdtion” business. During the fiscal -
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year ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 ‘the largest aggregate amount advanced under this arrangement -
was $0.4 million and $0.4 million, respectively.-The advances did not bear interest. At December 31, 2002,
~ we had $0.4 million in advances: outstandrng to ETG I 2003 and 2002, ETG billed Hanover $0.5-million
and $1.9 million for services reidered to reimburse-ETG- for expenses incurred on behalf'of Energy -
Ventures during the year. In 2003 and 2002, we recorded sales of approximadtely :$2.8 million and

$0.5 million, respectively related to equipment leases and.parts sales. to ETG. :

Transactions with Former Executive Officers R

Michael J. McGhan ‘Mr. McGhan served as Ch1ef Executrve "Officer and. Pres1dent of Hanover smce '
October 1991 and served as a director of Hanover since ‘March 1992, Mr. McGhan also served as an
officet and director of certam Hahover subsrdranes durmg his tenute. Mr. McGhan resrgned from all
positions held with Hanover on August 1, 2002. In 2001, we advanced cash of $2.2 million to
Mr. McGhan, in return for promissory notes. The notes bore interest at 4.88%, matured on April 11, 2006
and are collateralized by personal real estate and Hanover common stock with full recourse. 411,914 shares
of Hanover Common Stock.owned by Mr. McGhan were held secured as collateral for this $2.2 million
loan. In May, 2003, Mr McGhan paid in full the $2.2 m11110n loan together with the applicable accrued
interest. . . e

In January. 2002 we; advanced additional cash of $0.4 million to Mr. McGhan in return for a
promissory note. The note bore interest at 4.0% and was repaid in full in September 2002. ‘Set forth below
is information concermng the indebtedness of Mr. McGhan to Hanover as of December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001 - : : ~ T

o e 717 Largest' - "Weighted

. Aggregate.,  Note Principal, . Average .-
. Note Principal . “Amount _Rateof .~
. ‘Amount .. ‘i Outstandifg - Interest. -
oy L . L . Outstanding . .during each at Period
’ Year ' L o N at Period End : '?eriod . End
2003... 000 z.j_.,: $. — 7 $2,200,000 - 4.88% {
22002, ... U e o000 -$2,200,000 °°$ 2,600,000 - 4.88% '
- 20.01'.'..‘ ..... 3 $2200000 , $2200000 ’_488%

" On July 29, 2002 we purchased 147,322 shares of the’ Common Stock’ from Mr. McGhan for’
$8.96 per share for a total of $1.3 million. The price per share was determined by reference to the closmg
price quoted on the New York Stock Exchange on July 29, 2002. The Board of Directors ‘determined to
purchase’ the shares from Mr." McGhén" because he was subject to a margin call dunng a blackout perrod
under the Hanover m51der trading ‘policy, and therefore, .could not sell such shares to the pubhc to cover '
the margm call wrthout bemg in vrolatlon of the pohcy K

On August 1, 2002, we entered mto a -Separation Agreement wrth Mr McGhan The agreement sets
forth a mutual agreement to sever the relationships between Mr.. M¢Ghan and Hanover, including the -
employment relationships of Mr. McGhan with Hanover and its affiliates. In the agreement, the parties
also documented their understandmgs with, respect to: (i) the posting of addrtronal collateral by
Mr, McGhan to, secure repayment of loans owed by Mr. McGhan to Hanover and (u) certam wa1vers _
and releases by Mr McGhan In the agreement Mr. McGhan made certam representatrons as to the .
status of the outstandmg loans payable by Mr, McGhan to Hanover the documentatlon for the loans_and
the enforceablhty of his obhgatrons under the loan documents The loans’ were not, modrﬁed ‘and must be .
repaid in accordance with their ongmal termns. In addition, the agreement provided that Mr. McGhan’ may
exercise his vested stock options pursuant to the post-termination exercise periods set forth in the
applicable plan. Since the date of the agreement, Mr. McGhan has exercised all such vested stock options
and the net shares from such exercise were used as collateral for his outstanding indebtedness to Hanover.
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In addition, Mr. McGhan agreed, among other things, not to compete with Hanover and not to solicit
Hanover employees or customers under terms described in the agreement for a period of twenty-four
months after the effective date of the agreement. In consideration for this non-compete/non-solicitation
agreement, Hanover agreed to pay Mr. McGhan $33,333 per month for a period of eighteen months after
the effective date of the agreement. ‘

Charles D. Erwin. Mr. Erwin served as' Chief Operating Officer of Hanover since Apnl 2001 and
served as Senior Vice President — Sales and Marketing since May 2000. Mr. Erwin resigned from these
positions on August 2, 2002. In 2000, we advanced $824,087 to Mr. Erwin in return for a promissory note.
In 2002 and 2001, according to the terms of the original note, we recorded compensation expense and
forgave $207,382 and $145,118 of such indebtedness (which included $42,565 and $62,709 of accrued
interest), respectively. The balance of the loan was repaid in full by Mr. Erwin in December 2002. Set
forth below is information concerning the 1ndebtedness of Mr. Erwin to Hanover as of December 31, 2002
and 2001:

Aggregate Largest

Note Note Weighted

Principal Principal Average

Amount Amount Rate of

OQutstanding Outstanding Interest

at Period during each at Period
Year End Period End
2002, ... e F $ — $ 631,800 4.3%
2000 . ...l al e $631,800 . $769,148 . 4.8%

On August 2, 2002, we entered into a Separation Agreement with Mr. Erwin. The agreement sets
forth a mutual agreement to sever the relationships between Mr. Erwin and Hanover, including the
employment relationships of Mr. Erwin with Hanover and its affiliates. In the agreement, the parties also
- documented their understandings with respect to: (i) the posting of additional collateral by Mr. Erwin to
secure repayment of an outstanding loan owed by Mr. Erwin to Hanover; (ii) certain waivers and releases
by Mr. Erwin; and (iii) the payment of a reasonable and customary finders fee for certain proposals
brought to Hanover’s attention by Mr. Erwin during the twenty-four month period after the effective date
of the agreement. In the agreement, Mr. Erwin has made certain representations as to the status of an
outstanding loan payable by Mr. Erwin to Hanover, the documentation for the loan and the enforceability
of his obligations under the loan documents. The loan was not modified and as noted above this note was
repaid in full in December 2002. In addition, the agreement provides that Mr. Erwin may exercise his
vested stock options pursuant to the post-fermination exercise periods set forth in the applicable plan.
Since the date of the agreement, Mr, Erwin has exercised all such vested stock options. Mr. Erwin’s non-
vested stock options were forfeited as of August 2, 2002. In addition, Mr. Erwin agreed, among other
things, not to-compete with Hanover and not to solicit Hanover employees or customers under terms
described in the agreement for a period of twenty-four months after the effective date of the agreement. In
consideration for this non-compete/non-solicitation agreement, Hanover agreed to pay Mr. Erwin
$20,611 per month for a period of eighteen months after the effective date of the agreement.

Joe C. Bradford. In August 2002, our Board of Directors did not reappoint Mr. Bradford to the
position of Senior Vice President — Worldwide Operations Development which he held since May 2000.
On September 27, 2002, Mr. Bradford remgned his employment with Hanover. In 2000, we advanced
$764,961 to Mr. Bradford in return for a promissory note that matures in June 2004. In 2002 and 2001,
according to the terms of the note, we recorded compensation expense and forgave $192,504 and $134,706
of such indebtedness (which included $39,512 and $58, 210 of accrued interest), respectively. Set forth
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below is information concemlng the 1ndebtedness of: Mr Bradford to Hanover as of Deeember 31, 2003“\
2002 and 2001:.

- ._Aggrégate . Largest ‘ r
. Note . . Note " Weighted

{ Principal Principal * “Average *
’ " Amount - "Amount - ;. .Rateof T .
‘ Outstanding ~ Outstanding = Interest
- S ST S at Period” - duringeach - at Period~
Year LT T e e o - End - - Period - -~ - End- . T
2003 00 i e T e $_535,473 - $535473 - 40% o
20020 et e -~ $535473  $579.845 43% - .. ..

2001, FERTRR ceeeas [ERTRRR $579,845 $706,022 . 4.8%

19. Commltments and Contmgencres e . D '» B T
Rent expense, excludmg lease payments for the 1eas1ng transactlons descnbed in Note 12 for 2003

2002 and 2001 was approx1mately $5.1" million, $4. 1 ‘million; and $4.0 million respectively: Comm1tments

for future minimum rental payments with termsin excess of one year at December 31, 2003 are: 12004 —

$4.4 million; 2005 — $2 8 m1ll1on ‘2006 — $2 1 m1lhon 2007 - $1 5 -million; 2008 — $l 2 m1llron and

$0.6 million thereafter. :

Hanover has issued the followmg guarantees whrch are not recorded on our accompanymg balance
sheet (m thousands) L et - .

Sy p

e e ) Maxim'u'm Potential ©

C B Undiscounted .
oL N L * _ Payments as of
. : - RS T AR . - Term . December 31, 2003 .
Indebtedness of non-consolidated affiliates: Coae e ceer L
Simco/Harwat Consomum(l) e ‘ 2005 $ 12,285
El Furrial(1) ..... i e e i e 2013 o +40,021
Other: i L . BRI
. Performance guarantees through letters of cred1t(2) ..... SR 2004 -2007 .o 67,130
Standby letters of credit . ..., RN Lo 2004 i 23,018
Bid bonds and performance bonds(2) - 2004-2007 ‘ 105 393
. g : U ' $ 247847

(1) We have guaranteed the amou:nt’m‘cluded above, which.is.a percentage of the total debt of this non-
consolidated affiliate equal to-our ownership percentage in such afﬁhate (See Note 8.)' - ‘

(2) We have issued guarantees to third parties to ensure performance of our obl1gat1ons some of which
-may be fulfilled by third parties. .

As part of the POC acquisition purchase price, Hanover may be requrred to make a ‘contingent
payment to Schlumberger based on the realization of certain tax benefits by Hanover through 2016. To
date we have not realized any of such tax beneﬁts or made any payments to Schlumberger in connect1on ,
with them.’ . : )

L r'— e I
PR I A AN . ‘s L

ngatwn and Securtttes and Exchange Commzsszon Investlgatlon o

Commencmg in February 2002 approx1mately 15 putat1ve securities class act1on lawsults were ﬁled .
against us and certain of our current and former officers and directors in the United. States District Court,.
for the Southern District. of Texas These class actions (together w1th subsequently filed act1ons) were - ...
consolidated into one case, Pzrellz Armstrong-Tire Corporatzon Retzree Medical Beneﬁts Trust, On Behalf .
of Itself and All Others Slmllarly Situated, Civil Action No. H-02- 0410; naming as defendants Hanover,
Mr. Michael J. McGhan, Mr. William S. Goldberg and Mr. Michael A. O’Connor. The complaints
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asserted various- claxms under Sections lO(b) and 20(a) of the Securitiés' Exchange Act of 1934 and
- sought unspecified amounts of compensatory damages, interest and costs, including legal fees. The court
entered an order appointing Pirelli Armstrong Tire Corporation Retiree Medical Benefits Trust and others

as lead plaintiffs on January 7; 2003 and appointed Milberg, Weiss, Bershad, Hynes & Lerach LLP as lead
* counsel. On September 5, 2003, lead plaintiffs filed an amended complaint in which they sought relief
under Sections 10(b) of th‘e‘ ;}S_‘eeurities‘ Exchange Act and Section 11 of the Securities Act against
Hanover, certain former officers and directors and our auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, on behalf of
themselves and the class of persons who purchased Hanover securities between May 4, 1999 and
December 23 2002 ‘ o :

In the securities actlon the plaintiffs allege generally that the defendants violated the federal
securities laws by making misstatements and omissions in our periodic filings with the SEC as well as in
other publlc statements 1n connection with the transact1ons that ‘were restated in 2002.

[N

Commencmg in February 2002 four denvatrve lawsu1ts were ﬁled m the Umted States D1str1ct Court
for the Southern District of Texas two derivative lawsuits were ﬁled in state district court for Harris
County, T exas. (one of which was nonsuited and the second of wh1ch was removed to Federal D1strrct
Court for the Southern District of Texas) and ‘one derivative lawsuit was filed in the Court of Chancery
for the State of Delaware in and for New Castle County. These derivative lawsuits, which were filed by
‘certaif of our shareholders purportedly on behalf of Hanover, alleged, ainong other things, that our -
directors breached their fiduciary duties to shareholders in connection with certain of the transactions that
were rtestated-in 2002, and sought unspecified amounts of damages, interest and costs, including legal fees.
The denvatlve lawsuits in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas were
consolidated on August 19-and August 26, 2002 into the Harbor F1nance Partners derivative lawsuit. With
that consolldanon the pendlng derivative lawsuits were: S S . )

" Date

o Plaintiff ’ Defendants .. Civil Action No. . Court : . Instituted
Harbor Finance Partners, . Michael J. McGhan, William S. H-02-0761 United States District Court for  03/01/02
derivatively on behalf of " Goldberg, Ted Collins, Jr., . ©. . . the Southern District of Texas  ~
Hanover Compressor Company  Robert R. Furgason, Melvyn N. :
. - Klein, Michael A. O’Connor,
o ' . * and Alvin V. Shoemaker;
cT Defendants and Hanover
Compressor Company, Nominal
Defendant
Coffélt Family, LLC, "' ‘Michae! A.-O’Connor,-Michael 19410-NC -+ :Court of Chancery for the State- 02/15/02
derivatively on behalf of J. McGhan, William S. L. . of Delaware State Court in

Hanover Compressor Company Goldberg, Ted Collins, Jr., New Castle County
S R Melvyn N. Klein, AlvrnV ) - o P
Shoemaker and Robert R. .
. Furgason, Defendants and
Hanover Compressor Company,
e . - - Nominal Defendant. . .

On October 2, 2003, the Harbor Finance Partners denvatlve lawsuit was consohdated 1nto the Pzrellz
Armstrong Tzre Corporation Retiree Medical Beneﬁts Trust sécurities class action.

On and after March 26, 2003, three plaintiffs filed separate putative class actions against Hanover,
certain named individuals and other purportedly. unknown defendants, in the United States -District Court
for the Southern District of Texas. The alleged class was composed of persons who participated in or were
beneficiariés of The Hanover Companies Retirement and Savings Plan, which was established by Hanover
pursuant to Sectlon 401 (k) of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as-amended. The
purported class action sought relief under ERISA 'based upon Hanover’s and thé individual defendants’
alleged rn1shandlmg of Hanover s 401 (k) Plan The three ERISA putatrve class act1ons are entitled:’

L wo vl

4
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Kirkley v. Hanover, Case No. H-03-1155; Angleopoulos v. Hanover, Case No. H-03-1064; and Freeman v-
Hanover, Case No. H-03-1095. On August 1, 2003; the three ERISA class actions weré consolidated into
the Pirelli Armstrong Tire Corporation Retiree Medical Benefits Trust federal securities class action, On’
October 9, 2003, a consolidated amended complaint was filed by the plaintiffs in the ERISA ¢lass action
against Hanover,- Michael McGhan, Michael O’Connor: and William Goldberg, which included the same
allegations as indicated -above, and was filed on behalf-of themselves and a class of persons who purchased-
or held Hanover secunt1es m therr 401 (k) Plan between May 4, 1999 and December 23, 2002 '

. These actions alleged generally that, in connectlon w1th the transactrons that were restated in 2002 ‘
we and certain individuals acting as fiduciaries of Hanover’s 401 (k) Plan breached our: ﬁducrary duties 0.
the plan participants by offering Hanover common stock as an investment option, failing to provide
material information to plan participants regarding the suitability of Hanover common stock as an
investment alternative, failing-to monitor the performance of plan fiduciaries, and failing to provrde SN
matenal information to other fiduciaries. B

On October 23, 2003, we entered into a Stipulation of Settlement, which settled all of the claims
‘underlying the putative securities class action, the putative ERISA class action and the shareholder
derivative actions described above. The terms of the settlement provided for us to: (1) make a cash
payment of approximately $30 million (of which $26.7 million was funded by payments from Hanover’s
directors and officers insurance carriers), (2) issue 2.5 million shares of our common stock, and (3) issue
_ a contingent note with a principal amount of $6.7 million. The note is payable, together with accrued
interest, on " March 31, 2007 but will be extinguished (with no money owing under it) if our common stock
trades at or above the-average price of $12.25 per share for 15 consecutive trading days at any. time
between March 31,2004 and March 31, 2007. In.addition, upon the occurrence of a change ‘of control that
involves us, if the change of control or shareholder approval of the change of control occurs before
February 9, 2005 which is twelve months after -final court approval of the settlement, we will be- obligated -
to contribute an additional $3 million to the settlement fund. As part of the settlement, we have also
agreed to implement corporate governance enhancements, including allowing shareholders owning more - -
than 1% but less-than 10% of our outstanding common stock to participate-in the process to appoint two
independent directors to our board of directors (pursuant to which on February 4, 2004 we appointed
Margaret K. Dorman and Stephen M Pazuk to‘our board of dlrectors) and makrng certain changes to our
code of conduct.

GKH which, as of December 31, 2003, together owned approximately 10% of Hanover’s outstanding
common stock and which scld shares in our March 2001 secondary offering of common stock, are parties
to the settlement and have-agreed to settle claims against them that arise out of-that offering as well as’
other potential securities, ERISA, and derivative claims. The terms of the settlement provide for GKH to
transfer 2.5 million shares of Hanover common stock from therr holdmgs or from other sources to the
settlement fund. - : Co LT

On October 24, 2003 the partles ‘moved the Unrted States District Court for the Southern District of
Texas for preliminary approval of the proposed settlement and sought perm1ss10n to provide notice to the
. potentially affected persons and to set a date for a final hearing to approve the proposed settlement. On
December S, 2003, the court held a hearing and granted the parties’ motion for preliminary approval of the
proposed settlement and, among other things, ordered that notice be provided to: appropriate persons and
set.the date for the final hearing. The final hearing was held on February 6, 2004, ‘and no objections to the’
settlement or requests to be excluded from the terms of the settlement had been received prlor to the :
-deadline set by the court. ‘ :

On February 9, 2004, the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas entered
three Orders and Final Judgments, approving the settlement on the terms agreed upon in the Stipulation
of Settlement with respect to all of the claims described above including the dismissal of each of the
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actions other than the Coffelt Family derivative action filed in the Delaware Chancery Court. The court
also entered an Order and Final Judgment approving-the plans of allocation with respect to each action, as
well as an Order and Final Judgment approving the schedule of attorneys’ fees for counsel for the settling,
plaintiffs. The time in which these Orders and Final Judgments may be appealed expired on-March 10,
2004 without any appeal being lodged. In addition, on March 16, 2004, the Delaware Chancery Court
dismissed the Coffelt Family derivative action. The settlement has therefore become final and will be
implemented according to its terms.-In March 2004, we issued and delivered .to the escrow agent for the
settlement fund 2.5 million shares of Hanover common stock, as required by the settlement. Our
1ndependent auditor, PncewaterhouseCoopers is not a party to the settlement dand remalns a party to the
‘secunttes class actlon

Based on the terms of the settlement agreement and the individual components of the settlement, we
recorded the cost of the litigation settlement. The details of the litigation settlement charge are as follows
(in thousands): : .
Cash $ 30,050

Estimated fair value of note to be issued - T 3633
Common stock to be issued by Hanover 29,800
Legal fees and administrative costs ) 6,178

" Total . 69,661
Less: insurance recoveries ! ' . ' Yo (26,670) "

Net litigation settlement . . $ 42,991

The $3.6 million estimated fair value of the note to be issued was based on the present value of the.
future cash flows discounted at borrowing rates currently available to us for debt with similar terms-and
maturities. Using a market-borrowing rate of 9.3%,.the principal value and the stipulated interest rate
required by the note of 5% per annum, a discount of -$0.8 million was computed on the note to be issued.
Upon the issuance of the note, the discount will be -amortized to interest expense over the term of the
note. Because the note-could be extmgulshed without a payment (if our common stock trades at or above
the average price of $12.25 per share for 15 consecutive trading days at any time between March 31, 2004.
and March 31, 2007), we will be required to record an asset when the note is issued for the value of the
embedded derivative, as required by SFAS 133. We estimated the value of the derivative and reduced the
amount we included for the estimate of the value of the note by approximately $2.3 million at
December 31, 2003. This asset will be marked to market in future periods with any increase or decrease
included. in our statement of operations.

As of December 31, 2003 our accornpanymg balance sheet includes a $33.4 million long-term liability
and $32.7 million in accrued liabilities related to amounts that are expected to be paid in the next twelve
months. During the second quarter of 2003, the $26.7 million receivable from the insurance carriers and
$2.8 million of our portion of the cash settlement was paid into an escrow fund and is included in-the
accompanying balance sheet as restricted cash. In the first quarter of 2004, we will reclassify $29.8 million,
the value accrued for the stock to be paid, from other liabilities to stockholders’ equity and will include the
shares in our outstanding shares used for earnings per share calculations.

On November 14, 2002, the SEC issued a Formal Order of Private Investigation relating to the
transactions underlying and other matters relating to the restatements of our financial statements. In
December 2003, we entered into a settlement with the SEC. Without admitting or denying any of the
SEC’s findings, we consented to the entry of a cease and. desist order requiring.future compliance with
certain periodic reporting, record keeping and internal control provisions of the securities laws. The
settlement did not impose any monetary penalty on us, and required no additional restatements of our
historical financial statements.
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As of December 31, 2003, we had incurred approximately $15.1 million in legal related expenses in
connection with the internal investigations, the putative class action securities and ERISA lawsuits, the
derivative lawsuits and the SEC investigation: Of this amount, we advanced approximately $2.3 million on
behalf of certain current and former officers and directors in connection with the above-named
proceedings. We intend to advance any litigation costs of our current and former officers and directors,
subject.to thé limitations imposed by Delaware and other applicable law and Hanover s certificate of

“incorporation and bylaws. We do not expect additional legal fees\an‘d’ admmrstratlve, costs in connection
with the settlement of the litigation, advances on behalf-of current and former officers and.directors for
legal fees and'other related costs to exceed $2.5 million, the remaining balance of the accrual. :

On June 25, l999 we notrﬁed the Air Quahty Bureau of the Environmental Protection Division, New
Mexico Environment Department of potential violations of regulatory and permitting requrrements The
potential v1olatrons included failure to conduct required performance tests, failure to file required notices

-and failure to pay fees for compressor units located on sites for more than one year. We promptly paid the
required fees.and corrected the potential v1olat10ns On June 12, 2001, after the potential violations had
been corrected, the Director of the Division issued a comphance order to us in connection with the
potentral violations. The compliance order assessed a civil penalty of $15,000 per day per alleged regulatory
violation and permit; no total penalty amount was proposed in the compliance order. On October 3, 2003,
the Division notified us that the total proposed penalty would be $759,072. However, since the alleged
violations had been self-disclosed, that amount was reduced to $189,768. We have responded to the
penalty assessment, challenging some of the calculations, and have proposed an alternative settlement
amount. We are currently negotiating. with the New Mexico Environment Department on the method of

- calculation and proposed settlement amounts, dnd the issue is not yet resolved.” A Stipulated Motion for
Extension of Time to File Answer has been ﬁled which extends the deadlrne for ﬁlmg our response to .

March 22, 2004. -

In the ordinary course of business we -are mvolved in vanous other pendmg or threatened legal
actions, including envrronmental matters.  While management is unable to predict the ultimate outcome of
these actions, it believes that any ultrmate liability : arising from these actions will not have a material -
adverse effect on our consohdated ﬁnancral posmon results of operatrons or. cash flows.

- 20, Other Expense

Por the year ended December 31 2003, other expenses included, $2 9 mlllron in charges primarily
recorded to write off certain non-revenue producmg assets and to record the settlement of a contractual
obhgatron : : : - ‘

For the year ended December 31, 2002, other-expenses included $15.9 million of write-downs and
charges related to investments in four non-corisolidated affiliates that had experienced a decline in value
that we believed to be other than temporary; a: :$0. 5 million write-off of a purchase option foran
acquisition- that.-we had ‘abandoned, $2.7 millien i m ‘other non-operatingcosts and a $8.5 million: write-down
of notes recervable including ‘a $6.0 million reserve; established:for loans to employees who weré not
executive officers: During 2003 the notes. recelvable for loans to employees who were not executive ofﬁcers
were’ forgrven : S : - S :

For the year' ehded December 31; 2001, other expenses were $9.7 million which included a
$2.8 million-bridge loan ‘commitriient fee associated-with Hanover's acquisition of POC, a $5.0 million
write-down of an investment in Aurion, a $1.0 million litigation settlement and $1.0 mlllron in other non-
" operating expenses
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21. Restructuring, Impairment and Other Charges

Included ‘in th_{a net loss fc'>r~.’2003 were the fo‘llowingr pre-tax charges (in thousands):

Rental fleet asset impairment (in Depreciation and amortization) . ............ $ 14,334
Cumulative effect of accounting change — FIN 46 .. .. .. e e - 133,707
Securities-related 11t1gat1on settlement ....... ... . . ... i 42,991
Belleli goodwill impairment (in Goodwill impairment) .................. S 35,466
Write-off of deferred financing costs (in Depreciation and amortization) ....... 2,461
-Loss on sale/write-down of dlscontmued operations. .............c.o..... . 21,617

Total . oo S e $ 250,576

Included in the net loss for 2002 were the following - pre -tax charges (in thousands)

Inventory reserves — (in Parts and service and used equipment expense) ...... $ 6,800
Severance and other charges (in Selling, general and administrative) .......... - 6,160
Write off of idle equipment and assets to be sold or abandoned (in Depreciation

and amortlzanon) ................................................... 34,485
Goodwill IMpairments. .. ... e e 52,103
Non-consolidated affiliate write-downs/charges (in Other expense) ........... 15,950
Write-down of discontinued operations ........ e 58,282
Note receivable reserves (in Other GXPENSe) .. ...l e 8,454
Write-off of abandoned purchase option (m Other expense) ................. 500

" For a further description of these charges see Notes 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 9 and 20.

22. New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 143, “Accounting for Obligations Associated with the .
Retirement of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 143”). SFAS 143 establishes the accounting standards for the
recognition and measurement. of an asset retirement obligation and its associated asset retirement cost.
SFAS 143 became effective for Hanover on January 1, 2003. The adoption of this new standard did not
have a material effect on our consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements 4, 44, and 64,
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections” (“SFAS 145”). SFAS 145 updates,
clarifies and simplifies existing accounting pronouncements. Provisions of SFAS 145 related to the
rescission ‘of Statement 4 became effective for us on January 1, 2003. The provisions of SFAS 145 related
to SFAS 13 are effective for transactions occurring after May 15, 2002. We have adopted the provisions of
the new standard, which had no material eﬁect on our consohdated results of operations, cash ﬂows or
financial posmon : '

In June 2002 the FASB 1ssued SFAS 146 “Accountmg for Costs, Asso<:1ated w1th Exit or Disposal
Activities” (“SFAS 146”), which addresses accounting for restructuring and similar costs. SFAS 146
supersedes. previous accounting guldance principally Emerging Issues Task Force Issue (“EITF”)

No. 94-3. We adopted. the provision of SFAS 146 for restructuring activities initiated after December 31
2002, which had no material effect on our financial statements. SFAS 146 requires that the liability for
costs associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. Under EITF
No. 94-3, a liability for an exit cost was recognized at the date of the commitment to an exit plan.
SFAS 146 also establishes that the liability should initially be measured and recorded at fair value. - j
Accordmglv, SFAS 146 may affect the timing of récognizing future restructuring costs as well as the.
amounts recognized. :
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. In November 2002 the EITF reached .a consensus.on, Issue. No. 00-21, “‘Revenue Arrangements w1th
Mult1ple Dehverables” (“EITF 00- 21”) EITF OO 21 addresses certain aspects of the accounting by.a ..
vendor for arrangements under whrch the. vendor wrll perform. multrple revenue,. generatrng activities, .

EITF 00-21 became effective for 1ntemrn pertods begmnmg after June 15, 2003: We have adopted the ‘
provisions of EITF00-21, wh1ch drd not have a matenal eﬁ‘ect on our consohdated results of operatrons,

e o X -

cash flow or ﬁnancral posrtron I - - . N

In November 2002 the FASB 1ssued Interpretat1on No 45 “Guarantor s Accountrng and Drsclosure'
Requrrements for Guarantees Includmg Indlrect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others”, wh1ch clarifies .
disclosure and recogmt1on/ measurement reqiirements related to certain, guarantees The dlsclosure o
requrrernents are effective. for: ﬁnanc1al statementsfrssued after December 15, 2002 and the recogm— "

oo
tion/measurement requrrements are effectlve on a prospectrve basis for guarantees 1ssued or: modrﬁed after

......

our consohdated results of operatrons cash ﬁow or ﬁnancral pos1t10n

In January 2003 the FASB 1ssued FIN 46 The pnmary objectrves of FIN 46 are to prov1de gutdance
on -the identification of entities for whrch control ds achieved, by : means, other than through voting . nghts
and the. determmatron of when and. whrch busmess enterpnse should. consohdate the, VIE in its ﬁnancral
statements. FIN .46 applies. to an entity in. whrch either. (1)..the equ1ty 1nvestors (1f any) do not, have a,
controllmg ﬁnancral interest or (2) the equity mvestment at risk i is msulﬁcrent to finance that entity’s .
activities w1thout receiving addrtronal subordrnated financial 'support from other part1es In addrtron
FIN-46 requtres that both.the primary beneﬁcrary and all other enterpnses with a. srgmﬁcant vanable
interest in-a: VIE, make. addltlonal dlsclosures As revrsed FIN 46 was.effective. 1mmed1ately for VIE’
created after January 31, 2003 For. specral-purposes entities created prior to February 1, 2003 FIN 46 1s
effective at the first interim or annual reporting period ending after December 15, 2003, or December 31,
2003 for us. For entities, other than special purpose entities, created pnor to February 1, 2003, FIN 46 is
effective for us-as of March 31, 2004. In’ addrtron, FIN 46.allows’ compames 1o elect to adopt garly the
provisions-of FIN 46 for somé; but. not -4l}; of the variable interést entities’ ‘they own:-Because we arestill>:
evaluating 'whether or not- we will ' make’any other ‘potentral ‘changés-in connection wrth our adoptron of '
FIN 46, we have fiot adopted the provrsrons of FIN 46 other than drscussed below SRR wo

‘ Pnor to July 1, 2003 we entered into ﬁve lease transactlons that were: recorded asa sale and o
leasebaek of the compression. ‘equrpment and were treated as operating’ leases for ﬁnancral reportmg S
purposes.. On July 1, 2003, we adopted the. provisions of FIN 46 as they relate to. the spec1al purpose
entities that lease compressron equipment to us: As.a result of the adoption,. we added approximately, . .
$1,089 million in compressor equipment assets, $192.3 million of accumulated deprecrauon (mcludmg
approximately $58.6 million of accumulated deprecratron related to penods before the sale and leaseback -
of the equipment), $1,105.0 million in debt and $34.6 million in minority*interest obligations to our
balance sheet, and we reverséd $108.8-million ‘of deferred gains that-were recorded. on our balance sheet as
a result of the 'sale-leaseback transactions."On July 12003, we recordeda $1:33.7 million charge -

($86.9 million net of tax)-to record the cumulatrve eﬁ"ect from.the adoption of FIN.46 related to prior
period: depreciation of the compression equipment-assets. Additionally, we estimate that we will. record
approximately $17 million per year in ‘additional .depreciation expense on ourleased compression
equipient-as a result of the inclusion of the compression-equipment on our balance sheet and. w111 also
record the payments made under our compressron equrpment leases as mterest expense.t. v E L vE

R . .'t [ T

We have a consolldated subsrdrary trust that has mandatorlly redeemable preferred secuntles .
outstanding ‘which have a liquidation value of $86 3 million. These securities were prevrously reported on
our balance sheet as mandatorlly redeemable convertrble preferred secuntres Because ‘we only have A,
llmrted .ability to, make de01s1ons about its actrvrtres and we are. not. the. prrmary beneﬁcrary of the trust the
trust is a VIE under FIN 46. As such the mandatorrly redeemable preferred securltres issued by the trust
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are no longer reported on our balance sheet. Instead; we now report our subordinated notes payable to the
trust as a debt. These intercompany notes have previously been eliminated in our consolidated financial
statemqntsl The changes related to our mandatotily redeemable preferred securities for our balance sheet
‘are reclassifications and no impact on our consolidated results of operations or cash flow.

~In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 149”). SFAS 149 amends and clarifies financial accounting
and reporting for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other -
contracts and for hedging activities under SFAS No. 133; “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities.” This Statement is' effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003
and for hedging relatioriships designated after June 30, 2003.- All' provisions of SFAS 149 will be applied
prospectively. We have adopted'the provisions SFAS 149, which did not have a material effect on our
consolidated results of operations, cash flow or financial position. ! o

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Charaéteristics of both Liabilities and Equity” (“SFAS 150”). SFAS 150 changes the accounting for
certain financial instruments that, under previous guidanee, issuers could account for as equity. SFAS 150
requires that those instruments be classified as liabilities in' statements of financial position. SFAS 150 is
effective for financial instruments entered into or modified 4fter May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective
for interim periods beginning after June 15, 2004. On November 7, the FASB issued Staff Position 150-4
that delayed the effective date for certain types of financial istruments. We do not believe the adoption of
the guidance currently provided in SFAS 150 will have a material effect oni our consolidated results of
operations or cash flow. However, we may be required to classify as debt approximately $28.6 million in
sale leaseback obligations ‘that are currently reported as “Minority interest™ on-our condensed consolidated
balance sheet pursuant to FIN 46. (See Note:12.) ’ HEEE

‘These minority interest obligations represent the equity of the entities that lease compression
equipment to us. In accordance with the provisions of our compression equipment lease obligations, the.
equity certificate holders are entitled to quarterly or semi-annual yield payments on the aggregate
~ outstanding equity certificates. As of December 31, 2003, the yield rates on- the outstanding equity

- certificates ranged from 4.4% to 9.5%. Equity certificate holders may receive a return of capital payment
upon lease’ termination or our purchase of the leased compression equipmént after full payment of all debt
obligations of the entities that lease compression equipment to-us. At December 31, 2003, the carrying
“value of the minority interest obligations approximated the fair market value of assets that would be
. required to be transferred to redeem the minority interest obligations o '

23.” ﬁu_]ustr_yf Segments and_ﬂG'go»gra.phic Information

'We manage our business-segments primarily based upon the type of product or service provided. We
have five principal industry segments: Domestic Rentals; International Rentals; Parts, Service and Used
Equipment; Compressor and Accessory Fabrication; and\Pifoduction and Processing Equipment
Fabrication. The. Domestic and International Rentals segments- primarily provide natural gas compression
and production and processing equipment rental and:maintenance services to meet specific customer
requirements on Hanover-owned assets. The ‘Parts, Service:and Used Equipment segment_provides a full -
' range of services to support the surface production needs of customers from installation and normal
maintenance and services to full operation of a customer’s owned assets and surface equipment as well as
sales of used equipment. The Compressor and Accessory Fabrication Segment involves the design,
fabrication ‘and sale of natural gas ‘compression units and-accessories to meet unique customer ‘
specifications. The Production and Processing Equipment Fabrication Segment designs, fabricates and sells
equipment used in the production and treating of crude dil and natural gas and engineering, procurement
and construction of heavy wall reactors for refineries and desalination plants. '
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We evaluate the performance of our segments based on segment gross profit. Segment gross profit for
each segment includes direct operating expenses. Costs excluded: from segment gross profit include selling,
general and administrative, depreciation and amortization, leasing, interest, foreign currency translation,
provision for cost of litigation settlement, goodwill impairment, other expenses and income taxes. Amounts
defined as “Other” include equity in income of non-consolidated affiliates, results of other insignificant
operations and corporate related items primarily related to cash management activities. Revenues include
sales to external customers and intersegment sales. Intersegment sales are accounted for at cost, except for
compressor fabrication sales which are accounted for on an arms length basis. Intersegment sales and any
resulting profits are. eliminated in ‘consolidation. Identifiable assets are tanglble and 1ntang1ble assets that
are identified with the operatlons of a particular segment or geographlc region, or which are allocated when
used’ |01ntly :

No individual customer accounted for more than 10% of our consolldated Tevenues dunng any of the

iods presented

. The followmg tables present sales and other ﬁnanc1a1 mforrnanon by. mdustry segment and geographxc
region for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.

Industry Segments

2003

2002:

2001:

Production
Compressor and
Parts, service and processing
Domestic  International  and used accessory  equipment
. rentals rentals equipment  fabrication fabrication  Other  Eliminations Consolidated
1 R (in thousands) )
Revenues from extérnal ) . :
*ocustomers .. ... . e $ 324 186 $ 206,404 -$ 169,023-- $ 106,896 $ 260,660 28,181 $ - — § 1,095,350
Intersegment sales. .. ....... — 1,679 - - ,°69,527 10,736 * 24,676 - —  (106,618) —_
Total reveniues . . .. .. Lol 324,186 - 208,083 . 238,550 117,632 285,336 28,181  (106,618) 1,095,350
Gross profit ............... 196,761 138,939 42,404 9,974 26457 - 28,181 — 442,716
Identifiable assets ... ... o... 1639554 751,914 64,496 95,506 191,999 174,997 — 2,918,466
Capital expenditures ........ 73,007 59,200 24 C 2,735 7,500 —_ — -142,466
Depreciation and amortization 109,214 55,684 - 916 1,290 5,498 — —_ 172,602
Revenues from external .
CUSTOMEIS . oot veeeren.s $ 328,600 $ 189,700 $ 223,845 $ 114,009 $ 149,656 $ 23,000 $ — $ 1,028,810
Intersegment sales. .. ... Cees o — < 6,718 54,249 . 60,790 12,848 5,057  (139,662) —
Total revenues’,....... ... 328,600 196,418::0 278,094 174,799 162,504 28,057 (139,662) 1,028,810
Gross profit .......... L. o000 206,428 132,121 . 44,001 (14,563 22,214 23,000 = A42327
Identifiable assets .......... 763,161 792,554 92,609 . 90,639 245,366 169,700 — 2,154,029
Capital expenditures . . . ... . 120,581 101,349 1,093 441 26,706 — — 250,170
Depreciation and amortlzatlon 90,160 54,249 1,233 - 1,282 . 4,257 . - — 151,181
Revenues from external - o .
customers ) 8 269,679 § 131,097 $ 214872 $ 223,519 $ 184,040 $ 17,753 $ —_ $ 1,040,960
Intersegment sales.......... — 2,858 -72,930° 7 112,748 7,110 © 4,600  (200,246) —
Total revenues, .. .... Vi) 269,679 133,955 287,802 336,267 191,150 ~ 22,353 '(200,246) 1,040,960
Gross profit .1....... w.ten 1744760 - 85,302 . 62,171 . - 35,397 36,216 17,753 - — 411,315
Identifiable assets ......... .. -867,544  683,829. . ..145,010 153,198 194,081 , 222,114 — 2,265,776
Capital expenditures .. ..... ., 450,172 137,805 7 6,763 399 24,626 20,118 — 639,883
Depreciation and amortization- 45,743 . 33,685 1,259 4,774 3,362 — — " 88,823
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Geographic Data

. United - '
States International(1)  Consolidated
(in thousands of dollars) ;
2003:. _ - '
Revenues from external CUSTOMETS .o\ v e, $ 647,176 . $ 448,174 $1 095 350
Identlﬁable ASSEES ... i $ 1,950,944 §° 967,522 $ 2,918,466
2002, o ' ‘ - ) o ;
Revenues from extemal CUSTOMIETS . ...\, $ 69}2,8‘23 $ 335987 § 1,028810
‘ Identlﬁable ASSEES Lt .. $ 1,068,003 $ 1,086,026 $ ,154, 029
2001: - - o T , '
Revenues from external customers .................... $ 730,702 $ 310,258 $ 1,040,960

Identifiable assets ......... it .$ 1,319,084 $ 946,692 $ 2,265,776

(1) International operations include approximately $122.8 million, $104.0 million and $77.2 million of
revenues and $348.2 million, $431.0 million and $467.8 million of identifiable assets for 2003, 2002
“and 2001, respectively, related to operations and investments in Venezuela. Apprommately
$79.4 million, $141.0 million and $152.4 million of thé identifiable assets in 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively, relates to the joint ventures acquired in connection with the POC acquisition completed
in August 2001. (See Note 8). '

24. Subsequent Events

~On February. 9, 2004, the United States District Court for the Southers District of Texas entered
three Orders and Final Judgments, approving the securities related settlement on the terms agreed upon in
the Stipulation of Settlement with respect to all of the claims described in Note 19. The court also entered
an-Order and Final Judgment approving the plans of-allocation with respect to each action, as well as an
Order and Final Judgment approving the schedulé of attorneys’ fees for counsel for the settling plaintiffs.
The time in which these Orders and Final Judgments may be appealed expired on March 10,2004 without
any appeal being lodged. The settlement has therefore become final and will be implemented according to
its terms. In March 2004, we issued and delivered to the escrow agent for the settlement fund 2. 5 million
shares of Hanover common stock, as required by the settlement. See Note 19 for further information
related to the settlement.

N We received.a letter on March 11, 2004 from the administrative trustee of the GKH Liquidating
Trust indicating it and one of its affiliates had decided to distribute 5.8 million shares of the 8.3 million
shares of Hanover common stock owned by the GKH Liquidating Trust (formerly held by GKH) and its
affiliate to the relevant beneficiaries. The remaining 2.5 million shares held by GKH will be paid as part of
the global shareholder litigation settlement. (See Note 19.) - . ,

On March 5, 2004, we sold our 50.384% limited partnership interest and 0.001% general partnership
interest in Hanover Measurement Services Company, L.P. to EMS Pipeline Services, L.L.C. for
$4.9 million, of which $0.2 million has been put in escrow subject to the outcome of post closing working
capital adjustments. We have no obligation to the purchaser with respect to any post-closing adjustment in
excess of the escrowed amount We accounted for our 1nterest in Hanover ‘Measurement under the equity
method. :
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The. table below sets forth selected unaudited ﬁnanc1al 1nformat1on for each quarter of the two years:
e - . . . . n;". .‘., 2 ’L. : . . Lo lsl 2nd - - 3rd 4lh
P T : . Quarter‘ “Quarter - Quarter - Quarter

K (In thousands, except per share amounts),

. 200'3(1):~ 'fll;:!'l*

" Revenue ...l O $ 273 687 'S, 276,364 *$ 275,197 $ 270,102
Gross profit . ... ......... LR S 114, 800 S 111,332, 7108,858 107,726
Income (loss) before cumulatlve effect of 4 T T ,

accounting changes(3) ........... PP (26,599) 207 (58,509)  (36,448)
Net income (10883(3) +«+ 1 eveveernrreennnnn. (26,599) 207 (145419)  (36,448)

(1)

(2)

» Earnmgs (loss) per common and common

equivalent share:-

Basic: . . :
Income (loss) before cumulative effect.of ... = .. S
accounting changes ....... P $ (0.33) % —  $ (0.72) $ = (0.45)
Net income (loss) ..........0......00.0 00 §°..(0.33)°$ — $  (L79) 8 (049)
Diluted: - I T
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of . ’ :
accounting changes .. ..............ntew $00 (033 E - . — 8 - (0.72) $ (0.45)
Net income (loss) «....... -I .......... ... 8 (033) % — $ (1.79) 8 (0.45)
) 2002(2): ' i
‘Revenue .. ... e T ST "'§ 255,526 '$ 262,320 § 349,367  § 261,697
Gross proﬁt ............ e e e 108,398 109,750 - 117,635 106,544
Net income (108S) ... .t iveielvennnn. .. 5,034 (55,241) 9,059 (74,920)

Earnings (loss) per common and common:
. equivalent share: \ ' ' :
Basic ......... e e $ 0068 (070)8 - 011 § (0.93)
Diluted ......... PR B .. $ 006 $ (0.70) $ 011 $ (0.93)

During, the first quarter of 2003, we recorded a $42.1 million estimated proifision for the estimated
settlement of securities litigation that was subsequently adjusted to $43.0 million. During the third
quarter of 2003, we recorded a $35.5 million goodwill impairment, $14.3 million rental fleet
impairment, $16.8 million write-down of discontinued operations and $133.7 million cumulative effect
of accounting change for the adoption of FIN 46. During the fourth quarter of 2003, we recorded a
$2.5 million write-off of deferred ﬁnancmg costs and $2.3 million. write-down of discontinued
operations.

During the second quarter of 2002, we record_e_d a $47,5 million goodwill impairment, $6.0 million
write-down of assets held for sale, a $6.1 million inventory reserve, a $0.5 million write off of a
purchase option for an acquisition which was abandoned and $14.1 million write-down related to
investments in certain non-consolidated affiliates. We incurred other expenses during the fourth
quarter of 2002 which included a $8.5 million write-down of notes receivable and a $1.9 million write
off related to Aurion. In addition, during the fourth quarter of 2002, we recorded i) $52.3 million pre-
tax charge for the estimated loss in fair-value from the carrying value expected to be realized at the
time of disposal of our discontinued operations; ii) $34.5 million in additional impairment to reduce
the carrying value of certain idle compression equipment that are being retired and the acceleration of
depreciation related to certain plants and facilities expected to be sold or abandoned; iii) $4.6 million
goodwill impairment related to our pump d1v1310n which is expected to be sold; and iv) $2.7 million in
employee separatlon costs.
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(3) During the performance of our annual goodwill impairment review in the fourth quarter of 2003, we
determined the present value of Belleli’s expected future cash flows was less than our carrying value
of Belleli. This resulted in a full impairment charge for the $35.5 million in goodwill associated with
Belleli. Upon further analysis, it was determined that -the factors resulting in’ the goodwill impairment
charge were also present during the third quarter of 2003 and that theé exercise of our purchase option
in the third quarter of 2003 and the presence of such factors should have resulted in an interim
goodwill impairment test under SFAS 142 and an impairment charge at that time. Our financial
results previously reported for the third quarter of 2003 did not include the impairment charge. (See
Note 2). The results included in the above table have been adjusted to reflect the $35.5 million
impairment charge in our third quarter results. The table below indicates the impact of this
adjustment (in thousands): : Tl o

7 3rd Quarter 3rd Quarter

o ) as reported as restated

REVEMUC .. .. ..ottt et et e et $ 275,197 § 275,197
Gross Profit ... ov i e e 108,858 108,858
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting changes........... S (23,043) (58,509)
Net income (10SS) ......oovreriennnennnn. R . L. (109,953) (145,419)
Earnings (loss) per common and common equivalent share: )

Basic: ) :

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting changes............ -$  (0.28) $ (0.72)

Net income (loss) ........... i S LS8 (135 8 (1L79)

Diluted: ‘

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting changes............ $  (0.28) $ (0.72)

Net income (1085) ...vevvrnennn. e, PEUUIUR $ (135§ (179
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SCHEDULE Il

HANOVER COMPRESSOR COMPANY
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Additions

Charged to

Costs and .

Expenses Deductions

Balance
at
Beginning
Description of Period
Allowance for doubtful accounts deducted from accounts
receivable in the balance sheet «
2003 L. $ 5,162
2002 ...l e e 6,300
2000 .. e 2,659
Allowance for obsolete and slow moving inventory
deducted from inventories in the balance sheet
2003 L - $14.211
22002 L P 2,101
2001 ... ..o P . 560
Allowance for deferred tax assets not expected to be
realized
2003 i e $23,371
2002 L. e —
Allowance for employee loans
2003 ....... e e $ 6,021
2002 L e —_

(1) Uncollectible accounts written off, net of recoveries.

{2) Obsolete inventory written off at cost, net of value received.

{In thousands)

$4028  $3,730(1)

7,091 8,229(1)
4,860 1,219(1)

$ 3,049 $ 4,531(2)
13,853 ~ 1,743(2)
2,336 795(2)

846,824 $15,180(3)
23,371 .

— $ 6,021(4)
6,021 —

(3) Reflects utilization of prior year valuation allowance in the current year.

(4) During 2003, the notes receivable for loans to employees who were not executive officers were

forgiven.

Balance
at End of
Period

$ 5,460
5,162
6,300

$12,729
14,211
2,101

$55,015
23,371
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